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PROCEEDI NGS
(Open court.)

DEPUTY CLERK: Suprene Court Case 137
Oiginal, State of Mntana versus the State of
Wom ng. The Honorabl e Barton Thonpson, presiding.

SPECI AL MASTER: Good nor ni ng,
everybody. M. Kaste, | know originally you were
hopi ng to get seven w tnesses in today, and, of
course, there was one wtness we weren't able to
get to yesterday. What are your hopes and
expect ati ons?

MR, KASTE: Qur hopes and expectations
m ght be divergent.

SPECI AL MASTER: They probably are.

MR. KASTE: W have a w tness schedul ed
and exhibit list that was provided to Montana as
well. And | believe we have, what, five on there
for today, or siX.

SPECI AL MASTER: Si x, including M.
Carrel from yesterday.

MR. KASTE: We are hoping we can nake
it through that. But |I think it's nore probable
that we end up having to push one of those
i ndi viduals into tonorrow. And then we are

hopi ng, but not absolutely sure, that we can get

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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t hrough all the individuals we have |isted for
tonorrow by the end of the day tonorrow.  But
we'll do our best to be concise and see where we
go.

SPECI AL MASTER: M. Draper.

MR. DRAPER.  Your Honor, are we going
to go until 5 tonorrow?

SPECI AL MASTER: | think |I have nade a
reservation for nyself on a late flight. So I am
able to go as |l ate as peopl e want tonorrow.
Certainly, today, you know, subject to the court
reporter actually lasting, I will propose we go
as late as we need today in order to try to
actually get through the wtnesses that are on
t he cal endar for today.

And, again, tonorrow | can stay as |late
as people want. | don't know whether, M.
Draper, you're planning on flying honme tonorrow.

MR. DRAPER. No, we're staying here
over the long break here.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. Then under
t hose circunstances, then, we can go as |ong
again tonorrow as we need to in order to squeeze
people in. 1'll verify that in fact | do have, |

think, like, a 7:30 flight out tonorrow evening.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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Ckay.

MR. DRAPER  Very good.

SPECI AL MASTER Great. So, M. Kaste,
Il will turn it over to you and your fellow
counsel .

MR. KASTE: Well, we are now in the
part of the case where | don't have to talk for
maybe anot her three or four days. So all the
W tnesses today, | think the first block wll be
handl ed by M. Kuhlman and then M. Brown. |
will turnit over to M. Kuhl mann.

SPECI AL MASTER: M. Kuhl mann.

MR. KUHLMANN:. Thank you, Your Honor.

SPECI AL MASTER:  You' re wel cone.

MR. KUHLMANN: State of Wom ng woul d
like to call M. WIlliam Carrel.

SPECI AL MASTER: kay. M. Carrel, cone
f orward.

Wher eupon,

W LLI AM CARREL,
havi ng been first duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as foll ows:

DEPUTY CLERK: Pl ease state your nane
spell it for the record.

THE WTNESS: WIliam Carrel,

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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Ca-r-r-e-|.
SPECI AL MASTER: Good norning, M. Carrel.
THE W TNESS: (Good nor ni ng.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Good norning, M.
Carrel. Could you state for the record your
addr ess?

A 7 Red Bluff Loop, Birney, Mntana,
59012.

Q And what's your current occupation?

A "' ma rancher.

Q Do you operate a ranch?

A Yes.

Q VWhat's its nane?

A FL Ranch.

Q How | ong have you operated that ranch?

A |"ve lived there ny whole life. |
operated it from probably, the md-'80s until now.
Q So you have a fair bit of experience on
your property?
Yes.
Do you irrigate fromthe Tongue River?
Yes.
How nmany acre to you irrigate?
Roughl y 100.

> O >» O >
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Q Has t hat al ways been the anount of
acreage you' ve irrigated?

A W' ve added sone fields with our
contract water.

Q About what tine period was that?

A | can't say accurately, but |I'm
t hi nki ng around 2000, sonewhere in there.

Q Ckay. Wiat kind of crops do you grow?

A W grow just hay to feed the cows in

the winter. And irrigate --

Q Now what -- sorry.
A W have sone irrigated pasture, also.
Q And what sources of water do you use to

irrigate? Do you have water rights?

A Yes.

Q From the Tongue River?

A Yes.

Q And you nentioned you al so have stored

wat er, correct?

A Yes.

Q Where does that stored water cone fronf?
A Conmes fromthe Tongue R ver Reservoir.
Q Do you have a contract wth the Tongue

R ver Water Users Associ ati on?

A Yes, we have four.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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Q "Il get into those in a little nore
detail ina mnute. 1'd like to turn your
attention to an Exhibit Womng 244. Put it up
here and | think we'll try and have you answer
sonme questions using the |aser pointer that
should be there in front of you. So when | ask
you questions, if you can indicate up on the
screen over here where we are tal king about, and
| can zoomin a little bit, too.

SPECI AL MASTER:  You have to be careful
not to kill anyone.
THE WTNESS: Don't hit anybody in the

eye”?
SPECI AL MASTER: That's ri ght.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) So do you recognize
t hi s docunent ?
A Yes.
Q What is this docunent?
A This is a map that the NRCS sent where

we were supposed to put in our fields so we would
have an idea where our fields are, what we are
gr ow ng.

Q Does this map -- well, | guess, does
this map show your fields accurately?

A You nean to point of diversion?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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Q Well, it appears on the map you' ve got
different areas that have been outlined in black,
correct?

A Yes.

Q Do those correspond to the | ocations of

your fields?

A Yes.

Q Do | have your property on the screen
now?

A This is the irrigated property. W
have ot her rangel and.

Q But this is all of your irrigated
property?

A Yes.

MR. KUHLMANN:  Your Honor, |I'd like to
admt Exhibit Wom ng 244.

SPECI AL MASTER Any obj ecti on?

MR, SWANSON: | still think a
f oundati on hasn't been | aid, Your Honor, as far
as who actually nade that map. W haven't heard
anyt hi ng about that; whether M. Carrel knows
anyt hing beyond this map ot her than what we are
| ooking at. The question would be, is there
f oundati on of who nmade the map, and | don't

believe that's been | ai d.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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SPECI AL MASTER: Can | just ask sone
real quick questions? Do you know who prepared
this map?

THE WTNESS: | believe the NRCS in
For syt h.

SPECI AL MASTER: So you provi ded data

for themthat was then used to prepare this nmap?

THE WTNESS: Yes. | outlined ny
fields and sent it down to them | did this
spring, too, sone kind -- they want to know where

your fields are and what you're grow ng. They
have a name for it but | can't renenber.

SPECI AL MASTER: So the |ines here,
this was prepared by them but you were the one
that actually provided the lines on this map?

THE WTNESS: They put in the |ines,
nost of them

SPECI AL MASTER: Let ne just ask. But
it was put together using data that you provided
t henf

THE WTNESS: Right.

SPECI AL MASTER. And then did they send
you this?

THE WTNESS: Right, they sent this

wi th sone ot her maps that have rangel and.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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SPECI AL MASTER (Okay. |'mgoing to
admt it at this point. If you think any of the
| ines are wong, you are obviously free to ask
the witness. So Exhibit W244 is admtted in
evi dence.

(Recei ved.)

THE WTNESS: These |ines roughly show
the fields, but where there is a space in between
these fields, there is still grazing underneath
t hese trees and stuff.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) How many water rights
do you have fromthe Tongue R ver to irrigate
t hese properties?

A We got two water rights.

Q Can you indicate using the |aser
pointer there and talk to us about those water

rights, where those water rights are | ocated?

A We have a 152 water rights, starts out
152, and it's for this whole northwest side of
the river.

Q And how about your next water right?

A The water right starts with No. 162 and

it's for this side of the river.
Q And where do you divert water fromthe

river for your first water right?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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A We have a diversion damnot on this
map. Not on your blowup. It's on mne.

Q | will nove it alittle bit.

A The diversion damright there where you

see that white.
Q So to the west of your irrigated
properties on the river there you're pointing to

alittle white line across the river?

A Yes. Right.

Q Do you know what the priority dates are
for your water rights?

A Yes.

Q What are they?

A The water right starting with No. 152
s 1894.

Q And which, just to rem nd us, which
wat er right, what parcel, the northwest side?

A The northwest side of the river.

Q And how about the priority date for the

wat er right on the southeast side of the river?
A Priority date for that southeast side
starts with No. 162 and it's 1896.
Q Looki ng at that northwest side of the
river, you nentioned you have a diversion dam

correct?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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A Yep.

Q And you al so nentioned punps on that
signed of the river, too, correct?

A Yes.

Q When you do you use -- well, do you use

the diversion damto irrigate that side of the
river?

A When the high flow in the spring when
the water is running over the spillway, that's
when that ditch works the best.

Q |s that ditch an open ditch?

A Open, what do you nean?

Q Well, is there -- do you have a pipe or
is it open ditch fromthe diversion damto your
property?

A Right. There's an in-streamreservoir

where you see the white. Then there's the nouth
of the ditch, we got a 4-inch culvert there. And
there's sonme other culverts, two on our property
right along the river. Is that what you want?

Q When do you start using punps on the
nort hwest side of the river?

A Vel |, whenever the ditch is
I neffective, when there's low flow, it's very

flat, the ditch, because it was built before the

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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reservoir, the Tongue R ver Reservoir, and it's
almost -- it drops very little. So it's al nost
flat. It doesn't work unless you have a high
flow. So when the flow decreases so nuch that
there's no head at the beginning, then | shut it
of f usually and start punpi ng.

SPECI AL MASTER: Counsel, can | just
stop for a second? | realize there was one thing
said earlier that if the witness said | m ssed.
So | heard you say that you live in the Birney
area?

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: \Where is the property?

THE WTNESS: The property is roughly
hal f way between Bi rney, Mntana, the town, and
t he Tongue Ri ver Reservoir.

SPECI AL MASTER. kay. Thanks.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) | guess this would
be a good tinme to pull out this large map right
behind you, if we can do that. Montana.
Denonstrative Exhibit No. 2.

A Do you want ne to set it up here?

Q Yes, if you could, just briefly. Can
you find on that nmap about where you think the

property that you irrigate?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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A Ri ght about here (i ndicating).
Q So just right about hal fway between the
Tongue Ri ver Dam and Birney?
A Yes.
Q Al'l right. Thank you.
MR. SWANSON: | want to correct the

record, that isn't denonstrative Exhibit 2 from
Montana. |It's a blowp of Exhibit 1 of MS5.
SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. Thanks.

Q (By M. Kuhlman:) How |ong have you
had punps?
A Si nce 1992.

Q Wiy did you install the punps?

A Mai nl y because of the ditch only works,
|ike | said before, when the water runs over the
spillway. It's the high flowto get it down to

our property.

Q And how many punps do you run?

A Ri ght now | have five punps.

Q And what kind of punps are those?
A |'ve got three flood punps and two

pressure punps.
Q Can you indicate on the map on the
screen around where you divert water with those

punps fromthe Tongue River?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533
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A At this tinme?
Q At this tine.
A |'ve got a punp -- | can put a punp in

here, and got a punp here for the southeast side
of the river. | got another punp right down
here for the northeast side. And | can put --
t hese punps are on wheels, so | can nove them
around. Another one down here. Did | say four?

Four or five.

Q | think you said five.
A kay.
Q So | ooking at that southeast side of

the river, you just have one punp there?

A Yes, one punp for the southeast side,
right.

Q | s that usually the sane punp every year?

A Usual | y, except for this year. [|I'm
noving to punp sone -- after | got ny seed

started on the northeast side in this field right
here, | had sone seed in there, once | got that
started with nmy sprinkler, | noved that punp over
and fl ooded that.

Q What is the type of punp that you
generally use on that southeast side of the river

up until this year?
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A Yeah, it's a flood punp.

Q What's the capacity of that punp?

A 790 gal |l ons per m nute.

Q Do you have any other punps with that
capacity?

A Yes, | have one that's |arger.

Q How is it the punp on the sout heast
side of the river, howis that fueled?

A That runs on propane.

Q You al so nentioned a piece of property

up there in the far north, looks like it's a
little bit away fromthe river. Can you tell us
about that piece of property?

SPECI AL MASTER: Real quickly, which
pi ece are you referring to?

MR. KUHLMANN: | can indicate a little
better here.

SPECI AL MASTER | just want to neke
sure the witness and | and everyone el se knows

exactly which parcel.

Ckay.
MR, KUHLMANN:  Ckay.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) So | have got kind

of pointing to a piece of property that is
| abeled Field 1. Can you tell us about that
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pi ece of property?

A That is a field -- that was a huge fl at
prairie dog town at one tine, and | cleared it
and planted seed up there. That was after | got
contract water. And that's irrigated with
contract water.

Q And what punp do you use to irrigate
t hat piece of property?

A | use a PTO punp, punp that runs off a
tractor, and it's a sprinkler punp, runs 200
gall ons per mnute, or 300 if you don't use your
guns.

Q Do you have any ot her PTO punps?

A Yes, | have a PTO flood punp that is
590 gal |l ons per m nute.

Q So for that --

SPECI AL MASTER: Just for ny curiosity,
could you either tell nme what a PTO punp stands
for or what it actually is?

THE W TNESS: Power take-off is what
PTO stands for.

SPECI AL MASTER:  Ckay.

THE WTNESS: It's the drive line
com ng out of the back of your tractor and you

hook your punp to that. So your drive line from
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your punp and that powers it.
SPECI AL MASTER. Ckay. | know what

you' re tal king about now. Thank you.

Q (By M. Kuhl man:) So you just used
t he PTO sprinkler punp that you have on Field 17?

A Currently, | do.

Q What did you use in the past?

A Before | got the PTO sprinkler punp |
had a -- | have a Chevy propane punp, pressure
punp. Sane gallons per mnute as the PTO

sprinkler punp, but it runs froma propane Chevy
engi ne.

Q When did you get the PTO sprinkler punp?

A | didn't get the PTO sprinkler punp
until 1 think 2006.

Q When do you typically start irrigating?

A Well, | start in May. Kind of depends
on the river, what's com ng down the river. |If

it's too high, | can't put nmy punps in because --
if | put themin too early and the river raises
Wi th the spring runoff in June, then it'd tear ny
foot valves right off.
Q When do you generally stop irrigating?
A | have a water right -- well, the water

rights say it's through the first of Novenber,
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but |'ve never gone that far.

Q How far do you generally go?

A |'ve gone to the end of Cctober.

Q How often is that?

A Vel l, those are years when there's
quite a bit of flowin the river. When the fl ow

drops, which is usually around the 15th through
the 30th of Septenber, then a |ot of tines I
can't punp, unless | nove nmy punp to sone deeper
hol e or sonet hing, deeper -- the river is not,
you know, just |evel anywhere. There's holes and
shal | ow pl aces.

Q And sonetinmes your punps intakes can't
reach the water in the river?

A Yeah, the intake is out of the water.

Q You nmentioned earlier that you raise

al falfa, correct?

A Yes.

Q How nmany cuttings do you get a year?
A Typically two. Sonetines three.

Q Maybe you can indicate on the map, can

you tell us a little bit about where you use
sprinklers and where you flood irrigate these
fields?

A This field up at the top, | use a
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sprinkler punp on sone of it and sonme of it is
| aser level where | can flood it with the sane
punp, just taking off the sprinklers.

Q And how about -- | guess, if you can go
t hrough the fields kind of noving up the river.

A Well, if I"'mstarting to seed, a |lot of
times | use the sprinklers to get the seed going,
if it'"s not going to rain. So that can happen
anywhere on those fields.

Q The sprinkler on any one of those
fields depending on what you need?

A Right. | have another field clear down

here at the south end on the north side of the

river, | use a sprinkler on that.

Q Are the rest of the fields ones that
you also flood irrigate?

A Yes.

Q How | ong do you have to irrigate your

fields before you can get a cutting of alfalfa?

A Well, | run the water across them once,
and then whatever grows, once it flowers, | cut
it.

Q Do you know about how long it takes to

get the water across the field?
A Each field is different. Fi el ds t hat
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are |l aser leveled, that have a sl ope, water runs
alittle faster, of course, than the fields that
are not.

Q Do you irrigate -- try to irrigate all
your fields at one tine?

A No, it takes ne a little while to get
t he punps set up, and then hardly ever do | have
all the punps running at once.

Q |s there any order that you try to
irrigate the fields?

A Well, if | got sone new seed com ng on,
those are the fields | want to sprinkle or get
water on if it's not going to rain.

Q Does the anobunt of water you take from

the river change fromday to day?

A Yes.
Q And why is that?
A Don't al ways have the sane punps

running at the sanme tine each day.

Q Ckay. What are the reasons why you
woul dn't have punps running on a particular day?

A Wel |, maybe |'m haying or maybe doi ng
sonet hing el se, | guess.

Q So when you can have your punps on

limted by the manpower you have to operate them
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and irrigate?

A Coul d you say it once nore?

Q When you can have your punps on and
when they need to be off, is that sonetines
di ctated by, | guess, how nmuch manpower you have

to be able to irrigate the fields?

A Ri ght, all manpower.

Q And is it all you?

A Yep.

Q You can only be in one spot at one tine?
A Ri ght .

Q How | ong do you typically have to stop

irrigating so you can hay?

A It depends on the soil. Sonme of the
fields are pretty gravelly, have very little top
soil, dry out pretty fast a couple days it's hot.
QO her fields are heavier soil, which usually have
a better crop on them mght take a week.

Q Can you indicate on the nmap sone of
those fields that you indicate dry out a little
qui cker ?

A This field here has very little top
soil. And it's gravel that is right underneath,
it dries out fast. This field dries out fast

because it's windy up there on that flat. The
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soil isn't necessarily -- the soil isn't too bad
as far as gravel goes, but it gets a |lot of w nd
there. It wll dry out in a couple days.
Q | think you just said on the flat.
What did you nmean by that?
A It's up above, it's maybe 20 feet
hi gher than the fields on the bottom down there.
Q What were the fields that take a little
| onger to dry out?
A That would be this field here in the
m ddl e and all this down through here, real heavy

deep soil there.

Q |s that | abeled Field 5 on the nmap?
A Yes, it's 5.
Q Does it take nore water to get a crop

on one of those fields that dries out faster than
it takes to get on the fields that dry out slower?

A Well, on the -- | use a sprinkler on a
couple of these fields that dry out fast. Mainly
this one up here because it's high off the river
and it takes a | ot of pressure to punp water up
t here.

Q Does it take nore water to get a crop
off that field than your other fields?

A No. No, it doesn't.
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Q |'"d like to tal k about your reservoir
wat er. You nentioned that you have contracts

with the Tongue R ver Water Users Associ ation,

correct?

A Yes.

Q How nmany contracts was that?

A Four different ones.

Q And how many shares does that give you
fromall of those contracts?

A 212. 5.

Q Have you ever |eased -- how often do

you have those contracts? |Is that every year?

A Yes, we've got -- we had all of those
since, | believe, 1999.

Q Have you ever |eased water from ot her
f ol ks?

A Yes.

Q Who have you | eased water from before?

A Bill Musgrave and Christine Val entine.

Q What kind of a tine franme was that?

Was that year to year?
A W paid year to year. W had the first
right to get it the next year. W pay in advance.
Q How often did you | ease water from

t hose two peopl e?
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A W' ve had Christine Valentine's water
for, I think, since 2000. And there are years it
was dry, | know -- | can't renenber exactly the
dat es, years. It was in the 2000 to 2009 we had
190 acre feet fromBill Misgrave.

Q How much did that water cost to | ease?

A Either $5 or $6 an acre is what |
t hi nk. Sonmething |ike that.

Q |s that for both of those fol ks' water?

A | think Christine's was $5 an
acre-foot, and -- | mght be wong there. | know
our bill we paid her was roughly $99 a year

sonething. That m ght be right. Bill Misgrave's
water, | think we paid $5 an acre-foot. Maybe
$6. | have sonme -- well, you've got sone

docunents that probably show that.

Q | do indeed. Let's pull out W245.
Do you recogni ze this docunent ?

A Yes.

Q s this your handwiting on this
docunent ?

A This is ny nother's handwiting on this
docunent.

Q So your nother created this docunent?

A Yes.
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Q |s this a docunent that you possess?

A Yes. This is a copy. W were
subpoenaed for the deposition to bring in the
wat er we had, contract water, and this was all on
a couple sticky notes, |ooks |ike, and we stuck
themon there and copied it off right there in

t he deposition.

Q These are accurate copies of the sticky
not es?
A Yes.
Q And this was done at your deposition,
correct?
A Correct.
MR KUHLMANN: 1'd like to admt W245.

MR. SWANSON: No objection to the
sticky notes, Your Honor.

SPECI AL MASTER: W245 is admtted.

( Received.)

Q (By M. Kuhl man:) Can you descri be
what this docunent shows?

A This shows in the lower right, shows
our four water contracts, the nunbers of the
contracts are what the Montana Water Users send
us a bill for each year, and then the total. Here

is Bill Miusgrave's water that we bought and the
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years we bought it.

Q When you say here, can you indicate
where --

A Upper right kind of a square sticky
not e.

Q The tabl e?

A H nf?

Q |s that kind of a table of nunbers?

A Yeah, years and then what we paid that

year for each of those contracts. Wll, the
contract was the sanme anount for each of those
years, $190.

Q And are these all the years -- are
those all the years that you | eased water from
Bill Misgrave?

A | currently, from 2009 to now, |'ve
been | easing 40 acre-feet fromBill Misgrave.

Q |'"d like to turn now to an exhibit
that's al ready been admtted as Exhibit M 389.
This is a letter fromBill Misgrave dated July
19, 2004, to Pat Hel ns, secretary of the Tongue
R ver Water Users Association; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And what does this letter say, or what

does it generally say?
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A It's saying Bill Misgrave is |easing

190 acre-feet of water to the FL Ranch for the

year 2004.

Q And then it |ists the contracts that
are being | eased to you?

A Yes.

Q Now, |'d like to | ook at Exhibit W142,

whi ch has not been admtted yet. Do you recognize

t his docunent ?

A Yes.
Q s this a docunent --
MR. SWANSON: | couldn't hear the nunber.
MR KUHLMANN: W 142,
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Was this a docunent
t hat you received a copy of?
A Yes.
Q So you were sent a copy when it says
down on the bottom cc, Bill Carrel?
A Ri ght .
Q | s this docunent talking about your
| easing water fromBill Misgrave?
A Yes, sane but for the next year, 2005.
MR. KUHLMANN: |1'd like to nove to

admt Exhibit W142.
MR. SWANSON:. No obj ecti on.
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SPECI AL MASTER: Exhibit W142 is

adm tt ed.
(Recei ved.)
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) For the record,
what's the date on this letter?
A June 16, 2005.
Q When you want use water fromthe Tongue

Ri ver Reservoir, do you have to contact anybody
to have it delivered to you?

A Contract water you nean?

Q The contract water you | ease or the
contract water you have shares for.

A Well, what usually happens is they call
us and tell us we are starting on contract water
and then we call back when we start each punp so
they know, we tell them which punp we are
starting and how many gallons a mnute it is.
Then they do whatever they have to to get the

wat er down t here.

Q Who are you contacting?
A Art Hayes, usually.
Q Do you ever have to ask for -- strike

that. Do you ever tell thema certain anount of
water that you're going to need on a certain date

in order to make that -- have that water be
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avai l able for you on that date?

A | generally tell themwhen I'mstarting
ny punps, and they know which punp | have and how
much flow | have. So whether it's enough to open
it much, | don't know.

Q | s that storage water avail able at your

head gate when you need it?

A At head gate?
Q Well, at your punps.
A Yeah, when they start the contract

wat er generally the river maybe cones up a little
sonetinmes. Usually have enough water to get it
over ny foot valves and start the punps.
Q Can you tell themin anticipation of
you starting the punp or when you started the punp?
A Wen | started the punp you call. You
can | eave a nessage or there is an answering
machi ne, you | eave a nessage on there, just a
nunmber you call to |l et them know you've started
your punp, or you just call Bunny, Art Hayes, who

runs the Tongue River Reservoir.

Q Do you have any neasuring devi ces on
your punps?
A Each punp was neasured in 2002, |

bel i eve, by water comm ssioner. And they gave ne
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a readi ng of how nuch ny punps were punping.

Q So they neasured the capacity of the
punps?

A Ri ght .

Q Have they neasured the capacity of the

punps since 20027
A | think when |I got the punp, the
pressure punp, PTO pressure punp, in 2006, they

cane and neasured that one when | got it running.

Q Did your ditch have a neasuring device?
A No.
Q Do you keep records of when you irrigate?
A Yes.
Q Do you keep records of how nuch water

you use?
A Yes, for these contract water, | do.

Wien |'mrunning the ditch, | don't.
Q Do you al ways keep records of every year?
A No. Years when there's -- when there's

-- unless they tell us to keep records, when it's
goi ng to be comm ssioners checking, then you keep
notes. | have kept notes on years when there was
a hundred percent water, also.

Q And why did you do that?

A Vell, the year started out dry and
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t hought we were going to be short where you have
to have a percentage. Turned out it started
rai ni ng and got a hundred percent of water.

Q I n your answer you nentioned they. Wo

are you referring to?

A Tongue River -- | got to hear the
guesti on agai n.

Q When you nention, | think you said they
told us --

A Ch, that would be the Tongue River
Water Users, or these comm sSsioners.

Q | would li ke to take a | ook at Exhi bit
W295. Do you recognize this docunent?

A Yes.

Q Go ahead and take a | ook through the
pages, this looks to be -- | guess I'l| ask.

Did you create docunent?

A Yes.
Q What is this docunent?
A This is a water use log that the

conm ssioners told ne to keep for all ny punps

for measuring of the contract water.

Q |s this a full copy of your records?
A Looks like it.
MR KUHLMANN: 1'd like to nove to
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admt W 295.
MR, SWANSON: No obj ecti on.
SPECI AL MASTER: Exhibit W295 is

adm tt ed.
(Recei ved.)

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Wat period of tine
do these records cover?

A | believe 2002 through part of 2008
maybe.

Q CGeneral ly, what do these records show?

A Well, there's a description of the
punp, gallons per mnute for each punp -- or a

description of the punp, the gallons per mnute
for that punp, the rpnmis that this punp was
measured on, the start and stop tine, the nunber

of hours, the total gallons.

Q And were you | ooking at a particular
page?

A Yeah, second page.

Q So you've got a start and stop tine
listed here for different tine periods. In

between the stop tine that's listed and to the
next start tinme, does that nean the punp is off?
A Yes.
Q And how do you break down your
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measur enent s between punps? Are they on separate

pages?
A Yes, they are.
Q How di d you neasurer water use to

create these records?

A | took the nunber of gallons per mnute
time the hours, nmultiply that tinmes the nunber of
hours, tinmes 60, would give ne gallons per
m nut e. And then divided that -- sonetines |
used 325,900, which is one acre-foot of water. |
may have used 326, 000 on sone of these.

Q | s there a reason you used one nunber

versus the other?

A No, | started out being very... and
| ater decided to | eave 326, 000.
Q Did that change situationally any of
t he nunbers you cane out wth?
A It could have, yes, | guess.
Q How much of a difference is there
bet ween 325, 900 versus 326, 000?
A VWell, there is a hundred.
Q Not too much on the scale of things?
A When you're figuring your total, yeah,

| guess it would change it a little.

Q Did you add up the total anount of
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acre-feet, or did you add up your neasurenent

bet ween the punps for a given year?

A Yes, | total ed them up.

Q Was that to give yourself -- why did
you do that?

A Wll, | have a certain anount of
acre-feet. |In these dry years when we had to do

t hese records, there was usually a percentage of
the total acre-feet that you owned and | eased,
and | didn't want to go over that.

Q Did you cal cul ate the anount of water

you have available in a given year in these

records?

A Yes.

Q Looki ng t hrough these records, they
appear to start in 2002; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Do you know how nuch water you had

avai l able to you in 2002?

A | wll have to go to the page where |
totaled it. It looks like on the fifth page |
have a total, that year we had 55 percent water
avai l abl e, looks to ne like | had Christine's
wat er plus 200 acre-feet of our own water.

Q Do you know how nmuch water you used in
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2002, according to your records?

A | s that on the sanme page here?

Looks like -- do you want ne to count
t he pages?

Q Maybe if you can descri be the page and
we can followalong and | will try to put it up
on the screen.

A Get to the pages unlike the other pages
t hat woul d show the punps, the tinme, all that,
it's a total --

SPECI AL MASTER: \What does it say at
the top of the page? That wll probably help.

THE W TNESS: PTO sprinkl er 292. ' 11
show you. This 2001 here.

SPECI AL MASTER: Maybe in fact if you
show M. Kuhl mann, he can project that page up
and that will help everybody.

MR, KUHLMANN:.  Ckay.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Do | have the
correct page up on the screen now?

A Yes.

Q Zoomin alittle bit.

MR. SWANSON: Can we get an idea which
page in the docunent itself?
MR, KUHLMANN: About three or four
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pages after the |last few he tal ked about.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) So this is the
correct page you were |ooking at?

A Yes.

Q Where does it say your total water use?

A In the far right bottom 120. 89.

Q So you had 121 acre-feet available to

you and you used 120.89; is that correct?

A Yes. You're getting that fromthis 55
percent, right?

Q Correct. Do you pay close attention to
how much water you use?

A | try to. | thought the judge is
going to have to see this docunent each year, so
| tried to be close as | could on this.

SPECI AL MASTER: \Wen you say the
j udge, you're tal king about the water judge in
Mont ana?

THE W TNESS: Whoever was directing the
conmi Ssi oner s.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Take a | ook at
Exhi bit N-382, which has already been admtted.
Can you see that up on the screen?

A Yes.
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Q Al right. This is a set of records
t hat Chuck Kepper -- do you know who Chuck Kepper
| S?

A Yes, | do.

Q Who is he?

A He's one of the water conmm ssioners.

Q M. Kepper testified earlier in the

trial and said these are records from 2002.
Turning to the second page. |
represent to you that this is the | ast page
that's been -- | guess, the latest page in this
docunent, and the date at the top says 1
Sept enber 2002. This docunent says there was a
cunmul ative usage in acre-feet by you of 127
acre-feet. Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q So that's different than the anpunt of
wat er you neasured using 2002, correct?
A Yes.
Q Can you explain why there is a
di fference between those nunbers?
A No.
MR. SWANSON: (Obj ect. Foundati on.
This is not his docunent. This is a docunent

from M. Kepper, not fromthe wtness.
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SPECIAL MASTER: | think it's fine for
t he question he asked, whether or not he can
explain what the difference in the two nunbers
woul d be, and | think he said that he actually
doesn't know what explains the difference.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) D d M. Kepper tell
you what he neasured your water use -- did M.
Kepper tell you what he neasured was your total
wat er use in 20027

A No, |I told himwhat ny water use was in
2002.

Q Now, goi ng back to your records,

Exhi bit 295, noving on fromthe page that we were
just on, can you find where your records begin
for 2004?  Going back four or so pages. In

| ooki ng through the pages after that, can you
find the total anmpunt of acre-feet that you

measured as using the 20047

A Yes.

Q At about ei ght pages in?

A About that.

Q What does it say at the top of the page?
A It says, 200 plus 190 equals 390 tines

.48 percent equals 187.20. Below that says
actual anount, 212.5 plus 190 equals 402.5 tines
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48 percent equals 193. 20.

SPECI AL MASTER: |'m sorry, Counsel,
| "' m having problens finding this page.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Do you know what
your total water use was in 2004?
A My nunber is 191. 46.
Q And how nuch water did you have

avai |l abl e that year?
A 48 percent.
Q Do you know how many acre-feet that

woul d have been avail abl e?

A Yes, that's 193. 20.

Q So you had 193.20 acre-feet and you
used 191. 467

A Yes.

Q |s that pretty cl ose?

A That's pretty close. | could nake a

m st ake every now and t hen.

Q Take a | ook now at Exhibit N-386, which
has al ready been admtted. This is a set of
nmeasur enents nmade by the water conm ssioners for
2004. If you look at the | ast page, that page
shoul d say -- should have the dates May 1st
t hrough August 15th, 2004. And this is the

| at est page that's in this docunent. Can you
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tell us what it says next to your nane as the

cunul ative usage in acre-feet?

A It says 8b5.

Q So that's quite a bit different from
t he anount of acre-feet you neasured yourself,
correct?

A Yes, but is that through the whole
year ?

Q Wel |, | ooking back at your

neasurenents, is there a date that you associ at ed
when you were cal cul ating your total? VWhat |'m
seei ng on here, August 22nd, 2004.

It was on the sane page. |'m |l ooking
at the sanme page that you did your total

cal cul ati on.

A Ch. \WWere does it say that?

Q | "' m | ooki ng down at the very bottom

A Ch, okay. Ri ght. Yep, August 22nd.

Q So was that your usage through August
22nd?

A Yes. That's when | got so close that |
figured | better shut it off in case | nade a
m st ake.

Q Ckay. And the date on Exhibit 386,

M 386, says -- Exhibit M 386 says August 15th; is
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that correct?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. So your records go through
August 22nd, and at | east the records on here go
t hrough August 15th, correct?

A Yes.

Q The differences between your nunbers is
over 100 acre-feet between what the comm ssioner
nmeasured you using and what you neasured yourself

as using, correct?

A August 15t h?

Q VWl |, do you have a nunber on the 15th,
or close to the 15th?

A | have the 14th here.

Q How nmuch did you' ve cal cul ate yourself

as using as of August 14th?

A 156. 075.

Q That's still quite a bit nore than the
conm ssi oner had you neasured at?

A Yes.

Q Do you know why he neasured you using a

| ot | ess than you had yoursel f neasured?
A No.
Q Did he tell you what his neasurenent

was for that year?
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A No. Again, | told himwhen | was about
out and informed himthat | was pretty close to
out and this is what | used.

Q So you're saying you told himyou used

85 acre-feet?

A No, 191.

Q So you don't know why he woul d say 85
and you woul d say 191, correct?

A | don't know.

Q Al right. Keep going on here. Turning

about three nore pages in your records, about
ei ght nore pages, is there a page that at the
very top says, 7/13/05-9/30/05?

A Yes.

Q s this for the 2005 season?

A Looks like it.

Q And how nuch water did you have

avai | abl e then?

A Hundr ed percent.

Q So how much water woul d that have been
for you in total?

A It woul d have been our 212.5 plus 20 of
Christine's water, plus 190 acre-feet of Bil
Musgrave' s wat er.

Q And there's a nunber here circled,
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145.00. |Is that the total anount of water you

nmeasured yourself using in 20057

A Yes.

Q So was this one of the years you
nmeasured that you still had a full allocation?

A Yes.

Q Move on. The next page, you go to the

next page, at the top it says 790 gall ons per
m nute, gpm 2006. |Is this the start of your
records for 20067

A Yes, it looks like it.

Q |f we go five pages further to page at
the top says 6-15-06-6-30-06. |Is this a page

where you totaled up your water use in 2006?

A Yes, it looks like it.

Q And how nuch did you cal cul ate you used
in 20067

A 252. 81.

Q And do you know how nuch water you had

avai l abl e in 20067

A | don't have a percentage on here.

Q VWl |, how many acre-feet would you have
had if you had a full allocation?

A Well, | would have to add that up.

Q Was 2006 the year you | eased water from
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Bill Musgrave?
A Yes, 212.5 plus 20 plus 190.
Q So you woul d have had sone percent age

| ess than that?

A | n 20067

Q Yes.

A Yes, | guess. | don't know the answer
to that.

Q Wll, I'll tell you that in earlier

testinmony 90 percent allocation, or 90 percent of
full water rights was what was testified to in
this case. Do you know if that sounds right?

A Yeah, |'ve heard that nunber. That's

not a nunber | know about, though, on here.

Q Ckay. It's not in your record?

A | heard it was 10 percent off or
sonet hi ng.

Q So that woul d be 90 percent of your
total ?

A Ri ght .

Q Ckay. So was 10 percent of the water

you had avail able be quite a bit nore than the
252.81 you cal cul ated that you used? So the
total you had avail able versus the total you

used, is there quite a bit of difference there?
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A Yes. It would help if we would do the
mat h.

Q Ckay. | took a crack at it, which is
dangerous being a |l awer, but so in 2006 you said

you had 212 and half acre-feet of shares, correct?

A Correct.

Q Pl us you had 90 --

A 190.

Q 190. Pl us anot her 207?

A Yes.

Q So that's over 300 acre-feet, correct?

A kay.

Q Does that sound about right?

A Yes.

MR. SWANSON: | just want to | odge an

objection. | think the math woul d be

significantly different fromthat.

SPECI AL MASTER: One | awyer's objection
to anot her |awer's nath.

MR. SWANSON: W are in dangerous
territory here, Your Honor.

THE WTNESS: | have it added up here
somewher e.

MR SWANSON: We wll stipulate it's
nore than 258. 81.
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SPECI AL MASTER: | think everyone has
probably agreed it is nore than was actually used
in this particular year by M. Carrel, and we can
all actually do the math ourselves | ater.

MR, KUHLMANN:  We'l| get that team of
scientists to help the | awers cal cul at e.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) So in 2006 you
didn't use all of the water you had available; is
t hat correct?

A That's correct.

Q W'l turn to Exhibit 394, which is
anot her set of conm ssioner records. M 394,
Taking a |l ook at these records, | wll have you

turn to a page, the date goes through Septenber

30t h, 2006. | believe it's page MIi00035, and
it's towards the back of the docunent.

A | have that.

Q | wll represent this is the |atest

page for Chuck Kepper's records in this docunent.
What nunber is next to your nane as far as

cunul ative usage acre-feet on this docunent?

A It 1ooks |ike 130.

Q So that's quite a bit less than 252,
correct?

A Yes.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4389

Q Can you expl ain why that nunber is
quite a bit different?

A The date, June 21st, through Septenber
30t h, maybe he doesn't have all when | started.

Q Take a | ook at the other pages
followng this, but if you go the second-to-the-
| ast page, says June 21st through August 16th,
and that has 85 acre-feet used next to your nane,
and in the page before that goes through August
31st, that says 130. So we get to Septenber
30th, and it says still says 130. So does that
seemto be totaling up your anmnount of water that
year, if it's grow ng?

A Al these three pages are 20067

Q Correct. That | ooks to be the total
that M. Kepper neasured using by Septenber 30th
of 2006.

A Looks like it.

Q Ckay. And | ooki ng back at your records
on the page that you had your total for 2006, do
you know what date that would have been your
wat er use through, what date you cal cul at ed t hat
total ?

A | believe the | ast date on here | ooks
| i ke August 30t h.
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Q The | atest one |I'm seeing, you have a

measur enent says, VU 8-30-98.

A Ch.

Q Wul d Septenber 8th have been the | ast
dat e?

A Looks like it, yes.

Q So Septenber 8th -- at |east by

Septenber 8th, you had neasured yourself using
252.81 acre-feet?

A Ri ght .

Q Did the comm ssioner ever tell you

about what anopbunt of water he neasured in 20067?

A | don't see 2006.

Q | thought it was 10 percent.

A 10 percent off 190.

Q How often did the comm ssioner cone by

your property?
A | don't know. He could have cone when

| wasn't there or when | was in a different field

or sonething. | don't know how many ti nes.
Q Did he neasure water use from your punps?
A Yes.
Q Did he do that personally?
A He did that, himand Al an.
Q And that was your water use throughout
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t he sunmmer ?

A It was a one tine thing on each punp
starting in 2002 until -- | used those sane
nunbers until | got another punp in 2006, and

t hey nmeasured that one, too.

Q So those are the only tines that you
know t hey neasured your punps?

A Yes.

Q So you nentioned that you had been
telling the water conmm ssioner what your totals
were as you used water throughout the year,
correct?

A Yes. | called occasionally the
comm ssioners and Art Hayes wonderi ng when we
were going to run out of water so | could try and
time nmy punps -- ny usage to when the entire dam

was going to be out, contract water was up.

Q Did he tell you when that happened?

A Yeah, they had kind of a guess on it.
You know, it's all rough. They don't know for
sure.

Q And you wanted to nake sure you didn't

go over, right?
A Yes.

Q Did they ever give you a statenent or a
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recei pt at the end of the year to let you know
how much water they neasured that you had used?

And by they, | nmean the Tongue R ver Water Users.

A How nmuch | used?
Q Yes.
A No.
Q Wul d that have been sonething you'd
| i ke to have?
A Fromthe. ..
Q To know how nmuch the conm ssioners are

measuring your water use so you could conpare it
agai nst your own?
A Well, ny assunption was | would cal
and | et them know how nuch water | used.
Q If | can have a nonent.
SPECI AL MASTER: Yes. In fact, let's

take the first norning break right now

(Recess.)
SPECI AL MASTER: Back in session.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) | only have a

coupl e questions left.

| think you nentioned when we were
| ooking at the differences between the
comm ssioner's record nunbers and your record

nunbers, | think you indicated that it m ght be
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because they didn't have your early season

anounts; was that correct?

A We woul d have to | ook through mne to
conpar e.
Q But you did call them when you started

t aki ng records and using water, correct?
A They i nformed us when the contract
water was to begin. And sonetines | don't have

all nmy punps set up just right then, but...so...

Q But you call them when you start your
punps?

A They give us a date, they give ne a day
of when the contract water begins.

Q When do you start keeping records?

A Usually I call themwhen | set up ny

punps, tell them | got ny punps set up, which
ones and how nuch. ..
Q You're ready to go to start using water

with the punps?

A Ri ght .

Q What was the year that you got storage
water for the first tinme?

A You nean the first contract?

Q Yes.

A We bought sone water 50 acre-feet from
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-- through the Montana water -- or through the
wat er users, but it was Indian water in 2001, |
bel i eve.

Q Do you know how nmuch water -- how nuch

t hat water cost you?

A | think it was $5 an acre-foot, but |I'm
not positive. That may be on one of these
docunent s here.

Q | won't worry about trying to ferret
that out. How |l ong have you had your shares,
your annual shares, in the Tongue River \Wter

Users Associ ati on?

A | think by 1999 we had nost -- we had
themall, I'mjust alnost positive.
Q Did you have sone anount |ess than that

i n years before?

A Yeah, we got them-- you know, those
dates I've tried to find, and just recently tried
to find themagain, and | couldn't find them

don't know for sure which days we got each

contract.

Q But you had themin years before '99,
at | east sone --

A Yes.

Q -- sone contracts?
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A W tried to pick themup as we -- you
know, we bid on contracts and couldn't get them a
| ot of tines.

Q What do you nean by that?

A There was a neeting when Herb Msl ey
sold his place, or was selling a ot of water, |
went to one of those neetings, and we had, I|ike,
an auction al nost bidding on his water. |
couldn't buy any of that water. There was a | ot
of water, too.

Q So you had water contracts before they

had water conmm ssioners on the river, correct?

A Yes.

Q At that tinme did you call anybody to
| et them know when you started using the water?

A Bef ore the conmmi ssi oners? No.

Q So you were able to take stored water

when you needed it?
A Well, we used the ditch as nmuch as we
could. And then I don't know when we got the

punps and | can't renenber the dates on the

contracts.
Q Ckay.
A So. ..
Q Did you have to call anybody and say, |
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need this anmount of acre-feet to start using it
on this date?

MR. SWANSON: (Objection. Could you
clarify what period of tinme we are tal king about,
because |I'mnot clear on that.

MR. KUHLMANN: Prior to the water
comm ssi oners bei ng appoi nt ed.

THE WTNESS: Ckay. No, | didn't --
didn't have to call anybody. We used the ditch.
That was really our only source of water before |
got the punps, or the contracts.

MR, KUHLMANN: | don't think | have any
ot her questions. Thank you very nuch.

SPECI AL MASTER:  Thank you. M. Swanson.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Swanson:) Good norning, M.
Carrel .

A Good nor ni ng.

Q Got just a fewthings to follow up on

from M. Kuhlman's exam To begin wth, you

I ndi cated on that |arge bl owup map behi nd you the
area where you farm and could you just descri be

for us how far below the damis, if you know, in

terms of water travel tinme? There's been a | ot

of di scussion about travel tinme of water com ng
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fromthe damdown the river. Are you famliar
with that concept?

A Yes.

Q And how | ong usually does it take the
water fromrelease fromthe damto cone to your

poi nt of diversion?

A |t depends on how nuch head they have,
how much water is in the reservoir. |If it's
pretty full, it cones in |ess than one day.

Q In | ess than one day. And we tal ked

about your water rights, and we don't need to

| ook at them but you nentioned you have a 1894
and 1896 water right. | understand that you
actually share this water right wth another

ranch; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And what's that other ranch?
A D anond Cross.

Q So the acreage anount that you

i ndicated to us is not the full anount of acreage

used under those water rights; is that correct?

A It's a split right. |It's adjudicated
and we each have our acreage. |'mnot --
Q That's what | was asking. So there is

acreage under the Dianond Cross Ranch as well as
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acreage under your ranch that were split out and
accounted for under those water rights, correct?
A That's correct, yes.
Q And that 1894 right, is that accurate
that that's the nunber 5 right on the river, is

t hat according to your recollection?

A There's a list on that final decree,
1914 decree. Just about fifth.
Q So in a nornmal year, you're able to get

a good anount of direct flow through your ditch
for irrigation; is that right?

A On a normal year, yes.

Q Now, in a dry year you nentioned that
you have trouble with your ditch actually getting
the water to the field. Do you use your ditch on
years when there's water conm ssioners regul ating
t he water?

A When they start -- when we are starting
on the contract water, when they say all contract
water, then | have to shut that ditch off.

Q Ckay. Because you nentioned they've
never neasured your ditch, the comm ssioners have
never neasured your ditch, and is that because
you' ve never used it when the conm ssioners were

on regulating the river?
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A That's correct.

Q |"mgoing to | ook at two exhibits that
M. Kuhl mann asked you about. The first one is
Wom ng 245. You should have it there before
you. Let nme know if you want ne to help you find
it. And the second one is Mntana 389.

A What is the nunber again?

Q Montana 389. W'l start with that one
first. That's the letter fromM. Misgrave to
t he Tongue River Water Users. Do you have that
one?

A Yes.

Q | see it has a date of July 19, 2004,
and M. Musgrave is notifying the water users

t hat you have | eased his water for the year 2004,

correct?

A Correct.

Q So you woul d have paid M. Misgrave for
the water by that point?

A Yes.

Q And then if we go to Wom ng 245, that
is actually -- | believe it's the sticky note
exhibit -- it is -- the handwitten notes on what

you paid for water over the years?
A Yes.
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Q Wom ng 245. Do you see that sticky
note that's kind of in the center of the page
that has nmultiple years accounted one on top of
the other wwth |ines between?

A Yes.

Q The top line is 8/ 24/ 04, do you see that?
A Yes.
Q And it says 190 acre-feet at $6 per
acre foot for 2005. Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q And that's an anmount of $11407?
A Ri ght .
Q So piecing these notes together, it

appears that in July you paid M. Misgrave an
amount of noney, do you think it was $1140 as
well for the first purchase?

A Yes.

Q And then a nonth [ater you pay him
again for use of that water for the foll ow ng
year; is that right?

A Yes.

Q It looks |ike you were putting out a
| ot of extra noney in 2004 because of water
shortage; is that a fair assessnent?

A Yes.
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Q And that was noney you weren't planning
on spending at the beginning of the irrigation
season?

A No. This water came avail able and |

junped right on it.

Q You had to, right?
A Ri ght .
Q So that water short year was a pretty

expensi ve year for you, wasn't it?

A Yes.

Q When we | ooked at records |ater on, and
we don't need to | ook now, but there was a note
on your records for 2002 that | ooked |like you
were cal cul ati ng based on 200 acre-feet avail able
as your water, do you recall that?

A Yes.

Q And you just testified earlier and just
a nonment ago that you believe by the year 1999

you actually had 212.5 acre-feet avail abl e.

A Yes.

Q Do you recall which is the nunber we
should go with for 20027

A 212. 5.

Q Ckay. Let's go ahead and | ook at

Exhibit M 386, that was the records of the 2004
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usage that M. Kuhl mann had you | ook at. Now
"Il just represent to you, and | think M.

Kuhl mann may have al ready done this, that M.
Kepper actually has already been here and has
already testified in this case, and in fact
testified about these very docunents, and |
believe his testinony was that these are not all
of his records and that these nmay or may not be
the records that were filed with the district
court. So the question is, do you have any
reason to disagree with M. Kepper about these
docunent s?

A No.

Q And in fact you' ve never seen these
docunents before until you will were preparing to
cone testify here; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q Sois it fair to say that M. Kepper
woul d be the best person to testify has to why he

accounted for certain things in these docunents?

A Yes.
Q But since we are asking you to | ook at
docunments that you know not hing about, | guess

"Il just ask one additional question. You were

| easing water in 2004 from Ms. Val entine and M.
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Musgrave and | don't see themon the |list here
for consunption. Do you see them on any of these
pages from M. Kepper for 20047?

A No.

Q So is it possible that he accounted for
their water and their consunption agai nst your

account without listing it next to your nunber?

A Yes, it's possible.
MR. KUHLMANN: | think that's
specul ati on.
SPECI AL MASTER: | agree. | think it
I s speculation at this particular point in tine.
MR SWANSON: | told himin advance
that | was going to specul ate about the docunents.
MR, KUHLMANN: | just wanted to nake

sure you went through with it.

MR. SWANSON: You don't need to answer
that question, M. Carrel. | think we wll |et
t he docunents and M. Kepper's testinony speak
for itself.

THE W TNESS: Sounds good.

MR, SWANSON:  All right.

Q (By M. Swanson:) M. Kuhlmann asked

you when we | ooked at your detailed records from

your particular diary, M. Kuhlmann asked you to
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| ook at your 2006 records, and when you
cal cul at ed your anount of water used, he asked
you whet her Septenber 8th was the |ast day you
were irrigating. | think we'll need to flip

t here. | found a notation two pages | ater that
said you were irrigating through Septenber 18th.
| wanted you to verify that. | wll probably
need to show you the exact docunent.

Actually, it would be better if we
count fromthe back of the docunment to find the
right page. |f you go to the section that's
2007, near the back. Do you see that, first page
of 20077

A Yes.
Q And then if you count four pages
forward, the top of the page, | wll read it so

we are all on the sane page literally. As | see
the top of the page, it says, a Zulu 1300 gpm
and has the date, tines colum, and the top
col um says, 830. The next colum is 831. Do
you have that date?

A Yes.

Q So if you | ook down, do you see
irrigation, or do you see water use notes through

Sept enber 19 on that page?
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A Yes.
Q And then if you turn three nore pages
towards the back there's a notation that says,

PTO 590 gpm Do you see the top of that page?

A Yes.

Q And | ooks |i ke those notes go Septenber
14 t hrough Septenber 26 for flood irrigation?

A Yes.

Q Wul d you agree that | ooks |ike you
were irrigating up to Septenber 267

A Yes.

Q So woul d you agree records that we

| ooked at are not the conplete record of your

wat er usage in 2006 fromthe water conm ssioner?

A Yes. His records are inconplete, |
t hi nk.
Q And then, | guess, | want to follow up

on one thing you nentioned to M. Kuhlmann at the
end. You were explaining how you comruni cat e
with the water conm ssioners and with M. Hayes
and near the end of the season in terns of
know ng when you would run out of water or when
you're getting close, but then you al so nenti oned
that you would talk to M. Hayes about when the

associ ation or the damwould run out. Could you
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expl ain what you nean by that?

A Wl |, they have neasured fl ow com ng
out. They know how nmuch -- they have a rough
| dea partway through the season when they m ght,
wi th everybody punping, when they're going to run
out of stored water. So | wanted to know when
they were going to run out of stored water so |
could use as much ny stored water, try to tinme it
as close as | could when they were going to run
out .

Q So that you don't save your water to
the end of the sumer and then the damitself has
to shut down before you can use all your shares?

A Ri ght .

Q And has that ever happened to you, or
do you know personally any nei ghbors that that
happened t o?

A Ran out of water before --

Q Well, basically the shutdown happened
prior to themactually running out of their

personal shares?

A | don't know that.

Q But it was sonething that you watched
out for?

A Yes.
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Q And then in ternms of when you would
irrigate and use your punps, you nentioned your
punps woul d shut off, you would shut your punps
of f when you were haying. Are there any other
tines in the year when your punps were off,
whet her you intended themto be off or they cane

off for sone reason?

A Wll, 1'd shut them down and cl eaned
the noss off. If | was going to be gone that day
or sonething, |'d shut themoff, yeah.

Q Wiy does noss matter for the punp that

you' re using out of the river?

A These fl ood punps plug up with noss,
especially when it's hot out. There's nore noss
in the river for sone reason when it's hot. And
It plugs up the inpeller of the punp, ny punps,
and | got to shut themoff and clean all that out
and restart them

Q Do you know whet her when they have nopss
bui | d-up whether they are using the sane anount
of water as they were when the nbss was not
bl ocki ng the intake?

A They are using a |lot | ess water when
t hey are plugged up. Sone of them even shut off

because they are just not getting enough water.
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Q And did the water conm ssioners account
for those tines when they are plugged up and
reduce the anmount of water charged to you? S
there any way for the water conm ssioner to
actually do that?

A No. my records show when | started them
and stopped them but it doesn't show any
percentage of what the punp is when it's plugged
up or anything. It's the full anpbunt when they
measured it. So it's based on when that punp is
cl ean and when you first start them that's when

t hey punp the nost.

Q But they are not always clean, are they?
A No.
Q Do you ever have to clean the intakes?
A Yes.
Q How of t en?
A This big punp I have, in the heat of

the summer, sonetines every hour. If | want to

keep it running and the water continuing across
the field, | got to get out there every hour a
| ot of times and clean them

MR. SWANSON:  No further questions,
Your Honor.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. Thank you. So,
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M. Carrel, | just have a couple very snall
guestions. I'mstill trying to get a sense of
the way in which water rights actually operate in
t he Tongue River Valley on the Mntana side. And
you were tal king earlier about the acquisition of
the shares in the Tongue R ver Water Users

Associ ation that you own. And you said you had
to bid for them

THE W TNESS: Ri ght.

SPECI AL MASTER: So if you want to
acquire rights not on a short termlease but on a
per manent basis, then you pay a price up front
for the actual shares thensel ves?

THE WTNESS: Yes. Pay the person that
owns them and then every year there's a fee from
the water users, it's |like an operation fee, or
sone of the contracts aren't conpletely paid up
and you may have to pay sone on that, also.

SPECI AL MASTER: So that's exactly what
| wanted to know. So in the case of the shares
that you own outright, you' ve paid a certain
anount at the very outset for those rights, and
then in addition to that, you pay an anount each
year for the rights?

THE WTNESS: For the operation fee or
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sonet hing, for those contract waters.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you. And then |
al so just wanted to follow up on one of M.
Swanson's questions. So when the Tongue River
Wat er Users Association tells you that you need
to swtch over to your contract storage rights,
at that point | understand you just testified you
shut down your ditch?

THE W TNESS:  Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: And so at that point
you're only using your contract rights?

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: You are no | onger
using your direct flow rights?

THE WTNESS: That's right.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. And then you
m ght have testified about this at the very
outset, but | wasn't sure. Your storage contract
rights, do you use those rights on all of the
various fields that you irrigate?

THE W TNESS. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you. Those were
the only questions that | had. M. Kuhl nmann.

MR, KUHLMANN: | just have one

guesti on.
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REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) 2005 you had a
hundred percent of your contract water?

A Yes.

Q But you still | eased additional water

t hat year, too?

A Yes. W have to pay ahead.
Q Ckay.
MR. KUHLMANN:. That's all | have.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you. So, M.
Carrel, that's the conclusion of all the
guestions, so you can step down. Thank you very
much for com ng today and testifying.

(Wtness excused.)

SPECI AL MASTER: Shall we take, like, a

two-m nute break just to clear this up?

MR. KASTE: | have sonet hi ng.

SPECI AL MASTER Yes.

MR. KASTE: | think | want to offer a
stipulation. | heard, and have heard, while we
don't have the court's records -- well, that's
not entirely true -- Montana in its exhibits has

the records filed with the water court, and |
woul d stipulate to their adm ssion because they

are not any different than the ones we've tal ked
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about. So if you would Iike to have that in the
record, I'll be happy to stipulate to the court
records. W can pick up the nunbers and stick it
in. Frankly, I'mkind of surprised he didn't do
that wwth the water comm ssioners, but it wasn't
ny case.

SPECI AL MASTER. So what are we tal king
about now?

MR. DRAPER  That's ny question.

MR. KASTE: There's a series of
exhibits that Mntana had identified that has the
docket fromthe water court wth the various
orders and docunents that were filed with the
court in their list of exhibits. They haven't
been offered but |'m happy to let themin. |
want to take away this sort of ridiculous
uncertainty about, well, don't know what you

filed wwth the court.

MR. DRAPER. Well, | appreciate M.
Kaste's offer. It's not totally clear to ne
what's involved with that, but I'll be glad to

discuss it with himand see if we mght cone to
sone arrangenent so we nmake sure we have a cl ear
record on it.

SPECI AL MASTER: That woul d obvi ously
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be better if we had official records rather than
unofficial records for at |east sone itens. So
if the two of you could talk and determ ne what
could be admtted by stipulation, that would be
great .

MR. DRAPER.  Very good.

SPECI AL MASTER:  Thank you. So we are
cleared up at the witness chair and so, M.
Kuhl mann, is it your w tness agai n?

MR, KUHLMANN: Yes, it is, Your Honor.
Could I just have a couple m nutes?

SPECI AL MASTER: Yes.

(Recess.)
SPECI AL MASTER: Back on the record.
MR DRAPER: | wanted to nention as we

get started with the next witness, M. Kevin
Peterson, fromthe Departnent of Natural
Resources and Conservation State of Mntana w ||
be handling our participation with this wtness.
SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you very nuch.
Wl come to the table.
MR. PETERSON. Thank you, Your Honor.
SPECI AL MASTER: Been sort of relegated
to the side.
MR, PERSON: Actually, the adult table.
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| don't have to sit at the kid's table.

SPECI AL MASTER: M. Kuhl mann.

MR, KUHLMANN:. Call Raynond Harwood.
Wher eupon,

RAYMOND HARWOCOD,

havi ng been first duly sworn, was exan ned and
testified as foll ows:

DEPUTY CLERK: Pl ease state your nane
and spell it for the record.

THE WTNESS: Raynond A. Harwood.
H a-r-w o0-o0-d.

SPECI AL MASTER.  Good norni ng, M.

Har wood.
THE W TNESS: Good nor ni ng.
SPECI AL MASTER: M. Kuhl mann.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Good norning, M.
Har wood.
A Good nor ni ng.
Q Coul d you tell us your address?
A 7100 Moon Creek Road, Mles Gty,
Mont ana, 59301.
Q What's your current occupation?
A Rancher .
Q Do you operate a ranch al ong the Tongue
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Ri ver ?
A Yes.
Q | f you could pull up the bl own up

exhi bit, denonstrative exhibit from Mntana, a
map of the Tongue River in Montana. Can you

I ndi cate for us where on the river you' re | ocated?

A Down in here. Right about there.

Q Describe that in relation to the Birney
-- well, from Brandenburg it says on here?

A It would be approximtely eight mles

down river.

Q So to the north?
A Yeah, to the north.
Q That's all | have with that. Thank

you.
How | ong have you been at your ranch.

A |'ve been there all ny life.

O

So you have -- what's your experience

wth irrigation?

A Irrigated about all ny life.

Q You irrigate out of the Tongue River?
A Yes.

Q Can you generally describe your

irrigation operation?

A W punp with electric punps and open
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ditches and run it down through the border dikes.

Q And how many acres do you irrigate?
A Be about 245 acres total.

Q And you always irrigate that anount?
A W have irrigated as high as 300.

Q And when did that happen?

A That's about -- well, dad noved there
i n 1950 and probably '52 on, nore or |ess. Maybe
not the full 300 but be al nost that.

Q About how many different fields do you
have?

A | believe there's about 12 fields all
t oget her.

Q Do you have water rights that you use

on the Tongue River?

A Yes.

Q | tried to find a good map to hel p us
| ook through so we can all get an idea what your
irrigation looks like. And | found two that |
think we can work on. | have put up on the
di splay a page from Exhibit M6, which was a
rebuttal report submitted by an expert from
Mont ana. This page has your nane on it, correct?

A Yes.

Q Moving to the next page, and | ooking
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t hrough these, they've got at |least two different
pictures here, one is a map and another is an
aerial photograph. Does that |ook famliar as an
area on your property?

A Yes. | believe it does, yes.

Q Do you recogni ze the docunents that

have those, the map and the picture?

A Yes.
Q And what are those?
A The one is the water right and the

other is the map of the fields.

Q kay. Al right. Then there's another
one | wanted to show. This next page D 344, that
al so has your nane, correct?

A Yes.

Q | f you follow through here there's a
map and three aerial photographs. Do you

recogni ze the area they depict as part of your

property?
A Yes.
Q Do you recogni ze the docunent that

contain those depictions?
A Yes.
Q So | ooking at those pictures, which one

do you think would be best for us to put up here
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to then tal k about what your whole irrigation
operation is?
A The picture you have up there now.
Q Al right. W'IIl keep that one then.
l"'mzoomin a little bit here.
This is a docunent from one of the
wat er rights docunents. So can you tell ne about

this water right? Tell nme about what this shows.

A That shows the fields, the fields that
| irrigate.
Q Can you descri be how you -- where you

t ake wat er and how you use water on those fields?

A We start punping out of the river with
electric irrigation punp and start with the first
field closest to the punp and work our way down
river.

Q To hel p everybody see it, | have a
| aser pointer here.

So you described that you start at the

first field and nove down?

A Yes.

Q And is that to the northeast?

A Yes.

Q There's a little red dot on this map

down in the bottom | eft-hand corner next to the
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river. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you know what that dot is show ng?

A Punp site.

Q So that's where you take water for that
set of fields?

A Yes.

Q Do you have any ot her points of
di version along the river for these fields?

A Yes.

Q Where woul d that be at?

A Wl l, that would be about a quarter of

a mle west of the dot there that you are
referring to.

Q kay. So off the map?

A Yes.

Q | s that point of diversion you use for
the fields shown here or for different fields?

A It would be for different fields. | t

woul d be for the upper fields.

Q Was that one of previous maps?
A It's on this map. It's only like a
quarter of a mle up river. | don't see a dot

there for it. Mybe it shows it on the other nmap.

Q Can you descri be what ot her acreage you
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irrigate in relation to this set of acreage?

A Wll, what | call the upper punp that
i rrigates about 33 acres, the upper bench.

Q s this a map of that acreage that you
refer to as the upper acreage?

A Yes.

Q And this is a map | ocated on page
D-340. Do you see where the point of diversion

Is for this acreage?

A Where the red dot is.

Q | s that also a punp?

A Yes.

Q Now, there's sone acreage that's at

| east shaded further south of that point of

di ver si on. Do you irrigate that property?
A It can be irrigated.
Q Have you done so?
A Yes.
Q When have you done that?
A Well, we've always irrigated it. If we

have an in streamflow of water, we would
irrigate extra water.

Q And where do you take water to put on
t hat property? Where is the point of diversion

for that?
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A Where the red dot is.

Q And then you punp it up river to get to
t hat property?

A Well, it punps -- yeah, it would be
down river.

Q Ckay. GCkay. I'mlooking at different
spot than you were. |[|'I|l stop there.

That ot her property you tal ked about
before with the other point of diversion on the
ot her water right, where is that in relation to
the map that we have up here?

A The 647
Q There was anot her map we | ooked at
before this. Do you know where the property that

was shown on that map is?

A That's right next to it.

Q Ckay. And can you describe what you
mean by next to it?

A Well, it would be kind of south of
that, towards the river.

Q Ckay. So between kind of where the
blue lines are and the river?

A Yes.

Q There's a little mark kind of next to

the river, it says 2704, is that the area roughly
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you' re tal ki ng about?

A Yes.
Q So for all these fields that you've
tal ked about, these are all irrigated wth border
di kes?
A Yes.
Q And how | ong have you had those in place?
A Ch, sone of it was in probably when dad

was first there, and then we gradually put nore
of it in. Sonme of it had to be relevel ed and
wor k done on it.

Q kay. Do you know what the priority
dates are for the two water rights we've | ooked

at ?

A Vell, the priority dates now are -- 64
Is 1946 and for the 65 is 1952.

Q And you said now. Was that different
t han soneti ne before?

A Well, the previous right, the decreed
right, was 1903.

Q And that was for both of those water
ri ghts?

A Yes.

Q Wiy did that priority or the date change?

A When t hey readjudi cated the water, why
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then the Bureau of Indian Affairs objected, there
were sone objections to that water right.

Q So the changes to your water rights
were made while resolving those objections?

A Yes.

Q Do you know at what tinme that change to
those priority dates was nade?

A | believe 2012 or '13 when that
started, roughly.

Q So if we had records here in this
report that were fromprior 2012, would they
refl ect that change?

A | don't believe so.

Q Do you use both of your water rights in

every year?

A Yes.
Q Do you use water from another source,
t 00?
A From the water users association.
Q And you have contracts with thenf
A Yes.
Q How much -- how many shares do you have?
A 208 feet.
Q Have you ever | eased nore water?
A Yes.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4424

Q And was that tenporarily?

A Yes.

Q When was t hat ?

A | believe 2004.

Q Who did you | ease that fronf

A Nort hern Cheyenne Tri be.

Q And how many acre-feet was that?

A 300 acre-feet.

Q How rmuch did it cost?

A $10 an acre foot.

Q Do you have any other water rights?

A Yes.

Q Can you descri be those?

A There's one on Cottonwood Creek, it
runs into a dam

Q Fromthis map can you descri be where
Cot t onwood Creek is?

A It would be where that red dot is, kind
of north -- be northeast -- northwest where the
road is. Ri ght across the damthere that you

see on the edge where the fields start. |
beli eve you can see the damright there.

Q Ckay. So it looks like there's a
little outlined area of blue?

A Yes.
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Q Ckay. You think that shows where the
damis at?

A Yes.

Q And the reservoir right with the water
behind it?

A Yes.

Q |f there wasn't the dam woul d that
water flow into the Tongue River?

A Yes.

Q Do you know what the priority date
Is -- well, you said you had a water right for

that dam Do you know what the priority date is
for that?

A 1952.

Q Has anybody ever asked you or nade you
open that damto allow water to pass into the
Tongue R ver?

A No.

Q How do you use the water -- do you use

the water fromthat danf

A Yes.

Q How do you use it?

A We divert it out of there through head
gat es.

Q And then where does that water go?
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A On to the fields to irrigate them
Q Are you able to use your existing

ditches to carry that water?

A Yes.

Q When do you use that right?

A We usually use that first. If it fills
up with snow water, we wll use that first.

Q And when does it usually fill up?

A In, oh, it could be the | ast of

February or first part of March, whenever it

melts, if we have snow.

Q You don't al ways have snow?

A No.

Q Does it ever fill up again?

A Yes, it mght once fromrain water.

Q So after your done using the reservoir

toirrigate, you close the headgate back up?

A Yes.

Q So if there's water that comes down
Cottonwood Creek it will reach and stop at that
headgat e?

A Yes.

Q Around when do you start irrigating?

A Ch, about the 15th of May to the 20t h,

dependi ng on how wet the year is.
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Q And generally when do you stop
irrigating?

A Around the end of August.

Q | apol ogize if | asked this already,

but what do you grow?

A Al fal fa and hay grain.

Q And how many cuttings of alfalfa do you
get a year?

A Normal |y two, sonetines three.

Q How nmany tinmes do you have to irrigate

to get a cutting?

A Normal |y once before each cutting.

Q How | ong does it take you to irrigate a
field?

A Depends on the field.

Q Do you irrigate -- well, do you
irrigate all your fields all at one tine?

A No.

Q And you said you start kind of up the
river and nove down field by field?

A Yes.

Q How | ong does it take you to irrigate

fromthe top of your property to the botton?
A Wel |, that depends on how dry it is,

but probably be at | east a week or week and a hal f.
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Q During the irrigation season do you

ever stop punping water?

A Yes.

Q When do you do that?

A When | hay the ground. Cut hay.

Q And about how | ong woul d you stop
punpi ng?

A A week to ten days.

Q And you said you have two to three
cuttings, so that woul d happen two or three tines
a sunmer ?

A Yes.

Q So does the amount of water you take

out of the river change fromday to day?

A | wouldn't say day to day the Tongue
mai ntai ns fl ow. It can.
Q Are there any other reasons why you

stop irrigating during the year, or stop your

punps during the year?

A Well, if | run out of water | stop them
Q When does that happen?

A In dry years.

Q Do you renenber what years they were

t hat you describe as dry years?

A | believe, I"'mnot real sure, | think
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It started in 2000 or 2001 there were a few there.

Q Do you renenber how many?

A | believe a couple. "' mnot sure. |
can't renenber that far back.

Q | understand. Do you have any neasuri ng
devi ces on your punps?

A No.

Q Any neasuring devices further down on

your ditches?

A No.

Q Do you keep records of when you use
wat er ?

A No.

Q Do you keep records of how nuch water
you use?

A No.

Q Do you know how nuch of your Tongue

Ri ver Water Users water you use to irrigate every

year ?
A Probably all of it.
Q Are you familiar with the priority --

are you famliar with the priority regul ati on of
wat er rights?
A Sonmewhat .

Q What woul d you descri be as sonmewhat ?
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What ' s your under st andi ng?

A Wll, | guess if your date, if sonebody
precedes you, they have water over you, you have,
| i ke, where mne is now 1952, if sonebody has a
prior right, they can take water before you do,

iIf it gets down to that.

Q Are you famliar with using the term
“call" inrelation to priority regul ati ons?

A No.

Q How does soneone nake sure if they've

got a senior water right that a junior isn't
using it and that they are using the water they
are supposed to have?

A | suppose you would be told. I'mnot
sure.

Q Tol d by who?

A The water conmm ssi oner.

Q Has any water user ever contacted you
to turn off using your water rights so that their

senior priority could get water?

A No.

Q Do you know if any other tinme that's
happened on the river?

A Not that | can recall

Q You nmentioned water comm ssioners.
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Were they ever appointed on the Tongue River?

A Yes.

Q Do you know when?

A | believe in 2001 or '2.

Q Do you know how many years there were
wat er conm ssi oners?

A Four or five. |I'mnot sure.

Q Do you ever interact wth the

conm SSi oners?

A Yes.
Q Can you descri be those interactions?
A Vel |, when they cone through to check

the punps we kind of discuss a little bit about
whet her we are on stored water. Usually when
they conme we are on stored water.

Q You heard M. Carrel talk earlier about

comm ssi oners neasuring the capacity of his punps?

Yes.

Did they do that for your punps?
Yes.

When do they do that?

> O >» O >

they started. When they first started having

wat er conm ssioners, that's when they neasured it.

Q After they did that, those neasurenents
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of your capacity, did they cone back to your

property?
A Yes.
Q When did they cone back?
A They cone back the first summer that

they started neasuring, and then they cone back,
| don't know, how often it was, cone back and

check to see how nuch water you were using.

Q Did they do that at the end of the year?
A Ch, several tinmes through the summer.
Q Did you talk to them when they cane
t hr ough?
A If | see themcone through |I talk to

them yes. Sonetines they were there and |

didn't know when they were there sonetines.

Q So not every tine?
A Not every tine, no.
Q So you don't know how many tinmes they

actually cane?
A No, | don't.
Q So they were there to neasure the use

of water, correct?

A Yes.
Q Do you know how t hey neasured?
A Used what their neasurement was when

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4433

they put the instrunent on it, and | have hour
neters on ny punps, on the electric punps on the
control panels, and they either use that or off
our REA neter, electrical neter.

Q Do you know how often they used those
di fferent nmethods?

A Whenever they cone to check, | i nmagine,
they wote it down.

Q Well, do you know which one they used

nmore often?

A | believe they used the hour neter.
Q And where is the hour neter |ocated?
A On the control panel, control box.

Q On the punps?

A The starter box off the power pole

cl ose to the punp.

Q So the nearest power pole?
A Hmh-mm Yes.
Q Descri be, | guess, your use of your

stored water fromthe Tongue Ri ver Water Users
Associ ation. Wen do you use it?

A Well, when the in stream fl ow, when we
are out of that water, the river starts getting
| ow, why then we go -- sonetines we go on stored

wat er .
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Q Do you know when that typically happens?
A No.
Q Does anybody ever tell you when you're

on stored water?

A Yeah, usually -- sonetines we get a
| etter when the water conm ssioners shows up,
usually we are on stored water.

Q Do you ever have to contact someone to
have your stored water delivered to your points
of diversion?

A | believe |I've done that through the
wat er conm ssioners, and then |I m ght have once
or tw ce contacted sonebody.

Q Were those once or twice tines, when
di d those happen?

A | don't renenber.

Q Were those years when there were water
comm ssi oners?

A Yes.

Q In years when there weren't water
comm ssioners did you ever order delivery of
stored water?

A No.

Q So you were able to take your stored

water directly fromthe river when you needed it?
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A | believe so.
Q The years when you had commi ssioners,
did you ever ask for water, stored water, but

never receive it?

A | don't believe so. |"mnot certain
on that.
Q | got alittle head of nyself. (oing

back to those years when there weren't
conm ssioners, are you able to determ ne or
di stingui sh when you're taking stored water from
the river and what water you're taking into your
direct flow rights?

A Probably not.

Q How about years when there were

conmm SSi oners?

A You nean as an individual ?

Q Yes. You.

A No, | wouldn't be able to.

Q Do you know how you woul d be able -- or

do you know if there's a way you coul d?

A They probably would notify you. You'd
be notified.
Q Have you ever used nore stored water

t han you had shares for?
A May have.
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Q Do you know when that m ght have been?

A No.

Q W'l take a | ook now at Exhibit M 394.
This is neasurenents by the water conm ssioners
from 2006. Can you turn to page, | believe it's
MI-100027. 1It's in the bottomright-hand corner.

A 277

Q Yeah, 100027. Are you there?

A Yes.

Q Al right. Turn to the page right
before that, there's -- it's a letter fromCharlie
Gephart. Do you know who Charlie Gephart is?

A Yes.

Q Who is he?

A WAt er conmm ssi oner .

Q On this letter it says, attached is a

| ist of stored water consunption by Tongue River
Wat er Users Associ ation Septenber 4 through
Sept enber 30, 2006. Also says, no anount of
wat er contracted reflects a 10 percent reduction
In acre-feet due to the reservoir not filling to
capacity.

Al right. If we turn to the next
page, are you listed on this page?

A On 277

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4437

Q Correct.

A Yes.

Q Ckay. And about where are you on the
page?

A About a third up; three up fromthe
bottom

Q Al right. If we |look over in the

second to right-hand colum, it says, anount of
wat er contracted acre-feet, and then down next to
you it says, 180 acre-feet. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q So you have 200 acre-feet total, and
with the 10 percent reduction, that neant you
woul d have had 180 acre-feet left?

A Yes.

Q So you woul d have had 180 acre-feet you
coul d have used?

A Yes.

Q And the other colum next to it, one of
t hem has an asterisk, and says 2.8, and it says
-- that's under the colum contract water
remai ni ng, and then the asterisk seens to be
explained in the comments |ine as anount over
contract. Do you see that?

A Yes.
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Q So that's showi ng that the conm ssi oner
nmeasured you using 2.8 acre-feet over your
contract anmount. And did you know about --

MR, PETERSON. (njection. Conpound
guesti on.

MR, KUHLMANN: | hadn't gotten the
guesti on.

MR, PETERSON. He was asking two
guestions, Your Honor.

SPECI AL MASTER. Wiy don't you rephrase.
" mnot actually sure you were, but at this point

t he question has been interrupted anyway.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) D d you know about
this comment or about the 2.8 acre-feet?

A No.

Q Did M. CGebhart tell you about him

measuring that you had used 2.8 acre-feet nore
t han you had right for?
A No.
Q Turn next to M 398.
SPECI AL MASTER M 398. Of the record
for a second.
(Di scussion off the record.)
SPECI AL MASTER: Back on the record.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Taking a | ook at
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Exhibit 398 now M. Harwood, have you ever seen
t hi s docunent ?

A No.

Q Al right. [If we turn to page -- |
guess it's the |ast page in this docunent. |
represent to you that these are water consunption
records from M. Cebhart in 2005, and on this
| ast page, the date at the top is Cctober 7,

2005, do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And this says, the following is a
| isting of stored water consunption by Tongue
Ri ver Water Users from Septenber 17 through
Septenber 30 of 2005. And are you listed on this?

A Yes.

Q That one says that you didn't use any
wat er that period, correct?

A Correct.

Q That seens to be a nmeasurenent from a

shorter tinme period, just from Septenber 17
t hrough Sept enber 30, correct?

A Correct.

Q If we | ook at the other pages in the
docunent, on the first page it says, 116.3

acre-feet, and the next page it says, next to
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your nanme, and the next page it is 68.8
acre-feet, and next page says you didn't use any
from August 12 to August 30. Do you know if you
used water that tinme period?

A | don't know.

Q And the page after that, for August
31st through Septenber 16, says, 73.8 acre-feet.
Did | read all those correctly?

A | believe so, if I"'mon the right page.

Q | apol ogize. | started at the | ast

page and went back through the docunent.

A Yeah, the last page -- 73.8.

Q Ckay.

A You read that correct.

Q Now, in 2005, there's been testinony

earlier that there was no reduction in the anount
of water shares, or no reduction applied to the
wat er shares of the Tongue River Water Users.
Did you know t hat ?

A No.

Q So based on the previous testinony, in

2005 woul d you have had all 200 acre-feet of your

shar es?
A | n 20057
Q Correct.
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A | woul d assune | woul d have.

Q kay. I'Il represent, | did actually
have the figure for this one, did sone math and
I f we total up...

MR. PETERSON: |'m going to object,

Your Honor, because M. Harwood testified he had
never seen this docunented before, so he had no
opportunity or has no know edge of its content up
to this point. He's only confirmed what is being
stated on the docunent. But now he's being asked
to interpret what's in the docunent, and | don't
think this is the appropriate witness to be doing
t hat .

SPECI AL MASTER: | think, you know, at
this stage |I think probably the easiest thing to
ask is probably whether or not M. Harwood was
told at any point during this year that he went
over the anmpount of contract water he was entitled
to.

MR KUHLMANN: | think that's a good
guesti on.

SPECI AL MASTER: Then you don't have to
refer to the docunent and you get to the sane
pl ace.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Were you told at
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any time in 2005 you went over the anount of
contract water that you had shares for?

A No.

Q Can you explain why that woul dn't have
been brought to your attention?

MR. PETERSON. (Object. That now
assunmes a fact not in evidence that he indeed was
even over, because, again, we are not referring
to the docunent. He's representing that he was
over. There's no evidence that he was over
that's been introduced. And this is -- | m ght
add, Your Honor, this is 2005, it's not one of
the rel evant years in the case.

SPECI AL MASTER: | understand it's not
one of the years that's at issue, but | think
it's still a relevant line of inquiry.

MR, KUHLMANN: Can | ask himthat
gquestion | just asked hinf

SPECI AL MASTER: Probably. Wy don't
you ask hi m whet her anyone ever talked to himin
that particul ar year about how nmany acre-feet he
ultimtely used.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) D d anybody ever
tell you how many acre-feet they neasured you
using in 20057
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A No.

Q Do you know why they didn't tell you?
A No.

Q Moving to M 386, this is another

docunent that's already in evidence. These are
records from 2004.

Al right. If you wll turnto --
there's a page on here that says, through August
15, 2004. This is the |ast page, the | atest date
we have in this docunent. Next to your nane it

says 246 acre-feet cunul ative usage; is that

correct? | guess, can you find your nanme on
t hat page?
A Yes, | can find ny nane.
Q kay. And it says 246 acre-feet. Do

you know how nmany acre-feet of water you had
avai |l abl e fromyour shares in 20047

A | " m not sure.

Q Ckay. Wuld it have been 200 m nus
Wi th sonme percentage reduction?

MR, PETERSON:. Your Honor, he said he's
not sure and now he's being called to specul ate
on produci ng a nunber when he wasn't sure.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) D d you pay for 200

acre-feet of your shares in 20047
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A Yes.

Q kay. Anyone ever tell you wll about
t he nunber here, 246 acre-feet?

A No.

Q D d anybody tal k to you about your
wat er use in 20047

A No.

Q Do you renenber when you bought the
water fromthe tribe?

A 2004.

Q Ckay. So the water you woul d have had

woul d have been the water you bought fromthe
tribe plus the 200 acre-feet of shares you woul d
have bought from the Tongue Ri ver Water Users
Associ ati on m nus sone percentage?

A Yes. Correct.

Q That woul d have been the possible
starting possible total m nus sone reductions?

A | believe so.

Q Ckay. So -- well, how many acre-feet
did you buy fromthe tribe?

A 300.

Q So it says 246 cunul ative usage in
acre-feet, you had 300 acre-feet fromthe tribe

| eased as wel | ?
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A Yes.
Q Did you know how nuch water in 2004 you

were going to use?

A Bef or ehand?

Q Vell --

A Expl ai n.

Q Did you know or did you think you were

going to be short of water under your shares in
20047

A Yes, | believe hal fway, however far we
got with our stored water, | believe, yeah,
that's when | bought the tribe water.

Q And that water was available for you to
| ease that year?

A Yes.

Q So in a year when you thought you were
going to go over your shares, you were able to

| ease water fromthe tri be?

A Yes.

Q Move to M382. Do you have M 382 now?
A Yes.

Q (kay. And these are records based on

previous testinony in this case, these are
records from 2002 of water comm ssioners'

nmeasurenents. |If you go to report, | believe
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It's dated at the very top, this would be the
second page, very top there's a date 1 Septenber

2002. Are you on that page?

A Second page?

Q Yes.

A What date?

Q 1 Septenber 2002 and the page nunber at
the bottomis MI-09981?

A Ckay. |"mon it.

Q Ckay. Can you find your nanme on this
| ist?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. And the nunber it says next to
your nanme, 159; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q | guess I'Il clarify for the record, it

doesn't list you as your personal nanme, but does

it list your ranch?

A Yes.
Q It says 159 acre-feet. And in 2002 did
you buy -- pay for your 200 acre-feet of shares

fromthe Tongue R ver Water Users Associ ation?
A Yes.
Q Do you know what the anmpunt of water

was available to you in 2002 woul d have been?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4447

A No, | don't.

Q Did anybody ever talk to you about your
use of water in 20027 Let ne say that again.
Anybody ever ask you about or talk to you about
measurenents of your use of water in 20027

A No.

Q So do you know if this is the anmount of
wat er you' ve used in 20027

A No.

Q Do you know if you used nore water than
you had shares in 20027

A | don't know if | did or not.

Q Ckay. Al right. 1 got one good
recomended question here. D d anyone ever tell
you to stop using water?

MR. PETERSON. (bjection. Wat tine
period are we tal king about here?
MR, KUHLMANN: Ever.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) D d anyone ever
tell you to stop using water?

A Stop using water?  Well, the
comm ssioners m ght have. They m ght have told
nme at the end of -- when they checked it that
maybe | was out of water.

Q kay. | think you just nentioned the
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people or that the comm ssioners didn't talk to
you at the end of the year, or didn't talk to you

during the year.

A No, not after they took the | ast
readi ng, no, not at the end of the year when this
was finalized. | never seen when these finalized
t hese papers, | never...

MR, KUHLMANN:  Ckay. That's all the
guestions | have.
SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you.
Cr oss-exam nati on.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Peterson:) Good norning, M.
Har wood.

A Good nor ni ng.

Q | " m Kevi n Pet er son. I"'mwith the

Department of Natural Resources and Conservati on,
and I|"'mfrom Helena. Do you recall that | was at
your deposition?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. | just have a couple of brief
guestions for you. You were asked about
Cottonwood Creek in your reservoir water rights.
Do you recall that?

A Yes.
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Q And you indicated that that usually
fills very early spring, February, March, |
believe you said, if you have snow. |[|s that

what you sai d?

A Yes.

Q And when you irrigate, | believe you
stated that you use that water first?

A Yes.

Q When you use that water, does that

allow you then to take | ess water out of the

Tongue R ver?

A Yes.
MR, KUHLMANN: | guess |I'd just ask for
atinme frane.
MR, PETERSON. | think he's already

answered the questi on.
"Il clarify, Your Honor.

Q (By M. Peterson:) |f you have water
avai l abl e in your Cottonwood Creek Reservoir, is
that water then you don't need to pull out of the
Tongue River under your decreed rights?

A Yes.

Q In a dry year, you would agree wwth ne
that the availability of your direct flowrights

fromthe river becone unavail able very rapidly,
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don't they?
A Yes.
Q At that point, then, when you no |onger

have availability of your direct flow rights from
the river, then your option is to have stored
water; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q And going fromdirect flow to storage,
that may occur in a very short period of tinme; is
that correct?

A Correct.

Q Now, | believe you were asked about
havi ng 180 acre-feet available to you in a
contract year because your total had been
di m ni shed by 10 percent where ordinarily you

have 200 contracted acre-feet of water; is that

correct?
A Yes.
Q And you were asked about going over 2.8

acre-feet on your 180 acre-feet that you were
all otted because of a 10 percent reduction. Do

you renenber that question?

A Yes.
Q If | represented to you that that's
95 -- 98.5 percent accurate in reaching the
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target of 180 acre-feet, would that be
di sappointing to you?

A No.

Q You were al so asked about 2004, |
bel i eve, when you had tribal water and you had
contract water. You indicated you had 200

acre-feet of contract water; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And you had 300 acre-feet of tri bal
water; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And that comes out to 500 acre-feet
avai l able to you by contract?

A Yes.

Q And even if you were reduced by 50
percent of the availability, | think the acre

f oot usage you were given was 246 acre-feet; is

that correct?

A Correct.

Q And that's less than half of 500, isn't
it?

A Yes.

Q Do the conm ssioners or M. Hayes on

years where you're using your stored water, do

they tell you when you're going to be on stored
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wat er ?

A Cl ose to when -- sonetines, yeah.
Basically, they tell us close to when we m ght be
on stored water.

Q Do they keep in touch with you
t hroughout the irrigation season to |let you know
when stored water is going to be required?

A Yes.

Q And do they also indicate to you when
you are near or at the end of your stored water
al | ot ment ?

A Soneti nes, yes.

Q Do you know when you generally run out

of your stored water, what tinme of the irrigation

season?
A Depends on the year.
Q I n 2004 do you recall when you were out

of stored water?
A | believe it was August. |'mnot sure.
Q And if you're notified that your

all otment of stored water has been depl eted, do

you stop irrigating at that point?

A Yes.
MR, PETERSON:. Thank you for com ng,
M. Harwood. | appreciate you being here. |
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don't have any further questions for you.

SPECI AL MASTER. M. Harwood, | just
have a coupl e of questions.

So ny understanding is that you
initially thought your water right had a priority
date, or both of your water rights had a priority
date of 1903; is that correct?

THE WTNESS: Correct.

SPECI AL MASTER. What was the basis of
your belief that they had a 1903 date?

THE WTNESS: Well, that's what our
wat er rights showed. That's what we filed on
In -- whenever we had to redo our water rights.
| believe was it 1975. 1'mnot certain on the
dat e.

SPECI AL MASTER. Go ahead.

THE WTNESS: We were led to believe
that's what our water rights were on the abstract
t hat we had.

SPECI AL MASTER. And then do you know

why the priority dates were changed?

THE WTNESS: Well, let's see if | can
explain this. The reason they were -- let ne
think on this a mnute. | believe the reason

t hey were changed i s because when they
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readj udi cated them or you had to file on them

| i ke the 1903 one, |I'"'mnot certain of the date,
1914 Mles Gty Canal, that decreed right, there
was sonething in there where they had to refile,
| i ke the 1903 one, whoever had the place at the
time, and | believe what | was told, |I don't
believe it was filed on at that tinme or they had
to appear in court. Nobody appeared to file on
t hose cl ai ns.

SPECI AL MASTER: | don't want you to
try and get too nmuch into the |egal i1ssues. |
was j ust curi ous.

THE WTNESS: That's what |'ve been
told on that.

SPECI AL MASTER: | understand you
probably don't have personal know edge, you
weren't the | awer representing yourself.

THE W TNESS: No.

SPECI AL MASTER. So if -- and in the
case of the Cottonwood Creek water right, had
t hat been 1952 throughout to your know edge?

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER.  And, again, |
understand if there's snowto nelt, then it

nmelts, you fill up your reservoir, and then you
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generally use that water in the February and
March period; is that correct? No, |'m sorry,
it fills up in February and March.

THE WTNESS: Yes, it fills.

SPECI AL MASTER. Ckay. And then,
again, you use that water first, that was your
testinony just now?

THE W TNESS. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: And t hen when you're
I nfornmed that you're on storage contract water,
at that point do you only use your contract water?

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: And so going back to

t he Cottonwood Creek, you said that occasionally

that creek will, or the reservoir on that creek
will fill up with sone rain water earlier in the
year ?

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: Does that ever happen
after you're on only stored water?

THE WTNESS: It could happen. I

can't recall that it has. | don't really
remenber. |f you happen to have a cloud burst or
real fast rain, it could fill up when you are on

stored wat er.
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SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. But you don't
recall at this point?

THE WTNESS: | don't recall.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. And how big is

that reservoir? How nmuch water does it hold, do

you know?

THE WTNESS: Capacity is rated at 35
acre-feet.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. And when you
have these rain events, can that fill up the

reservoir entirely?

THE W TNESS:. Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. Those are ny
only questions, M. Peterson.

Q (By M. Peterson:) M. Harwood, do you
recall, you said your capacity of the reservoir
s 35 acre-feet?

A Yes.

Q Do you know what your total volune
under the water right is that you're allowed to
use?

A | believe it's 110 acre feet.

MR. PETERSON. Thank you.
SPECI AL MASTER:  Ckay.
MR, KUHLMANN: No further questions.
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SPECI AL MASTER: So, M. Harwood, thank
you very nmuch for com ng up here today. W very
much appreciate it.

So it's now about ten m nutes to noon.
| woul d suggest maybe we take our |unch break now
and give everyone an opportunity to get to the
restaurants before they get too crowded. W'l
cone back then at, say, about five to ten m nutes
to 1 o' clock.

(Recess.)

(Afternoon session.)

SPECI AL MASTER: M. Kaste, who is next
on your list? You don't know. So, M. Kuhl mann,
who's next on your list?

MR. KUHLMANN: State of Wom ng woul d
| i ke to call Kyle Shaw.

MR. DRAPER  Your Honor, for your
i nformation, M. Swanson wi |l be handling
testinmony for Montana for this wtness.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. Thank you.

Wher eupon,

KYLE SHAW
havi ng been first duly sworn, was exan ned and
testified as foll ows:

DEPUTY CLERK: Have a seat, please.
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State your nane and spell it for the record.
THE WTNESS: Kyle Shaw, S-h-a-w.
SPECI AL MASTER: Good afternoon, M.
Shaw. M. Kuhl mann.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Thank you, Your
Honor. Good afternoon, M. Shaw. Can you tell

us your address?

A 2142 Tongue River Road, Mles City.

Q What's your current occupation?

A Rancher, farmer, trucker.

Q So you have an operation or ranch al ong

t he Tongue River?

A Yes.

Q kay. |If we can pull out that |arge
board right back behind you. This is a
denonstrative exhibit, a map of the Tongue Ri ver
i n Montana. Can you |l ocate approxi mately where
your place is |ocated?

A We are right here above the Garl and
School .

Q kay. Who are your nei ghbors on the
river?

A Bi ce Ranch and Ham | ton Ranch are above

me and Les Hirsch is bel ow ne.
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Q How | ong have you had your ranch?

A Moved down there in '96.

Q Where did you nove fronf

A About 15 mles west of there up on the

Tongue Ri ver divide.

Q How nmany acres do you have that you
irrigate?

A Approxi mately 256.

Q Has that been the nunber of acres
you' ve al ways irrigated?

A Since '99, | believe it is, yeah.

Q What changed in '997?

A Well, we changed sone | and and added

another 16 acres of irrigation that | personally
bought .

Q Do you have water rights fromthe
Tongue R ver?

A Yes and no. | |ease the place fromny

father-in-law and the water rights are in his

name - -
Q What's his nane?
A -- nost of them Ted Hirsch.
Q So you're a relation of Les H rsch?
A | am
Q What's the relation?
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A He's my brother-in-I|aw.

Q And nei ghbor ?

A Yes.

Q |"'mtrying to get a map here that we

m ght be able to use to describe your property.
Turn to Exhibit M6, which is an expert report
that the Montana expert has filed in this case.
And turn to a page here that says Ted Hi rsch on
it, page --

MR SWANSON. | want to inquire if the
W tness has received a copy of that.

MR, KUHLMANN: | was going to try to go
off this --

SPECI AL MASTER: You just said turn to,
and so | think it was just clarify that you have
nothing to turn to. But you're going to be
putting it up on the screen so he can see it
t here?

MR, KUHLMANN: Correct.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thanks.

MR KUHLMANN:. |If you'd like himto, |

can. ..
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Do you have a copy
of Exhibit M6 now, M. Shaw?
A Yes.
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Q Do you see on that page D388 it says
Ted Hi rsch and water right No. 42C1796497

A Yes.

Q Are you famliar with that water right?

A Yeah.

Q Going to the next page, this docunent
I ndi cates an aerial photograph for that water
right. Do you recogni ze this docunent?

A Yes.

Q And what i1s it?

A It's an aerial map of the fields that |

farmand part of it actually is Les Hrsch's that

are outlined.

Q Part of themare Les Hirsch's?
A Part of themare Les H rsch's, yes.
Q Fromthis map can we see all of the

fields you irrigate, outlined or not?
A Yes.
Q Let me zoomin a little bit here.
MR. SWANSON: Can you tell ne the page?
"' m not sure what page we're on.
MR. KUHLMANN. We are on page D 387.
SPECI AL MASTER: 387 or 3897
MR KUHLMANN:.  389.
SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay.
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Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Can you give us
sort of the overview about your irrigation and
where your ranch is on this map?

A As far as ny irrigation practices?

Q Vel |, maybe you can descri be what your
operation consists of.

A Well, we run a couple hundred cows and
raise primarily alfalfa hay.

Q On here where are your fields on this
map?

A You want to see how steady | am These
fields here are m ne and about this much across
the river.

Q So you have fields on both the east and
west side of the river?

A Correct.

Q For the east side of the river, where
I s your point of diversion |ocated?

A It's already narked there with that red

Q Ckay. How do you divert water for
t hose fields?

A We have a 10-inch Cornell punp.

Q Do you know what the capacity is on
t hat punp?
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A When they ultrasound themthey neas
it about 4,000 gallons a mnute.

Q And what do you do with the water?
do you get it to the field?

A Vell, on this east side, ny water
travels in the blue line that goes -- at that

ur ed

How

point intine it was underground to here and then

It was an open ditch the rest of the way down
t hrough here. 1It's since been changed to an

under ground system

Q Do you have that -- how do you irr
t hose acres?

A Fl ood irrigated.

Q Do you have them divided up into

separate fields?

A Yes. There's, oh, | don't know.
There's |i ke seven or nine fields on the east
side and six on the west side.

Q Can you find on this map where the
poi nt of diversion would be for the |ands you

irrigate on the west side of the river?

al |

gat e

A Well, at the tine period you' re talking
about, it was right here.

Q VWhat tine period are you referring to?

A Vell, | nmean, in reference to '02, '04
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wat er conm ssi oner years.

Q kay. So it was where that blue line
is to the west?

A Correct.

Q How di d you get water fromthat point
of diversion to your fields on the west side?

A That side was all open ditch up
until -- I'mnot exactly sure on dates, but about

‘07 or '08 we noved the punp and put it all
under gr ound.

Q s that the sane tine you nade changes
to put underground pipe on the east side?

A No. It was actually one or two years
previous to burying the underground Iine on the
east side.

Q You nmentioned the point of diversion in
conm ssi oner years, you said '02, '04, would be
where you' d indicated you' re next to that bl ue
line for the west side. Were is the point of
di ver si on now?

A Ch, the water was noving away from up
here, so we noved it down to this part of the
river right here.

Q So alittle closer to your fields?

A Closer to the fields and then we are
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able to,

Wi th the underground system punp it

uphi Il and downhill both, rather than all gravity.

Q And you flood irrigate those acres on
the west side, as well?

A Yes.

Q Looking at this map descri bing the east
side acres, and it also -- this map is in

reference to a water right, as we tal ked about

earlier,
A

Q

correct?
Yes.

Do you know what the priority date is

for that water right?

A

Q
A
Q

No. Wthout |[ooking at it, no.
Have you seen water right abstracts?
| have.

Have you seen water right abstracts for

this water right?

A
Q

| ook at

Q

Yes.

Do you recogni ze this docunent?

SPECI AL MASTER: You m ght want himto
It, page 516.

MR. KUHLMANN:  That's fi ne.

THE W TNESS: VYes.

(By M. Kuhlmann:) Ckay. Does this

refresh your recollection about what the priority
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date woul d be for this right?

A Yes.

Q What is that date?

A It's 1912.

Q kay. For the water right on the west

side of the river, are you famliar with the
priority date, or do you know the priority date
for that water right?
A Ch, |I've seen it before.
Q kay. This wll be page D 620.
SPECI AL MASTER: No, it's 748, if you
| ook at the page nunbers in the m ddle.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Moving further to
page -- do you recognize this docunent?
SPECI AL MASTER. This is, again, page

748.
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Page 748.
A Yes.
Q And does this refresh your recollection

about what the priority date is for this right?
A |t says 1940.
Q kay. |Is that the proper priority date
for it?
A | believe so.

Q Okay. Are there any other water rights
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you use to irrigate your |ands?

A Yeah, there's sone water rights out of
side creeks that occasionally we can exercise.

Q How do you exercise those rights?

A VWl l, they are just creeks that only
run either when a big rain event or a runoff
event, and they run to the river and we can pull
water. We have no way to neasure it exactly, but
we pull it back out of the river.

Q So when it's there you can try to use
it. How do you get the water fromwhere it's at

to where you want to use it?

A Fromthe river, you nean?

Q No, when it's com ng down these creeks?

A It would be via the punps that we
normal | y use.

Q Do you have any reservoirs on those
creeks?

A No.

Q Do you have any kind of danms on those
creeks?

A No.

Q Do you have any additional water rights

for any of the properties that we've tal ked about

here on the east side and west side that m ght

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4468

overlap with those properties?

A
pur poses,
Q
A
rotation.

Q
A

Not really. Not for irrigation
| don't believe.
Ckay. What do you grow on your property?

Primarily alfalfa, storage grains for

How often do you rotate?

Ch, that depends on the ground. Heavy

ground won't last as |long as sandy ground.

Q Last as long for the alfalfa?

A The stand of alfalfa, yes.

Q And then how | ong do you go into grains?

A Typically one year and then back to
al fal fa.

Q And how many cuttings do you generally
get ?

A Normal |y three.

Q Do you irrigate all of your fields at
one tinme?

A Well, that's not physically possible.

Q Ckay. Expl ai n why.

A VWll, there's only so nuch water you
can punp at one tine. If you don't deliver

enough water to get it to go through what we cal

| ands -- fields are divided into narrow strips --
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so that you can get your water over that piece of
ground in, ideally, eight to 12 hours at the
nost. And then you go to the next one and so on.

Q | s there an order you go as far as
across your property fromfield to field?

A Not necessarily, no.

Q You don't start at the top and go to
the next field down or anything that would be a
pattern |i ke that?

A You know, after we put the underground
delivery systemin, we are not hobbled in that
respect. Wen it was a gravity system we were
nore so nmade to go downhill .

When do you generally start irrigating?
Early May, typically.
When do you stop?

Sept enber probably, normally.

O >» O >» O

| forgot to nention or talk about the
punp on the west side of the river. Wat kind of
punp is that?

They are both the sane.

Sanme capacity, sane type?

Yes.

Are those both fixed punps?

> O >» O >

Yes.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4470

Q So they are always in that spot? You
can't nove them around?

A True. Yes.

Q So if we are |l ooking at the west side
properties, how long does it take you to irrigate
all of those fields?

A Oh, there's sone factors that enter

into that, but typically ten days to two weeks.

Q And then for the east side fields, how
| ong does it take?

A Ch, a week to ten days.

Q Does the anpbunt of water you're taking

fromthe river change fromday to day?

A Not unl ess the suctions plug up.

Q When does that happen?

A Varying things, if we get a wind storm
and the river is full of leaves, it plugs them
up. |f the river is too clear and it's fl ow ng
noss down the river, it plugs themup. You know,
varyi ng events.

Q That will reduce the anount of water

you can punp?

A Yes.
Q Do you have to go clean those out?
A Yes, sir.
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Q Do you have to shut them off before you
can try to stick your armup and cl ean thenf

A M ne depends on what the problemis.
Sonetines | can clean themwith ny arm but
typically not.

Q Are there other tines when you m ght
not be punping water?

A Well, yeah, there's tinmes when |'m not
punpi ng any water.

Q Can you descri be sone of those?

A Wel |, probably on an average we cut the
hay once a nonth. And it takes, depending on how
long it takes us to get -- what would | say?
Typically we hay one side of the river and then
the other. And it mght not be the sane start
poi nt, but when we get done on one side, so that
we can start a punp, we have to start as soon as
we can to get the next crop to grow. So we'll
be irrigating while we are haying the other side.
And then hopefully there's a week to two-week | ag
ti me between haying, cuttings, that we don't have
any punps runni ng.

Q Do you start irrigating one side of the
river before you start the other side?

A Sonet i nes. | mean, there's different

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4472

things that enter into that. In the spring
before we start haying, like the early irrigation
in May, we'll probably get them both done and get

through it all at once.

Q Do your punps have neasuring devices on
t henf

A They do now.

Q When did those get put on?

A | don't know exactly. W had a DNRC
deal that they got a deal on a bunch of flow
meters, and | think that was in, I'mgoing to
say, '09 or '10.

Q 2009 or 20107

A Yeah.

Q Do you keep any records of when you
irrigate?

A Not typically, no.

Q Do you keep any records of how nuch

wat er you use to irrigate?
A Since we put the flow neters in | have

begi nni ng and endi ng neter readi ngs.

Q What do you use those for?

A Just to make sure I'mon track.

Q What do you nean by on track?

A Vell, just it tells me how many -- how
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much water |'musing per acre.
Q How often do you check those neters?
A It all depends on whether |I'mworried

about running out of water or not on a contract.

Q You keep track -- you try to keep track
of that as well?

A Ch, yeah.

Q But you said you didn't have the neters
bef ore 2009 or 20107

A No, we did not.

Q Did you try to keep track before that?

A Not until the water comm ssioners cane

by with their ultrasound machi ne and neasured the
fl ow of the punps.

Q Do you know when that happened?

A It was -- I'maqguessing it was '02 when
we had the first water comm ssioners on the river.

Q How many years were there water

conm SSi oners?

A Oh, there's at |east four.

Q Do you know whi ch years those were
exact|y?

A Well, 1'd be lying if | said exactly.

| know they were there in '02 and ' 04, and we had

one | ast sumrer agai n.
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Q In '02 and '04, did the comm ssioners

neasure the use of the anount of water you used?

A They were tracking it, yes.
Q Do you know how they did that?
A As | said, they had their ultrasound

deal that neasured the flow of each punp and then
they were just using the neter reading off the
el ectrical pole and charging you for a full flow
for every hour of usage.

Q You nentioned that sonetines you're not
able to get all of the full anpunt of water

t hrough your punps they coul d possibly take

because sonetines they get stuffed up. |s that
correct?

A Yes.

Q Do you know if the water conm ssioners

made any al l owance in the reduction of the anmount

of water you got through thenf

A Not that |'m aware of.

Q Do you have contracts for stored water?

A Yes.

Q Where are those fron? VWiere is the
stored water fronf

A From t he Tongue River Dam

Q Do you have contracts with the Tongue
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R ver Water Users?

A Correct.
Q How nmany shares do you have?
A Well, they are not -- maybe | shoul d

clarify. They are not in nmy name, but they are

in nmy father-in-law, Ted Hi rsch's, nane.

Q And you | ease those?
A Yes. 300 acre-feet.
Q Do you know how | ong your father-in-I|aw

has had that anount of contracted water?

A No, | do not. It was a hundred
acre-feet that cane with the place when we bought
it, and then he purchased the other 200 fromhis
son-in-law, ny brother-in-I|aw.

Q And those were transferred permanently?
They weren't just |eased short ternf

A Per manent .

Q When do you change from being able to
use your water rights to stored water?

A That varies on the year and what's

happeni ng at the dam

Q Can you use both at the sane tine?

A You know, we never have even thought
about that option, | guess.

Q So maybe you can descri be when you
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use -- strike that. Can you describe your
under st andi ng of how stored water is adm ni stered
in the basin, in the Tongue River?

A Wll, it's whenever the inflows to the
dam are | ess than the water they are delivering
to us, outflows, whatever you want to call them
Then you're starting to use stored water.

Q How do you know?

A Normal ly it cones through Les Hirsch,
whi ch he's on the border. He's in contact with
Art Hayes on a regul ar basi s.

Q At tinmes when you want to use storage
wat er, do you have to call or contact anybody to
ask for it to be delivered?

A In a couple of different years, | think
it was in '02 and ' 04, yes, we did.

Q Who did you contact?

A Wel |, those years the water
conm ssioners was through the yard two or three
times a week and we were in constant contact wth
them so that you didn't have to order water
specifically fromthe dam They knew if sonebody
el se was about done and the tine you were goi ng
to start. So you could -- they didn't have to

turn the damup and down hourly to maintain,

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4477

whi ch woul dn't do any good in our case anyhow,

W are too far fromthe dam

Q How far are you fromthe danf
A Approxi mately two weeks' delivery tine.
Q WAs there ever a tine you asked for

stored water and weren't able to gets it?
A Not when | thought | deserved it, no.
Q For years when there weren't water
comm ssioners, did you have to call and ask for
your stored water to be delivered to your point

of diversion?

A Typi cally, no.

Q How do you go about using your stored
wat er ?

A It's just a matter of -- one way or the

other we are notified that, yeah, we are on
stored water now. But Roger at the T&Y is in
constant contact with themand if he's not
getting his water, dictates nore of what the dam
is doing than if | call for enough to service one
punp.

Q So you're still able to get the stored
wat er you need out of the river when you need it
I n those years?

A Usual Iy, yeah.
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Q Has anyone ever curtailed the use of
you using water under your water rights?

A Not ot her than the years we were
limted to a percentage of our contract water.

Q How about your stored water? Has

anyone curtailed you frombeing able to use that?

A That is a contract water right.

Q Ckay. M first question was about your
direct flow rights.

A Ch, no.

Q So have you ever been asked to stop

usi ng your direct flow rights for sonmeone with a
senior right so they could get their water?

A No.

Q Have you ever tenporarily | eased any

stored water?

A Yes.
Q When did you do that?
A |'mnot certain of the year. | think

it was '04 we | eased water fromthe tri be.

Q Do you know how nuch you | eased?

A | believe it was a hundred acre-feet,
but I"'mnot totally sure of that.

Q Do you know nuch it cost?

A | think it was ten bucks an acre.
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Q In years there were comm ssioners on
the river, did the comm ssioners ever talk to you
about how nmuch water they neasured you as using
during that year?

A Oh, yeah, we talked to themon a fairly
regul ar basis. As | said, they went through the
yard two or three tines a week. |If | see them
they were nore than willing to tell you what the
scenari o was.

Q At the end of the year did they ever
tell you how nmuch water you had used that year?

A You know, | don't know that we ever had
what you would call a recap of the year. W knew
we were -- because we had used all the water that
we believed we could have by the tinme -- before
we typically would have quit irrigating.

Q So you believe you use all of your
stored water every year?

A Well, really close, yeah.

MR, KUHLMANN: | think I'm done with ny
guesti ons.
SPECI AL MASTER:  Thank you.
M. Swanson?
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Swanson:) Good afternoon, M.
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Shaw.

A How are you?

Q Very well. | just have a couple of
gquestions for you. You nentioned -- you tal ked

nostly about your haying operation, but | believe

you said you run cattle, as well?

A Yes.

Q Do you run them all year round?

A Yes.

Q So where do you winter those cattle?

A Closer to the river than where we
summer them

Q You summer them up high in sone other
past ure?

A Yes.

Q So do your cattle get water out of the

river during the winter?

A Part of the tinme in a couple different
pastures, yes.

Q So do you know about how nany cattle
each w nter get water out of the river?

A Well, every other year there's --
W nter pastures, one of themis along the river
and one is not. But they can, virtually all of

them water in the river every other year.
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Q So do you have a nunmber of how many

cattle you think that is?

A A coupl e hundred.

Q 2007

A Yeah.

Q When you were talking to M. Kuhl mann,

you tal ked about how the water users associ ation
notifies you when you're on stored water.

A Ri ght .

Q And you nentioned -- you said Roger at
the T&Y is the main factor, if he's not getting
his water. Can you explain what you nean by
t hat ?

A As | understand, you know, the T&Y is
the No. 2 right on the river, whatever the case
Is. But they have sone sort of a neasuring
device on the head of their canal. And so he
pretty readily can tell whether there's not
enough flow getting where he is on the bottom end
of the river.

Q So if he's not getting his full direct
fl ow amount, is that when everybody el se goes on
stored water, | guess, including the T&Y goi ng on
partial stored water?

A Probably yes and no. |If they are
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not -- they take into account, ny understandi ng,
you know, the inflowto the dam And then those
senior water rights, if they are not getting
satisfied, that pretty well tells the story
whet her the rest of us are on contract water or
not .

Q So if those senior water rights are
getting satisfied but there is no nore water,

then you're on contract water at that point; is

that right?
A Ri ght .
Q And | thought you explained that. So

when M. Kuhl mann asked you a question, he said
has anyone ever asked you to curtail your direct
fl ow so soneone senior could get their water, |
just wondered if you understood that question.
Because you said no to him but you just
explained to us the fact that, in fact, that does
happen on a regul ar basis.

A Right, it's term nol ogy, but everybody
on the river kind of understands the way it works
as far as the T&Y and that's concerned. So we
take that into account and when they say we are
on stored water, it doesn't nmean that the T&Y is

on contract water or whatever, but the rest of us
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are.

Q (kay. So they may or nmay not be
getting their full direct flow and they nmay or
may not be on storage, but you have shut off your
direct flow and you're on storage at that point;
Is that right?

A Ri ght .

Q Does that happen every year?

A Every year that |'ve been there, yes.

Q And you tal ked a | ot about your
communi cations with the water conm ssioners. It

sounds like it was on a regular basis. D d you
ever feel they were overcharging you for the
anount of water that you used, other than we

t al ked about the npbss situation?

A No, | think they were fair, other than
there was no way to guess at what the percentage
of noss was over -- if it was overnight and
suction started to plug up, there was no way to
noni tor that.

Q Did you feel the conmm ssioners did a
good job in the years that you worked with thenf

A Yeah.

MR. SWANSON:  No further questions,

Your Honor.
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SPECI AL MASTER: | do not have any
guestions. M. Kuhl mann?
MR. KUHLMANN: | have one foll ow up

guesti on.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) During the
irrigation season when you're told you're on

stored water, do you change your diversions in

any way?
A Not the diversions, no.
Q So you don't change what you're doing

Wi th your punps?

A Well, we change our irrigation
practices, but | guess, to clarify, on the years
that we knew we were limted to 50 percent or
what ever the case was, there are |ess productive
grounds that we choose not to irrigate so we can
get over the good ground.

Q In years when there aren't water
comm ssi oners, do you change anyt hi ng?

A Well, not typically, no.

MR, KUHLMANN: | don't have any ot her
guesti ons.
SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you very nuch,

M. Shaw. | think you' ve actually set the record
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so far for having the shortest period of tine.

THE WTNESS: Well, when you don't know
anything, it don't take | ong.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you very nuch.

MR. KUHLMANN:  We have one | ast
irrigator from Montana, Your Honor. That would
be Maurice Felton.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you. At this
time, then, M. Felton, you can cone forward.
Wher eupon,

MAURI CE FELTON,
havi ng been first duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as foll ows:

DEPUTY CLERK: State your nane and
spell it for the record.

THE WTNESS: My nanme is Maurice Felton,
F-E-L-T-O N.

SPECI AL MASTER: CGood afternoon,

M. Felton.

THE WTNESS: F-E-L-T-O N

SPECI AL MASTER: | said good afternoon.

THE WTNESS: Oh, good afternoon, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER: | like your turtl eneck.
It 1ooks |Iike you're keeping warm

THE W TNESS: Keeps the snow from
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bl owi ng down your neck.

SPECI AL MASTER. M. Draper.

MR. DRAPER. Just to let you and
M. Kuhl mann know, it wll again be M. Swanson
handl i ng our participation in the testinony.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you very nuch.
M . Kuhl mann, you can proceed.

THE WTNESS: Before we get started,
I"'ma little hard of hearing. So you'll have to
speak up pretty good.

MR KUHLMANN:. "Il try to do that,

SPECI AL MASTER. Let ne just tell you,
I f at any point you don't think you're hearing
t he question, you should feel free to ask for
t hat question to be repeated.

THE WTNESS: You'll probably see ne
point to ny ear.

SPECI AL MASTER: | want to nmake sure
when you hear a question you understand it before
you answer.

THE WTNESS: Ckay.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay.

DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Good afternoon, M.
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Fel t on.
A Good day, sir.
Q Can you tell us your address?
A 591 Brandenberg Road, Mles Gty,
Mont ana, 59301.
Q What is your current occupation?
A Far mer -rancher.
Q Do you farm al ong the Tongue River?
A Yes, sir.
Q If we can take a | ook at this large map

here, that's a denonstrative exhibit. Can you
find where on the river there your property is
| ocat ed?

A Brandenberg, we have | and here, here,
and then along the river here.

Q How far al ong the river does your
property run?

A Seven m | es.

Q Thank you.

SPECI AL MASTER: So just because a | ot
of here, here, heres don't cone out well on the
transcript when you're reading it later, you're
I ndi cating | ands up and down fromthe Brandenberg
Bridge; is that correct?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.
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SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you.

Q (By M. Kuhlmann:) Do those |ands go
from Brandenberg towards Ashland to the south?

A Bot h directions.

Q How | ong have you been irrigating al ong

t he Tongue River?
A 1996.

Q When did you nove to the area?

A That year.

Q Where did you nove fronf

A Big Tinber, west of here a hundred
mles.

Q Were you a rancher-farnmer over there?

A Yes, sir, all ny life.

Q Do you have a | ot of experience with

irrigation?

A Since | was about 12 years old. 50
years' worth.

Q | think that counts as a |lot. How nany
acres do you irrigate?

A Wel |, that depends on the year, how
much rain we get, but generally in the 5 to 600
acre anount.

Q Have you always irrigated that many

acres?
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A Yes, sir.

Q Si nce you bought the place?

A Yes.

Q What do you grow?

A Al falfa hay and a small patch of corn
each year.

Q Do you cycle those crops?

A Yes. Corn two years, back into alfalfa

hay, and then six, eight, ten years back into
corn again, the rotation, crop rotation.

Q Do you have direct flowrights fromthe
Tongue R ver?

A Do we have old water rights, is that
what your question is?

Q Do you have water rights that allow you

to take water fromthe Tongue R ver?

A Yes.
Q Those are for irrigation?
A Yes. Well, | think they are |listed as

irrigation and stock water.
Q Ckay. Can you describe for us how many

fields you have?

A How nmany fields do we have?
Q That you irrigate.
A VWll, | have seven center pivots and
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5500 acres of gated pipe, and approxi mtely a
hundred acres of open ditch fl ood.
Q How nmany different points of diversion

do you use to irrigate those?

A Fi ve.
Q Do you have punps that you use?
A | have four punps that punp directly

out of the river and there is also a free flow ng
ditch built way back before anybody's tine in
this room and | punp out of that ditch and al so
flood irrigate out of that ditch the hundred
acres that | just nentioned.

Q You said you punp out of the ditch. Do
you know how many acres you irrigate with the

punps out of the ditch?

A 120.

Q Do you know what priority dates you
have for your water rights?

A Ch, golly, | think the ol dest one is
1892. |I'mnot positive. |It's probably in one of
t hese books soneplace. | would recognize it if |
saw it.

Q Do you know how many irrigation water

ri ghts you have?

A | think there are about five or six.
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Q Do you have any irrigation water rights
with a priority date after 19507

A | think there's one at 1958. | am not
positive what that calls for, but | can't keep
all of that stuff in ny head.

Q | understand. \Where do you use that
wat er right?

A | think it's on the Iower end of the
ranch and there are several water rights and they
all have overl appi ng places of use. The reason
bei ng, so hearsay tells nme, the main ditch that
cones out of the river, the free flow ng ditch,
years ago, and | don't know when, the people that
were on the various places had a big water fight.
Sonebody put a damin the ditch. So, well, the
heck with you, I'Il just go put a punp in the
river down here at ny irrigated acres and punp
fromthere. And about four of those -- yes,
about four of those sites, those people just
said, the heck with you, and put a punp in the
river rather than fight with the upstream owner.

Q And that was after 19507

A No, that water fight occurred way, way
before then. O hearsay tells ne that.

Q So you said, | believe, you think you

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4492

have or you renenber having a water right with a
priority date of 1958; is that right?

A Vell, nost all of the rest of them
woul d be previous to 1950, except for that one,
which is on the very bottomof the ranch. It
woul d be the very north end.

Q |s that on property that overlaps with

other rights or is that on its own property?

A Yes.

Q It overl aps?

A Yes, to your first question.

Q Can you tell when you're using water

fromunder your earlier rights on that property
versus water you're using under your post-'50

right on that property?

A No.

Q Have you ever needed to?

A No.

Q Do you know how you woul d?

A No.

Q Do you water with direct water -- do

you water with direct flow rights all of your

| ands?
A When there's enough water in the river.
Q Are there any lands that you irrigate
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W th stored water?

A When the river gets | ow, then we have
toirrigate everything with stored water.

Q Are there any lands you irrigate only
with stored water?

A No.

Q You were just tal king about your water
rights. Have there been any changes nade to your
water rights as a result of the adjudication
process on the Tongue River?

A Yes. The first water right that you
t al ked about, 1892, | think that's correct, that
was for 58 point sonething or other cfs, and the

state cut that about in half here in the | ast

couple -- last two years, three years, sonething
| i ke that.

Q Pretty recently?

A Yes.

Q Do you know why?

A No.

Q Sounds |ike you didn't agree with that
change.

A Par don?

Q Sounds |ike you didn't agree with that
change.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4494

A No, | didn't, but it would be pointless
to take it to court because you wouldn't w n.

Q We tal ked about you have nmultiple punps
that you use to irrigate, correct? Can you
descri be those punps for us?

A Well, they are all centrifugal punps.
They are all Cornell punps. One punp is 1300 and
sone-odd gallons a mnute. Let's see, |I'm
starting at the upper end of the ranch going
downstream The next one would punp 400 gal |l ons
a mnute. The next one would be 500 gallons a
m nute. One at 1100 gallons a mnute. One at
900 gallons a mnute. And a flood punp punps
into the gated pipe that | nentioned earlier
woul d be 1750 gallons a m nute.

Q Do you irrigate all of your property at
the sane tine?

A Wll, that's pretty hard to get
everything going all at one tine, but when |
start, | get everything going as fast as | can.
Sonetines it takes ne two or three days,
sonetines it will take ne up to a week, but
generally try to get everything going as near to
the sane date as possible.

Q |s there any pattern you foll ow on when
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you try to irrigate fields?

A No.
Q Just whi chever field --
A Whatever | feel needs to be irrigated

first, that's where | start.

Q Does the anpbunt of water you take from
the river change fromday to day?

A Not very nuch.

Q Are there tines when you aren't punping
wat er during the year?

A When we're putting up hay. W try to
take the field and put that up, get the hay off,
get the water right back on it as quick as we

possi bly can.

Q How | ong do you keep -- do you stop
irrigating to allow yourself to hay?

A Week to ten days.

Q Are there any other tines when you stop

punping in the mddle of the irrigation season?

A Yeah, when you get about eight inches
of rain in the spring.

Q So if you get rain you turn your punps
of f?

A | f we get enough, yes. Like |ast

spring, we got by pretty well, we didn't -- |
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don't think we started until mddle of July or
sonething like that. Took our first crop of hay

off and then we started irrigating.

Q Do you have neasuri ng devices on your
punps?

A | have mcroneters on all ny punps.

Q How | ong have you had t hose?

A Ten years. Kind of a guess at ten
years.

Q Can you describe just briefly how those
wor k?

A VWell, there's a little inpeller inside

of the pipe water has to rush past, simlar to a
propeller on a box fan in your house. And that's
fastened to a shaft, and then there's a gauge up
on the top that tells you how nany gall ons per

m nute you' re punping. And they are approved in
nost states. Mpst water courts will approve

t hose m croneters as being accurate.

Q Do you have any neasuring devices on
your ditch?

A No.

Q Do you frequently neasure how nuch

wat er you're using?

A In the ditch or -- | don't get your
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guesti on.

Q Vell, we'll talk about the punps. Do
you frequently nmeasure how nuch water you're
using i n your punps?

A Wll, that's a constant figure at each
punp. That doesn't change.

Q Do you neasure how nuch water you use
over the course of a season?

A No, | don't. Wen | start, | just go
when | need to and stop when | can.

Q Do you neasure -- do you keep records
of when you are irrigating?

A No. El ectrical co-op could give you
that answer a whole |ot better than | could,
because they turn the punps on in the spring and
they turn themoff late in the fall, usually
first of October. Usually we are done irrigating
or we quit irrigating by the first of Septenber
nost years.

Q Do you know if there have been water

conm ssi oners appoi nted on the Tongue R ver in

t he past?
A Yes, sir.
Q Do you know when?
A No, sir.
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Q Do you know about how many years there
have been conm ssi oners?

A Ch, from 2001 until probably 2006. And
then we were told we were going to have a water
conmmi ssi oner this past sumer, and they did show
up there once early in the season.

Q Did the conm ssioners nmeasure your use
of water during the year?

A They did the first two years that they
were there. They did not this past year.

Q When they did neasure your use, do you
know how t hey neasured it?

A Well, just the sane way the previous
gentl eman testified. They put a band around the
pi pe electronically, | think it was, and they had
a wand that they stuck in the ditch with a little
inpeller on it and they read that and neasured
the flow, feet of travel per m nute.

Q Do you know when you're using direct
fl ow wat er versus when you're using storage water?

A No. QO her than hearsay up and down the
ditch, we are on stored water now. But, well, a
few tinmes they have called, one of the board of
directors or Art Hayes hinself has called that we

are on stored water now. So that means to nme be
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alittle nore careful and cautious in your use.
Don't waste any.

Q When you want to use your stored water,
do you have to call and -- do you have to contact
sonebody to have that water delivered to your
poi nts of diversion?

A |f we have a water conm ssioner, yes.
If there's no water conm ssioner on duty, no.

Q So in years when there isn't the water
conm ssioner and you're on stored water, are you
able to take the stored water you need out of the
river when you need it?

A Yes.

Q Have you ever -- well, | guess we
haven't tal ked about the anpbunt of contract you
have with the Tongue R ver Water Users

Associ ati on.

A We have 925 acre-feet.

Q | s that every year?

A Yes.

Q And you' ve had that since you got the
pl ace?

A That cane wth the place, yes.

Q Have you ever | eased additional water?

A Yes.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4500

Q When did you do that?

A |"mnot sure but it was sonetine
bet ween 2001 and 2006, two different occasions we
bought 200 feet -- 200 acre-feet of water each
time at $10 per acre foot.

Q Who did you buy it fronf

A Nort hern Cheyenne.

Q Have the water conm ssioners or anyone
el se ever talked to you about how nuch water you
used over the course of a year?

A Yes, the water conm ssioners kept a
pretty good record of that and would i nform ne
whenever they cane by that you have got so many
acre-feet left or you have used so nmany acre-feet.

Q Wuld they tell you how nmany acre-feet
you had used total over a year?

A | don't believe so, no.

Q Have they ever told you if you' ve used
nore storage water than you had a right to?

A | renmenber one tine we got a call and
said you are out of stored water, and so we shut
our punps off at that point in the ditch and went
to the Northern Cheyenne and bought 200 nore
acre-feet. And we were told then, well, the

wat er conm ssioner will be getting ahold of you,
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and he did, and we started irrigating again.
What year that was, | don't know.
Q And that water was avail abl e when you
needed it?
A From the Northern Cheyenne, yes.
MR. KUHLMANN:. | don't have any ot her
guestions. Thank you.
SPECI AL MASTER: M. Swanson?
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Swanson:) Good afternoon, M.
Fel t on.

A Good day, sir.

Q M . Kuhl mann asked you about a water
right wwth a date of 1958.

A Yes.

Q And do you know if you may have a water

right with a date of 1952 as well ?

A It's very possible.

Q And to your knowl edge in tines in the
sumer when you're on stored water, have you ever
used direct flow water out of the river under the
1958 right or the 1952 right?

A Kind of hard to keep all those water
rights separate when it's flowi ng down the river.

You punp water, and so, probably, yes. But there
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woul d be enough -- there's enough water in the
direct flowditch to irrigate everything that |
have.

Q Ch, were you using that water on your
storage account com ng out of the dan®

A Maybe yes, maybe no, depending on early
spring or |ate sunmer. Early spring it's
probably free flow water or runoff water. |If
it's late summer, |I'msure it's going to be
reserve water out of the dam

Q And then you nentioned the
comm ssi oners cane and neasured your punps and
then you said they put a wand in your ditch. Was

t hat nmeasuring your free flow ditch you talked

about ?

A Yes.

Q And do you have any I|ivestock?

A Do we have |ivestock?

Q Yes.

A 500 cows.

Q And so you raise hay to feed the
| i vest ock?

A Par don?

Q You raise the hay to feed your
| i vest ock?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4503

A Yes.

Q And where do you wi nter your |ivestock?

A Ri ght there on the ranch. That's the
pur pose of the hay.

Q Do they wnter along the river?

A Yes.

Q Do you know if they water out of the

river in the wintertine?

A Not too nuch because we have six
artesian wells that flow out of 400 feet deep
that are a constant 55 or 60 degrees. Cattle
much prefer that water to the river water. Not
nearly as cold.

MR. SWANSON:  No further questions,
Your Honor.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you, M.
Swanson. So | don't have many questions, M.
Felton, but there was this one part of your
irrigation operation that I would like to know
just a little bit nore about.

So | understand, you have what you
called a free flowng ditch?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER: So coul d you descri be

what you nean by a free flow ng ditch?
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THE WTNESS: Well, there's a
breastworks in the river bank with a head gate in
it. Open that up and the water just flows down
an open ditch. Does that answer your question,
Sir?

SPECI AL MASTER: Yes, it does. And are
there tinmes when you will shut the head gate?

THE WTNESS: Not generally in the
summertinme. |It's shut now. But once | open that
up, mddle of May usually, it's pretty nuch on
all the tinme. And where | have ny one punp site
on the furthest south end of the ranch, there is
al so sone gates drop into the ditch. | can drop
t hose gates clear down and that will back the
water clear to the river and then nothing wll
flow down the river. So it's virtually a dead
| ake.

SPECI AL MASTER So let's talk a nonent
about the punps that you're using to get the
water directly out of the Tongue R ver. \Wen
you're told that you're on stored water, is it
your understandi ng that any water you punp at
t hat point cones out of your contract right?

THE WTNESS: That's correct, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER. CGkay. And to your
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know edge no one has permtted you additi onal
wat er for your direct flowright in the river at
t hat point?

THE W TNESS:. No.

SPECI AL MASTER:  Ckay.

THE WTNESS: O her than the water we
bought fromthe Northern Cheyenne, which we just
t al ked about.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. And when you're
told that you are on stored water, do you
continue then to also use water fromthe free
flow ng ditch?

THE W TNESS:  Yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: And sone of that water
I s punped out of the ditch?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER: And is the water that
you punp out of the ditch at that point, is that
measur ed?

THE WTNESS: It's neasured at the punp
wWth the mcroneter water neters that | have on
t he punp.

SPECI AL MASTER.  Ckay. Does t hat
anmount of water that you're punping out of the

ditch al so count towards your stored right?
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THE WTNESS: | believe it woul d.

SPECI AL MASTER: Just to be clear, then,
the punp that you get water out of the ditch from
I s measured by the water conm ssioners; is that
correct?

THE WTNESS: Since | put that
m croneter neter up there nobody has been by to
|l ook at it. It was after we had the water
conm ssioners that | put the mcroneters on all
of the punps. Made it easier for themand it
made it easier for nme because | could | ook at
that m croneter, oh, |'ve used 50 acre-feet or
|'ve used 20 acre-feet, whatever. | could keep
kind of a running tally in ny head so | didn't
exceed ny 925 acre-feet, or allotted anount,
what ever it was, 55 or 50 percent of whatever it
was for that year.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. But if |
under st ood your testinony, in the years between
2001 and 2006, when there were water
conmmi ssi oners, the water conm SssSioners were
cal cul ating how much water you were using through
your punps?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER: And did that include
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the punp out of your free flow ng ditch?

THE WTNESS: Yes. | had to stop and
think a little bit.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. And so it is
water fromthe punp that you then use to irrigate
your fields?

THE W TNESS: Yes, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. | think that's
all the questions | had. M. Swanson?

MR. SWANSON:  No further questions.

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. M. Kuhl mann?

MR, KUHLMANN: No questi ons.

SPECI AL MASTER Okay. Thank you. It's
qui te possible -- actually, | do have one ot her
question | don't think anyone is going to object
to, and | forgot to nmake earlier. |'ve just been
trying -- | have a list of the various water
rights and I'mjust trying to keep track of whose
water rights are whose. So | notice on the |ist
of various water right clainms that were nade,
there are several for the Felton Angus Ranch.

THE WTNESS: That's correct. That
woul d be ne.

SPECI AL MASTER: That woul d be you.

Geat. So anyway, with that, | was just
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eval uating, you know, M. Shaw a nonent ago set
the record for the shortest period of tine in the
chair. But | actually think you just stole it by
about three m nutes.

THE WTNESS: Suits ne fine.

SPECI AL MASTER: So congrat ul ati ons.
You can step down now. Thank you very much for
com ng here today. | would suggest that we take
our first afternoon break now for ten m nutes and
then we'll conme back.

(Recess.)

(Open court.)

SPECI AL MASTER: So, M. Brown, you're
going to be exam ning the next w tness?

MR. BROAN:  Yes, Your Honor, | am A
coupl e things before we call our next w tness.
First of all, I'mgoing to do a little bit of a
preenptive apology. | didn't anticipate the
rapi d pace of the |ast couple of wtnesses.

SPECI AL MASTER: |t is unusual.

MR BROMN: It is. So | have an excuse
to agree, | suppose. W have two Wom ng
W t nesses available for this afternoon and |
certainly can't promse that they are going to

take up the remai nder of our tine. So we may
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have sonme open space this afternoon.

The second thing is, just to introduce
ki nd of the next topic of folks that we wll be
wadi ng into, generally Womng irrigators, there
will be a set of those folks. First, we're going
to have a gentlenman who is associated wth the
CBM i ndustry, and is a production nanager for a
CBM conpany that produces CBM water on Prairie
Dog Creek. So we have sone information specific
with regard to that CBM production. H's nane is
John Steir, and we would like to call M. John
Steir to the stand.

SPECI AL MASTER:. M. Steir, you can
cone up and be sworn in.

Wher eupon,

JOHN STEI R,
havi ng been first duly sworn, was exam ned and
testified as foll ows:

SPECI AL MASTER. M. Draper.

MR. DRAPER Your Honor, just to |let you
know, |'Il be handling the testinony for us on
this wtness.

SPECI AL MASTER. Ckay. Thank you, M.
Dr aper .

DEPUTY CLERK: Pl ease state your nane
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and spell it for the record.
THE W TNESS: John Steir, S T-E-I-R
SPECI AL MASTER: Good afternoon, M.

Steir.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Brown:) M. Steir, how are you?
A | " m doi ng good.
Q Thank you for com ng up. | hope

you're able to make it back home tonight. Can

you tell us what your current occupation is?

A | "' ma production nmanager for Storm Cat
Ener gy.
Q "Il warn you right off the bat, you

and | both have of a tendency to talk fast, so
the court reporter is going to yell at both of
us if we do that too nuch. W need to sl ow down
just a little bit.
How | ong have you been a production

manager for Storm Cat Energy?

A Si nce Decenber of 'O06.

Q What is your business address?

A 51 Cof feen Avenue.

Q And where is that?

A Sheri dan, Wom ng.
Q

| want to back up a little bit. I'm
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going to ask you sone questions about your
background so the special master can understand a
little bit about where you cone from \ere did

you grow up?

A Sheri dan, Wom ng.

Q And did you go to college or attend any
kind of training after high school?

A | went to a technical in Laram e,
Wom ng.

Q And what was that for?

A Mechani cs.

Q When did you conplete that?

A In ' 87.

Q And what did you do after -- is that
WoTech?

A It Is WoTech.

Q What did you do after you graduated
from WoTech?

A Went to work for Plains Tire in

Sheri dan, Wom ng.
Q How | ong did you do that?
Ch, about seven nonths.
Just wasn't for you?
No, | got offered a different job.

What was that?

O >» O »
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A | went to work for Lange Drilling in
Salt Lake City, U ah.
SPECI AL MASTER: One of the advantages
of slow ng down, too, is it nmakes sure you have
an opportunity to hear the question and think

about it before answering.

Q (By M. Brown:) Probably a good idea.
What was Lange Drilling?

A An exploration drilling conpany out of
Salt Lake that drilled -- well, | drilled in

Nevada nost of the tine.

Q Drilling for what?

A Mainly it was coal -- or gold
expl orati on.

Q Drilling for gold?

A Gol d, yes. Exploration, you know,
| ooki ng for gold.

Q Ckay. And where did you do that?

A El ko, Nevada, Reno, Nevada.
Q Did you find any?
A Well, not where | could physically | ook

at it and steal it. W did find sone, yes.
SPECI AL MASTER: So you were not out
W th your pan?
THE WTNESS: No, | wanted to be.
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Q (By M. Brown:) How long did you do
t hat ?

A | did that for two years.

Q So that brings us to 1989 or about?

A Cl ose. Yep.

Q What did you do after that?

A | bought a drilling rig and started
drilling water wells.

Q For gol d?

A No. | drilled for water. | drilled
water wells in and around Sheridan, Wom ng.

Q Was that your own busi ness?

A Yes.

Q How | ong did you do that?

A Ni ne years.

Q And generally describe what, | guess,
t he operation that you ran up there drilling for
water, what was it like drilling for water in

t hat area?

A | drilled water wells for, of course,
| ot of ranchers and | andowners, and drilled the
wel | and then had a backhoe and also did the
hookups, tied theminto houses and stock wells.

Q What aquifers were you drilling into?

A All kinds. A lot of them were sand,
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gray sand. Coal, the sane kind of coal we deal
with at coal -bed nethane. Mainly themwere the

two aquifers.

Q How | ong did you do that?

A Ni ne years.

Q So that brings us to 19917 No.

A No.

Q That's horrible math. Another | awer

that can't do math. At any rate, what did you do

after that?

A Went to the railroad for two years.
Q What did you do for the railroad?

A | was an engi neer and conductor.

Q How did you like that?

A | hated it.

Q Wiy is that?

A On call all the tinme and not know ng

when you had to work and kept |aying you off. It
was all seniority based.

Q Ckay. What did you do after that?

A Wwent to work for J.M Huber as a

contract punper.

Q A contract punper for what?
A The coal - bed net hane wells, CBM well s.
Q Ckay. Where was that at?
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A Started out in Recluse, Wom ng.
Q Where i s Recl use?
A About 83 mles east of Sheridan

somewhat, 43 mles north of Gllette.

Q Qut in the mddl e of nowhere?

A Ki nd of.

Q It's in the Powder River Basin?

A Correct.

Q You said you were a punper?

A Yes.

Q What does that nean?

A We actually went out and punped the
wel l's, basically watched over the punps, tried to
produce -- well, we punped out water to nake gas.
So we watched wells. | don't know how el se --

Q So the punp that you were taking care

of was the punp that renoved the water fromthe

coal seam

A Correct. It was a subnersible punp in
a well, yes.

Q How | ong did you do that?

A Ch, | did that for probably eight

nonths and then | went to a production supervisor
for J.M Huber.
Q What did you do as a production
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supervisor for J.M Huber?

A Supervi sed all the punpers. So | just,
your know, talk to themdaily and net with J. M
Huber and supervi sed them

Q (kay. How long did you do that?

A | did that until | went to work for
Baker Energy, which is in 2003.

Q So you went to work for Baker in 2003?
A Yes.

Q And doi ng what ?

A Sane t hing.

Q Where at?

A Sheri dan, Wom ng, Recluse -- well, |
| ived in Sheridan but nost of ny operations was
i n Recl use.

Q Di d Baker have any operations in the
Tongue Ri ver Basin?

A They were a service conpany. So all |

did was supply peopl e.

Q Descri be how that works, a service
conpany suppl yi ng peopl e?
A Wll, J.M Huber had too many contract

enpl oyees, so all the people working for them
were contract. So they had to get a conpany

because they didn't want to own -- or they didn't
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want to hire anybody. They wanted sonebody el se

to hire them So they hired Baker Energy, and

basi cal ly everybody from Baker Energy worked

for -- like four guys worked for Huber in that
ar ea.

Q So were you doing the sane job for Huber?

A Yes.

Q You were just working for a different
enpl oyer ?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. So you were still a production
manager for J.M Huber in the Recluse area?

A Correct.

Q Ckay. And how Il ong did you do that?

A Until Decenber of 2006. Then | went to
work for Storm Cat Energy?

Q And Storm Cat Energy, is that another
CBM pr oducti on conpany?

A Yes.

Q Were are they based out of?

A Denver .

Q And in what area were you working for
t henf?

A Recl use.

Q Still in Recluse?
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A Yes.

Q Ckay. And what was your position with
t henf?

A Producti on nmanager.

Q Sane kind of position?

A Sane kind of position, yes.

Q Ckay. Did the job duties change at all

when you noved over to Storm Cat?

A Yes. | started dealing nore with the
gas marketers and then |I took care of the budget.
| still take care of the budget. And a |ot of
the other jobs are the sane. W still deal with
produci ng gas on a daily basis.

Q Ckay. Describe to ne -- for ne the
i nteraction you had with the gas marketer. What
did that involve?

A | have to give himflows, you know,
when we have down tinme and we are off gas because
we got to do inbal ances at the end of the nonth.
So we can't be too |ong or short because one way
wi Il cost you noney, the other way you have to
make up gas. So | deal wth the marketer on a
daily basis on selling gas.

Q What ot her things, if you haven't

al ready nentioned everything, does a production
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manager do?

A | deal with water nmanagenent. | deal
with gas calibrations. The day-to-day basis --
daily basis -- day-to-day operations with the
punpers. You know, we deal with guys every day,
human resources, you know, vacati ons.

Q In that position as a production
manager did you have any occasion to deal wth
regul atory agenci es?

A Yes, | deal with themdaily.

Q What regul atory agencies do you

typically deal wth?

A DEQ BLM OSLI, SEO

Q What is OSLI?

A Ofice of State Lands.

Q For what purpose would you deal wth
t henf

A Usually wells and reservoirs on state
| eases.

Q So that's the real property owner for

sone of your |eases?

A Correct.

Q And the Ofice of State Lands, that's
in Wom ng, right?

A Correct.
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Q So that woul d be the agency that you
woul d have to work through as the property owner?

A Yes.

Q |s that right?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. You said DEQ Is that Wom ng
DEQ?

A Yes.

Q And for what purpose would you have to
work with the Wom ng DEQ?

A They mainly deal with air quality and
wat er, water quality and volune. | nean, they
regul ate quality -- they regulate the water

quality and vol une of water.

Q When you say the DEQ regul ates the
vol une of water, what do you nean? Do you know
what they do?

A Well, each permt, | nmean -- just
depends. We'll have a permit on an outfall that
wi Il have a volune associated wwth it and w |

have a quality of water associated with it. And,
| i ke yesterday, | spent all day with them and we
go around and went to 16 outfalls, which an

outfall is a place where water cones out fromthe

wells. And they will sanple it and nmake sure the
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sanple is wthin the permt requirenents.

Q So you have to get a permt fromDEQ to
produce CBW?

A Yes, a WYPEES permt.

Q You said air quality, as well, wth
DEQ?

A Yes.

Q What air quality concerns are there?

A W have conpressors.

Q What is a conpressor?

A Conpressor is how we nove our gas.

Q Those conpressors create gas in the
air, right?

A Em ssi ons, yes.

Q Em ssions. So that's what DEQ regul at es?

A Yes, it's the sane thing as a permt.

And they regul ate that, also.
Q State engineer's office, |I think you

nmentioned as a regul atory agency you deal wth?

A Yes.

Q You said SEO?

A Yes.

Q And what regulatory activities do you

deal with the SEO for?

A Getting permts for reservoirs.
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Q Ckay. Can you descri be that process?
Do you yourself deal with the permtting?

A No. | mght signit, but | don't
create it. Most of the time -- | can't describe

how it worKks.

Q What ' s your understandi ng? Do you have
an understandi ng what has to be permtted through
the state engineer's office?

A Reservoirs do, yes.

Q And what about the reservoirs, do you
know? If you don't, that's fine.

A | know you got to apply for it, you
have a size, how many acre-feet and storage and

how bi g and what not.

Q And do you still work in the Recluse
area?

A | still do work there, too, yes.

Q You say, too. Do you work sonewhere
el se --

A Sheri dan.

Q -- now?

SPECI AL MASTER. If you can both try not
to talk at exactly the sane tine, that would be
hel pful to the court reporter. | wll try and

wat ch out for that, too.
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Q (By M. Brown:) | will do ny absolute
best to wait until you're done with your answer
I f you can wait for nme to get done wth ny
guesti on.

A | will.

Q So | think as we were tal king over one
anot her, you said that you work in the Sheridan

area now as wel | ?

A Yes.

Q And when did that start happeni ng?

A From 2007.

Q |s that with Storm Cat ?

A Yes. We drilled 19 wells out in the
Prairie Dog area.

Q At sone point in tinme did Storm Cat
purchase J.M Huber in the Prairie Dog area?

A Yes, they did that in Decenber of 2011.

Q Ckay. And so in Decenber of 2011 Storm
Cat purchased J.M Huber; is that right?

A Correct.

Q And so any of the CBMinterests that

J.M Huber had in the Tongue Ri ver Basin then
went over to StormCat; is that accurate?
A Yes, all of it.

Q But you had done sone work as early as
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2007, as far as drilling wells?
A Yes, we drilled 19 wells in that area.
Q Did you have any experience with CBM

wat er production in the Tongue Ri ver Basin at
that tinme, 20077

A Yes.
Q Descri be that.
A Well, we had the 19 wells, which went

into a reservoir.

Q Al 19 wells went into one reservoir?
A Correct.

Q How bi g was that reservoir?

A Hundred acre-feet.

Q Si nce 2011, when Storm Cat purchased
out J.M Huber, have you been Storm Cat's
producti on manager in the Tongue Ri ver Basin?

A Yes.

Q Can you just generally in a geographic
sense descri be where Storm Cat's holdings are in
t he Tongue River Basin, their CBM production
operati ons?

A Where all our | eases are?

Q Where is your operation at? Are you at
Prairie Dog Creek or are you on Big Goose Creek?

A W are on Prairie Dog Creek, Badger
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Creek, all that area out there. W got stuff in
Recluse. | nean, there are several creeks.

Q And what | nmean is just in the Tongue
Ri ver Basin?

A Oh, just the Tongue River. Ckay.
We've got stuff up and down Prairie Dog Creek,
Badger Creek.

Q And that's predomnantly in the Prairie
Dog Creek vicinity, right?

A Correct. Yes.

Q Do you know, is Storm Cat Energy the

only CBM production conpany doi ng CBM producti on

i n the Tongue Ri ver Basin?

A We are not.

Q Do you know of the others?

A Fidelity and Marat hon.

Q Have there been others in the past that

you know of ?

A That's the mai n ones, unless there are
sonme small ones that | don't...

Q kay. Do you know whi ch conpany had
t he nost CBM production or the |argest CBM
production operation in the Tongue River Basin?
Do you know?

A No. At one tine it had been close to
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Huber or Fidelity.

Q kay. | amgoing to show you an
exhibit. It's a mp, and it is marked as Exhibit
W223. And it's incredibly difficult to read at
this scale, but we are going to put it up on the
screen and see if we can't aid that. Do you
recogni ze Exhibit W223?

A Yes.
Q What is 1t?
A lt's our -- we call it our PDC water

managenent ar ea.

Q When you say we, you nean Storm Cat?
A Storm Cat, yes.
Q So do you use that map as part of your

regular work with Storm Cat Energy?

A Yes.

Q And is that map accurate wth regard to
Storm Cat's CBM wat er production operation as of
the date of the nmap?

A Yes.

Q Do you know what the date of the map is?

A Wll, it's around April of 2012.

Q |'d like to of fer Exhibit W223.

MR. DRAPER  Your Honor, we object to

adm ssion of this exhibit. It's a 2012 map.
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Doesn't relate to this case.

SPECI AL MASTER: So I'mgoing to permt
t he map, recognizing, of course, that it is 2012,
and that, therefore, it doesn't necessarily say
what things |ooked |like at a previous point in
tine.

MR DRAPER. Ckay. As of 2012, a
current map --

SPECI AL MASTER: | understand it has
limted rel evance, but I'minterested in where
M Brown will go wth it.

MR. DRAPER Wth that understanding, |
have no objecti on.

(Recei ved.)

SPECI AL MASTER: So Exhibit -- just to
finish up here, Exhibit W223, is admtted.

(Recei ved.)

Q (By M. Brown:) M. Steir, do you
know, when Storm Cat Energy purchased J.M Huber
did it purchase all of its files and records and
t hi ngs of that nature?

A Yes.

Q Do you know whet her that included the
data that went into naking this map that we are

| ooki ng at?
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A | woul d say yes.

Q As far as -- are you experienced with
the information that's depicted in the nap, and
when | say that, | nean Storm Cat's water
producti on operation?

A Yes.

Q And was the information contained in
that map accurate as far as what you observed
when Storm Cat purchased J.M Huber?

A Yes.

Q | want to be very clear. That was as
of Decenber of 2011, right?

A Yes.

Q You didn't have any experience wth

their water production or handling prior to that

point in tim?

A No.
Q (kay. Let's zoomin on the | egend at
the bottomof this map. |If you would, and |

don't know if you can read the paper copy that |
have given you or if we can get that big enough
to read, could you just describe generally the

I nformati on contained on this map using the

| egend or -- just describe what's on the map?

VWhat's contained on it?
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A kay. The blue lines are definitely
the water gathering system So that's our

underground lines going fromwells/reservoir to

reservoir. There's reservoirs on there. It wll
say existing water bodies and it will have
I nacti ve water bodies, which -- and then we --

we've got irrigated areas that we irrigate
Wth -- or irrigate out there in the PDC area.
Sone of the stuff on the legend is not on this
map because it's mainly | use this as a water
managenent map, because that's -- | took all the
wel ls and roads and all that stuff on the
| eft-hand side off.

Q Ckay. So there's another map that
woul d be nore descriptive of the actual gas

production sides of your work?

A Correct.

Q Ckay. Do you see on the far right-hand
corner of the | egend box sonething | abel ed SDI ?

A Yes.

Q What is that?

A Sub-drip irrigation.

Q What does that nean?

A W irrigate -- well, we use Ben Tero,
you know, it's -- we irrigate from underground.
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We take our water and put -- basically what we
are doing right nowis we take 10,000 barrels a
day and put it underground and have alfalfa
fields.

Q Where do you go that?

A In the Prairie Dog Creek area on
Carlton Perry's | and.

Q |s that up Dutch Creek? |'m not sure.

That's where it |looks like it's at on the map,

t 0o.

A VWell, it's in the area. But | don't
recall Dutch Creek. | don't know that.

Q Ckay. That's fine. And so | ooking at

Exhi bit W223, all of the blue polygons, are
t hose CBM reservoirs?

A Yes.

Q And then | think the | egend indicates
that the blue polygons that are wapped in a red
| i ne, those are inactive CBMreservoirs?

A Correct. They are still there. W
just don't use them

Q So this map just generally describes
t he plunmbing of your water production operation?

A Al'l the underground Iines we have, yes.

Q Why do you have underground |ines?
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A To get the water fromthe wells to the

reservoirs and then maybe fromreservoir to

reservoir. It just depends.
Q So you can nobve water between reservoirs?
A Yes.
Q Do you have nore than one CBM wel |

hooked up to a single reservoir?

A We got nore wells -- we have nore than
one well going to a reservoir, yes.

Q Do you have nmultiple wells going to one

reservoir?

A Yes.

Q So that's just kind of described by the
pl unbi ng --

A Yes.

Q -- that's on this map. In your

experience wth CBM production, what is the goal
of the CBM conpanies with regard to the produced
wat er ?

A Well, our goal is -- to produce water
we get it out of the well bore and try to get rid
of it because it's a byproduct. W don't want
it. And we want the gas that the well produces.

Q So generally describe the process that

Storm Cat uses, at |least, of trying to get rid of
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t hat water?

A W put it in reservoirs is our main
thing. And then we want themto infiltrate,
evaporate, and then if they don't do that fast

enough, we irrigate.

Q So one of the goals of putting the
water in the reservoirs is to have it infiltrate?

A Yes.

Q You want a | eaky reservoir?

A We'd love a | eaky reservoir, yes.

Q |s there ever a tine that you had a

reservoir that wasn't | eaky?

A No, nost of them do.

Q Have you ever had one that didn't
infiltrate?

A Had sonme that infiltrated very slowy.

Q What did you do with those reservoirs?

A Well, we eventually tried not to use

t hem because we want to go to the ones that
infiltrate. W need the ones that |eak, that
don't hold water.

Q Sure. And so if you had one that
didn't |eak, you'd find another one?

A Yes, or we would punp it out of that

one into one that would infiltrate.
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Q Ckay. Can you use -- and | ooking
back -- let nme ask: On Exhibit W223, does that
depict all of the water production facilities for
StormCat in the Prairie Dog Creek area?

A Yes.

Q And do you know about how nany CBM
reservoirs you have in the -- StormCat has in
the Prairie Dog Creek area?

A 59.

Q 597

A 59.

Q Total reservoirs?

A Yes.

Q Qut of those reservoirs, do you know

how many are |ined?

> O >» O >»

Fi ve.

Do you use any of those |lined reservoirs?
W do not.

Wiy not ?

Because once you fill themup, the

wat er goes nowhere unless you punp it out.

Q
A

Again, you want a | eaky reservoir, right?

W would |love to take the |iners out,

but we have not. They are too hard.

Q

How bi g are nost of these CBMreservoirs?
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A |"mgoing to say 10 to 20 acre-feet.
Q They obvi ously get bigger. You
di scussed a hundred acre-foot earlier?
A Correct.
Q What is the biggest one Storm Cat has?
A In the Prairie Dog area, probably a

hundred acre-feet. Wat did | say? Prairie Dog
Creek? Yeah, | did.

Q What other -- other than just putting
the CBMwater in the reservoir, what other
met hods or techni ques does Storm Cat use to try
to get rid of the CBM water?

A W irrigate with it, so we got big
pivots, side rolls, and then we call thembig
guns. They're portable.

Q Do you know about how nmany acres is
irrigated with StormCat CBMwater in the Prairie

Dog Creek area? Do you have any idea?

A | don't renmenber exactly how many acres.
Q How is it that you find ground to put
t he CBM wat er on?
A Wll, alot of it is we give it to
ranchers, and then -- because they wl |l have

areas. W try to find flat areas where you can

run pivots or side rolls, you know, so we can
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grow grass, hay, whatever they want to grow.
Q So you try to reach sone kind of

agreenent wth the | andowners?

A Correct.

Q VWhat's entailed in those agreenents?

A They are very sinple. Sone of themare
just verbal. Hey, can we irrigate out here?

Sone | andowners want hard copy or signed copies
and they are very sinple. | nean, there is not
much to them

Q So you can have either a verbal
agreenent or a witten agreenent with | andowners
toirrigate their ground with CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q Does Storm Cat only irrigate |and that
was previously irrigated with either direct flow
wat er or sone other type of storage water or do

you guys irrigate other |and?

A W irrigate other |and.

Q How do you go about finding that |and
toirrigate?

A Same thing. Usually the flat places
where they can hay it, usually, 1s what we
i rrigate.

Q Once you have an agreenent with a
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| andowner to irrigate their |and, who does the
irrigation, typically?

A W do. Well, Wod Goup. W hire Wod
Group that runs our operations. They do the
i rrigating.

Q You hire a third party contractor to
conme do the irrigating for you?

A Correct. Yes.

Q And do you have any occasi ons where the
| andowners do the irrigation with the CBM wat er ?

A Actually, yes, we just started that in
2013. Woul d have been the first year that the
| andowners are taking our equi pnent and they are
operating it because they are out there. It was

a cost savings idea for us.

Q So in 2011 and 2012 it was exclusively
Storm Cat that operated the equi pnment?

A Yes.

Q Once you find a piece of land to do the
irrigation, does Storm Cat do any kind of soi
testing?

A W do get a baseline. And then we

sanple it every year to see what type of
anmendnents we need to put on the surface.

Q And when you say anendnents, what do
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you nean?
A We call them anendnents. We put sul fur
or gypsumon there which just -- water has a | ot

of salts in it and we are just trying to keep the
salts fromcreating a hard pan because we want
the water to go down in the ground.

Q Wth regard to the land that Storm Cat
irrigates with the CBMwater, is the | andowner

able to use other water on that sanme | and, as

wel | ?

A No.

Q At |least through the irrigation
facilities that Storm Cat uses?

A They are not.

Q And why not ?

A Because they have no way to put the

water in the reservoir.

Q So how does that preclude the | andowner
fromusing the irrigation equipnent?

A kay. Fromusing our irrigation

equi pnent ?

Q Ri ght .
A Because our irrigation equipnent is
tied to our infrastructure, our stuff. There's

no way they could tie into it.
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Q kay. |Is Storm Cat able to di spose of
all of its CBM produced water through irrigation?
A We don't irrigate all of it. Sone
reservoirs we | eave set. Once they are full and
they don't infiltrate quickly, we'll just |eave
themset, and they will infiltrate or evaporate

over tine.
Q At sonme point you gave a copy of this

map that's Exhibit W223 to the state engineer's
office; is that right?

A Yes.

Q Who was it you gave it to?

A Dave Schroeder.

Q Way did you give it to hinP

A Because it was right after we took over
J.M Huber. He called and said, hey, |'ve been
out in your area and | see sone reservoirs that
have nore water in themthan they normally have.
Coul d you explain why and how? How are you
putting nore water in? | said, we are operating
different than Huber is. W are trying to use
nore -- we are trying to use nore of the
reservoirs for irrigation instead of going into
the SDI system because they were putting, |ike,
16,000 barrels in the SDI system So we
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sw tched that so he was seeing nore water in
reservoi rs because of that. So he wanted to know
how t he system worked and asked if | would cone
out and show him | said, how about if | give
you a map and show you? And that's what | did.

Q Ckay. And so it sounds |ike he had a

pretty good understandi ng of where the reservoirs

wer e?
A Correct.
Q He just didn't know how your system
oper at ed?
A Yep.
Q He wasn't famliar with the plunbing?
A Exactly. And we probably also --

because you can transfer fromreservoir to
reservoir, we mght have transferred water, noved
it around, and that's what he was seeing al so.

So we explained to himand gave hima map and
showed hi m how we were doi ng that.

Q Ckay. Did you also provide a copy of
this map at sone point in tinme to a gentleman by
t he nane of Doyle Fritz?

A Yes, | did.

Q Did that include the electronic state

files that go with the map?
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A Yes.

Q Let nme back up a second. Wen Storm
Cat Energy at least is thinking about devel oping
some new CBM wells, does it do any planning with

regard to its water production disposal techniques

A Yes.

Q Descri be that. How does that work?

A Vell, we figure out how many wells.
You w Il pick an area and, you know, take an

average what you think, how many barrels each
well is going to produce. So if you are doing 20
wells and they're at 250 barrel s api ece, you have
to cal cul ate how nuch water you can nanage
t hrough the year with that. So that is how nany
reservoirs we need, how nuch irrigation, how nuch
infiltration, how many evaporation, all of that
is calculated. There's fornmulas to figure al
t hat out.

Q So it sounds like you try to find a way
to nmake sure you have enough opportunity to
di spose of that water?

A Correct.

Q Are you famliar with gentleman by the
nanme of Joe Pilch?

A Yes.
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Q How do you know hi nf?
A Vell, I've known himfor a long tine.
| grewup with his kid. And he's a | andowner out

there in lower Prairie Dog. So we deal with the

| andowner s.

Q Ckay. Does Storm Cat Energy irrigate
any of M. Pilch's [ and?

A Yes, we do.

Q And is that the | and you just descri bed
in Lower Prairie Dog?

A Yes.

Q So that woul d be the end of Prairie Dog
cl osest to Montana?

A Yeah.

Q The north end of Prairie Dog in Mntana?

A Yes.

Q Do you know -- are you aware if J. M

Huber was irrigating M. Pilch's land prior to
Storm Cat purchasing J.M Huber in 20117

A They were.

Q And when Storm Cat purchased J. M Huber
was there already irrigation equi pnent at M.
Pilch's place?

A Yes, it was already set up.

Q Can you describe StormCat's irrigation
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of M. Pilch's property?

A How we irrigate on Joe's?

Q Just a general description of how Storm
Cat goes about irrigating M. Pilch's place.

A W put it in certain reservoirs that
are on this map and then he's got side rolls, big
guns, and pivots that we use.

Q | "' m going to show you anot her docunent.

Just standing here realized | only had one. This

Is a page from Exhibit W2. It is from Exhibit
W2 Bates nunber WY 043250. Unfortunately, M.
Fritz's appendi ces were not page nunbered. |[It's
around page 177. It's broke down as far as |

t hi nk he did the Tongue River --
SPECI AL MASTER: Let's go off the record.
(Di scussion off the record.)
SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay.
Q (By M. Brown:) M. Steir, do you
recogni ze the image that's depicted in that

aerial photograph that | just gave to you?

A Yes.
Q And what do you recognize it to be?
A Part -- this is Joe Pilch's irrigated
| and.
Q And it was just what we were discussing
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as far as his ground on up the Prairie Dog Creek?

A Yes.

Q Lower Prairie Dog Creek, | apol ogize.

A Yes.

Q |"mgoing to stick this on the ELMO, so

that other folks can see it. | wll see if | can
figure out howto run this thing. Can you see
that all right, M. Steir?

A Yes.

Q VWhat | want to do -- it looks like to
me the way that this aerial photograph is
oriented, is it accurate to say Prairie Dog Creek
enters the lower |eft-hand corner of the
phot ogr aph?

A Yes, it is.

Q And then it generally trends to the
northeast up into the right-hand corner of the

phot ogr aph?

A Yes.

Q And then there's sone pol ygons
i dentified on the photograph that ook to be
irrigated fields. Do you agree with that?

A Yes.

Q And | want to go through this, and at

| east with your experience as far as Storm Cat
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irrigating on M. Pilch's place, | just want to

ask you a few questions with regard to it. First
of all, if you'll take a l|ook, and if you'll | ook
up here, I'mgoing to point up on the big screen,

can you tell nme what that is?

A A reservoir.,

Q What ki nd of reservoir?

A A CBM reservoir that we put water in.
Q So that's one of StormCat's reservoirs?
A Yes.

Q What about this one over here?

A One of our reservoirs.

Q How about here?

A One of our reservoirs.

Q How about this one?

A One of our reservoirs.

Q How about that?

A One of ours.

Q Ckay. Wiat is this right here?

A That is a conpressor station.

Q | s that, as you were describing
earlier, so you could nove the coal -bed gas?

A Yes.

Q Can you tell me with regard to this
field that I'mindicating, does Storm Cat
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irrigate that with CBM wat er?

A Yes.

Q How is that irrigated?

A That one is a side roll.

Q How about this field here?

A That woul d be side rolls.

Q So does StormCat irrigate that wth
CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q And how about this center pivot?

A Pivots, yes. Irrigated.

Q That's irrigated wth CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q How about this center pivot?

A Irrigated wth CBM wat er.

Q Do you see this mark over here that is
off this center pivot?

A Yes.

Q Do you know, does Storm Cat irrigate
t hat ?

A Yes.

Q How is that irrigated?

A Wth big guns.

Q How about this triangle that's over
her e?
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A Same t hing.
Q (kay. And how about this area over
her e?
A That could be a side roll or a big gun.
Q You're not sure which?
A No, | don't renenber exactly.
Q How about this field up here?
A That woul d be a side roll.
Q Do you know if this area right in here

gets CBMwater? |If you don't know, that's fine.

A | don't know for a fact. But probably
not. | don't know that.

Q You don't do any irrigation over on
this side of Prairie Dog Creek for M. Pilch?

A W do not.

Q And you don't do any CBMirrigation
t hrough here for M. Pilch?

A No.

Q Ckay. |Is there any other |and owned by
M. Pilch that Storm Cat does irrigation for?

A | think this is it, but I'm--

Q |s there | and outside of Prairie Dog

Creek bottomthat Storm Cat does sone irrigation
for M. Pilch, up away from Prairie Dog Creek?
Do you know?
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A No, | don't think so.

Q kay. Do you know how nany CBM
reservoirs are used to irrigate M. Pilch's |and?
A Which reservoir? No, | don't keep

track of it.
Q Is it nore than one?
A Ch, yeah. Definitely.
Q Can you bring CBM produced water from a

reservoir froma distance to irrigate M. Pilch's
| and?

A Yeah, it's all -- all our systemis
tied together. So if | wanted to get water to
that reservoir, | could get it clear from Badger
Creek, which is mles away.

Q Okay. And | think you nentioned wth
regard to other irrigators, but in particular
with regard to M. Pilch, is he able to plug into
the irrigation equi pnent on his property and
irrigate with anythi ng but CBM wat er ?

A No, he's not.

Q Can you just describe for us what the
current state of CBM production is in Prairie Dog
Creek area in Wom ng? s it going up? Is it
goi ng down?

A It's all going down. No new wells.
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Q How about the water production?
A It's going down al so.
Q | s Storm Cat pluggi ng any wel | s?
A We are currently plugging, yes. Ten of
themthis year.
Q And are you famliar wwth any of the
ot her CBM conpani es? Are they doing the sane
t hi ng?
A Yeah, they are all plugging wells.
MR. BROMN: That's all | have.
SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you, M. Brown.
M. Draper?
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Draper:) Good afternoon, M.
Steir. 1'dlike to turn our attention to the map
t hat you discussed with M. Brown initially. And
that is this Exhibit W223. D d you prepare this

map?
A | did not.
Q Do you know who di d?
A | don't know who put all the data

together to create the map. But | had Wod

G oup, you know, take layers off and put on there
what | wanted to put on there before | gave it to
M. -- to Dave Schroeder.
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Q And you referred to a Wod Goup. |Is
that a separate entity from Storm Cat ?

A Yes.

Q What did you ask thenf Apparently you

asked themto prepare this map?
A | asked themto give -- create a water
managenent map of Prairie Dog Creek so | could

give it to Dave Schroeder.

Q To show himwhat currently is happening
Wi th respect to water nmnagenent by the conpany?

A Correct.

Q Wth respect to the current use, did

you check this map in terns of determ ning
whet her it was accurate with all of the
designation of irrigated area?

A Have | -- no, | have not done that. I
mean, | could tell you by going out to the field,
and know ng what goes on, that |'mpretty sure
it's pretty accurate because we have to do as
bills after we put all the pipelines and the
| ocations of reservoirs and everything. So it's
GPS' d for themto create an as bill.

Q And that's the type of information that
the Whbod Group used, as you understand it, to

construct the map?
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A Yes, but it would have been pre-Wod
G oup. Al the data that was col |l ected would
have been pre-Wod Goup. It would probably have
been sone Baker enpl oyees and sone contract
enpl oyees that supplied all the data to Huber to

buil d these maps.

Q So it's been handl ed by different
conpani es and different people over the years?

A Yes.

Q And it's your understanding that the
I ntention was to give the current 2012, | think
you said April of 2012 --

A Yes.

Q -- status of the things that are shown
onit; is that right?

A Yes.

Q Did you differentiate -- did you ask

themto differentiate between what's currently
bei ng used and what's been irrigated or not
irrigated in the past?

A No, | think everything on here is
sonet hing that has been irrigated at one tine. |
didn't state, say, hey, just give ne what's being
irrigated today. | did not say that.

Q So there m ght be |lands on there that
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are not irrigated today but were at sone point in

t he past?

A Correct.

Q And did you determ ne which | ands were
currently irrigated and which ones aren't?

A | haven't sat down and went over it,
no. | nmean, we track all that, but | don't have
it. | don't know all of it.

Q And you're not sure who actually

prepared this at this Wod G oup?

A Wll, | know who did that. | know who
put the map together. He just took data that was
al ready in a database and took off |ayers and
added | ayers to give ne what | wanted, what we do
there on a daily basis, every map | need himto
do.

Q And for the record, who was that person?
A Manny Rodri guez.
Q And di d he have personal know edge of

where each of these irrigated areas were out in
the field?

A No, he would just have information that
was supplied to us when we purchased Huber in a
dat abase.

Q What was the source of that information
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i n the dat abase?

A What do you nean? You want to know
where it conme fronf

Q Yes.

A It cone fromthese guys doing -- they
take out high-quality GPSes, basically, and would
go out and when a line was installed they woul d
drive them They would map the areas. They
woul d go around each reservoir. So it's very
accurate on where everything is at.

Q These were various people over the
years doing that?

A The one guy that worked there probably
wor ked there the | ongest, Larry Bridger, was a
guy that worked there. He probably did nost of
that, and he worked there for several years. So

| can't say he did all that, but he could have

done nost of it. It m ght have been one, two,
three people. | don't know that.

Q So you don't -- mght have been M.
Bri dger, m ght have been ot her people?

A It coul d have.

Q Did they -- in building that database,

did they rely on agreenents wth the | andowners

as to where this water was supposed to go?
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A He didn't need to. There would have
been no reason he woul d have to worry about an
agreenent. We woul d have abi ded by the
agreenent, you know, whatever we nade wth the
| andowner. And he woul d have went out and GPSed
wherever we were irrigating or wherever the rest
of it was or the water lines. It would have been
done pre his going to the field.

Q Now, you testified that your purpose in
putting water into reservoirs was to -- or
irrigation systens was to further the overal
pur pose of disposing of the produced water from
t he CBM operations, correct?

A Yes.

Q And you nentioned that that was partly
achieved through infiltration and partly through

evapor ation?

A Both of them yeah.

Q Did you ever engage in any practice to
enhance evaporation, |ike aeration systens, for
| nst ance?

A No. | nean, we just -- no.

Q Just had as nuch surface area as

possi ble to evaporate as nuch as possi bl e?
A Exact | y.
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Q One of your ways that you' ve descri bed
of disposing of this water is to provide it to
irrigators to use in their operations, correct?

A Mainly it was our irrigation system
not their irrigation. The only tine we let the
| andowners use ours was in 2013. They used our
equi pnent and they nonitored the pivots and the
side rolls thensel ves.

Q | see. You have the plunmbing system
currently that's shown on the map and the -- at
the end of the plunbing, as you take it from
producing wells to disposal, are either reservoirs
or irrigation systens?

A Yes.

Q Do you know how nmuch acreage you're
irrigating right now?

A | don't know the exact nunber, no.

Q Isn't it true a lot of irrigators are
wary of putting CBM water on their existing
irrigated | ands because of water quality concerns?

A They were in the beginning. But you
tal k to anybody that we've done that to now, any
| andowner, they love it. | nean, there's
| andowners that -- there was a specific | andowner

that said, | don't want any, and he's in Prairie
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Dog Creek, which is TomPilch -- or Tom Kovet ka,
and he just took over another one that we
irrigate, which is the Huttons, and he called ne
when he first started irrigating, and he said,
this is one of the best |ands we've seen. He
said, | amnot afraid of CBMwater now. Wth
your anmendnents and everything, this stuff is
good ground. He really likes it. So nost of
them-- not nost of them all of them if they
are irrigating, they love it.

Q The ones who are taking your water,
they are fine with it. But not everybody, not
even a majority of the | andowners are using your
water; isn't that right?

A Oh, well, |andowners that we don't deal
wth could be. The ones that we irrigate on that
| know of, yeah. Not every | andowner we have is
using our water. No, because we don't need to.

Q | think I've seen that you'll put water
out on areas that have never been irrigated

before if you can find a flat enough area to put

it on?
A Yes.
Q And the water that you' re disposing has

a fairly high sodiumcontent, doesn't it?
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A Yes.

Q And that tends to seal up ground when
it gets onit. Don't you have that problemwth
your reservoir systemto sone extent? You find
t hey seal up and you have to go to other neans of
di sposal ?

A No, sonme of them slow down. | don't
think it's because of the sodium Sone of them
still infiltrate. Some of them never seal, don't
even sl ow down. Sone of themyou can put water
on them and they never fill up. But, yes, you're
right. Sodiumdoes do that. And that's why we
amend on the surface. But a lot of our
reservoirs that we've had out there for years
still infiltrate.

Q Your anmendnents that you're referring
to go to the water that you're putting out for
i rrigation punps?

A Yeah, we anend on -- yes, where we
irrigate.

MR. DRAPER  Your Honor, I'd like to
take a nonment, with your perm ssion.

SPECI AL MASTER That will be fine.

(Pause.)

MR. DRAPER  Your Honor, if | may.
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SPECI AL MASTER: Yes.

Q (By M. Draper:) M. Steir, you tal ked
alittle bit about the fact that this is a
current map, this W223 map as we' ve desi gnat ed
it inthis case. Can you tell fromthis map what
was irrigated with CBM water in 20017

A | can't specifically tell you, but, |

mean, it is on here probably.

Q Can you tell which ones were and which
ones weren't in 20017

A In 2001? No, | can't tell you which
ones were.

Q Can you do that in 20027

A No.

Q O 20047

A No.

Q O, finally, 20067

A No, | can't tell you exactly which ones.

MR. DRAPER | think that will do it

for the nonment, Your Honor.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you, M. Draper.
| just have a couple of questions, first of all,
Wth respect to the map. So this is a map that
you had Wbod G oup prepare for you?

THE WTNESS: Correct.
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SPECI AL MASTER. When did they prepare
it for you?

THE WTNESS: What did they prepare?

SPECI AL MASTER: No. Wen?

THE WTNESS: | had themdo this April
of 2012.

SPECI AL MASTER: And what did you give
themin order to prepare it?

THE WTNESS: | called himup and say,
hey, | want a map of our water nmanagenent system
Because they have all the database already built
frompre-2012. So it mght have been built in
2006, 2005, whenever sonething was new was added
into this database to build this. So | just
said, hey, | need a map of our water managenent.
| don't need any of the wells or the roads. |
j ust want water managenent, and that's basically
what he did.

SPECI AL MASTER: So it is the Wod G oup
t hat has the dat abase?

THE WTNESS: It would be stored at
their office, yes.

SPECI AL MASTER Stored. So the data
fromwhich the map was prepared is at Wod G oup,

t hen?
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THE WTNESS: They woul d have it, yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: And is there data there
as to when various fields were irrigated?

THE WTNESS: W woul d have -- yes.

SPECI AL MASTER: You woul d have t hat
dat a?

THE WTNESS: Yes, we woul d have t hat
data. | don't know how far back, but we would
have data, sone dat a.

SPECI AL MASTER: Okay. Then |I'mal so
interested the lining of reservoirs. So as |
under st and your testinony, you would prefer
unl i ned reservoirs because you get sone
infiltration wwth unlined you wouldn't with
lined; is that correct?

THE WTNESS: Correct.

SPECI AL MASTER: So |'m curious: Wy do
you have any |ined reservoirs?

THE W TNESS: Sone of them were done
because the permtting -- you didn't have to
permt -- there are certain ways to permt them

and you could do them qui cker or faster. So

people did lined reservoirs, lined pits they
called them | guess. W have never -- | have
never -- since |'ve been working with Storm Cat,
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we have never lined anything. This was done
years ago. And since |'ve been there, we've
never used any of the |iners.

SPECI AL MASTER: You' ve been there
since --

THE WTNESS: |'ve been with -- ['ve
been with Storm Cat since 2006, but we purchased
Huber in 2011.

SPECI AL MASTER: Wen you say you
haven't used any, you haven't used in your period
of time -- I'"'msorry. So at what point in tine
did you stop using the |lined reservoirs?

THE W TNESS: W never used them W
purchased Decenber 1st of 2011. W have never
used the lined reservoirs that were purchased
from Huber .

SPECI AL MASTER: And you haven't used
t hem si nce 20117

THE WTNESS: Correct. | don't know, |
can't tell you a day they quit using them |
don't know t hat.

SPECI AL MASTER: (kay. Those are the
only questions | have. M. Draper, do you have
any nore?

MR. DRAPER  Not hing further, Your
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Honor .
SPECI AL MASTER. Ckay. Thank you.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Brown:) Just a couple quick

questions, if | mght.

M. Steir, M. Draper asked you quite a
f ew questions about that map and then the speci al
mast er asked you a couple questions wth regard
to Wod G oup. Let's explore StormCat's
relationship with Wobod Group a little bit. What
rel ati onship does Storm Cat have with Wod G oup?

A They take care of our day-to-day
operations for us.

Q Tell me what that nmeans.

A It means we hire all their -- we have

of fice people to take care of invoicing, we got
punpers that go out in the field, we've got
supervi sors that supervise over them we' ve got
roust abouts that work for them Al this is
directed by tw guys, Janmes Hanson and | from
Storm Cat .

Q And so you had nentioned as a
producti on manager you supervise fol ks, right?

A Correct.

Q And the fol ks you supervise, is there
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any ot her enployees at Storm Cat that you
supervi se?

A No, they're all Wod G oup.

Q And so Wod G oup, is it your
understanding they are a contractor with Storm
Cat ?

A Basically, yes.

Q And as far as Storm Cat's operation in
Prairie Dog Creek, does Wod G oup enpl oyees

basically do all the work for Storm Cat?

A Yes.

Q And the fol ks that made this map for
you, that's one of those fol ks?

A That is one of those folks, yes.

Q And do you understand, is it your

under st andi ng that Wbod Group had the sane
relationship with J.M Huber?

A Yes.

Q And so is that why Wod G oup has the
dat abase with regard to the J.M Huber information
that Storm Cat purchased?

A That's exactly what happened, yes.

Q | think you testified that you' ve used
that map in your work, right?

A Yes.
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Q And you've used it out there as part of

your water production work?

A Yes.

Q And did you find it to be accurate in
doi ng that work?

A It's very accurate. This is what we use.

Q And | think I was pretty clear that
that's, as far as you know, since 2011, right?

A Yes.

Q M. Draper talked to you with regard to

whet her you had received conplaints from any
irrigators. Do you renenber that?

A Yes.

Q Have you ever received any conplaints
from | andowners that you were using or irrigating

CBM water with that you were using too nuch water?

A No, they ask for nore.

Q Have you ever tal ked to Tanna Ankney?
A | have tal ked to Tanna Ankney.

Q Has she ever expressed to you concerns

about using too nuch water?
A No. Because they had everything
pl ugged out on Tanna when we took over.
Q Ckay. So Storm Cat never actually did

any irrigation on Tanna's pl ace?
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A W di d not.

MR. BROMWN: That's all | have. Thank
you.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you very nuch.
You can step down. So this would be a good poi nt
for another ten-m nute break and we can cone back
for the last witness of the day.

(Recess.)

SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. M. Brown, is
M. Pilch your next w tness?

MR. BROMN: Yes, Your Honor, we would
call Joe M. Pilch. State of Wom ng would I|ike
to call Joe Pilch.

MR. DRAPER M. Wechsler will be
handl i ng our participation in the testinony.

SPECI AL MASTER: Thank vyou.

Wher eupon,

JOE PI LCH,
havi ng been first duly sworn, was exanm ned and
testified as foll ows:

DEPUTY CLERK: State your nane and
spell it for the record.

THE WTNESS: Joe Pilch, P-i-Il-c-h.

SPECI AL MASTER: Good afternoon, M.

Pi | ch.
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THE W TNESS: CGood afternoon, Your
Honor .
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
Q (By M. Brown:) Hello, M. Pilch. You
m ght want to scoot up a little bit closer to the
m cr ophone so the court reporter can hear you.
SPECI AL MASTER: You're wel cone to have

sone water any tine you'd |ike.

Q (By M. Wechsler:) Thanks for com ng
up in this whether. | appreciate it.

A | hope | get back tonorrow.

Q M. Pilch, I"'mjust going to ask you

sone general questions about your background
first. Can you tell us what your current

occupation is?

A Retired rancher, self-enployed
part-tinme now.

Q Where at? Where do you live?

A Sheri dan, Wom ng.

Q And where is your ranch?

A On Lower Prairie Dog Road, 789 Prairie
Dog Road is the physical address.

Q How | ong have you |ived in Sheridan?

A Ch, let's see, probably about 60 years
out of 74.
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So you grew up in Sheridan?
Yes.

Q
A
Q Did you grow up upon Prairie Dog Creek?
A Yes.

Q

Did you grow up in the sane place that

you' re ranchi ng today?

Yes.

You graduated high school in Sheridan?
Yes.

What did you do after high school?
Went to coll ege.

Where at?

Uni versity of Wom ng.

What did you study?

O » O » O » O >

>

Ani mal science, animal science degree.
Agricul ture.
Q So you graduated fromthe University of

Wom ng with a bachel or's degree?

A Yes.
Q What did you do after that?
A Well, cane back -- no, | got drafted in

the arnmy ny senior year in college and had to go
to Germany for two years. | hate to say, it was
a very sad day for ne 50 years ago, two years |

was in Germany where our commander in chief was
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assassi nated Texas and | had two nore nonths |eft
in the arny. Then |I cane back and ranched for a
while and then | went and went away fromthe

ranch five years, Farners Hone Administration in

Ri verton Wom ng.

Q Farnmers Hone Adm ni stration?

A Yes.

Q In Ri verton?

A Yes.

Q What did you do there?

A | was in charge of agriculture | oans,

farm ownershi p | oans, energency | oans for the
Nati ve Anericans in R verton and Lander, the

Shoshones and Arapahoes.

Q That's close to the Wnd R ver |ndian
Reservation in Wom ng?

A Yes, sir.

Q And | think you said you did that for
five years?

A Al nost five years.

Q About what tine period was that, do you
remenber ?

A '69 to ' 74.

Q So what did you do in 19747

A My dad cane over in Riverton in March
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and told ne he would need ne at the ranch and |

noved back to Sheridan. Been there ever since

t hen.

Q So you' ve been ranching on the Prairie
Dog Creek ranch since 19747

A Yes.

Q |'' mgoing to show you just a

phot ograph, and | probably should have done this
wth M. Steir, just to get a better idea where
your place is at. |I'magoing to put up on the
nonitor here a page out of M6, which was M.
Book's rebuttal report. Page 39 of M6. Do you
ki nd of recognize what's depicted in the diagram

on that screen up there, M. Pilch?

A Yes.

Q And do you recognize this to be Prairie
Dog Creek through here?

A Yes.

Q And you see here there's sone grounds

that's darkened and the nanme Pilch next to it?
A Yes.
Q | s that the | ocation of your ranch on
| ower Prairie Dog?
A Yes.

Q Can you tell us approxinmtely how many
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acres your ranch is?

A 3240 acres, total acres.

Q And it's all in that general area on --
A Yes.

Q M. Pitch, could you please wait for ne

to finish ny question before you answer?

A | " m sorry.

Q Your fine. The court reporter has a
real hard tinme witing down what we are saying if
we're tal king at the sane tine.

SPECI AL MASTER: It is difficult because
we are used to tal king over each other a |ot of
the time. 1t's not necessarily natural but it's

really inportant for the record.

Q (By M. Brown:) So | think you said
3240 acres.

A Yes.

Q And do you know approxi mately how many

acres you have that are irrigated?

A Approxi mately 180 to 200, sonewhere
around that vicinity.

Q Sonewher e around 2007

A Yes.

Q Do you raise cattle?

A No, not now.
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Q Did you used to?

A Yes.

Q When did you stop that?

A | n 2001.

Q You were here for M. Steir's

testinony; is that right?

A Yes.
Q And we've discussed irrigation of sone
of your property with CBMwater. |Is sone of your

property irrigated with CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q |s there -- was there a conpany that
you dealt with as far as irrigation wth CBM

water prior to Storm Cat?

A Yes.

Q Who was t hat?

A J.M Huber.

Q And when did it change fromJ. M Huber
over to Storm Cat ?

A Oh, | think it was the end of Decenber
of 2011, if | recall.

Q Do you recall when CBM water was first
used to irrigate your property?

A Let's see, they started probably 2002,
2003.
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Q Ckay. Wien J.M Huber cane to irrigate
your property with CBMwater, was it all done at
the sanme tinme or did it kind of phase in with
CBw?

A They did pretty fast. Took probably
about, |'d say, three, four years. Pretty fast.
Q And so fromthe tine they started using

CBM wat er on your property it took three to four

years for all of the CBMwater to be installed?

A Yes.

Q How i s that CBM water applied on your
property?

A Through side rolls, pivots, and | atest

I's big guns now, but nostly it was side rolls and

pi vots.

Q And prior to CBM being used to irrigate
your property, did you use center pivots?

A | don't understand.

Q Did you irrigate there sanme property
prior to the CBM water?

A No, not with -- pivots you talking
about ? No. W flood irrigate prior to CBM
wat er .

Q So prior to the land being irrigated

with CBMwater, you flood irrigated?
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Yes.

Did you flood irrigate out of ditches?
Yes.

So you didn't use center pivots?

No.

Did you have any side roll sprinklers?
Yes, one.

And tell us fromthe north to south on

O » O » O » O >

your place where was that?

A Located on the south side of the ranch.
Q And you only had one?

A One.

Q When the CBM water cane to be applied

inirrigation on your property, did the CBM
conpany by that irrigation equi pnent?

A They bought sonme. But to speed the
process, we will to buy sone 2002 or '3, we
bought them side rolls for the irrigation to
irrigate the land with water rights. Started
tearing up all the ditches with the |and pl an,
and fromthe pivots we did buy there. Al the
other side roads and the hills and | and, w nter
wheat, wnter fields of alfalfa, they bought that.

Q Ckay. There's a lot of information on

what you just said there. And you described side
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rolls and pivots for winter wheat up in the

hills. Did |l say that accurately?

A Yes.

Q Descri be that for us. What do you nean
by that?

A We rai sed about 500 acres of w nter

wheat, 250 acres in each year. W quit raising
wi nter wheat in 2000. Then we put it all into
dry land alfalfa. Like 40-acre fields, 50-acres
fields, and we put in alfalfa and grass m xture.
And | ater after that, we relied on nother nature
for water. They cane in 2003, '4, '5, '6 with
pivots and side rolls.
Q Wth regard to the winter wheat, is

that on property that you don't have other water

rights for?

A Yes.

Q Sois the only tinme that that property
ever received water was it CBM water?

A Yes.

Q Then later in the statenents you j ust

made, you said the side rolls and pivots, is that
on your land along Prairie Dog Creek?

A Yes, they started that first.

Q kay.
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A Then t hey expanded.

Q kay. Wth regard to the side rolls
and the center pivots and the big guns that the
CBM conpani es used to irrigate your property with
CBA water, are you able to put Prairie Dog Creek

wat er into that equi pnent?

A No.

Q Why not ?

A W didn't tie it in. How are we going
todoit? W were told we couldn't do it. So

that's fromJ. M Huber.

Q So since the tine that that equi pnent
was installed, you ve not been able to put any of
our other water rights water into that equi pnent?

A Yes, that's correct. W tried to and
t hey woul dn't |et us.

Q What is your experience with how nmuch
water J.M Huber used to irrigate your property?
Was it too nmuch, too little?

A | think it was sone years wasn't too
bad. Sone years they over irrigated. Then they
finally got regulation after nmy brother -- there
are three of us are on the ranch. It's Pilch
Ranch, LLC. Through ny brother and I we kind of
told them pivots go around and they get stuck in
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a hol e. It's hard on hay fields, hard on dry

| and fields. And then side rolls, they had
irrigators, contract irrigators out, and we told
themto nove and cycle it every 12 hours. \Wen
we had side rolls we would do it nore. Wen you
flood irrigate, set sone to go fours, sone set
for six, sone set fast. W kind of guided them
t 00.

Q CGeneral |y, what was your experience
with irrigation with CBM wat er? Did you Ilike
it?

A Yes.

Q Let nme back up a little bit. You
menti oned sonething with regard to Pilch Ranch
LLC, is that right?

A That's correct.

Q | s that actually who owns the property
that you irrigate?

A Yes.

Q Who is involved with that conpany?

A | am the agent. My brother Ed and ny

sister Marilyn, we were brothers and sisters.
Br ot her and sister.
Q And so the three of you siblings own

t he ranch now?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4576

A Yes.

Q Have your parents passed?

A Yes.

Q What kind of crops do you grow with the
CBM wat er ?

A Al falfa, grass m xture only.

Q No ot her crops?

A No.

Q Do you harvest the crop that's grown
with the CBM water or does the CBM conpany?

A CBM conpani es do not harvest. I n 2005
or '6 we did the harvesting and then we sold our
equi pnent, hayi ng equi pnent. W | ease it out.

Q But the CBM conpany doesn't harvest?

A Never di d.

Q How do you coordinate with the CBM

conpany as far as when it's tine to harvest?

A W tell thembetter shut the sprinklers
of f about a week before we going to get in the
fields, probably m ddl e of June.

Q Do you recall if you had any witten
agreenents with any CBM conpany with regard to
the use of CBM water on your property?

A W have a lots of agreenents with

sprinkler systens, soil testing, potash -- not
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pot ash, gypsum and sul fur. There's equi pnent
repairs and so forth. W got a |list, probably a
stack full of it fromall different types of
agreenents.

Q Ckay.

A The right-of -ways, what they can do,
what they are can't do. Stay out of the hay
fields, damaging the crops. They cannot drive,

t hey can wal k, or use a four wheeler.

Q What ' s your understandi ng of those
agreenents and the CBM conpani es use of water on
your property?

A | don't understand.

Q Does it describe who is in control of
the irrigation and how nuch they can use and

t hi ngs of nature, do you know?

A No.
Q O is it nore sinple?
A W let themhandle it. | nean, the

nmet hane conpani es.
Q |"' m going to show you ever the sane
phot ograph that | showed M. Steir.
Do you recognize the land that's
depicted in that photograph?
A Yes, Pilch Ranch, LLC
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Q And is that your property on Prairie
Dog Creek?

A Yes.

Q Do you recogni ze the fields there as

your fields on Prairie Dog Creek?

A Yes.

Q What 1'd like so do, M. Pilch, |ook at
each of these individual fields, and then |'m
goi ng to ask you whether or not they were

irrigated with CBMwater at a particular point in

time. Okay.
A kay.
Q So if you need to reference back to the

photo in your hand, please do. OQherwise |I'm
going to be indicating and you'll be able to see
on the screen up here. kay?

A kay.

Q And I1'mgoing to start down in the
| ower | eft-hand corner of the photograph. And is
that Prairie Dog creek that runs through the
phot ograph up to the upper right-hand corner of
t he picture? So like this, is that Prairie Dog
Creek that generally runs through there?

A Yes.

Q Do you have | and on both sides of the
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creek?
A Yes.
Q | want to take a look at this field

right here. Do you see where |'mindicating?

A Yes.

Q Was that field irrigated wth CBM wat er ?
A Yes.

Q How about --

SPECI AL MASTER: |'m sorry, just so the
record is clear later on, to the degree you can
wi Il reference anything in the way of |andmarks
in that particular case, the field that's marked
15. 4 acres that, would be hel pful.

Q (By M. Brown:) Yes, sir. And, M.
Pilch, that field that | was just pointing to has
got a |abel on there, 15.4 acres. Do you see
t hat ?

A Yes.

Q And has that field been irrigated with
CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q Do you know whet her or not that field
was irrigated with CBMwater in the 20047

A Yes.

Q It was?
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A Yes.

Q Do you know if it was irrigated with
CBM water in 20067

A Yes.

Q (kay. Let's npbve up so we are novi ng

down Prairie Dog Creek, and I'mgoing to indicate
the next field up here that's generally marked
with 31 acres and it's a rectangul ar shaped

field. Do you see that field I'mindicating?

A Yes.

Q And has that field been irrigated with
CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q Do you know if that field was irrigated
with CBMwater in 20047

A Yes.

Q Do you know if that field was irrigated
with CBMwater in 20067

A Yes.

Q |"mgoing to nove down Prairie Dog

Creek sonme nore and |'mindicating the southern

pi vot or southern circle that's on here. Do you

see it?
A Yes.
Q Has that field been irrigated with CBM
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above or

of that pivot that we were just tal king about

there's a triangle shape. Do you see that?

A

Q
A
Q
A

Q

shape was
A
Q
whi ch one
A
Q

with side

down the creek. Just to the right hand

Was that field irrigated wth CBM wat er

Was that field irrigated wwth CBMin

Yes.

Ckay. And |I'mgoing to nove up just

Yes.

|s that irrigated with CBM wat er ?
Yes.

How is that irrigated, do you know?
Side roll.

Ckay. And do you know if that triangle
irrigated with CBM water in 20047
VWi ch one?

Look up on the screen, |I'm show ng
| "' m pointing at?

Yes. (Ckay. Yes.

kay. You think that was irrigated

roll?
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A That's a side roll.

Q kay. Do you know if that was
irrigated with CBM water in 20047

A Yes.

Q And let's nove across between the two

pivots or the other side next to Prairie Dog

Creek. And there's a funny-shaped parcel. Do

see that?

A Yes.

Q And it's directly adjacent to the
northern pivot, right?

A Yes.

Q Has that been irrigated with CBM wat er ?

A Yes.

Q Do you know if that was irrigated wth
CBM water in 20047

A Yes.

Q It was?

A Yes.

Q Was it irrigated wwth CBMwater in 20067

A Yes.

Q Let's nove to the northern pivot. Do

you see that one?
A Yes.

Q Has that been irrigated with CBM water?
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A Yes.
Q Was it irrigated wwth CBM water in 20047
A Yes.
Q Was it irrigated wwth CBMwater in 20067
A Yes.

Q Ckay. And the field that is directly
to the northeast of that northern pivot, do you

see that shape?

A Yes.
Q That has that been irrigated wth CBM
wat er ?

A Yes.

Q Was it irrigated wwth CBMwater in 20047
A Yes.

Q Was it irrigated wwth CBMwater in 20067
A Yes.

Q Now, let's junp across and up here to

the very northern portion of your fields depicted
on this photo. There's a rectangul ar-shaped
field that's identified with the No. 23.9 acres.
Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Can you tell nme if that field has been
irrigated with CBM wat er ?

A Yes.
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Q Was it irrigated wwth CBMwater in 20047
A Yes.

Q Was it irrigated wwth CBMwater in 20067
A Yes.

Q Now, let's back up a little bit. Let's

nove back down to the southwestern field where
Prairie Dog Creek enters into this photograph,
close to the field that's identified wth 15. 47

acres. Do you see that?

A Yes.
Q Now, there's sone area that is outside
the blue printer area. Do you see that? It's

wthin the black |ine.

A Bl ack |ine?

Q Do you see kind of in between these
areas?

A Yes.

Q That's in between the blue perineter
area and the black perineter area. Did you do

any other additional irrigation in there besides

CBM water in tw thousand --

A No.

Q So any in 2004, 20067

A No.

Q Let's take a | ook at the next field
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noving to the northwest -- northeast, excuse ne.
It's next to the rectangular field identified
with 31 acres. Do you see that? | ' mtal king

about the land through here. So it's just to the

left. | guess that would be the northwest of
the rectangul ar field. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you irrigate that --

A W did --

Q -- parcel ?

A Excuse ne.

Q Do you irrigate that parcel?

A Along tine ago | did.

Q What do nean by a long tine ago?

A W put it in 2001, '3, and '4.

Q So you think that this area al ong here

that I"'mindicating just to the northwest of that
rectangle field identified wwth 31 acres, you
think you irrigated that with Prairie Dog water?
A Yes, we had a ditch going through
there, and that was part -- the reason we did it
because the side rolls wouldn't get close enough
to the creek. So we had to ditch to flood
irrigate. And the reason we did it for a couple

years and then we just gave up. It was kind of a
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waste of tinme and noney.

Q

But that general

irrigated in 20047

A
Q

that with?

A
Q

Is this the creek that

Yes.

area you think you

And you used Prairie Dog water to do

Yes.

Ckay. And let's junp across the creek.

runs through here next to

what appears to be this house?

A
Q

Yes.

And it's a parcel

actually the permt nunber

t hat ,
A

Q
A

rest is hills.

Q

Yes.

that's | abeled with
P216228B, do you see

it's | abel ed at 29 acres?

Have you ever irrigated that parcel?

Where you get 29 acres? 2 acres. The

Bi g steep banks.

So anywhere within that 29 acres have

you irrigated?

A

Q
A
Q
A

No. Can't.

(kay. And you see this house right here?

Yes.

Whose house is that?

The mai n ranch house.
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Q So wthin that 29 acre parcel the
structure is the main ranch house?

A Yes.

Q And have you ever irrigated in that
area just to the southwest of the main ranch
house?

A Yes.

Q Do you know if you irrigated that in
20047

A Yes.

Q Are did you irrigate it in 20067

A | think we quit because when ny fol ks

were alive, we added on to the house and she
didn't want no water going down by the house.
And '50 years when | was growi ng up, we woul d
punp water out of the basenent because we let the
water too long in the field. The foundation, we
didn't have vapor barriers. We deci ded j ust
kind of safe for ny sister, we agreed we would
quit irrigating that and we bypassed it.

Q Ckay. So you think you did irrigate a

portion of this --

A About five, six acres.
Q Five or six acres in the 29-acre piece?
A Yes.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4588

Q I n 2004 but not 20067?

A No. But we did -- there's another
field down there by the creek over there, we
irrigate that, too. That's part of the
irrigation, too, of the ditch.

Q We'll nove up and down the creek. D d
you have a question?

SPECI AL MASTER: Yes. Only because |
was | ooking at the map and trying to foll ow on
the map as you were speaking rather than watching
what you were actually locating up there. \Were
Is the area that was not irrigated according to
this?

MR BROMWN: In what tine period?

SPECI AL MASTER: There was a period the
W tness testified you can't irrigate this.

THE WTNESS: Go ahead.

Q (By M. Brown:) M. Pilch, inthis
area, in polygon, this rather funny-shaped
pol ygon, identified as 29 acres, are you able to
irrigate all of that 29 acres?

A No.

Q And what portion of that 29 acres are
you able to irrigate? |Is it just this area bel ow

t he house?
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A That we cannot irrigate that. W can
irrigate but we decided not to irrigate at the

present tine.

Q But in 2004 you irrigated sonewhere in
this area?

A Yes.

Q And how many acres in 2004 do you think
you irrigated?

A | think around five acres, five, siXx
acres, sonmewhere around there. | don't have ny
U S. DA mp.

Q Does your U.S.D. A nmap indicate how
many acres you irrigated in 2006 or '4?

A Sanme ranch.

Q Let's nove over to, and it's still
within that 29 acre parcel. But do you see what

| ooks like this ox bow and Prairie Dog Creek?
A Yes.
Q You see this field that points out here

just directly east of the main ranch house?

A Yes.

Q Do you irrigate that?

A Yes. It's tall grass. W call it bul
pasture grass for horses and so forth. | would

irrigate it during the sumer.
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Q And did you irrigate that in 2004?
A Yes.

Q And did you irrigate that in 2006?
A Yes.

Q

And let's just nove directly north of
that ox bow and Prairie Dog Creek takes anot her
turn back to the east. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And t hen there's another kind of
peni nsul a on that ox bow on the other side of the

creek. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you irrigate at that field?

A Yes, because that |ine, that creek,
that's an old creek channel. That's been

elimnated a long tine ago.
Q This is an old creek channel ?
A A d creek channel there. That's al

crack grass and swanp.

Q So the ox bowis no |longer the creek
channel ?
A No, creek goes straight across now W

irrigate it fromthe west side of the house, the
ot her side of the creek.

Q But you did you irrigate --
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A Yep.

Q You have to wait for ne to get done.

A Al right.

Q Did you irrigate that particul ar parce
in 20047

A Yes.

Q And did you irrigate in 20067

A Yes.

Q If you'll take a | ook, and you see the

two center pivots that are depicted on this
phot 0? Ri ght ?

A Yes.

Q That you said are irrigated with CBM
wat er ?

A Yes.

Q You see this open area that's just to

t he west of the southern pivot. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q It's between Prairie Dog Creek and the
sout hern pivot ?

A Yes.

Q Do you irrigate that?

A Not with creek water.

Q Ckay. So --

A The big guns and pivots, they pretty
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cl ose down there. But you don't want to get too
cl ose to the creek bank.
Q Ckay. | wanted to nake sure, you don't

irrigate any of that Prairie Dog water?

A No. We used to.

Q Ckay. Prior to CBW?

A Yes.

Q Let's nove up to the north.

MR. WECHSLER: Can you point out where
t hat was agai n?

MR BROWN. | was just | ooking, you see
the red circle doesn't extend all the way over
here. | was just interested to see if there was
sone additional irrigation going on in the area
directly to the west of that southern pivot. |
don't know how to better describe that.

MR, WECHSLER: But excluding the ox
bow?

MR. BROWN: He already said he
irrigated this.

MR. VWECHSLER: Got you. Thank you.

MR. BROMWN: And that is the ox bow
peninsula directly to the west of the southern
pivot. | don't know how to better to describe
t hat .
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MR. WECHSLER: | understand now. Thank
you.
Q (By M. Brown:) Let's nove northeast.
You see where I'mindicating is directly above
and a little to the west of the northern pivot
| ooks to be one big continuous field that is not
contained within the perineter of the black |ine.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you irrigate that field?

A Yes.

Q And do you irrigate that with Prairie
Dog Creek water?

A Yes.

Q And does that field extend all the way

down just directly top east of the field that's

mar ked 23.9 acres?

A Yes.

Q And so you irrigate all of that with
Prairie Dog Creek water?

A Yes.

Q Do you know about how many acres you

believe that is?
A Around 60 acres. 63, sonething |like
that. 65. 60, 65 acres.
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Q (kay. Let's nove directly north of
that. You see the rectangular field that's

marked with a 23.9 acres?

A Yes.
Q And then just on the | ower |eft-hand
corner of that rectangle, you wll see a little

finger that |ooks likes a field?

A Yes.
Q Do you irrigate that?
A No.
Q Do you know if the CBM water reaches
t hat ?
A No.
Q Can you -- do you have any idea why it

appears to be irrigated on this photo?

A Well, alfalfa and we put that in and
probably noisture it shows green. But it's only
about a couple acres, |'d say, because what
happens side rolls goes straight across. You go
fromthe side roll it wll cave down the ditch
bank over there. And, again, you could probably
unhook the risers and put a gun there. Two or
t hree acres.

Q But you don't irrigate that?

A No.
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Q Now, with regard to that north 23.9
acres that you said was irrigated with CBM
wat er - -

A Yes.

Q -- is that still irrigated with CBM
wat er ?

A Not this year. It mght being next
year. Depends on what water. | have no idea

what they are planning on.

Q Do you irrigate with Prairie Dog Creek
wat er then?

A No. Did along tine ago in the '40s.

Q Let's take a | ook again at that field

that's directly to the south of the 23.9 acre
rectangl e you were |ooking at. So this field
that you said that you irrigated with Prairie Dog
Creek water.

A Yes.

Q And you irrigated all the way over to
t he east hand side of that rectangular field. Do
you know what water right is associated wth that
field?

A Well, part of it -- early water rights.
Q What do you nean?
A 1800 sonet hing, 1884, '5, sonewhere
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around i n there.

Q Where is that water right from Wat's
t he source, do you know?

A Prairie Dog.

Q Do you own any shares in Prairie Dog

Ditch Conpany?
A | one own share.
Q And how many acres can you irrigate

with that one share, do you know?

A No.
Q And - -
A Two and a half acre-feet per second, or

2 cubic feet per second. And we have one share.
There's only 60 shares total in Prairie Dog.

Q s it your understandi ng that you can
irrigate that field with that Prairie Dog D tch
Conpany wat er ?

A Yes.

Q Ckay.

SPECI AL MASTER: So, M. Brown, just for
conpl et eness sake at this stage, when you were
tal king about the little triangle to the south --

MR. BROMN: This one here?

SPECI AL MASTER: Yes. You asked M.
Pilch whether that was irrigated with CBM wat er
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In 2004. You didn't say anything about 2006. |
don't know whet her you intentionally --
MR BROWN. | did not intentionally
omt that. So let nme ask.
Q (By M. Brown:) The parcel of |and
that the special naster was just tal king about is
this triangle that is just to the southeast of

the northern pivot. Do you see that, M. Pilch?

A Yes.

Q And you told us that that was irrigated
wi th CBM wat er?

A Yes.

Q Do you know if that was irrigated with
CBM wat er in 20067

A Yes.

Q Ckay.

SPECI AL MASTER: And one ot her questi on.
| notice there are things that ook |ike fields
down in the bottomleft-hand corner. You're
going to cone to that?

MR BROM: | wasn't, but | can
definitely have himtry to explain that.

SPECI AL MASTER: If it's not relevant,
don't worry about it.

MR BROM: | don't think it is.
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SPECI AL MASTER: Ckay. It's up to you.
| just wanted to nmake sure that you covered all
t he areas.
MR. BROMN: | believe |I've covered...
Q (By M. Brown:) Wen we were
di scussing all these parcels of |and on your
property, M. Pilch, did we talk about everything

that serves irrigation water?

A No.
Q W didn't tal k about everything?
A | assune there's water -- we got water

ot her places, CBM water.

Q Sur e.

A | s that what you nean? | don't
under stand what you're trying --

Q | think you said before you nentioned
that you had CBMwater up in the hills away from
Prairie Dog Creek?

A Yes.

Q | s that what you were just tal king about?
A Yes.

Q What |'masking is, at least wth your

ground down in the bottomof Prairie Dog Creek,
that's depicted in this photo, have we tal ked

about all the land that you irrigate?
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A Yes.
Q kay.
DEPUTY CLERK: What Exhibit nunber is
t hat ?
MR. BROMWN: This is fromExhibit W --
excuse ne, W2, and it is Bate stanp No. W
043250. So | guess the record is clear all that
| ong di scussion we had with regard to the aeri al
photo deals with that Bate stanp nunmber out of
M. Fritz's report.
SPECI AL MASTER: | don't see that Bate
stanp on here. But | assune it's in the report.
MR. BROMN: Yes, sir. These are better

copi es.

Q (By M. Brown:) M. Pilch, prior to
CBM wat er com ng to your property, how did you
irrigate?

A Flood irrigation by ditch.

Q Qut of ditches?

A Yes.

Q When the CBM conpany cane in with its

i rrigation equi pnent, what happened to those
di t ches?
A Got plowed in, |eveled off.

Q Are there any that remain on your

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4600

property?

A Yes.

Q How many?

A One mgj or one on the west side of the
creek.

Q And is that the ditch you used to

irrigate the field that you indicated you

irrigate wwth your Prairie Dog D tch Conpany

wat er ?
A Yes.
Q Prior to using CBM water, were you able

toirrigate all of the acres you wanted to

irrigate?

A No.

Q Why not ?

A Di dn't have enough ti ne. D dn't have
enough water. Wen you flood irrigate, we didn't
have enough dit ches. | mean, you can only nove
| ateral. | heard people say the sane thing, you

can only grow so fast. Wth side rolls or big
guns or pivots, you push a button, nove them
around. You've got to change water ever four or
five six hours. Sonetinme you put the damin the
bottom of the ditch. Go back the next norning,
the ditch is dry, or you plug up the ditch.
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There's not nuch to it.
Q | think you nentioned as part of that

there wasn't al ways enough water.

A Yes.

Q | s that true?

A Yes.

Q Have you personally ever called a

fellowirrigator and asked himto turn off so you
could get water?

A No.

Q Have you ever called the Wonm ng State
Engi neer's Ofice or anybody with them and ask

themto shut sonebody off so up could get water?

A No.

Q Why not ?

A Well, how are we going to -- ny fol ks,
we take what we get and we are happy to still be

alive. Wiy go up, where are you going to start?
| don't know. | don't want to blane sonebody
el se. Qur problemis our problem W did back

in the '40s. They | aughed at us.

Q Back in the '40s was that you maki ng
that call or your dad?

A My fol ks.

Q And it wasn't successful ?
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A No.
Q Now, we tal ked about the CBMirrigation
on your property. And we tal ked about the parcel

that you use the Prairie Dog D tch Conpany water

on. Do you know i f you have any other water
rights?

A Yes, we do.

Q Can you describe those for us?

A W have -- you nmean source of water,

| i ke Layton Smth?
Q No, let's start out with -- do you have
any other water rights out of Prairie Dog Creek

itsel f?

A Yes.

Q And describe those for us.

A | have -- small here and there. W had
301 acres. | can't find 301 acres.

Q You don't think you irrigated that many
acres?

A No.

Q Do you know if you have a 1903 right?

A Yes.

Q And do you know what ground you

irrigate wwth that right?
A No, not off hand.
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Q And do you know if you have sone post
1950 rights as well?

A Yes.

Q And do you know what ground those are
associated wth?

A Yes, across the creek. East side of
t he creek.

Q Ckay.

A | assunme that was a punp ditch or
punpi ng. | don't know if we have any on the
west side. It's hard to read the | egal
description what your water rights are, Section
3, or cross-section. | just don't pay nuch
attention to that.

SPECI AL MASTER. M. Brown, again, |I'm
t hi nki ng about the record. Across the creek
doesn't help very nmuch when |I'mreading the
record, Suprene Court is reading the record,
unl ess you know where you are starting from

MR. BROMN: Well, Your Honor, | don't
know if it's necessary to get into M. Pilch with
regard to the exact locations in sone of those
water rights. | think M. Book and M. Fritz
have | ooked at the records and they can figure

out the polygon. So | don't knowif it's really
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valuable for M. Pilch to say where the boundary
Is of those exact permts.

SPECI AL MASTER: You sai d across the
creek. | had no idea what side that neant.

Q (By M. Brown:) Well, let's clarify
for the special master. Wen you say across the
creek, which side of the creek did you nean?

A The west si de.

Q So on the west side. So that woul d be

generally in this area where the center pivots

are?

A That's the east side.

Q That is the east side. You're right.
Is this the only property on the west side?

A Yes. Al the way down.

Q Down t hrough here. Do you know what

wat er rights you have associated with this

property that's on the west side of the creek?
A | have no idea. | assune 1950s. |

don't know. | don't pay attention. | know we

have a |l ot of water rights, but | don't know

whet her -- should have sone 1890s woul d have been
better off.
Q | think you nentioned that you have

sone Lake Desnet water. Do you know how nuch
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wat er you own in Lake Desnet?

A 50 acre-feet.
Q Do you use that water every year?
A We call for it every year. Sone years

we don't. Depends on what the situation is.

Q Maybe | didn't understand. You said
you call for it every year?

A Yes.

Q But you may not use it every year?

A Yes.

Q How is it that you go about calling for

t hat water?

A Call sone -- ny sister calls sone | ady
in Gllette that we want our Lake Desnet water.
And she says, when do you want it. W want it in
July soneti ne.

Q And you said that your sister calls
sonebody in Gllette?

A No, Buffalo, | neant.

Q So you think your sister calls sonebody
in buffalo for that water?

A Yes.

Q Do you know when it usually gets called
for every year?

A It varies. In July. | nean, sone
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years we don't call. Sonme years we don't need

t hat water.

Q Do you have any idea if you called for
that water in 20047

A No, | sure don't.

Q Do you know if you called for that
water in 20067?

A | don't know.

Q | f you woul d have needed that water to

irrigate, would you have called for it?

A Yes.

Q Do you know how t he Lake Desnet water
gets into Prairie Dog Creek?

A Wel |, exchange of water from Lake
Desnet to Piney Creek, and that's part of the
Powder R ver Basin water. |t changes water use.
Am | correct?

Q Wll, is it your understanding it's an

exchange agreenent ?

A From Lake Desnet to Piney Creek.

Q Through Pi ney Creek?

A Yes.

Q Do you do anything to try to make sure

your Lake Desnet water gets to you?
A Not really.
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MR BROWN: That's all | have.
SPECI AL MASTER:  Thank you. Sorry for
nmy extra questions. | just wanted to nake sure

the record is as clear later as it is now.

MR. WECHSLER:  Your Honor, before |
start, | may clear up one point just by using one
of the joint exhibits that | doubt that you have
before you. J-61.

SPECI AL MASTER: Let's go off the record
for one second.

(Di scussion off the record.)

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Wechsler:) Thank you. Good
afternoon, M. Pilch. My nanme is Jeff Wechsler.
It's a pleasure to neet you.

A Thank you. Good to neet you.

Q You just spoke with M. Brown about
whet her or not you used your stored water in Lake
Desnet. | think there is a to clear that up.
just put before you what's been marked as J-61.

If you could turn, please, to page 12 of that
docunent. And at the very top of page 12, it
says -- there's a table, says, sharehol der
exchange water, and then it indicates Pilch

Prairie Dog. Do you see that?
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A Yes.

Q Do you understand that to be referring
to you?

A Yes.

Q And then it indicates that you own 50
acre-feet, which is what you testified to.

A Yes.

Q And then it says in 2004 you used the
50 acre-feet, correct?

A Yes.

Q So in 2004 you did call for that water;

is that right?
A | don't recall. | nean, | was busy. |
don't know what happened. W have irrigation was

going in, the ground was being put back in by

J.M Huber and side rolls and pivots. | don't
know if we did or not. | can't answer that.
Q Fai r enough. | will just represent

that | think J-62 is the 2006 hydrographer's
report and we can | ook there and see what the
record shows as far as your use of Lake Desnet
wat er .

So, M. Pilch, I understand that we are
t al ki ng about a nunber of years from | ong ago.

Unfortunately, we are very concerned about those
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years and so we have to jog your nenory about
them My understandi ng from having heard you
t oday and al so having read your deposition, you
don't have a great nenory for exactly when you

started using CBM water on your property; is that

correct?
A Yeah, but you had it witten down on a
book soneplace. | nean, you hear verbal, you

know, 2001, '2, '3, "4, it changes fast and
furious. |I'msorry about that. | just don't
recal | .

Q No problem And you don't have any
docunments sl owi ng exactly when the CBM started on
your property, right?

A | don't have docunents, but | know what
year they started in 1999 and 2000. The water

was being put in prior to 2004. | do know that.
But | don't know when exactly it all got conpl eted.
Q I n your deposition you actually said,
well, the water started maybe in 2003, maybe
2004, and nmaybe 2005; is that right?
A Yes. But | researched that out with
2003 when | got close to full production in 2004.
Q So what did you research?
A | went to a irrigator contractor that
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put -- sold equipnent to the pivots and side
rolls. W bought the side rolls in 2002 and '3,
and J.M Huber put in the side rolls and pivots
in 2003 and it was all production in 2003 and
2004 on the Prairie Dog Creek and they will kept

going all at once.

Q Now you -- in 1999 was when CBM started
on your property?

A Yes.

Q That's when you signed the | eases,
correct?

A My nom di d.

Q Your nom signed the | eases. W don't

have a copy of those |leases; is that right?

A | "' m not aware of them | have no
| dea. It was really J.M Huber right off the
bat. It m ght have been original contract, |

mean, and J.M Huber, they are gone. Maybe
Storm Cat storm has them | have no idea where

to get a hold of that.

Q In 1999 they started the process of
putting in the CBMwells; is that right?
A Yes, as | think about it, about --

that's when they had the | eases, we had a |ot of

things to get agreenent first. And it goes down
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in 2002, '3, '4, and so forth. | nean, how they
were going to do with their water. W just |et

t hem do, and we had agreenents, we had oral
agreenents, and then we had witten agreenents,
and then we had anmendnents and so forth.

found out in 2003 and "4 it was full blast. Then

they start spreading out on the dry | ands.

Q Right. So in '99, 2000 they start
putting in the CBMwells, correct?

A Yes.

Q And then after that the CBM wells
started to increase on your property?

A Yes.

Q So they didn't all cone all at once,
ri ght?

A Yes.

Q And they al so needed to do sonething

wth the water. So they gradually started to put

in reservoirs, right?

A Correct.

Q And electric lines, correct?

A Correct.

Q And they had to be putting in irrigation

equi pnent, right?
A Correct.
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Q So starting in 2003 they gradually
started to ranp up their irrigation on your
property, right?

A Yes.

Q And so in 2003 they weren't doing a
hundred percent of the property that they are
doi ng, say -- well, what do you consider the
maxi mumtinme that they did CBW? | n ot her words,

t he nbost acres?

A | think they did it all within a matter
of 2000 to 2004. 2005 maybe on the dry | and
from-- as the wells, they started on Section 3,

4, and then they went east, they went and added
wheat fields later on. That's after 2004.

Q So getting back to nmy question, ny
guestion, | nean to be really tal king about the
irrigated land along Prairie Dog Creek. So |'m
ask you to just set aside the upland part of your

property, which isn't really relevant for our

pur poses.
A | agree with that.
Q So in "03 they start doing irrigation.

And then they are gradually ranping up their
irrigation, right?
A Yes.
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Q And t hat happened over a couple of years?
A From 2002 to 2004.
Q So you keep sayi ng 2002. Now your in

deposition --
A | nean, they go, about 2004 cane in was

already having irrigation on the irrigated | and.

Q But not the entire portion, right?

A O what ?

Q O your irrigated | and.

A Yes.

Q You think that in 2004 they had all of

the irrigation done?

A Wth water rights. You nean all the
honme ranch?

Q | "' m asking you, let's say in 2008 you
testified wwth M. Brown, you testified to --
basi cally, you wal ked through and all of the
areas wth the red cross hatches, right?

A Yes.

Q And you said those were irrigated in
2004. Now i n your deposition what you said
maybe 90 percent of those were irrigated in 2004.

A | researched it. | was off 10 percent.
| researched it out and found out | was 2003.

Q 2003 was 90 percent of this?
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A Yes.

Q So in 2001 and 2002 no irrigation from
CBM water; is that right?

A No, because it took themthat long to
get into production in water. They can't do it
overnight. This took about two or three years.
They started off on this because they wanted it
for irrigated | and for what we have crops on and
t hen they spread out.

Q So your testinony today is in 2001 and
2002 there was no CBM water used for irrigation

on your property, right?

A No. Correct.
Q 2003 there was maybe 90 percent. So
today you're telling us, well, hundred percent of

what's shown here was irrigated with CBM wat er ?
A That's what -- | say it's hundred
percent in -- by 2004 cane in we had hundred

percent irrigated on 2004.

Q You're the last irrigator on Prairie
Dog Creek, right?

A Yes.

Q And - -

A Well, there is one ranch below us. The

ol d Trenbass pl ace. They' ve just had fl ood
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water rights. There was one ranch bel ow us.
We're only about three mles fromthem They
said they had flood water rights. They don't buy
water rights or anything fromPrairie Dog
shar ehol ders. What | understood back in the '40
and '50s they had flood water rights. Wat flood
water rights, at that tinme the water conm ssioner
said that wasn't |eft over to go here. That's
fl ood water yet.

Q So | think ny only question really was,
and | appreciate all the history, but nmy only
guestion was really it sounds |like you're the

second-to-last irrigator on Prairie Dog Creek; is

that right?
A Yes.
Q So there's one below you and their nane

Is Trenbass. So you' ve been there quite a |ong

time, right?

A Correct.

Q In recent years there's no return flows
in Prairie Dog Creek, right?

A Yes.

Q There were in the past?
A Yes.
Q

But there aren't any nore, right?
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A Yes.

Q Now, as | understand it, there's direct
fl ow avail able to you down at the bottom of
Prairie Dog Creek up until sonetine in July, and
It sounds like that's when you called for your
stored water; is that right?

A Ri ght .

Q You testified wth M. Brown you' ve
never seen a water comm ssioner in Prairie Dog
Creek, right?

A Correct.

Q And you've never --

A | haven't maybe. | haven't talked to
anybody.

Q You're not aware of any regulation

bei ng done by the State of Wom ng?

A No.

Q And you haven't asked anybody to shut
down since the 1940s, is ny understandi ng?

A No.

Q s that right?

A Correct.

Q You testified wth M. Brown that your
total irrigation was 200 acres. | understood

havi ng | ooked at your water rights the total
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irrigation that you do, if you're irrigating all

of your acres, is nore |ike 300 acres. |s that
right?
A Yes, that's because of the dry | and

pivots and side rolls are nethane water.

Q | under st and. | "' m not neking a
di stinction between the source of water. |'m
just trying to get a handle, ny arns around what
the total irrigated acres of your ranch is. And
my understanding it's 300 acres; is that right?

A Right. Well, with the water rights,
are you tal king about water rights?

Q Shown here in the fields that you went
over with M. Brown, which is a figure from M.
Fritz's report, that is nmarked as Wr 043250, all
of those fields that you ever went over with M.

Brown actually total up to 300 acres; is that

right?

A Not down in here they don't.

Q They don't. So you think this is just
200 acres?

A | say 180, 200 acres. Sone nmaps, ny
U S D.A  shows nore acres than this. Aeri al
photos, | have no idea how they cone up with

this. My best know edge of all the years back
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in the '50s and '60s, | had all these fields
marked with a grain drill. W were pretty
close. \What they tell nme right here, it says, 23
acres. | always called it 34 acres.

Q Is it fair to say you don't know
exactly how many acres you're irrigating?

A Plus or mnus. | don't know. M
concern about this is this shows |ess water on
here than acres for these fields. They draw maps
t hat way, | guess. | have no idea how they cone
up with different figures.

Q | al so understand you do not understand
fully what permts you use on your |ands; is that
right?

A What do you nean?

Q Do you understand your water right
permt and where you use that water?

A | don't know exactly where. | do know

we do have permts for water on appropriated | and.

Q You understand you have permts, right?
A Yes.
Q You don't know exactly which ones of

these lands are identified with which permts?
A | used to. | don't have ny map with
nme that says 1884 water right, 1907, 1903. |
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just -- it's down around the creek, | do know
t hat .

Q Fair enough. Wen you're irrigating
you're able to refer to that docunent, right?

A Yes.

Q Sitting here today you can't hel p us
figure out exactly where which water rights are
associ ated with which acreage, right?

A That's correct.

Q You don't have any neasuring device on
any of your diversions, correct?

A No.

Q And you use water fromthe tributaries
when it's available, right?

A Correct.

Q | want to talk a little bit about the
stored water before | nove back to the CBM |
under stand you have 50 shares of water from Lake
Desnet, right?

A 50 acre-feet.

Q 50 acre-feet. |Is that equivalent to 50
shar es?

A | have no idea. | call it 50 acre-feet.

Q You don't know the details of the

permt for the exchange water, right?
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A | probably heard it once before but |
can't renenber right now
Q We don't have any docunents you can

| ook at about that?

A | don't know. | don't have any.

Q Soneone - -

A Sonebody could find out if they wanted
to.

Q Soneone from your operation calls for

t hat water every year?

A Yes.

Q Who do they call?

A Sonebody in Buffalo. M nbomused to do
t hat . W leave it to ny sister. | say, nake

sure you call for water for Lake Desnet. Wet her
she did or not, | have no idea. They told her we
didn't have to call. |s it better to say if we
use it or don't use it.

Q You don't have any records rel ated that

exchange water, right?

A No.

Q Do you know how long it takes for the
water to get from Piney Creek down to your
property?

A No.
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Q Do you know if there's any transit
| 0Ss?

A No, but it don't raise it, the water up
any.

Q |" msorry?

A We call for 50 acre-feet of water,

generally the creek doesn't rise. So we assune
that we have 50 acre-feet com ng and we can use
it.

Q And then you just go ahead and use your
wat er ?

A W use it. A lot of tines there's not
enough water to use it. W just -- 50 years ago

everybody had flood irrigation. W had overfl ow
fromone ditch and hay fields goes back in
Prairie Dog. |t kept regenerating. Now there's
so many sprinklers and so many pivots, it don't

gener at e enough under ground st orage water.

Q Makes it hard on the down stream user
i ke you?
A Yeah. |If you're up, you got all the

wat er you want.
Q Sounds |i ke there's not nuch control
above you; is that right?

A No, nust not be, because -- | shouldn't
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say we had a lot of water, Prairie Dog or
storage, they had too nuch water going over. So
they had to cut down to 60 acre-feet of water.
60 sharehol ders. That was it. Used to be around
80 or 90. That kind of reduces the flow of the
stream But generally Prairie Dog is early
spring and | ate sumer and August, Septenber,
it's alot of water. And then you put cattle on
the creek and start freezing over, what happens
to your ground?

Q But there's becone | ess and | ess water
avai l able to you as that downstreamthe user are
right?

A Ri ght .

Q Your awful close to the state |ine?
A Yes.

Q &oi ng back to that Lake Desnet water,

I n any given year do you know how much water that
Lake Desnet water you've used?
A No.
Q You don't know t hroughout the
i rrigation season how nuch you've used, right?
A No, have know way to control. Use
just use 50 acre-feet of it.

Q Nobody ever cones and tells you how
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much you' ve used?

A No.

Q Do you get a receipt at the end of the
year ?

A No. Receipt, we paid for it. 50
acres, we call for it. That's our receipt. |
have know i dea how they nonitor it. | don't
know. | can't answer that question.

Q So you don't get a report at the end of
t he year?

A No. Unl ess sonebody el se does. |

haven't no know edge about it.
Q Turning fromthe storage water, let's
go over to that CBM Now, you don't keep records

of your water use, correct?

A Yes.

Q You al so don't keep records of the CBM
wat er that was used on your property?

A No, but we don't have records. They
have the records. | nean, what do you nean
records?

Q Docunents that i ndicate how nmuch water,

CBM wat er, was actually used on your property.
A No.

Q So there is no docunent to hel p your
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menory to show exactly which year?

A Maybe they do. | don't know. | have
no i dea what their regul ations are.

Q You' re not aware of any docunents?

A No.

Q You actually -- as | understand it, you

actually | ooked for those docunents before your

deposition, right?

A Yes.

Q You didn't find any?

A No.

Q | understand the agreenent that you had

wi th Huber, that was a verbal agreenent, right?

A It was until 2004,

Q In 2004 it becane a witten agreenent?

A Yes. W had an anendnent to it.

Q What changed?

A The witing that we all agreed, it's a
writing, ny brother and I, we signed a docunent

that all the verbal agreenents wll stand in
order when nethane started in 1999 to present and
t hen continue on agreenents we had, |ike,
Irrigation equi pnment, reservoirs, pits, blinds,

el ectric lines, right-of-ways, easenents,

roadways, what we agreed to, what we got paid
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for, so many dollars per rod for roadways and so
forth. W finally got that in witing.

Q I n 2004 when they cane to you and gave
you a witten agreenent, were they adding sone
acreage to the property?

A No.

Q The docunent that you're tal king about,
are those ones that you have since found since

your deposition?

A Yes. | went and got them
Q You got them fronf
A From West ern Wat er Resources. | was

| ooking for the years what the water was and so
forth. W had to have sonepl ace, could be
accountant's office or lawer's office. It's the
sane docunent that ny brother and | signed in
2004. | had it, but | thought | better find
mne. |t mght be this place or gone. M ght be
still in ny possession. | got one now.

Q So in your deposition you described how
as the CBM water was comng in over a nunber of
years, you were irrigating acreage, and then as
they would cone in and fill in that acreage, they
woul d take that over and then you woul d stop

irrigating; is that right?
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A
Q

| don't follow what you're saying.

| nmean to say, when CBMfirst cane in,

they weren't irrigating all your acreage, correct?

A
Q

Correct.
And the acreage that the CBM was not

irrigating, you were irrigating, correct?

A
Q
| and?

A
Q

Correct.
And you were flood irrigating that

Yes.

And then over a period of years CBM

cane in and irrigated nore | and, correct?

A
Q

par cel

Correct.
And when they started irrigating a

of land, then you would stop irrigating

t hat parcel ?

A

No, we didn't -- we didn't -- when they

irrigated across the creek, east side of the

cr eek,

they did the whol e thing. W didn't do

anyt hi ng except go by the west side, and we fl ood

irrigate, that's the only ditch we had. That

was it.

We didn't touch -- Huber, when they put

that in, that's their problem W bought the

side rolls, they put the service in, the side

rolls.

W didn't mx up with them peri od.
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Q | understand. So once they started
irrigating a field, that was their field to
irrigate and you noved on and irrigated different
acreage, right?

A Sane on the appropriated water rights.
But they would irrigate. Because that was -- we
knew we could do that because it was a | ong
narrow field and it was down of the west side of
t he house, we told themwe don't want no |i nes,
no wells, ny nomput a stop to all that. No
wells within 500 yards of the house and do not go
in hay fields, and so forth. And we did. That's
our agreenent. Witten agreenent. They can do
what ever they want, except roadways, but not in
our irrigated croplands which we have water
rights for period.

Q The acreage that's not irrigated by
CBM in your deposition you said you will think
it's approxi mately somewhere between 70 and 100

acres, right?

A Yes.
Q And you irrigated that 70 to 100 acres --
A Well, really, not 70 to 100. | think

It was around 65. Probably around -- well, we

had 45, this here they say is only 45 acres. I
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al ways said 66 acres. So there you go.

Q So you're not exactly sure how many
acres, right?

A Well, 60, 70 range. That's our water
rights. So nethane don't have anything to do
with that.

Q Have you ever had that acreage surveyed?
A Oh, yeah, we done it so many different
tines. Li ke this map here, everything surveyed,

aerial photos, | had U S. D. A, one field says 45
acres, one says 62 acres, one says 64. Depends
how it is on the creek. A lot of these fields on
the creek i s wastel and.

Q Unfortunately, we don't have the
benefit of those surveys here today. And so
you're telling us it is make 60, 70, nmaybe nore
acres; is that right?

A O what ?

Q O the land that is not irrigated by
CBw?

A Yes. If | would say, it would be
between 50 to 70 acres.

Q And that acreage was irrigated every
single year, right?

A Yes.
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Q | ncl udi ng 2004 and 20067
A Yes.
Q So you wal ked through these years on

all of this acreage with M. Brown, 2004 and
2006.

A H mh-mm

Q | don't need to wal k through every
single field. But I want to ask you, all of
t hose acres that are not irrigated by CBM those

were irrigated by you in 2001 and 2002, right?

A Yes.

Q And they were irrigated by you in every
year besides 2004, right?

A Ri ght .

Q And if you had water avail able, you
used it, right?

A Yes, not with the CBM Prairie Dog.

Q Ri ght. You used your other water
rights, your other sources. And it wasn't CBM
wat er ?

A We had no trouble there. We had only

50, 60 acres. Trying to irrigate 200 acres
w thout CBMwe'd be in big trouble. W'd still be
irrigating until Christnas.

Q The CBM wat er has a high FAR right?

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4630

A Correct.

Q What do you understand FAR to be?

A H gh in salt and sodi um

Q Does that have an inpact on the soil?
A Yes, it wll. That's why we have an

agreenent with sulfur and gypsum That one tract
of land, | can tell you where the gypsumpile is
on the map.

Q Sure. Let ne give you a pointer.
There's a button there you can use. You can show
us where the pile is.

A Ri ght there, that's not our property.
Ri ght there, that's gypsumright there. That's
a bridge. There's a corner section right there
I s sonebody el se's property. Goes right down
t hr ough here.

Q Does that hel p?

A Ri ght at the corner in here. It's on
the edge of it. Part of the Pilch Ranch. Hard
to read the map. Right in here. R ght in there.
That's where the gypsumis |located. W irrigate

t hat not any nore.

Q That's because it has --
A Sul fur and gypsum
Q That's for the treatnent fromthe CBM
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wat er ?

A Yes.

Q And do you understand that there are
other irrigators who don't like to use CBM wat er?

A | don't know. | haven't heard anybody.

Q You don't know any of thenf

A No.

Q | f you don't treat the water does it
have an i npact on your production?

A | couldn't answer that. Probably would
be if it turns all hardpan, salt. It would be
white. Nothing would grow, | assune. |'mnot a
geologist, I"'mnot a -- | know what salt can do
to soil.

Q One nonent.

SPECI AL MASTER: Sur e.

MR. VWECHSLER: Thank you very much. |
appreci ate your testinony.

THE W TNESS: Thank you, sir.

SPECI AL MASTER: | just have one
gquestion since I"'mactually still trying to
understand this nyself. But ny only question is
the various fields when you went over with M.
Brown, you indicated you nowirrigate with CBM

water. Did you irrigate those fields before you
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brought CBM water on to thenf
THE W TNESS:. Yes.
SPECI AL MASTER Ckay. That's the only
question. Thank you, M. Brown.
REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON

Q (By M. Brown:) Let nme follow up
I mredi ately with regard to that question the
special mater just asked you. You al so had
i ndicated to M. Wechsler that you had irri gated
in 2001 and 2002 the sane fields that [ater were
irrigated with CBMwater; is that right?

A Yeah, before -- we had to get off them
fields. That's when the equi pnent cones in. W
still -- we didn't irrigate, | guess. W paid
what we can and tear everything out and got
everyt hi ng done.

Q Let nme ask you this: Prior to the CBM
wat er com ng to your property, did you irrigate
all the sanme acres that was irrigated wwth CBM or
fewer acres?

A Fewer acres.

Q Fewer acres?

A Yes.

Q Do you think you used as nuch water as

they did with CBMor |ess? Do you have any idea?
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A | sure don't.

Q You just know there were fewer acres?

A Yeah. W probably used | ess water.
Had to be. | nean, we were flood irrigating, we

had to use a lot nore water. W were so happy
that we don't have to junp on a four wheel er and
pack irrigation dans around.

Q You don't have to chase the water down
the ditch, and that's fine?

A Yes. Chase beavers out of the canals.

Q M. Wechsl er asked you a few questions
about your Lake Desnet water. Do you renenber
t hat ?

A Yes.

Q Do you pay for your Lake Desnet water
every year?

A No.

Q Why not ?

A | have no idea. | don't know, naybe I
shoul d have researched that. | don't know when

nmy dad back in the '50s they bought it from sone
I ndi vi dual, Johnny Bice and sons, and | don't
know what agreenent they had or what happened,
how much he paid for it. W were kids. |

didn't pay nuch attention.

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533




© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4634

Q But as far as you know, you don't pay

for that water every single year?

A Unl ess sonebody's paid for it, | have
no i dea. | could find out. | could ask around
what happened. | could call and find out what
the deal is. | assuned we own the water and was

pai d probably back when we bought it. That's it.
Q Al right.
A | don't know.
Q Ckay.
A | " mjust guessing.
Q You al so had a discussion with M.
Wechsler with regard to the fact that there is
| ess water now avail able to you at the bottom of
Prairie Dog Creek than there had been in years

past. Do you renenber that?

A Yes.
Q You briefly nentioned the fact there is
| ess water com ng through tunnel hill. Do you

renenber that?

A Yes.
Q Can you describe that to nore for us?
A Vell, it started wwth a lawsuit, |

t hi nk, way back, | don't know, '90s. Washed

sonebody' s property away down and that's where

Bray Reporting - (406) 670-9533



© 00 N O O b~ W DN PP

N N NN NN P P R PR R R R, e
o A W N P O © © N O 0 M W N P O

Page 4635

t he probl em start ed. You probably heard about
it. | don't know exactly.

And then we were assessed thousands of
dollars, we shareholders, to fix the diversion
goi ng over the tunnel hill and we had to rip-rap
t he creek. | noved boul ders up there by hand.
| could get water from Piney Creek to Prairie Dog
in the '50s and ' 60s.

Q So is it your recollection they had to
do sonme rehabilitation for the water that was
com ng over from Piney Creek? They had to put
it in the tube, right?

A Yes.

Q And after they did that, they weren't
able to bring over as nmuch water fromthe Powder

Ri ver Basin as they had before?

A | can't -- | don't know. | assune,
or -- | don't know. | nean, | wsh -- we had a
| ot of water but it was way too nmuch. | don't
know how t hey regul ated 50 shares. | don't know

what 50 shares, how nuch feet per second it is
measured in. | don't know. | have no idea how
t hey neasure is that.

MR BROWN: That's all | have, M.

Pilch. Thanks for com ng.
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SPECI AL MASTER: Thank you. So, M.
Pilch, those are all the questions. Thank you
very much for comng all the way up here.

THE WTNESS: |'ve enjoyed nyself.

SPECI AL MASTER: | hope you are able to
get back down tonorrow. Are you headed down
tonorrow or are you going to try today?

THE WTNESS: No, ny wife said | can't
go tonight.

SPECI AL MASTER. My wife wouldn't et ne
go either.

THE WTNESS: MW wife tells ne what to
do after 50 years.

SPECI AL MASTER: |'ve only been marri ed

for 30 and ny wife does the sane. Thank you very

much.

Ckay. So, M. Kaste, | assune that's
the last witness then for today, and we'll cone
back tonorrow. "' mactual ly inpressed, we nade

it through all the witnesses today. Six. Which
IS a record.

MR, KASTE: W are working on Wom ng's
time schedule now and it's a |lot faster.,

MR. WECHSLER: Less information.

MR, KASTE: Focus is the right term
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(Heari ng adj ourned.)

REPORTER S CERTI FI CATE

|, Richard L. Mattson, Certified Court
Reporter, certify that the foregoi ng proceedi ngs
were reported by nme in machi ne shorthand and
thereafter reduced to typewiting via
conput er-ai ded transcription; and that it is a
true and correct record of the proceedings
cont ai ned herein.

| further certify that I amnot attorney for,
nor enpl oyed by, nor related to any of the
parties or attorneys to this action, nor
financially interested in the action.

| N W TNESS WHEREOF, | have set ny hand and
seal at Billings, Montana, this 10th day of
January 2014.

/s/ Richard L. Mattson

Richard L. NMAttson
Certified Court Reporter
Notary Public for the
State of Montana
Residing at Billings
Seal ) = .
Com ssi on expires:
June 15, 2015
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         1                   P R O C E E D I N G S



         2              (Open court.)



         3               DEPUTY CLERK:  Supreme Court Case 137



         4     Original, State of Montana versus the State of



         5     Wyoming. The Honorable Barton Thompson, presiding.



         6               SPECIAL MASTER: Good morning,



         7     everybody.  Mr. Kaste, I know originally you were



         8     hoping to get seven witnesses in today, and, of



         9     course, there was one witness we weren't able to



        10     get to yesterday.   What are your hopes and



        11     expectations?



        12               MR. KASTE:  Our hopes and expectations



        13     might be divergent.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  They probably are.



        15               MR. KASTE:  We have a witness scheduled



        16     and exhibit list that was provided to Montana as



        17     well.  And I believe we have, what, five on there



        18     for today, or six.



        19               SPECIAL MASTER:  Six, including Mr.



        20     Carrel from yesterday.



        21               MR. KASTE:  We are hoping we can make



        22     it through that.  But I think it's more probable



        23     that we end up having to push one of those



        24     individuals into tomorrow.  And then we are



        25     hoping, but not absolutely sure, that we can get
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         1     through all the individuals we have listed for



         2     tomorrow by the end of the day tomorrow.  But



         3     we'll do our best to be concise and see where we



         4     go.



         5               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Draper.



         6               MR. DRAPER:  Your Honor, are we going



         7     to go until 5 tomorrow?



         8               SPECIAL MASTER:  I think I have made a



         9     reservation for myself on a late flight.  So I am



        10     able to go as late as people want tomorrow.



        11     Certainly, today, you know, subject to the court



        12     reporter actually lasting, I will propose we go



        13     as late as we need today in order to try to



        14     actually get through the witnesses that are on



        15     the calendar for today.



        16               And, again, tomorrow I can stay as late



        17     as people want.  I don't know whether, Mr.



        18     Draper, you're planning on flying home tomorrow.



        19               MR. DRAPER:  No, we're staying here



        20     over the long break here.



        21               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Then under



        22     those circumstances, then, we can go as long



        23     again tomorrow as we need to in order to squeeze



        24     people in.  I'll verify that in fact I do have, I



        25     think, like, a 7:30 flight out tomorrow evening.
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         1               Okay.



         2               MR. DRAPER:  Very good.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER: Great.  So, Mr. Kaste,



         4     I will turn it over to you and your fellow



         5     counsel.



         6               MR. KASTE:  Well, we are now in the



         7     part of the case where I don't have to talk for



         8     maybe another three or four days.  So all the



         9     witnesses today, I think the first block will be



        10     handled by Mr. Kuhlman and then Mr. Brown.  I



        11     will turn it over to Mr. Kuhlmann.



        12               SPECIAL MASTER:  Mr. Kuhlmann.



        13               MR. KUHLMANN:  Thank you, Your Honor.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  You're welcome.



        15               MR. KUHLMANN:  State of Wyoming would



        16     like to call Mr. William Carrel.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Mr. Carrel, come



        18     forward.



        19     Whereupon,



        20                      WILLIAM CARREL,



        21     having been first duly sworn, was examined and



        22     testified as follows:



        23               DEPUTY CLERK:  Please state your name



        24     spell it for the record.



        25               THE WITNESS:  William Carrel,
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         1     C-a-r-r-e-l.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER: Good morning, Mr. Carrel.



         3               THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



         4                    DIRECT EXAMINATION



         5         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Good morning, Mr.



         6     Carrel.  Could you state for the record your



         7     address?



         8         A     7 Red Bluff Loop, Birney, Montana,



         9     59012.



        10         Q     And what's your current occupation?



        11         A     I'm a rancher.



        12         Q     Do you operate a ranch?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     What's its name?



        15         A     FL Ranch.



        16         Q     How long have you operated that ranch?



        17         A     I've lived there my whole life.  I



        18     operated it from, probably, the mid-'80s until now.



        19         Q     So you have a fair bit of experience on



        20     your property?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Do you irrigate from the Tongue River?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     How many acre to you irrigate?



        25         A     Roughly 100.
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         1         Q     Has that always been the amount of



         2     acreage you've irrigated?



         3         A     We've added some fields with our



         4     contract water.



         5         Q     About what time period was that?



         6         A     I can't say accurately, but I'm



         7     thinking around 2000, somewhere in there.



         8         Q     Okay.  What kind of crops do you grow?



         9         A     We grow just hay to feed the cows in



        10     the winter.  And irrigate --



        11         Q     Now what -- sorry.



        12         A     We have some irrigated pasture, also.



        13         Q     And what sources of water do you use to



        14     irrigate?   Do you have water rights?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     From the Tongue River?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     And you mentioned you also have stored



        19     water, correct?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Where does that stored water come from?



        22         A     Comes from the Tongue River Reservoir.



        23         Q     Do you have a contract with the Tongue



        24     River Water Users Association?



        25         A     Yes, we have four.
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         1         Q     I'll get into those in a little more



         2     detail in a minute.  I'd like to turn your



         3     attention to an Exhibit Wyoming 244.  Put it up



         4     here and I think we'll try and have you answer



         5     some questions using the laser pointer that



         6     should be there in front of you.  So when I ask



         7     you questions, if you can indicate up on the



         8     screen over here where we are talking about, and



         9     I can zoom in a little bit, too.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER:  You have to be careful



        11     not to kill anyone.



        12               THE WITNESS:  Don't hit anybody in the



        13     eye?



        14               SPECIAL MASTER: That's right.



        15         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  So do you recognize



        16     this document?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     What is this document?



        19         A     This is a map that the NRCS sent where



        20     we were supposed to put in our fields so we would



        21     have an idea where our fields are, what we are



        22     growing.



        23         Q     Does this map -- well, I guess, does



        24     this map show your fields accurately?



        25         A     You mean to point of diversion?
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         1         Q     Well, it appears on the map you've got



         2     different areas that have been outlined in black,



         3     correct?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Do those correspond to the locations of



         6     your fields?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Do I have your property on the screen



         9     now?



        10         A     This is the irrigated property.  We



        11     have other rangeland.



        12         Q     But this is all of your irrigated



        13     property?



        14         A     Yes.



        15               MR. KUHLMANN:  Your Honor, I'd like to



        16     admit Exhibit Wyoming 244.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: Any objection?



        18               MR. SWANSON:  I still think a



        19     foundation hasn't been laid, Your Honor, as far



        20     as who actually made that map.  We haven't heard



        21     anything about that; whether Mr. Carrel knows



        22     anything beyond this map other than what we are



        23     looking at.  The question would be, is there



        24     foundation of who made the map, and I don't



        25     believe that's been laid.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  Can I just ask some



         2     real quick questions?  Do you know who prepared



         3     this map?



         4               THE WITNESS:  I believe the NRCS in



         5     Forsyth.



         6               SPECIAL MASTER:  So you provided data



         7     for them that was then used to prepare this map?



         8               THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I outlined my



         9     fields and sent it down to them.  I did this



        10     spring, too, some kind -- they want to know where



        11     your fields are and what you're growing.  They



        12     have a name for it but I can't remember.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  So the lines here,



        14     this was prepared by them, but you were the one



        15     that actually provided the lines on this map?



        16               THE WITNESS:  They put in the lines,



        17     most of them.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER:  Let me just ask.  But



        19     it was put together using data that you provided



        20     them?



        21               THE WITNESS:  Right.



        22               SPECIAL MASTER:  And then did they send



        23     you this?



        24               THE WITNESS:  Right, they sent this



        25     with some other maps that have rangeland.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  I'm going to



         2     admit it at this point.  If you think any of the



         3     lines are wrong, you are obviously free to ask



         4     the witness.  So Exhibit W-244 is admitted in



         5     evidence.



         6               (Received.)



         7               THE WITNESS:  These lines roughly show



         8     the fields, but where there is a space in between



         9     these fields, there is still grazing underneath



        10     these trees and stuff.



        11         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  How many water rights



        12     do you have from the Tongue River to irrigate



        13     these properties?



        14         A     We got two water rights.



        15         Q     Can you indicate using the laser



        16     pointer there and talk to us about those water



        17     rights, where those water rights are located?



        18         A     We have a 152 water rights, starts out



        19     152, and it's for this whole northwest side of



        20     the river.



        21         Q     And how about your next water right?



        22         A     The water right starts with No. 162 and



        23     it's for this side of the river.



        24         Q     And where do you divert water from the



        25     river for your first water right?
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         1         A     We have a diversion dam not on this



         2     map.  Not on your blowup.  It's on mine.



         3         Q     I will move it a little bit.



         4         A     The diversion dam right there where you



         5     see that white.



         6         Q     So to the west of your irrigated



         7     properties on the river there you're pointing to



         8     a little white line across the river?



         9         A     Yes.  Right.



        10         Q     Do you know what the priority dates are



        11     for your water rights?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     What are they?



        14         A     The water right starting with No. 152



        15     is 1894.



        16         Q     And which, just to remind us, which



        17     water right, what parcel, the northwest side?



        18         A     The northwest side of the river.



        19         Q     And how about the priority date for the



        20     water right on the southeast side of the river?



        21         A     Priority date for that southeast side



        22     starts with No. 162 and it's 1896.



        23         Q     Looking at that northwest side of the



        24     river, you mentioned you have a diversion dam,



        25     correct?
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         1         A     Yep.



         2         Q     And you also mentioned pumps on that



         3     signed of the river, too, correct?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     When you do you use -- well, do you use



         6     the diversion dam to irrigate that side of the



         7     river?



         8         A     When the high flow in the spring when



         9     the water is running over the spillway, that's



        10     when that ditch works the best.



        11         Q     Is that ditch an open ditch?



        12         A     Open, what do you mean?



        13         Q     Well, is there -- do you have a pipe or



        14     is it open ditch from the diversion dam to your



        15     property?



        16         A     Right.  There's an in-stream reservoir



        17     where you see the white.  Then there's the mouth



        18     of the ditch, we got a 4-inch culvert there.  And



        19     there's some other culverts, two on our property



        20     right along the river.  Is that what you want?



        21         Q     When do you start using pumps on the



        22     northwest side of the river?



        23         A     Well, whenever the ditch is



        24     ineffective, when there's low flow, it's very



        25     flat, the ditch, because it was built before the
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         1     reservoir, the Tongue River Reservoir, and it's



         2     almost -- it drops very little.  So it's almost



         3     flat.  It doesn't work unless you have a high



         4     flow.  So when the flow decreases so much that



         5     there's no head at the beginning, then I shut it



         6     off usually and start pumping.



         7               SPECIAL MASTER:  Counsel, can I just



         8     stop for a second?  I realize there was one thing



         9     said earlier that if the witness said I missed.



        10     So I heard you say that you live in the Birney



        11     area?



        12               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  Where is the property?



        14               THE WITNESS:  The property is roughly



        15     halfway between Birney, Montana, the town, and



        16     the Tongue River Reservoir.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Thanks.



        18         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  I guess this would



        19     be a good time to pull out this large map right



        20     behind you, if we can do that.  Montana.



        21     Demonstrative Exhibit No. 2.



        22         A     Do you want me to set it up here?



        23         Q     Yes, if you could, just briefly.  Can



        24     you find on that map about where you think the



        25     property that you irrigate?
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         1         A     Right about here (indicating).



         2         Q     So just right about halfway between the



         3     Tongue River Dam and Birney?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     All right.  Thank you.



         6               MR. SWANSON:  I want to correct the



         7     record, that isn't demonstrative Exhibit 2 from



         8     Montana.  It's a blowup of Exhibit 1 of M-5.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Thanks.



        10         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlman:)  How long have you



        11     had pumps?



        12         A     Since 1992.



        13         Q     Why did you install the pumps?



        14         A     Mainly because of the ditch only works,



        15     like I said before, when the water runs over the



        16     spillway.  It's the high flow to get it down to



        17     our property.



        18         Q     And how many pumps do you run?



        19         A     Right now I have five pumps.



        20         Q     And what kind of pumps are those?



        21         A     I've got three flood pumps and two



        22     pressure pumps.



        23         Q     Can you indicate on the map on the



        24     screen around where you divert water with those



        25     pumps from the Tongue River?
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         1         A     At this time?



         2         Q     At this time.



         3         A     I've got a pump -- I can put a pump in



         4     here, and got a pump here for the southeast side



         5     of the river.   I got another pump right down



         6     here for the northeast side.  And I can put --



         7     these pumps are on wheels, so I can move them



         8     around.  Another one down here.  Did I say four?



         9     Four or five.



        10         Q     I think you said five.



        11         A     Okay.



        12         Q     So looking at that southeast side of



        13     the river, you just have one pump there?



        14         A     Yes, one pump for the southeast side,



        15     right.



        16         Q     Is that usually the same pump every year?



        17         A     Usually, except for this year.  I'm



        18     moving to pump some -- after I got my seed



        19     started on the northeast side in this field right



        20     here, I had some seed in there, once I got that



        21     started with my sprinkler, I moved that pump over



        22     and flooded that.



        23         Q     What is the type of pump that you



        24     generally use on that southeast side of the river



        25     up until this year?
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         1         A     Yeah, it's a flood pump.



         2         Q     What's the capacity of that pump?



         3         A     790 gallons per minute.



         4         Q     Do you have any other pumps with that



         5     capacity?



         6         A     Yes, I have one that's larger.



         7         Q     How is it the pump on the southeast



         8     side of the river, how is that fueled?



         9         A     That runs on propane.



        10         Q     You also mentioned a piece of property



        11     up there in the far north, looks like it's a



        12     little bit away from the river.  Can you tell us



        13     about that piece of property?



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  Real quickly, which



        15     piece are you referring to?



        16               MR. KUHLMANN:  I can indicate a little



        17     better here.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER: I just want to make



        19     sure the witness and I and everyone else knows



        20     exactly which parcel.



        21               Okay.



        22               MR. KUHLMANN:  Okay.



        23         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  So I have got kind



        24     of pointing to a piece of property that is



        25     labeled Field 1.  Can you tell us about that
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         1     piece of property?



         2         A     That is a field -- that was a huge flat



         3     prairie dog town at one time, and I cleared it



         4     and planted seed up there.  That was after I got



         5     contract water.  And that's irrigated with



         6     contract water.



         7         Q     And what pump do you use to irrigate



         8     that piece of property?



         9         A     I use a PTO pump, pump that runs off a



        10     tractor, and it's a sprinkler pump, runs 200



        11     gallons per minute, or 300 if you don't use your



        12     guns.



        13         Q     Do you have any other PTO pumps?



        14         A     Yes, I have a PTO flood pump that is



        15     590 gallons per minute.



        16         Q     So for that --



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: Just for my curiosity,



        18     could you either tell me what a PTO pump stands



        19     for or what it actually is?



        20               THE WITNESS:  Power take-off is what



        21     PTO stands for.



        22               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.



        23               THE WITNESS:  It's the drive line



        24     coming out of the back of your tractor and you



        25     hook your pump to that.  So your drive line from
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         1     your pump and that powers it.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  I know what



         3     you're talking about now.  Thank you.



         4         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlman:)   So you just used



         5     the PTO sprinkler pump that you have on Field 1?



         6         A     Currently, I do.



         7         Q     What did you use in the past?



         8         A     Before I got the PTO sprinkler pump I



         9     had a -- I have a Chevy propane pump, pressure



        10     pump.   Same gallons per minute as the PTO



        11     sprinkler pump, but it runs from a propane Chevy



        12     engine.



        13         Q     When did you get the PTO sprinkler pump?



        14         A     I didn't get the PTO sprinkler pump



        15     until I think 2006.



        16         Q     When do you typically start irrigating?



        17         A     Well, I start in May.  Kind of depends



        18     on the river, what's coming down the river.  If



        19     it's too high, I can't put my pumps in because --



        20     if I put them in too early and the river raises



        21     with the spring runoff in June, then it'd tear my



        22     foot valves right off.



        23         Q     When do you generally stop irrigating?



        24         A     I have a water right -- well, the water



        25     rights say it's through the first of November,
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         1     but I've never gone that far.



         2         Q     How far do you generally go?



         3         A     I've gone to the end of October.



         4         Q     How often is that?



         5         A     Well, those are years when there's



         6     quite a bit of flow in the river.   When the flow



         7     drops, which is usually around the 15th through



         8     the 30th of September, then a lot of times I



         9     can't pump, unless I move my pump to some deeper



        10     hole or something, deeper -- the river is not,



        11     you know, just level anywhere.  There's holes and



        12     shallow places.



        13         Q     And sometimes your pumps intakes can't



        14     reach the water in the river?



        15         A     Yeah, the intake is out of the water.



        16         Q     You mentioned earlier that you raise



        17     alfalfa, correct?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     How many cuttings do you get a year?



        20         A     Typically two.   Sometimes three.



        21         Q     Maybe you can indicate on the map, can



        22     you tell us a little bit about where you use



        23     sprinklers and where you flood irrigate these



        24     fields?



        25         A     This field up at the top, I use a
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         1     sprinkler pump on some of it and some of it is



         2     laser level where I can flood it with the same



         3     pump, just taking off the sprinklers.



         4         Q     And how about -- I guess, if you can go



         5     through the fields kind of moving up the river.



         6         A     Well, if I'm starting to seed, a lot of



         7     times I use the sprinklers to get the seed going,



         8     if it's not going to rain.  So that can happen



         9     anywhere on those fields.



        10         Q     The sprinkler on any one of those



        11     fields depending on what you need?



        12         A     Right.  I have another field clear down



        13     here at the south end on the north side of the



        14     river, I use a sprinkler on that.



        15         Q     Are the rest of the fields ones that



        16     you also flood irrigate?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     How long do you have to irrigate your



        19     fields before you can get a cutting of alfalfa?



        20         A     Well, I run the water across them once,



        21     and then whatever grows, once it flowers, I cut



        22     it.



        23         Q     Do you know about how long it takes to



        24     get the water across the field?



        25         A     Each field is different.   Fields that
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         1     are laser leveled, that have a slope, water runs



         2     a little faster, of course, than the fields that



         3     are not.



         4         Q     Do you irrigate -- try to irrigate all



         5     your fields at one time?



         6         A     No, it takes me a little while to get



         7     the pumps set up, and then hardly ever do I have



         8     all the pumps running at once.



         9         Q     Is there any order that you try to



        10     irrigate the fields?



        11         A     Well, if I got some new seed coming on,



        12     those are the fields I want to sprinkle or get



        13     water on if it's not going to rain.



        14         Q     Does the amount of water you take from



        15     the river change from day to day?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And why is that?



        18         A     Don't always have the same pumps



        19     running at the same time each day.



        20         Q     Okay.  What are the reasons why you



        21     wouldn't have pumps running on a particular day?



        22         A      Well, maybe I'm haying or maybe doing



        23     something else, I guess.



        24         Q     So when you can have your pumps on



        25     limited by the manpower you have to operate them
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         1     and irrigate?



         2         A     Could you say it once more?



         3         Q     When you can have your pumps on and



         4     when they need to be off, is that sometimes



         5     dictated by, I guess, how much manpower you have



         6     to be able to irrigate the fields?



         7         A     Right, all manpower.



         8         Q     And is it all you?



         9         A     Yep.



        10         Q     You can only be in one spot at one time?



        11         A     Right.



        12         Q     How long do you typically have to stop



        13     irrigating so you can hay?



        14         A     It depends on the soil.  Some of the



        15     fields are pretty gravelly, have very little top



        16     soil, dry out pretty fast a couple days it's hot.



        17     Other fields are heavier soil, which usually have



        18     a better crop on them, might take a week.



        19         Q     Can you indicate on the map some of



        20     those fields that you indicate dry out a little



        21     quicker?



        22         A     This field here has very little top



        23     soil.  And it's gravel that is right underneath,



        24     it dries out fast.  This field dries out fast



        25     because it's windy up there on that flat.  The
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         1     soil isn't necessarily -- the soil isn't too bad



         2     as far as gravel goes, but it gets a lot of wind



         3     there.  It will dry out in a couple days.



         4         Q     I think you just said on the flat.



         5     What did you mean by that?



         6         A     It's up above, it's maybe 20 feet



         7     higher than the fields on the bottom down there.



         8         Q     What were the fields that take a little



         9     longer to dry out?



        10         A     That would be this field here in the



        11     middle and all this down through here, real heavy



        12     deep soil there.



        13         Q     Is that labeled Field 5 on the map?



        14         A     Yes, it's 5.



        15         Q     Does it take more water to get a crop



        16     on one of those fields that dries out faster than



        17     it takes to get on the fields that dry out slower?



        18         A     Well, on the -- I use a sprinkler on a



        19     couple of these fields that dry out fast.  Mainly



        20     this one up here because it's high off the river



        21     and it takes a lot of pressure to pump water up



        22     there.



        23         Q     Does it take more water to get a crop



        24     off that field than your other fields?



        25         A     No.  No, it doesn't.
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         1         Q     I'd like to talk about your reservoir



         2     water.  You mentioned that you have contracts



         3     with the Tongue River Water Users Association,



         4     correct?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     How many contracts was that?



         7         A     Four different ones.



         8         Q     And how many shares does that give you



         9     from all of those contracts?



        10         A     212.5.



        11         Q     Have you ever leased -- how often do



        12     you have those contracts?  Is that every year?



        13         A     Yes, we've got -- we had all of those



        14     since, I believe, 1999.



        15         Q     Have you ever leased water from other



        16     folks?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     Who have you leased water from before?



        19         A     Bill Musgrave and Christine Valentine.



        20         Q     What kind of a time frame was that?



        21     Was that year to year?



        22         A     We paid year to year.  We had the first



        23     right to get it the next year.  We pay in advance.



        24         Q     How often did you lease water from



        25     those two people?
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         1         A     We've had Christine Valentine's water



         2     for, I think, since 2000.  And there are years it



         3     was dry, I know -- I can't remember exactly the



         4     dates, years.   It was in the 2000 to 2009 we had



         5     190 acre feet from Bill Musgrave.



         6         Q     How much did that water cost to lease?



         7         A     Either $5 or $6 an acre is what I



         8     think.  Something like that.



         9         Q     Is that for both of those folks' water?



        10         A     I think Christine's was $5 an



        11     acre-foot, and -- I might be wrong there.  I know



        12     our bill we paid her was roughly $99 a year



        13     something.  That might be right.  Bill Musgrave's



        14     water, I think we paid $5 an acre-foot.  Maybe



        15     $6.  I have some -- well, you've got some



        16     documents that probably show that.



        17         Q     I do indeed.  Let's pull out W-245.



        18     Do you recognize this document?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Is this your handwriting on this



        21     document?



        22         A     This is my mother's handwriting on this



        23     document.



        24         Q     So your mother created this document?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     Is this a document that you possess?



         2         A     Yes.  This is a copy.  We were



         3     subpoenaed for the deposition to bring in the



         4     water we had, contract water, and this was all on



         5     a couple sticky notes, looks like, and we stuck



         6     them on there and copied it off right there in



         7     the deposition.



         8         Q     These are accurate copies of the sticky



         9     notes?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     And this was done at your deposition,



        12     correct?



        13         A     Correct.



        14               MR. KUHLMANN:  I'd like to admit W-245.



        15               MR. SWANSON:  No objection to the



        16     sticky notes, Your Honor.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER:  W-245 is admitted.



        18               ( Received.)



        19         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlman:)   Can you describe



        20     what this document shows?



        21         A     This shows in the lower right, shows



        22     our four water contracts, the numbers of the



        23     contracts are what the Montana Water Users send



        24     us a bill for each year, and then the total. Here



        25     is Bill Musgrave's water that we bought and the

�



                                                            4368







         1     years we bought it.



         2         Q     When you say here, can you indicate



         3     where --



         4         A     Upper right kind of a square sticky



         5     note.



         6         Q     The table?



         7         A     H-m?



         8         Q     Is that kind of a table of numbers?



         9         A     Yeah, years and then what we paid that



        10     year for each of those contracts.  Well, the



        11     contract was the same amount for each of those



        12     years, $190.



        13         Q     And are these all the years -- are



        14     those all the years that you leased water from



        15     Bill Musgrave?



        16         A     I currently, from 2009 to now, I've



        17     been leasing 40 acre-feet from Bill Musgrave.



        18         Q     I'd like to turn now to an exhibit



        19     that's already been admitted as Exhibit M-389.



        20     This is a letter from Bill Musgrave dated July



        21     19, 2004, to Pat Helms, secretary of the Tongue



        22     River Water Users Association; is that correct?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     And what does this letter say, or what



        25     does it generally say?
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         1         A     It's saying Bill Musgrave is leasing



         2     190 acre-feet of water to the FL Ranch for the



         3     year 2004.



         4         Q     And then it lists the contracts that



         5     are being leased to you?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     Now, I'd like to look at Exhibit W-142,



         8     which has not been admitted yet.  Do you recognize



         9     this document?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Is this a document --



        12               MR. SWANSON:  I couldn't hear the number.



        13               MR. KUHLMANN:  W-142.



        14         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Was this a document



        15     that you received a copy of?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     So you were sent a copy when it says



        18     down on the bottom, cc, Bill Carrel?



        19         A     Right.



        20         Q     Is this document talking about your



        21     leasing water from Bill Musgrave?



        22         A     Yes, same but for the next year, 2005.



        23               MR. KUHLMANN:  I'd like to move to



        24     admit Exhibit W-142.



        25               MR. SWANSON:  No objection.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER: Exhibit W-142 is



         2     admitted.



         3               (Received.)



         4         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  For the record,



         5     what's the date on this letter?



         6         A     June 16, 2005.



         7         Q     When you want use water from the Tongue



         8     River Reservoir, do you have to contact anybody



         9     to have it delivered to you?



        10         A     Contract water you mean?



        11         Q     The contract water you lease or the



        12     contract water you have shares for.



        13         A     Well, what usually happens is they call



        14     us and tell us we are starting on contract water



        15     and then we call back when we start each pump so



        16     they know, we tell them which pump we are



        17     starting and how many gallons a minute it is.



        18     Then they do whatever they have to to get the



        19     water down there.



        20         Q     Who are you contacting?



        21         A     Art Hayes, usually.



        22         Q     Do you ever have to ask for -- strike



        23     that.  Do you ever tell them a certain amount of



        24     water that you're going to need on a certain date



        25     in order to make that -- have that water be
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         1     available for you on that date?



         2         A     I generally tell them when I'm starting



         3     my pumps, and they know which pump I have and how



         4     much flow I have.  So whether it's enough to open



         5     it much, I don't know.



         6         Q     Is that storage water available at your



         7     head gate when you need it?



         8         A     At head gate?



         9         Q     Well, at your pumps.



        10         A     Yeah, when they start the contract



        11     water generally the river maybe comes up a little



        12     sometimes.  Usually have enough water to get it



        13     over my foot valves and start the pumps.



        14         Q     Can you tell them in anticipation of



        15     you starting the pump or when you started the pump?



        16         A     When I started the pump you call.  You



        17     can leave a message or there is an answering



        18     machine, you leave a message on there, just a



        19     number you call to let them know you've started



        20     your pump, or you just call Bunny, Art Hayes, who



        21     runs the Tongue River Reservoir.



        22         Q     Do you have any measuring devices on



        23     your pumps?



        24         A     Each pump was measured in 2002, I



        25     believe, by water commissioner.  And they gave me
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         1     a reading of how much my pumps were pumping.



         2         Q     So they measured the capacity of the



         3     pumps?



         4         A     Right.



         5         Q     Have they measured the capacity of the



         6     pumps since 2002?



         7         A     I think when I got the pump, the



         8     pressure pump, PTO pressure pump, in 2006, they



         9     came and measured that one when I got it running.



        10         Q     Did your ditch have a measuring device?



        11         A     No.



        12         Q     Do you keep records of when you irrigate?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Do you keep records of how much water



        15     you use?



        16         A     Yes, for these contract water, I do.



        17     When I'm running the ditch, I don't.



        18         Q     Do you always keep records of every year?



        19         A     No.  Years when there's -- when there's



        20     -- unless they tell us to keep records, when it's



        21     going to be commissioners checking, then you keep



        22     notes.  I have kept notes on years when there was



        23     a hundred percent water, also.



        24         Q     And why did you do that?



        25         A     Well, the year started out dry and
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         1     thought we were going to be short where you have



         2     to have a percentage.  Turned out it started



         3     raining and got a hundred percent of water.



         4         Q     In your answer you mentioned they.  Who



         5     are you referring to?



         6         A     Tongue River -- I got to hear the



         7     question again.



         8         Q     When you mention, I think you said they



         9     told us --



        10         A     Oh, that would be the Tongue River



        11     Water Users, or these commissioners.



        12         Q     I would like to take a look at Exhibit



        13     W-295.  Do you recognize this document?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Go ahead and take a look through the



        16     pages, this looks to be -- I guess I'll ask.



        17     Did you create document?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     What is this document?



        20         A     This is a water use log that the



        21     commissioners told me to keep for all my pumps



        22     for measuring of the contract water.



        23         Q     Is this a full copy of your records?



        24         A     Looks like it.



        25               MR. KUHLMANN:  I'd like to move to
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         1     admit W-295.



         2               MR. SWANSON:  No objection.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER: Exhibit W-295 is



         4     admitted.



         5               (Received.)



         6         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  What period of time



         7     do these records cover?



         8         A     I believe 2002 through part of 2008



         9     maybe.



        10         Q     Generally, what do these records show?



        11         A     Well, there's a description of the



        12     pump, gallons per minute for each pump -- or a



        13     description of the pump, the gallons per minute



        14     for that pump, the rpm's that this pump was



        15     measured on, the start and stop time, the number



        16     of hours, the total gallons.



        17         Q     And were you looking at a particular



        18     page?



        19         A     Yeah, second page.



        20         Q     So you've got a start and stop time



        21     listed here for different time periods.  In



        22     between the stop time that's listed and to the



        23     next start time, does that mean the pump is off?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     And how do you break down your
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         1     measurements between pumps?   Are they on separate



         2     pages?



         3         A     Yes, they are.



         4         Q     How did you measurer water use to



         5     create these records?



         6         A     I took the number of gallons per minute



         7     time the hours, multiply that times the number of



         8     hours, times 60, would give me gallons per



         9     minute.   And then divided that -- sometimes I



        10     used 325,900, which is one acre-foot of water.  I



        11     may have used 326,000 on some of these.



        12         Q     Is there a reason you used one number



        13     versus the other?



        14         A     No, I started out being very...  and



        15     later decided to leave 326,000.



        16         Q     Did that change situationally any of



        17     the numbers you came out with?



        18         A     It could have, yes, I guess.



        19         Q     How much of a difference is there



        20     between 325,900 versus 326,000?



        21         A     Well, there is a hundred.



        22         Q     Not too much on the scale of things?



        23         A     When you're figuring your total, yeah,



        24     I guess it would change it a little.



        25         Q     Did you add up the total amount of
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         1     acre-feet, or did you add up your measurement



         2     between the pumps for a given year?



         3         A     Yes, I totaled them up.



         4         Q     Was that to give yourself -- why did



         5     you do that?



         6         A     Well, I have a certain amount of



         7     acre-feet.  In these dry years when we had to do



         8     these records, there was usually a percentage of



         9     the total acre-feet that you owned and leased,



        10     and I didn't want to go over that.



        11         Q     Did you calculate the amount of water



        12     you have available in a given year in these



        13     records?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Looking through these records, they



        16     appear to start in 2002; is that correct?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     Do you know how much water you had



        19     available to you in 2002?



        20         A     I will have to go to the page where I



        21     totaled it.  It looks like on the fifth page I



        22     have a total, that year we had 55 percent water



        23     available, looks to me like I had Christine's



        24     water plus 200 acre-feet of our own water.



        25         Q     Do you know how much water you used in
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         1     2002, according to your records?



         2         A     Is that on the same page here?



         3               Looks like -- do you want me to count



         4     the pages?



         5         Q     Maybe if you can describe the page and



         6     we can follow along and I will try to put it up



         7     on the screen.



         8         A     Get to the pages unlike the other pages



         9     that would show the pumps, the time, all that,



        10     it's a total --



        11               SPECIAL MASTER:  What does it say at



        12     the top of the page?   That will probably help.



        13               THE WITNESS:  PTO sprinkler 292.   I'll



        14     show you.  This 2001 here.



        15               SPECIAL MASTER:  Maybe in fact if you



        16     show Mr. Kuhlmann, he can project that page up



        17     and that will help everybody.



        18               MR. KUHLMANN:  Okay.



        19         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Do I have the



        20     correct page up on the screen now?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Zoom in a little bit.



        23               MR. SWANSON:  Can we get an idea which



        24     page in the document itself?



        25               MR. KUHLMANN:  About three or four
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         1     pages after the last few he talked about.



         2         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  So this is the



         3     correct page you were looking at?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Where does it say your total water use?



         6         A     In the far right bottom, 120.89.



         7         Q     So you had 121 acre-feet available to



         8     you and you used 120.89; is that correct?



         9         A     Yes.  You're getting that from this 55



        10     percent, right?



        11         Q     Correct.  Do you pay close attention to



        12     how much water you use?



        13         A     I try to.   I thought the judge is



        14     going to have to see this document each year, so



        15     I tried to be close as I could on this.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER:  When you say the



        17     judge, you're talking about the water judge in



        18     Montana?



        19               THE WITNESS:  Whoever was directing the



        20     commissioners.



        21               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.



        22         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Take a look at



        23     Exhibit N-382, which has already been admitted.



        24     Can you see that up on the screen?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     All right.  This is a set of records



         2     that Chuck Kepper -- do you know who Chuck Kepper



         3     is?



         4         A     Yes, I do.



         5         Q     Who is he?



         6         A     He's one of the water commissioners.



         7         Q     Mr. Kepper testified earlier in the



         8     trial and said these are records from 2002.



         9               Turning to the second page.   I



        10     represent to you that this is the last page



        11     that's been -- I guess, the latest page in this



        12     document, and the date at the top says 1



        13     September 2002.  This document says there was a



        14     cumulative usage in acre-feet by you of 127



        15     acre-feet.  Do you see that?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     So that's different than the amount of



        18     water you measured using 2002, correct?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Can you explain why there is a



        21     difference between those numbers?



        22         A     No.



        23               MR. SWANSON:  Object.  Foundation.



        24     This is not his document.  This is a document



        25     from Mr. Kepper, not from the witness.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  I think it's fine for



         2     the question he asked, whether or not he can



         3     explain what the difference in the two numbers



         4     would be, and I think he said that he actually



         5     doesn't know what explains the difference.



         6         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Did Mr. Kepper tell



         7     you what he measured your water use -- did Mr.



         8     Kepper tell you what he measured was your total



         9     water use in 2002?



        10         A     No, I told him what my water use was in



        11     2002.



        12         Q     Now, going back to your records,



        13     Exhibit 295, moving on from the page that we were



        14     just on, can you find where your records begin



        15     for 2004?   Going back four or so pages.  In



        16     looking through the pages after that, can you



        17     find the total amount of acre-feet that you



        18     measured as using the 2004?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     At about eight pages in?



        21         A     About that.



        22         Q     What does it say at the top of the page?



        23         A     It says, 200 plus 190 equals 390 times



        24     .48 percent equals 187.20.  Below that says



        25     actual amount, 212.5 plus 190 equals 402.5 times
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         1     48 percent equals 193.20.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  I'm sorry, Counsel,



         3     I'm having problems finding this page.



         4         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Do you know what



         5     your total water use was in 2004?



         6         A     My number is 191.46.



         7         Q     And how much water did you have



         8     available that year?



         9         A     48 percent.



        10         Q     Do you know how many acre-feet that



        11     would have been available?



        12         A     Yes, that's 193.20.



        13         Q     So you had 193.20 acre-feet and you



        14     used 191.46?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     Is that pretty close?



        17         A     That's pretty close.   I could make a



        18     mistake every now and then.



        19         Q     Take a look now at Exhibit N-386, which



        20     has already been admitted.  This is a set of



        21     measurements made by the water commissioners for



        22     2004.  If you look at the last page, that page



        23     should say -- should have the dates May 1st



        24     through August 15th, 2004.  And this is the



        25     latest page that's in this document.  Can you
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         1     tell us what it says next to your name as the



         2     cumulative usage in acre-feet?



         3         A     It says 85.



         4         Q     So that's quite a bit different from



         5     the amount of acre-feet you measured yourself,



         6     correct?



         7         A     Yes, but is that through the whole



         8     year?



         9         Q     Well, looking back at your



        10     measurements, is there a date that you associated



        11     when you were calculating your total?   What I'm



        12     seeing on here, August 22nd, 2004.



        13               It was on the same page.  I'm looking



        14     at the same page that you did your total



        15     calculation.



        16         A     Oh.  Where does it say that?



        17         Q     I'm looking down at the very bottom.



        18         A     Oh, okay.   Right.  Yep, August 22nd.



        19         Q     So was that your usage through August



        20     22nd?



        21         A     Yes.  That's when I got so close that I



        22     figured I better shut it off in case I made a



        23     mistake.



        24         Q     Okay.  And the date on Exhibit 386,



        25     M-386, says -- Exhibit M-386 says August 15th; is
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         1     that correct?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Okay.  So your records go through



         4     August 22nd, and at least the records on here go



         5     through August 15th, correct?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     The differences between your numbers is



         8     over 100 acre-feet between what the commissioner



         9     measured you using and what you measured yourself



        10     as using, correct?



        11         A     August 15th?



        12         Q     Well, do you have a number on the 15th,



        13     or close to the 15th?



        14         A     I have the 14th here.



        15         Q     How much did you've calculate yourself



        16     as using as of August 14th?



        17         A     156.075.



        18         Q     That's still quite a bit more than the



        19     commissioner had you measured at?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Do you know why he measured you using a



        22     lot less than you had yourself measured?



        23         A     No.



        24         Q     Did he tell you what his measurement



        25     was for that year?
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         1         A     No.  Again, I told him when I was about



         2     out and informed him that I was pretty close to



         3     out and this is what I used.



         4         Q     So you're saying you told him you used



         5     85 acre-feet?



         6         A     No, 191.



         7         Q     So you don't know why he would say 85



         8     and you would say 191, correct?



         9         A     I don't know.



        10         Q     All right.  Keep going on here.  Turning



        11     about three more pages in your records, about



        12     eight more pages, is there a page that at the



        13     very top says, 7/13/05-9/30/05?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Is this for the 2005 season?



        16         A     Looks like it.



        17         Q     And how much water did you have



        18     available then?



        19         A     Hundred percent.



        20         Q     So how much water would that have been



        21     for you in total?



        22         A     It would have been our 212.5 plus 20 of



        23     Christine's water, plus 190 acre-feet of Bill



        24     Musgrave's water.



        25         Q     And there's a number here circled,
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         1     145.00.  Is that the total amount of water you



         2     measured yourself using in 2005?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     So was this one of the years you



         5     measured that you still had a full allocation?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     Move on.  The next page, you go to the



         8     next page, at the top it says 790 gallons per



         9     minute, gpm 2006.  Is this the start of your



        10     records for 2006?



        11         A     Yes, it looks like it.



        12         Q     If we go five pages further to page at



        13     the top says 6-15-06-6-30-06.  Is this a page



        14     where you totaled up your water use in 2006?



        15         A     Yes, it looks like it.



        16         Q     And how much did you calculate you used



        17     in 2006?



        18         A     252.81.



        19         Q     And do you know how much water you had



        20     available in 2006?



        21         A     I don't have a percentage on here.



        22         Q     Well, how many acre-feet would you have



        23     had if you had a full allocation?



        24         A     Well, I would have to add that up.



        25         Q     Was 2006 the year you leased water from
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         1     Bill Musgrave?



         2         A     Yes, 212.5 plus 20 plus 190.



         3         Q     So you would have had some percentage



         4     less than that?



         5         A     In 2006?



         6         Q     Yes.



         7         A     Yes, I guess.  I don't know the answer



         8     to that.



         9         Q     Well, I'll tell you that in earlier



        10     testimony 90 percent allocation, or 90 percent of



        11     full water rights was what was testified to in



        12     this case.  Do you know if that sounds right?



        13         A     Yeah, I've heard that number.   That's



        14     not a number I know about, though, on here.



        15         Q     Okay.  It's not in your record?



        16         A     I heard it was 10 percent off or



        17     something.



        18         Q     So that would be 90 percent of your



        19     total?



        20         A     Right.



        21         Q     Okay.  So was 10 percent of the water



        22     you had available be quite a bit more than the



        23     252.81 you calculated that you used?   So the



        24     total you had available versus the total you



        25     used, is there quite a bit of difference there?
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         1         A     Yes.  It would help if we would do the



         2     math.



         3         Q     Okay.  I took a crack at it, which is



         4     dangerous being a lawyer, but so in 2006 you said



         5     you had 212 and half acre-feet of shares, correct?



         6         A     Correct.



         7         Q     Plus you had 90 --



         8         A     190.



         9         Q     190.  Plus another 20?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     So that's over 300 acre-feet, correct?



        12         A     Okay.



        13         Q     Does that sound about right?



        14         A     Yes.



        15               MR. SWANSON:  I just want to lodge an



        16     objection.  I think the math would be



        17     significantly different from that.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER:  One lawyer's objection



        19     to another lawyer's math.



        20               MR. SWANSON:  We are in dangerous



        21     territory here, Your Honor.



        22               THE WITNESS:  I have it added up here



        23     somewhere.



        24               MR. SWANSON:  We will stipulate it's



        25     more than 258.81.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  I think everyone has



         2     probably agreed it is more than was actually used



         3     in this particular year by Mr. Carrel, and we can



         4     all actually do the math ourselves later.



         5               MR. KUHLMANN:  We'll get that team of



         6     scientists to help the lawyers calculate.



         7         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  So in 2006 you



         8     didn't use all of the water you had available; is



         9     that correct?



        10         A     That's correct.



        11         Q     We'll turn to Exhibit 394, which is



        12     another set of commissioner records.  M-394.



        13     Taking a look at these records, I will have you



        14     turn to a page, the date goes through September



        15     30th, 2006.   I believe it's page MT100035, and



        16     it's towards the back of the document.



        17         A     I have that.



        18         Q     I will represent this is the latest



        19     page for Chuck Kepper's records in this document.



        20     What number is next to your name as far as



        21     cumulative usage acre-feet on this document?



        22         A     It looks like 130.



        23         Q     So that's quite a bit less than 252,



        24     correct?



        25         A     Yes.

�



                                                            4389







         1         Q     Can you explain why that number is



         2     quite a bit different?



         3         A     The date, June 21st, through September



         4     30th, maybe he doesn't have all when I started.



         5         Q     Take a look at the other pages



         6     following this, but if you go the second-to-the-



         7     last page, says June 21st through August 16th,



         8     and that has 85 acre-feet used next to your name,



         9     and in the page before that goes through August



        10     31st, that says 130.  So we get to September



        11     30th, and it says still says 130.   So does that



        12     seem to be totaling up your amount of water that



        13     year, if it's growing?



        14         A     All these three pages are 2006?



        15         Q     Correct.  That looks to be the total



        16     that Mr. Kepper measured using by September 30th



        17     of 2006.



        18         A     Looks like it.



        19         Q     Okay.  And looking back at your records



        20     on the page that you had your total for 2006, do



        21     you know what date that would have been your



        22     water use through, what date you calculated that



        23     total?



        24         A     I believe the last date on here looks



        25     like August 30th.
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         1         Q     The latest one I'm seeing, you have a



         2     measurement says, VU 8-30-98.



         3         A     Oh.



         4         Q     Would September 8th have been the last



         5     date?



         6         A     Looks like it, yes.



         7         Q     So September 8th -- at least by



         8     September 8th, you had measured yourself using



         9     252.81 acre-feet?



        10         A     Right.



        11         Q     Did the commissioner ever tell you



        12     about what amount of water he measured in 2006?



        13         A     I don't see 2006.



        14         Q     I thought it was 10 percent.



        15         A     10 percent off 190.



        16         Q     How often did the commissioner come by



        17     your property?



        18         A     I don't know.  He could have come when



        19     I wasn't there or when I was in a different field



        20     or something.  I don't know how many times.



        21         Q     Did he measure water use from your pumps?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Did he do that personally?



        24         A     He did that, him and Alan.



        25         Q     And that was your water use throughout
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         1     the summer?



         2         A     It was a one time thing on each pump



         3     starting in 2002 until -- I used those same



         4     numbers until I got another pump in 2006, and



         5     they measured that one, too.



         6         Q     So those are the only times that you



         7     know they measured your pumps?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     So you mentioned that you had been



        10     telling the water commissioner what your totals



        11     were as you used water throughout the year,



        12     correct?



        13         A     Yes.  I called occasionally the



        14     commissioners and Art Hayes wondering when we



        15     were going to run out of water so I could try and



        16     time my pumps -- my usage to when the entire dam



        17     was going to be out, contract water was up.



        18         Q     Did he tell you when that happened?



        19         A     Yeah, they had kind of a guess on it.



        20     You know, it's all rough.  They don't know for



        21     sure.



        22         Q     And you wanted to make sure you didn't



        23     go over, right?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     Did they ever give you a statement or a
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         1     receipt at the end of the year to let you know



         2     how much water they measured that you had used?



         3     And by they, I mean the Tongue River Water Users.



         4         A     How much I used?



         5         Q     Yes.



         6         A     No.



         7         Q     Would that have been something you'd



         8     like to have?



         9         A     From the...



        10         Q     To know how much the commissioners are



        11     measuring your water use so you could compare it



        12     against your own?



        13         A     Well, my assumption was I would call



        14     and let them know how much water I used.



        15         Q     If I can have a moment.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER:  Yes.  In fact, let's



        17     take the first morning break right now.



        18               (Recess.)



        19               SPECIAL MASTER: Back in session.



        20         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  I only have a



        21     couple questions left.



        22               I think you mentioned when we were



        23     looking at the differences between the



        24     commissioner's record numbers and your record



        25     numbers, I think you indicated that it might be
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         1     because they didn't have your early season



         2     amounts; was that correct?



         3         A     We would have to look through mine to



         4     compare.



         5         Q     But you did call them when you started



         6     taking records and using water, correct?



         7         A     They informed us when the contract



         8     water was to begin.  And sometimes I don't have



         9     all my pumps set up just right then, but...so...



        10         Q     But you call them when you start your



        11     pumps?



        12         A     They give us a date, they give me a day



        13     of when the contract water begins.



        14         Q     When do you start keeping records?



        15         A     Usually I call them when I set up my



        16     pumps, tell them I got my pumps set up, which



        17     ones and how much...



        18         Q     You're ready to go to start using water



        19     with the pumps?



        20         A     Right.



        21         Q     What was the year that you got storage



        22     water for the first time?



        23         A     You mean the first contract?



        24         Q     Yes.



        25         A     We bought some water 50 acre-feet from
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         1     -- through the Montana water -- or through the



         2     water users, but it was Indian water in 2001, I



         3     believe.



         4         Q     Do you know how much water -- how much



         5     that water cost you?



         6         A     I think it was $5 an acre-foot, but I'm



         7     not positive.  That may be on one of these



         8     documents here.



         9         Q     I won't worry about trying to ferret



        10     that out.  How long have you had your shares,



        11     your annual shares, in the Tongue River Water



        12     Users Association?



        13         A     I think by 1999 we had most -- we had



        14     them all, I'm just almost positive.



        15         Q     Did you have some amount less than that



        16     in years before?



        17         A     Yeah, we got them -- you know, those



        18     dates I've tried to find, and just recently tried



        19     to find them again, and I couldn't find them.  I



        20     don't know for sure which days we got each



        21     contract.



        22         Q     But you had them in years before '99,



        23     at least some --



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     -- some contracts?
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         1         A     We tried to pick them up as we -- you



         2     know, we bid on contracts and couldn't get them a



         3     lot of times.



         4         Q     What do you mean by that?



         5         A     There was a meeting when Herb Mosley



         6     sold his place, or was selling a lot of water, I



         7     went to one of those meetings, and we had, like,



         8     an auction almost bidding on his water.  I



         9     couldn't buy any of that water.  There was a lot



        10     of water, too.



        11         Q     So you had water contracts before they



        12     had water commissioners on the river, correct?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     At that time did you call anybody to



        15     let them know when you started using the water?



        16         A     Before the commissioners?   No.



        17         Q     So you were able to take stored water



        18     when you needed it?



        19         A     Well, we used the ditch as much as we



        20     could.  And then I don't know when we got the



        21     pumps and I can't remember the dates on the



        22     contracts.



        23         Q     Okay.



        24         A     So...



        25         Q     Did you have to call anybody and say, I
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         1     need this amount of acre-feet to start using it



         2     on this date?



         3               MR. SWANSON:  Objection.  Could you



         4     clarify what period of time we are talking about,



         5     because I'm not clear on that.



         6               MR. KUHLMANN:  Prior to the water



         7     commissioners being appointed.



         8               THE WITNESS:  Okay.  No, I didn't -- I



         9     didn't have to call anybody.   We used the ditch.



        10     That was really our only source of water before I



        11     got the pumps, or the contracts.



        12               MR. KUHLMANN:  I don't think I have any



        13     other questions.  Thank you very much.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.  Mr. Swanson.



        15                     CROSS-EXAMINATION



        16         Q     (By Mr. Swanson:)  Good morning, Mr.



        17     Carrel.



        18         A     Good morning.



        19         Q     Got just a few things to follow up on



        20     from Mr. Kuhlman's exam.  To begin with, you



        21     indicated on that large blowup map behind you the



        22     area where you farm, and could you just describe



        23     for us how far below the dam is, if you know, in



        24     terms of water travel time?  There's been a lot



        25     of discussion about travel time of water coming
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         1     from the dam down the river.  Are you familiar



         2     with that concept?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     And how long usually does it take the



         5     water from release from the dam to come to your



         6     point of diversion?



         7         A     It depends on how much head they have,



         8     how much water is in the reservoir.  If it's



         9     pretty full, it comes in less than one day.



        10         Q     In less than one day.  And we talked



        11     about your water rights, and we don't need to



        12     look at them, but you mentioned you have a 1894



        13     and 1896 water right.  I understand that you



        14     actually share this water right with another



        15     ranch; is that right?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And what's that other ranch?



        18         A     Diamond Cross.



        19         Q     So the acreage amount that you



        20     indicated to us is not the full amount of acreage



        21     used under those water rights; is that correct?



        22         A     It's a split right.  It's adjudicated



        23     and we each have our acreage.  I'm not --



        24         Q     That's what I was asking.  So there is



        25     acreage under the Diamond Cross Ranch as well as
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         1     acreage under your ranch that were split out and



         2     accounted for under those water rights, correct?



         3         A     That's correct, yes.



         4         Q     And that 1894 right, is that accurate



         5     that that's the number 5 right on the river, is



         6     that according to your recollection?



         7         A     There's a list on that final decree,



         8     1914 decree.  Just about fifth.



         9         Q     So in a normal year, you're able to get



        10     a good amount of direct flow through your ditch



        11     for irrigation; is that right?



        12         A     On a normal year, yes.



        13         Q     Now, in a dry year you mentioned that



        14     you have trouble with your ditch actually getting



        15     the water to the field.  Do you use your ditch on



        16     years when there's water commissioners regulating



        17     the water?



        18         A     When they start -- when we are starting



        19     on the contract water, when they say all contract



        20     water, then I have to shut that ditch off.



        21         Q     Okay.  Because you mentioned they've



        22     never measured your ditch, the commissioners have



        23     never measured your ditch, and is that because



        24     you've never used it when the commissioners were



        25     on regulating the river?
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         1         A     That's correct.



         2         Q     I'm going to look at two exhibits that



         3     Mr. Kuhlmann asked you about.  The first one is



         4     Wyoming 245.  You should have it there before



         5     you.  Let me know if you want me to help you find



         6     it.  And the second one is Montana 389.



         7         A     What is the number again?



         8         Q     Montana 389.  We'll start with that one



         9     first.  That's the letter from Mr. Musgrave to



        10     the Tongue River Water Users.  Do you have that



        11     one?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     I see it has a date of July 19, 2004,



        14     and Mr. Musgrave is notifying the water users



        15     that you have leased his water for the year 2004,



        16     correct?



        17         A     Correct.



        18         Q     So you would have paid Mr. Musgrave for



        19     the water by that point?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     And then if we go to Wyoming 245, that



        22     is actually -- I believe it's the sticky note



        23     exhibit -- it is -- the handwritten notes on what



        24     you paid for water over the years?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     Wyoming 245.  Do you see that sticky



         2     note that's kind of in the center of the page



         3     that has multiple years accounted one on top of



         4     the other with lines between?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     The top line is 8/24/04, do you see that?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     And it says 190 acre-feet at $6 per



         9     acre foot for 2005.  Do you see that?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     And that's an amount of $1140?



        12         A     Right.



        13         Q     So piecing these notes together, it



        14     appears that in July you paid Mr. Musgrave an



        15     amount of money, do you think it was $1140 as



        16     well for the first purchase?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     And then a month later you pay him



        19     again for use of that water for the following



        20     year; is that right?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     It looks like you were putting out a



        23     lot of extra money in 2004 because of water



        24     shortage; is that a fair assessment?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     And that was money you weren't planning



         2     on spending at the beginning of the irrigation



         3     season?



         4         A     No.  This water came available and I



         5     jumped right on it.



         6         Q     You had to, right?



         7         A     Right.



         8         Q     So that water short year was a pretty



         9     expensive year for you, wasn't it?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     When we looked at records later on, and



        12     we don't need to look now, but there was a note



        13     on your records for 2002 that looked like you



        14     were calculating based on 200 acre-feet available



        15     as your water, do you recall that?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And you just testified earlier and just



        18     a moment ago that you believe by the year 1999



        19     you actually had 212.5 acre-feet available.



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Do you recall which is the number we



        22     should go with for 2002?



        23         A     212.5.



        24         Q     Okay.  Let's go ahead and look at



        25     Exhibit M-386, that was the records of the 2004
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         1     usage that Mr. Kuhlmann had you look at.  Now



         2     I'll just represent to you, and I think Mr.



         3     Kuhlmann may have already done this, that Mr.



         4     Kepper actually has already been here and has



         5     already testified in this case, and in fact



         6     testified about these very documents, and I



         7     believe his testimony was that these are not all



         8     of his records and that these may or may not be



         9     the records that were filed with the district



        10     court.  So the question is, do you have any



        11     reason to disagree with Mr. Kepper about these



        12     documents?



        13         A     No.



        14         Q     And in fact you've never seen these



        15     documents before until you will were preparing to



        16     come testify here; is that correct?



        17         A     That's correct.



        18         Q     So is it fair to say that Mr. Kepper



        19     would be the best person to testify has to why he



        20     accounted for certain things in these documents?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     But since we are asking you to look at



        23     documents that you know nothing about, I guess



        24     I'll just ask one additional question.  You were



        25     leasing water in 2004 from Ms. Valentine and Mr.
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         1     Musgrave and I don't see them on the list here



         2     for consumption.  Do you see them on any of these



         3     pages from Mr. Kepper for 2004?



         4         A     No.



         5         Q     So is it possible that he accounted for



         6     their water and their consumption against your



         7     account without listing it next to your number?



         8         A     Yes, it's possible.



         9               MR. KUHLMANN:  I think that's



        10     speculation.



        11               SPECIAL MASTER:  I agree.  I think it



        12     is speculation at this particular point in time.



        13               MR. SWANSON:  I told him in advance



        14     that I was going to speculate about the documents.



        15               MR. KUHLMANN:  I just wanted to make



        16     sure you went through with it.



        17               MR. SWANSON:  You don't need to answer



        18     that question, Mr. Carrel.  I think we will let



        19     the documents and Mr. Kepper's testimony speak



        20     for itself.



        21               THE WITNESS:  Sounds good.



        22               MR. SWANSON:  All right.



        23         Q     (By Mr. Swanson:)  Mr. Kuhlmann asked



        24     you when we looked at your detailed records from



        25     your particular diary, Mr. Kuhlmann asked you to

�



                                                            4404







         1     look at your 2006 records, and when you



         2     calculated your amount of water used, he asked



         3     you whether September 8th was the last day you



         4     were irrigating.  I think we'll need to flip



         5     there.   I found a notation two pages later that



         6     said you were irrigating through September 18th.



         7     I wanted you to verify that.  I will probably



         8     need to show you the exact document.



         9               Actually, it would be better if we



        10     count from the back of the document to find the



        11     right page.  If you go to the section that's



        12     2007, near the back.  Do you see that, first page



        13     of 2007?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     And then if you count four pages



        16     forward, the top of the page, I will read it so



        17     we are all on the same page literally.  As I see



        18     the top of the page, it says, a Zulu 1300 gpm,



        19     and has the date, times column, and the top



        20     column says, 830.  The next column is 831.  Do



        21     you have that date?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     So if you look down, do you see



        24     irrigation, or do you see water use notes through



        25     September 19 on that page?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     And then if you turn three more pages



         3     towards the back there's a notation that says,



         4     PTO 590 gpm.  Do you see the top of that page?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     And looks like those notes go September



         7     14 through September 26 for flood irrigation?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     Would you agree that looks like you



        10     were irrigating up to September 26?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     So would you agree records that we



        13     looked at are not the complete record of your



        14     water usage in 2006 from the water commissioner?



        15         A     Yes.  His records are incomplete, I



        16     think.



        17         Q     And then, I guess, I want to follow up



        18     on one thing you mentioned to Mr. Kuhlmann at the



        19     end.  You were explaining how you communicate



        20     with the water commissioners and with Mr. Hayes



        21     and near the end of the season in terms of



        22     knowing when you would run out of water or when



        23     you're getting close, but then you also mentioned



        24     that you would talk to Mr. Hayes about when the



        25     association or the dam would run out.  Could you
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         1     explain what you mean by that?



         2         A     Well, they have measured flow coming



         3     out.  They know how much -- they have a rough



         4     idea partway through the season when they might,



         5     with everybody pumping, when they're going to run



         6     out of stored water.  So I wanted to know when



         7     they were going to run out of stored water so I



         8     could use as much my stored water, try to time it



         9     as close as I could when they were going to run



        10     out.



        11         Q     So that you don't save your water to



        12     the end of the summer and then the dam itself has



        13     to shut down before you can use all your shares?



        14         A     Right.



        15         Q     And has that ever happened to you, or



        16     do you know personally any neighbors that that



        17     happened to?



        18         A     Ran out of water before --



        19         Q     Well, basically the shutdown happened



        20     prior to them actually running out of their



        21     personal shares?



        22         A     I don't know that.



        23         Q     But it was something that you watched



        24     out for?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     And then in terms of when you would



         2     irrigate and use your pumps, you mentioned your



         3     pumps would shut off, you would shut your pumps



         4     off when you were haying.  Are there any other



         5     times in the year when your pumps were off,



         6     whether you intended them to be off or they came



         7     off for some reason?



         8         A     Well, I'd shut them down and cleaned



         9     the moss off.  If I was going to be gone that day



        10     or something, I'd shut them off, yeah.



        11         Q     Why does moss matter for the pump that



        12     you're using out of the river?



        13         A     These flood pumps plug up with moss,



        14     especially when it's hot out.  There's more moss



        15     in the river for some reason when it's hot.  And



        16     it plugs up the impeller of the pump, my pumps,



        17     and I got to shut them off and clean all that out



        18     and restart them.



        19         Q     Do you know whether when they have moss



        20     build-up whether they are using the same amount



        21     of water as they were when the moss was not



        22     blocking the intake?



        23         A     They are using a lot less water when



        24     they are plugged up.   Some of them even shut off



        25     because they are just not getting enough water.
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         1         Q     And did the water commissioners account



         2     for those times when they are plugged up and



         3     reduce the amount of water charged to you?   Is



         4     there any way for the water commissioner to



         5     actually do that?



         6         A     No.my records show when I started them



         7     and stopped them but it doesn't show any



         8     percentage of what the pump is when it's plugged



         9     up or anything.  It's the full amount when they



        10     measured it.  So it's based on when that pump is



        11     clean and when you first start them, that's when



        12     they pump the most.



        13         Q     But they are not always clean, are they?



        14         A     No.



        15         Q     Do you ever have to clean the intakes?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     How often?



        18         A     This big pump I have, in the heat of



        19     the summer, sometimes every hour.  If I want to



        20     keep it running and the water continuing across



        21     the field, I got to get out there every hour a



        22     lot of times and clean them.



        23               MR. SWANSON:  No further questions,



        24     Your Honor.



        25               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Thank you.  So,
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         1     Mr. Carrel, I just have a couple very small



         2     questions.  I'm still trying to get a sense of



         3     the way in which water rights actually operate in



         4     the Tongue River Valley on the Montana side.  And



         5     you were talking earlier about the acquisition of



         6     the shares in the Tongue River Water Users



         7     Association that you own.  And you said you had



         8     to bid for them.



         9               THE WITNESS:  Right.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER:  So if you want to



        11     acquire rights not on a short term lease but on a



        12     permanent basis, then you pay a price up front



        13     for the actual shares themselves?



        14               THE WITNESS:  Yes.  Pay the person that



        15     owns them, and then every year there's a fee from



        16     the water users, it's like an operation fee, or



        17     some of the contracts aren't completely paid up



        18     and you may have to pay some on that, also.



        19               SPECIAL MASTER:  So that's exactly what



        20     I wanted to know.  So in the case of the shares



        21     that you own outright, you've paid a certain



        22     amount at the very outset for those rights, and



        23     then in addition to that, you pay an amount each



        24     year for the rights?



        25               THE WITNESS:  For the operation fee or
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         1     something, for those contract waters.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.  And then I



         3     also just wanted to follow up on one of Mr.



         4     Swanson's questions.  So when the Tongue River



         5     Water Users Association tells you that you need



         6     to switch over to your contract storage rights,



         7     at that point I understand you just testified you



         8     shut down your ditch?



         9               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER:  And so at that point



        11     you're only using your contract rights?



        12               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  You are no longer



        14     using your direct flow rights?



        15               THE WITNESS:  That's right.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  And then you



        17     might have testified about this at the very



        18     outset, but I wasn't sure.  Your storage contract



        19     rights, do you use those rights on all of the



        20     various fields that you irrigate?



        21               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        22               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.  Those were



        23     the only questions that I had.  Mr. Kuhlmann.



        24               MR. KUHLMANN:  I just have one



        25     question.
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         1                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION



         2         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  2005 you had a



         3     hundred percent of your contract water?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     But you still leased additional water



         6     that year, too?



         7         A     Yes.  We have to pay ahead.



         8         Q     Okay.



         9               MR. KUHLMANN:  That's all I have.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.  So, Mr.



        11     Carrel, that's the conclusion of all the



        12     questions, so you can step down.  Thank you very



        13     much for coming today and testifying.



        14               (Witness excused.)



        15               SPECIAL MASTER: Shall we take, like, a



        16     two-minute break just to clear this up?



        17               MR. KASTE:  I have something.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER: Yes.



        19               MR. KASTE:  I think I want to offer a



        20     stipulation.  I heard, and have heard, while we



        21     don't have the court's records -- well, that's



        22     not entirely true -- Montana in its exhibits has



        23     the records filed with the water court, and I



        24     would stipulate to their admission because they



        25     are not any different than the ones we've talked
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         1     about.  So if you would like to have that in the



         2     record, I'll be happy to stipulate to the court



         3     records.  We can pick up the numbers and stick it



         4     in.  Frankly, I'm kind of surprised he didn't do



         5     that with the water commissioners, but it wasn't



         6     my case.



         7               SPECIAL MASTER:  So what are we talking



         8     about now?



         9               MR. DRAPER:  That's my question.



        10               MR. KASTE:  There's a series of



        11     exhibits that Montana had identified that has the



        12     docket from the water court with the various



        13     orders and documents that were filed with the



        14     court in their list of exhibits.   They haven't



        15     been offered but I'm happy to let them in.  I



        16     want to take away this sort of ridiculous



        17     uncertainty about, well, don't know what you



        18     filed with the court.



        19               MR. DRAPER:  Well, I appreciate Mr.



        20     Kaste's offer.  It's not totally clear to me



        21     what's involved with that, but I'll be glad to



        22     discuss it with him and see if we might come to



        23     some arrangement so we make sure we have a clear



        24     record on it.



        25               SPECIAL MASTER:  That would obviously
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         1     be better if we had official records rather than



         2     unofficial records for at least some items.  So



         3     if the two of you could talk and determine what



         4     could be admitted by stipulation, that would be



         5     great.



         6               MR. DRAPER:  Very good.



         7               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.  So we are



         8     cleared up at the witness chair and so, Mr.



         9     Kuhlmann, is it your witness again?



        10               MR. KUHLMANN:  Yes, it is, Your Honor.



        11     Could I just have a couple minutes?



        12               SPECIAL MASTER: Yes.



        13               (Recess.)



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  Back on the record.



        15               MR. DRAPER:  I wanted to mention as we



        16     get started with the next witness, Mr. Kevin



        17     Peterson, from the Department of Natural



        18     Resources and Conservation State of Montana will



        19     be handling our participation with this witness.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you very much.



        21     Welcome to the table.



        22               MR. PETERSON:  Thank you, Your Honor.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER:  Been sort of relegated



        24     to the side.



        25               MR. PERSON:  Actually, the adult table.
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         1     I don't have to sit at the kid's table.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  Mr. Kuhlmann.



         3               MR. KUHLMANN:  Call Raymond Harwood.



         4     Whereupon,



         5                     RAYMOND HARWOOD,



         6     having been first duly sworn, was examined and



         7     testified as follows:



         8               DEPUTY CLERK:  Please state your name



         9     and spell it for the record.



        10               THE WITNESS:  Raymond A. Harwood.



        11     H-a-r-w-o-o-d.



        12               SPECIAL MASTER:  Good morning, Mr.



        13     Harwood.



        14               THE WITNESS:  Good morning.



        15               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Kuhlmann.



        16                    DIRECT EXAMINATION



        17         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Good morning, Mr.



        18     Harwood.



        19         A     Good morning.



        20         Q     Could you tell us your address?



        21         A     7100 Moon Creek Road, Miles City,



        22     Montana, 59301.



        23         Q     What's your current occupation?



        24         A     Rancher.



        25         Q     Do you operate a ranch along the Tongue
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         1     River?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     If you could pull up the blown up



         4     exhibit, demonstrative exhibit from Montana, a



         5     map of the Tongue River in Montana.  Can you



         6     indicate for us where on the river you're located?



         7         A     Down in here.  Right about there.



         8         Q     Describe that in relation to the Birney



         9     -- well, from Brandenburg it says on here?



        10         A     It would be approximately eight miles



        11     down river.



        12         Q     So to the north?



        13         A     Yeah, to the north.



        14         Q     That's all I have with that.  Thank



        15     you.



        16               How long have you been at your ranch.



        17         A     I've been there all my life.



        18         Q     So you have -- what's your experience



        19     with irrigation?



        20         A     Irrigated about all my life.



        21         Q     You irrigate out of the Tongue River?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Can you generally describe your



        24     irrigation operation?



        25         A     We pump with electric pumps and open
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         1     ditches and run it down through the border dikes.



         2         Q     And how many acres do you irrigate?



         3         A     Be about 245 acres total.



         4         Q     And you always irrigate that amount?



         5         A     We have irrigated as high as 300.



         6         Q     And when did that happen?



         7         A     That's about -- well, dad moved there



         8     in 1950 and probably '52 on, more or less.  Maybe



         9     not the full 300 but be almost that.



        10         Q     About how many different fields do you



        11     have?



        12         A     I believe there's about 12 fields all



        13     together.



        14         Q     Do you have water rights that you use



        15     on the Tongue River?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     I tried to find a good map to help us



        18     look through so we can all get an idea what your



        19     irrigation looks like.  And I found two that I



        20     think we can work on.  I have put up on the



        21     display a page from Exhibit M-6, which was a



        22     rebuttal report submitted by an expert from



        23     Montana.  This page has your name on it, correct?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     Moving to the next page, and looking
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         1     through these, they've got at least two different



         2     pictures here, one is a map and another is an



         3     aerial photograph.  Does that look familiar as an



         4     area on your property?



         5         A     Yes.  I believe it does, yes.



         6         Q     Do you recognize the documents that



         7     have those, the map and the picture?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     And what are those?



        10         A     The one is the water right and the



        11     other is the map of the fields.



        12         Q     Okay.  All right.  Then there's another



        13     one I wanted to show.  This next page D-344, that



        14     also has your name, correct?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     If you follow through here there's a



        17     map and three aerial photographs.  Do you



        18     recognize the area they depict as part of your



        19     property?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Do you recognize the document that



        22     contain those depictions?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     So looking at those pictures, which one



        25     do you think would be best for us to put up here
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         1     to then talk about what your whole irrigation



         2     operation is?



         3         A     The picture you have up there now.



         4         Q     All right.  We'll keep that one then.



         5     I'm zoom in a little bit here.



         6               This is a document from one of the



         7     water rights documents.  So can you tell me about



         8     this water right?  Tell me about what this shows.



         9         A     That shows the fields, the fields that



        10     I irrigate.



        11         Q     Can you describe how you -- where you



        12     take water and how you use water on those fields?



        13         A     We start pumping out of the river with



        14     electric irrigation pump and start with the first



        15     field closest to the pump and work our way down



        16     river.



        17         Q     To help everybody see it, I have a



        18     laser pointer here.



        19               So you described that you start at the



        20     first field and move down?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     And is that to the northeast?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     There's a little red dot on this map



        25     down in the bottom left-hand corner next to the
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         1     river.  Do you see that?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Do you know what that dot is showing?



         4         A     Pump site.



         5         Q     So that's where you take water for that



         6     set of fields?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Do you have any other points of



         9     diversion along the river for these fields?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Where would that be at?



        12         A     Well, that would be about a quarter of



        13     a mile west of the dot there that you are



        14     referring to.



        15         Q     Okay.  So off the map?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Is that point of diversion you use for



        18     the fields shown here or for different fields?



        19         A     It would be for different fields.   It



        20     would be for the upper fields.



        21         Q     Was that one of previous maps?



        22         A     It's on this map.  It's only like a



        23     quarter of a mile up river.  I don't see a dot



        24     there for it.  Maybe it shows it on the other map.



        25         Q     Can you describe what other acreage you
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         1     irrigate in relation to this set of acreage?



         2         A     Well, what I call the upper pump that



         3     irrigates about 33 acres, the upper bench.



         4         Q     Is this a map of that acreage that you



         5     refer to as the upper acreage?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     And this is a map located on page



         8     D-340.  Do you see where the point of diversion



         9     is for this acreage?



        10         A     Where the red dot is.



        11         Q     Is that also a pump?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Now, there's some acreage that's at



        14     least shaded further south of that point of



        15     diversion.   Do you irrigate that property?



        16         A     It can be irrigated.



        17         Q     Have you done so?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     When have you done that?



        20         A     Well, we've always irrigated it.  If we



        21     have an in stream flow of water, we would



        22     irrigate extra water.



        23         Q     And where do you take water to put on



        24     that property?   Where is the point of diversion



        25     for that?
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         1         A     Where the red dot is.



         2         Q     And then you pump it up river to get to



         3     that property?



         4         A     Well, it pumps -- yeah, it would be



         5     down river.



         6         Q     Okay.  Okay.  I'm looking at different



         7     spot than you were.  I'll stop there.



         8               That other property you talked about



         9     before with the other point of diversion on the



        10     other water right, where is that in relation to



        11     the map that we have up here?



        12         A     The 64?



        13         Q     There was another map we looked at



        14     before this.  Do you know where the property that



        15     was shown on that map is?



        16         A     That's right next to it.



        17         Q     Okay.  And can you describe what you



        18     mean by next to it?



        19         A     Well, it would be kind of south of



        20     that, towards the river.



        21         Q     Okay.  So between kind of where the



        22     blue lines are and the river?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     There's a little mark kind of next to



        25     the river, it says 2704, is that the area roughly
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         1     you're talking about?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     So for all these fields that you've



         4     talked about, these are all irrigated with border



         5     dikes?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     And how long have you had those in place?



         8         A     Oh, some of it was in probably when dad



         9     was first there, and then we gradually put more



        10     of it in.   Some of it had to be releveled and



        11     work done on it.



        12         Q     Okay.  Do you know what the priority



        13     dates are for the two water rights we've looked



        14     at?



        15         A     Well, the priority dates now are -- 64



        16     is 1946 and for the 65 is 1952.



        17         Q     And you said now.   Was that different



        18     than sometime before?



        19         A     Well, the previous right, the decreed



        20     right, was 1903.



        21         Q     And that was for both of those water



        22     rights?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Why did that priority or the date change?



        25         A     When they readjudicated the water, why
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         1     then the Bureau of Indian Affairs objected, there



         2     were some objections to that water right.



         3         Q     So the changes to your water rights



         4     were made while resolving those objections?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Do you know at what time that change to



         7     those priority dates was made?



         8         A     I believe 2012 or '13 when that



         9     started, roughly.



        10         Q     So if we had records here in this



        11     report that were from prior 2012, would they



        12     reflect that change?



        13         A     I don't believe so.



        14         Q     Do you use both of your water rights in



        15     every year?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Do you use water from another source,



        18     too?



        19         A     From the water users association.



        20         Q     And you have contracts with them?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     How much -- how many shares do you have?



        23         A     208 feet.



        24         Q     Have you ever leased more water?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     And was that temporarily?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     When was that?



         4         A     I believe 2004.



         5         Q     Who did you lease that from?



         6         A     Northern Cheyenne Tribe.



         7         Q     And how many acre-feet was that?



         8         A     300 acre-feet.



         9         Q     How much did it cost?



        10         A     $10 an acre foot.



        11         Q     Do you have any other water rights?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Can you describe those?



        14         A     There's one on Cottonwood Creek, it



        15     runs into a dam.



        16         Q     From this map can you describe where



        17     Cottonwood Creek is?



        18         A     It would be where that red dot is, kind



        19     of north -- be northeast -- northwest where the



        20     road is.   Right across the dam there that you



        21     see on the edge where the fields start.  I



        22     believe you can see the dam right there.



        23         Q     Okay.  So it looks like there's a



        24     little outlined area of blue?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     Okay.  You think that shows where the



         2     dam is at?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     And the reservoir right with the water



         5     behind it?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     If there wasn't the dam, would that



         8     water flow into the Tongue River?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     Do you know what the priority date



        11     is -- well, you said you had a water right for



        12     that dam.  Do you know what the priority date is



        13     for that?



        14         A     1952.



        15         Q     Has anybody ever asked you or made you



        16     open that dam to allow water to pass into the



        17     Tongue River?



        18         A     No.



        19         Q     How do you use the water -- do you use



        20     the water from that dam?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     How do you use it?



        23         A     We divert it out of there through head



        24     gates.



        25         Q     And then where does that water go?
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         1         A     On to the fields to irrigate them.



         2         Q     Are you able to use your existing



         3     ditches to carry that water?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     When do you use that right?



         6         A     We usually use that first.  If it fills



         7     up with snow water, we will use that first.



         8         Q     And when does it usually fill up?



         9         A     In, oh, it could be the last of



        10     February or first part of March, whenever it



        11     melts, if we have snow.



        12         Q     You don't always have snow?



        13         A     No.



        14         Q     Does it ever fill up again?



        15         A     Yes, it might once from rain water.



        16         Q     So after your done using the reservoir



        17     to irrigate, you close the headgate back up?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     So if there's water that comes down



        20     Cottonwood Creek it will reach and stop at that



        21     headgate?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Around when do you start irrigating?



        24         A     Oh, about the 15th of May to the 20th,



        25     depending on how wet the year is.
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         1         Q     And generally when do you stop



         2     irrigating?



         3         A     Around the end of August.



         4         Q     I apologize if I asked this already,



         5     but what do you grow?



         6         A     Alfalfa and hay grain.



         7         Q     And how many cuttings of alfalfa do you



         8     get a year?



         9         A     Normally two, sometimes three.



        10         Q     How many times do you have to irrigate



        11     to get a cutting?



        12         A     Normally once before each cutting.



        13         Q     How long does it take you to irrigate a



        14     field?



        15         A     Depends on the field.



        16         Q     Do you irrigate -- well, do you



        17     irrigate all your fields all at one time?



        18         A     No.



        19         Q     And you said you start kind of up the



        20     river and move down field by field?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     How long does it take you to irrigate



        23     from the top of your property to the bottom?



        24         A     Well, that depends on how dry it is,



        25     but probably be at least a week or week and a half.
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         1         Q     During the irrigation season do you



         2     ever stop pumping water?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     When do you do that?



         5         A     When I hay the ground.  Cut hay.



         6         Q     And about how long would you stop



         7     pumping?



         8         A     A week to ten days.



         9         Q     And you said you have two to three



        10     cuttings, so that would happen two or three times



        11     a summer?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     So does the amount of water you take



        14     out of the river change from day to day?



        15         A     I wouldn't say day to day the Tongue



        16     maintains flow.   It can.



        17         Q     Are there any other reasons why you



        18     stop irrigating during the year, or stop your



        19     pumps during the year?



        20         A     Well, if I run out of water I stop them.



        21         Q     When does that happen?



        22         A     In dry years.



        23         Q     Do you remember what years they were



        24     that you describe as dry years?



        25         A     I believe, I'm not real sure, I think

�



                                                            4429







         1     it started in 2000 or 2001 there were a few there.



         2         Q     Do you remember how many?



         3         A     I believe a couple.   I'm not sure.  I



         4     can't remember that far back.



         5         Q     I understand.  Do you have any measuring



         6     devices on your pumps?



         7         A     No.



         8         Q     Any measuring devices further down on



         9     your ditches?



        10         A     No.



        11         Q     Do you keep records of when you use



        12     water?



        13         A     No.



        14         Q     Do you keep records of how much water



        15     you use?



        16         A     No.



        17         Q     Do you know how much of your Tongue



        18     River Water Users water you use to irrigate every



        19     year?



        20         A     Probably all of it.



        21         Q     Are you familiar with the priority --



        22     are you familiar with the priority regulation of



        23     water rights?



        24         A     Somewhat.



        25         Q     What would you describe as somewhat?
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         1     What's your understanding?



         2         A     Well, I guess if your date, if somebody



         3     precedes you, they have water over you, you have,



         4     like, where mine is now 1952, if somebody has a



         5     prior right, they can take water before you do,



         6     if it gets down to that.



         7         Q     Are you familiar with using the term



         8     "call" in relation to priority regulations?



         9         A     No.



        10         Q     How does someone make sure if they've



        11     got a senior water right that a junior isn't



        12     using it and that they are using the water they



        13     are supposed to have?



        14         A     I suppose you would be told.  I'm not



        15     sure.



        16         Q     Told by who?



        17         A     The water commissioner.



        18         Q     Has any water user ever contacted you



        19     to turn off using your water rights so that their



        20     senior priority could get water?



        21         A     No.



        22         Q     Do you know if any other time that's



        23     happened on the river?



        24         A     Not that I can recall.



        25         Q     You mentioned water commissioners.
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         1     Were they ever appointed on the Tongue River?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Do you know when?



         4         A     I believe in 2001 or '2.



         5         Q     Do you know how many years there were



         6     water commissioners?



         7         A     Four or five.  I'm not sure.



         8         Q     Do you ever interact with the



         9     commissioners?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Can you describe those interactions?



        12         A     Well, when they come through to check



        13     the pumps we kind of discuss a little bit about



        14     whether we are on stored water.  Usually when



        15     they come we are on stored water.



        16         Q     You heard Mr. Carrel talk earlier about



        17     commissioners measuring the capacity of his pumps?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Did they do that for your pumps?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     When do they do that?



        22         A     I'm not sure.  I believe 2002, whenever



        23     they started.  When they first started having



        24     water commissioners, that's when they measured it.



        25         Q     After they did that, those measurements
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         1     of your capacity, did they come back to your



         2     property?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     When did they come back?



         5         A     They come back the first summer that



         6     they started measuring, and then they come back,



         7     I don't know, how often it was, come back and



         8     check to see how much water you were using.



         9         Q     Did they do that at the end of the year?



        10         A     Oh, several times through the summer.



        11         Q     Did you talk to them when they came



        12     through?



        13         A     If I see them come through I talk to



        14     them, yes.  Sometimes they were there and I



        15     didn't know when they were there sometimes.



        16         Q     So not every time?



        17         A     Not every time, no.



        18         Q     So you don't know how many times they



        19     actually came?



        20         A     No, I don't.



        21         Q     So they were there to measure the use



        22     of water, correct?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Do you know how they measured?



        25         A     Used what their measurement was when
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         1     they put the instrument on it, and I have hour



         2     meters on my pumps, on the electric pumps on the



         3     control panels, and they either use that or off



         4     our REA meter, electrical meter.



         5         Q     Do you know how often they used those



         6     different methods?



         7         A     Whenever they come to check, I imagine,



         8     they wrote it down.



         9         Q     Well, do you know which one they used



        10     more often?



        11         A     I believe they used the hour meter.



        12         Q     And where is the hour meter located?



        13         A     On the control panel, control box.



        14         Q     On the pumps?



        15         A     The starter box off the power pole



        16     close to the pump.



        17         Q     So the nearest power pole?



        18         A     H-m h-m-m.   Yes.



        19         Q     Describe, I guess, your use of your



        20     stored water from the Tongue River Water Users



        21     Association.  When do you use it?



        22         A     Well, when the in stream flow, when we



        23     are out of that water, the river starts getting



        24     low, why then we go -- sometimes we go on stored



        25     water.
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         1         Q     Do you know when that typically happens?



         2         A     No.



         3         Q     Does anybody ever tell you when you're



         4     on stored water?



         5         A     Yeah, usually -- sometimes we get a



         6     letter when the water commissioners shows up,



         7     usually we are on stored water.



         8         Q     Do you ever have to contact someone to



         9     have your stored water delivered to your points



        10     of diversion?



        11         A     I believe I've done that through the



        12     water commissioners, and then I might have once



        13     or twice contacted somebody.



        14         Q     Were those once or twice times, when



        15     did those happen?



        16         A     I don't remember.



        17         Q     Were those years when there were water



        18     commissioners?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     In years when there weren't water



        21     commissioners did you ever order delivery of



        22     stored water?



        23         A     No.



        24         Q     So you were able to take your stored



        25     water directly from the river when you needed it?
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         1         A     I believe so.



         2         Q     The years when you had commissioners,



         3     did you ever ask for water, stored water, but



         4     never receive it?



         5         A     I don't believe so.   I'm not certain



         6     on that.



         7         Q     I got a little head of myself.  Going



         8     back to those years when there weren't



         9     commissioners, are you able to determine or



        10     distinguish when you're taking stored water from



        11     the river and what water you're taking into your



        12     direct flow rights?



        13         A     Probably not.



        14         Q     How about years when there were



        15     commissioners?



        16         A     You mean as an individual?



        17         Q     Yes.  You.



        18         A     No, I wouldn't be able to.



        19         Q     Do you know how you would be able -- or



        20     do you know if there's a way you could?



        21         A     They probably would notify you.  You'd



        22     be notified.



        23         Q     Have you ever used more stored water



        24     than you had shares for?



        25         A     May have.
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         1         Q     Do you know when that might have been?



         2         A     No.



         3         Q     We'll take a look now at Exhibit M-394.



         4     This is measurements by the water commissioners



         5     from 2006.  Can you turn to page, I believe it's



         6     MT-100027.  It's in the bottom right-hand corner.



         7         A     27?



         8         Q     Yeah, 100027.  Are you there?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     All right.  Turn to the page right



        11     before that, there's -- it's a letter from Charlie



        12     Gephart.  Do you know who Charlie Gephart is?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Who is he?



        15         A     Water commissioner.



        16         Q     On this letter it says, attached is a



        17     list of stored water consumption by Tongue River



        18     Water Users Association September 4 through



        19     September 30, 2006.  Also says, no amount of



        20     water contracted reflects a 10 percent reduction



        21     in acre-feet due to the reservoir not filling to



        22     capacity.



        23               All right.  If we turn to the next



        24     page, are you listed on this page?



        25         A     On 27?
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         1         Q     Correct.



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Okay.  And about where are you on the



         4     page?



         5         A     About a third up; three up from the



         6     bottom.



         7         Q     All right.  If we look over in the



         8     second to right-hand column, it says, amount of



         9     water contracted acre-feet, and then down next to



        10     you it says, 180 acre-feet.  Do you see that?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     So you have 200 acre-feet total, and



        13     with the 10 percent reduction, that meant you



        14     would have had 180 acre-feet left?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     So you would have had 180 acre-feet you



        17     could have used?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And the other column next to it, one of



        20     them has an asterisk, and says 2.8, and it says



        21     -- that's under the column contract water



        22     remaining, and then the asterisk seems to be



        23     explained in the comments line as amount over



        24     contract.   Do you see that?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     So that's showing that the commissioner



         2     measured you using 2.8 acre-feet over your



         3     contract amount.  And did you know about --



         4               MR. PETERSON:  Objection.  Compound



         5     question.



         6               MR. KUHLMANN:  I hadn't gotten the



         7     question.



         8               MR. PETERSON:  He was asking two



         9     questions, Your Honor.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER:  Why don't you rephrase.



        11     I'm not actually sure you were, but at this point



        12     the question has been interrupted anyway.



        13         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Did you know about



        14     this comment or about the 2.8 acre-feet?



        15         A     No.



        16         Q     Did Mr. Gebhart tell you about him



        17     measuring that you had used 2.8 acre-feet more



        18     than you had right for?



        19         A     No.



        20         Q     Turn next to M-398.



        21               SPECIAL MASTER: M-398.  Off the record



        22     for a second.



        23               (Discussion off the record.)



        24               SPECIAL MASTER: Back on the record.



        25         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Taking a look at
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         1     Exhibit 398 now.  Mr. Harwood, have you ever seen



         2     this document?



         3         A     No.



         4         Q     All right.  If we turn to page -- I



         5     guess it's the last page in this document.  I



         6     represent to you that these are water consumption



         7     records from Mr. Gebhart in 2005, and on this



         8     last page, the date at the top is October 7,



         9     2005, do you see that?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     And this says, the following is a



        12     listing of stored water consumption by Tongue



        13     River Water Users from September 17 through



        14     September 30 of 2005.  And are you listed on this?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     That one says that you didn't use any



        17     water that period, correct?



        18         A     Correct.



        19         Q     That seems to be a measurement from a



        20     shorter time period, just from September 17



        21     through September 30, correct?



        22         A     Correct.



        23         Q     If we look at the other pages in the



        24     document, on the first page it says, 116.3



        25     acre-feet, and the next page it says, next to
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         1     your name, and the next page it is 68.8



         2     acre-feet, and next page says you didn't use any



         3     from August 12 to August 30.  Do you know if you



         4     used water that time period?



         5         A     I don't know.



         6         Q     And the page after that, for August



         7     31st through September 16, says, 73.8 acre-feet.



         8     Did I read all those correctly?



         9         A     I believe so, if I'm on the right page.



        10         Q     I apologize.  I started at the last



        11     page and went back through the document.



        12         A     Yeah, the last page -- 73.8.



        13         Q     Okay.



        14         A     You read that correct.



        15         Q     Now, in 2005, there's been testimony



        16     earlier that there was no reduction in the amount



        17     of water shares, or no reduction applied to the



        18     water shares of the Tongue River Water Users.



        19     Did you know that?



        20         A     No.



        21         Q     So based on the previous testimony, in



        22     2005 would you have had all 200 acre-feet of your



        23     shares?



        24         A     In 2005?



        25         Q     Correct.
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         1         A     I would assume I would have.



         2         Q     Okay.  I'll represent, I did actually



         3     have the figure for this one, did some math and



         4     if we total up...



         5               MR. PETERSON:  I'm going to object,



         6     Your Honor, because Mr. Harwood testified he had



         7     never seen this documented before, so he had no



         8     opportunity or has no knowledge of its content up



         9     to this point.  He's only confirmed what is being



        10     stated on the document.  But now he's being asked



        11     to interpret what's in the document, and I don't



        12     think this is the appropriate witness to be doing



        13     that.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  I think, you know, at



        15     this stage I think probably the easiest thing to



        16     ask is probably whether or not Mr. Harwood was



        17     told at any point during this year that he went



        18     over the amount of contract water he was entitled



        19     to.



        20               MR. KUHLMANN:  I think that's a good



        21     question.



        22               SPECIAL MASTER:  Then you don't have to



        23     refer to the document and you get to the same



        24     place.



        25         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Were you told at

�



                                                            4442







         1     any time in 2005 you went over the amount of



         2     contract water that you had shares for?



         3         A     No.



         4         Q     Can you explain why that wouldn't have



         5     been brought to your attention?



         6               MR. PETERSON:  Object.  That now



         7     assumes a fact not in evidence that he indeed was



         8     even over, because, again, we are not referring



         9     to the document.  He's representing that he was



        10     over.  There's no evidence that he was over



        11     that's been introduced.  And this is -- I might



        12     add, Your Honor, this is 2005, it's not one of



        13     the relevant years in the case.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  I understand it's not



        15     one of the years that's at issue, but I think



        16     it's still a relevant line of inquiry.



        17               MR. KUHLMANN:  Can I ask him that



        18     question I just asked him?



        19               SPECIAL MASTER:  Probably.  Why don't



        20     you ask him whether anyone ever talked to him in



        21     that particular year about how many acre-feet he



        22     ultimately used.



        23         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Did anybody ever



        24     tell you how many acre-feet they measured you



        25     using in 2005?
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         1         A     No.



         2         Q     Do you know why they didn't tell you?



         3         A     No.



         4         Q     Moving to M-386, this is another



         5     document that's already in evidence.  These are



         6     records from 2004.



         7               All right.  If you will turn to --



         8     there's a page on here that says, through August



         9     15, 2004.  This is the last page, the latest date



        10     we have in this document.  Next to your name it



        11     says 246 acre-feet cumulative usage; is that



        12     correct?   I guess, can you find your name on



        13     that page?



        14         A     Yes, I can find my name.



        15         Q     Okay.  And it says 246 acre-feet.  Do



        16     you know how many acre-feet of water you had



        17     available from your shares in 2004?



        18         A     I'm not sure.



        19         Q     Okay.  Would it have been 200 minus



        20     with some percentage reduction?



        21               MR. PETERSON:  Your Honor, he said he's



        22     not sure and now he's being called to speculate



        23     on producing a number when he wasn't sure.



        24         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Did you pay for 200



        25     acre-feet of your shares in 2004?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Okay.  Anyone ever tell you will about



         3     the number here, 246 acre-feet?



         4         A     No.



         5         Q     Did anybody talk to you about your



         6     water use in 2004?



         7         A     No.



         8         Q     Do you remember when you bought the



         9     water from the tribe?



        10         A     2004.



        11         Q     Okay.  So the water you would have had



        12     would have been the water you bought from the



        13     tribe plus the 200 acre-feet of shares you would



        14     have bought from the Tongue River Water Users



        15     Association minus some percentage?



        16         A     Yes.   Correct.



        17         Q     That would have been the possible



        18     starting possible total minus some reductions?



        19         A     I believe so.



        20         Q     Okay.  So -- well, how many acre-feet



        21     did you buy from the tribe?



        22         A     300.



        23         Q     So it says 246 cumulative usage in



        24     acre-feet, you had 300 acre-feet from the tribe



        25     leased as well?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Did you know how much water in 2004 you



         3     were going to use?



         4         A     Beforehand?



         5         Q     Well --



         6         A     Explain.



         7         Q     Did you know or did you think you were



         8     going to be short of water under your shares in



         9     2004?



        10         A     Yes, I believe halfway, however far we



        11     got with our stored water, I believe, yeah,



        12     that's when I bought the tribe water.



        13         Q     And that water was available for you to



        14     lease that year?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     So in a year when you thought you were



        17     going to go over your shares, you were able to



        18     lease water from the tribe?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Move to M-382.  Do you have M-382 now?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Okay.  And these are records based on



        23     previous testimony in this case, these are



        24     records from 2002 of water commissioners'



        25     measurements.  If you go to report, I believe
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         1     it's dated at the very top, this would be the



         2     second page, very top there's a date 1 September



         3     2002.  Are you on that page?



         4         A     Second page?



         5         Q     Yes.



         6         A     What date?



         7         Q     1 September 2002 and the page number at



         8     the bottom is MT-09981?



         9         A     Okay.   I'm on it.



        10         Q     Okay.  Can you find your name on this



        11     list?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Okay.  And the number it says next to



        14     your name, 159; is that correct?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     I guess I'll clarify for the record, it



        17     doesn't list you as your personal name, but does



        18     it list your ranch?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     It says 159 acre-feet.  And in 2002 did



        21     you buy -- pay for your 200 acre-feet of shares



        22     from the Tongue River Water Users Association?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Do you know what the amount of water



        25     was available to you in 2002 would have been?
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         1         A     No, I don't.



         2         Q     Did anybody ever talk to you about your



         3     use of water in 2002?   Let me say that again.



         4     Anybody ever ask you about or talk to you about



         5     measurements of your use of water in 2002?



         6         A     No.



         7         Q     So do you know if this is the amount of



         8     water you've used in 2002?



         9         A     No.



        10         Q     Do you know if you used more water than



        11     you had shares in 2002?



        12         A     I don't know if I did or not.



        13         Q     Okay.  All right.  I got one good



        14     recommended question here.  Did anyone ever tell



        15     you to stop using water?



        16               MR. PETERSON:  Objection.  What time



        17     period are we talking about here?



        18               MR. KUHLMANN:  Ever.



        19         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Did anyone ever



        20     tell you to stop using water?



        21         A     Stop using water?   Well, the



        22     commissioners might have.  They might have told



        23     me at the end of -- when they checked it that



        24     maybe I was out of water.



        25         Q     Okay.  I think you just mentioned the
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         1     people or that the commissioners didn't talk to



         2     you at the end of the year, or didn't talk to you



         3     during the year.



         4         A     No, not after they took the last



         5     reading, no, not at the end of the year when this



         6     was finalized.  I never seen when these finalized



         7     these papers, I never...



         8               MR. KUHLMANN:  Okay.   That's all the



         9     questions I have.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you.



        11     Cross-examination.



        12                     CROSS-EXAMINATION



        13         Q     (By Mr. Peterson:)  Good morning, Mr.



        14     Harwood.



        15         A     Good morning.



        16         Q     I'm Kevin Peterson.   I'm with the



        17     Department of Natural Resources and Conservation,



        18     and I'm from Helena.  Do you recall that I was at



        19     your deposition?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Okay.  I just have a couple of brief



        22     questions for you.  You were asked about



        23     Cottonwood Creek in your reservoir water rights.



        24     Do you recall that?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     And you indicated that that usually



         2     fills very early spring, February, March, I



         3     believe  you said, if you have snow.  Is that



         4     what you said?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     And when you irrigate, I believe you



         7     stated that you use that water first?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     When you use that water, does that



        10     allow you then to take less water out of the



        11     Tongue River?



        12         A     Yes.



        13               MR. KUHLMANN:  I guess I'd just ask for



        14     a time frame.



        15               MR. PETERSON:  I think he's already



        16     answered the question.



        17               I'll clarify, Your Honor.



        18         Q     (By Mr. Peterson:)  If you have water



        19     available in your Cottonwood Creek Reservoir, is



        20     that water then you don't need to pull out of the



        21     Tongue River under your decreed rights?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     In a dry year, you would agree with me



        24     that the availability of your direct flow rights



        25     from the river become unavailable very rapidly,
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         1     don't they?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     At that point, then, when you no longer



         4     have availability of your direct flow rights from



         5     the river, then your option is to have stored



         6     water; is that correct?



         7         A     That's correct.



         8         Q     And going from direct flow to storage,



         9     that may occur in a very short period of time; is



        10     that correct?



        11         A     Correct.



        12         Q     Now, I believe you were asked about



        13     having 180 acre-feet available to you in a



        14     contract year because your total had been



        15     diminished by 10 percent where ordinarily you



        16     have 200 contracted acre-feet of water; is that



        17     correct?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And you were asked about going over 2.8



        20     acre-feet on your 180 acre-feet that you were



        21     allotted because of a 10 percent reduction.  Do



        22     you remember that question?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     If I represented to you that that's



        25     95 -- 98.5 percent accurate in reaching the
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         1     target of 180 acre-feet, would that be



         2     disappointing to you?



         3         A     No.



         4         Q     You were also asked about 2004, I



         5     believe, when you had tribal water and you had



         6     contract water.  You indicated you had 200



         7     acre-feet of contract water; is that correct?



         8         A     Correct.



         9         Q     And you had 300 acre-feet of tribal



        10     water; is that correct?



        11         A     Correct.



        12         Q     And that comes out to 500 acre-feet



        13     available to you by contract?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     And even if you were reduced by 50



        16     percent of the availability, I think the acre



        17     foot usage you were given was 246 acre-feet; is



        18     that correct?



        19         A     Correct.



        20         Q     And that's less than half of 500, isn't



        21      it?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Do the commissioners or Mr. Hayes on



        24     years where you're using your stored water, do



        25     they tell you when you're going to be on stored

�



                                                            4452







         1     water?



         2         A     Close to when -- sometimes, yeah.



         3     Basically, they tell us close to when we might be



         4     on stored water.



         5         Q     Do they keep in touch with you



         6     throughout the irrigation season to let you know



         7     when stored water is going to be required?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     And do they also indicate to you when



        10     you are near or at the end of your stored water



        11     allotment?



        12         A     Sometimes, yes.



        13         Q     Do you know when you generally run out



        14     of your stored water, what time of the irrigation



        15     season?



        16         A     Depends on the year.



        17         Q     In 2004 do you recall when you were out



        18     of stored water?



        19         A     I believe it was August.  I'm not sure.



        20         Q     And if you're notified that your



        21     allotment of stored water has been depleted, do



        22     you stop irrigating at that point?



        23         A     Yes.



        24               MR. PETERSON:  Thank you for coming,



        25     Mr. Harwood.   I appreciate you being here.  I
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         1     don't have any further questions for you.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  Mr. Harwood, I just



         3     have a couple of questions.



         4               So my understanding is that you



         5     initially thought your water right had a priority



         6     date, or both of your water rights had a priority



         7     date of 1903; is that correct?



         8               THE WITNESS:  Correct.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  What was the basis of



        10     your belief that they had a 1903 date?



        11               THE WITNESS:  Well, that's what our



        12     water rights showed.  That's what we filed on



        13     in -- whenever we had to redo our water rights.



        14     I believe was it 1975.  I'm not certain on the



        15     date.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER:  Go ahead.



        17               THE WITNESS:  We were led to believe



        18     that's what our water rights were on the abstract



        19     that we had.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER:  And then do you know



        21     why the priority dates were changed?



        22               THE WITNESS:  Well, let's see if I can



        23     explain this.  The reason they were -- let me



        24     think on this a minute.  I believe the reason



        25     they were changed is because when they
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         1     readjudicated them, or you had to file on them,



         2     like the 1903 one, I'm not certain of the date,



         3     1914 Miles City Canal, that decreed right, there



         4     was something in there where they had to refile,



         5     like the 1903 one, whoever had the place at the



         6     time, and I believe what I was told, I don't



         7     believe it was filed on at that time or they had



         8     to appear in court.  Nobody appeared to file on



         9     those claims.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER:  I don't want you to



        11     try and get too much into the legal issues.  I



        12     was just curious.



        13               THE WITNESS:  That's what I've been



        14     told on that.



        15               SPECIAL MASTER:  I understand you



        16     probably don't have personal knowledge, you



        17     weren't the lawyer representing yourself.



        18               THE WITNESS:  No.



        19               SPECIAL MASTER:  So if -- and in the



        20     case of the Cottonwood Creek water right, had



        21     that been 1952 throughout to your knowledge?



        22               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER:  And, again, I



        24     understand if there's snow to melt, then it



        25     melts, you fill up your reservoir, and then you
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         1     generally use that water in the February and



         2     March period; is that correct?   No, I'm sorry,



         3     it fills up in February and March.



         4               THE WITNESS:  Yes, it fills.



         5               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  And then,



         6     again, you use that water first, that was your



         7     testimony just now?



         8               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  And then when you're



        10     informed that you're on storage contract water,



        11     at that point do you only use your contract water?



        12               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  And so going back to



        14     the Cottonwood Creek, you said that occasionally



        15     that creek will, or the reservoir on that creek



        16     will fill up with some rain water earlier in the



        17     year?



        18               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        19               SPECIAL MASTER:  Does that ever happen



        20     after you're on only stored water?



        21               THE WITNESS:  It could happen.   I



        22     can't recall that it has.  I don't really



        23     remember.  If you happen to have a cloud burst or



        24     real fast rain, it could fill up when you are on



        25     stored water.

�



                                                            4456







         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  But you don't



         2     recall at this point?



         3               THE WITNESS:  I don't recall.



         4               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  And how big is



         5     that reservoir?  How much water does it hold, do



         6     you know?



         7               THE WITNESS:  Capacity is rated at 35



         8     acre-feet.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  And when you



        10     have these rain events, can that fill up the



        11     reservoir entirely?



        12               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Those are my



        14     only questions, Mr. Peterson.



        15         Q     (By Mr. Peterson:)  Mr. Harwood, do you



        16     recall, you said your capacity of the reservoir



        17     is 35 acre-feet?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Do you know what your total volume



        20     under the water right is that you're allowed to



        21     use?



        22         A     I believe it's 110 acre feet.



        23               MR. PETERSON:  Thank you.



        24               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.



        25               MR. KUHLMANN:  No further questions.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  So, Mr. Harwood, thank



         2     you very much for coming up here today.  We very



         3     much appreciate it.



         4               So it's now about ten minutes to noon.



         5     I would suggest maybe we take our lunch break now



         6     and give everyone an opportunity to get to the



         7     restaurants before they get too crowded.  We'll



         8     come back then at, say, about five to ten minutes



         9     to 1 o'clock.



        10               (Recess.)



        11               (Afternoon session.)



        12               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Kaste, who is next



        13     on your list?  You don't know.  So, Mr. Kuhlmann,



        14     who's next on your list?



        15               MR. KUHLMANN:  State of Wyoming would



        16     like to call Kyle Shaw.



        17               MR. DRAPER:  Your Honor, for your



        18     information, Mr. Swanson will be handling



        19     testimony for Montana for this witness.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Thank you.



        21     Whereupon,



        22                        KYLE SHAW,



        23     having been first duly sworn, was examined and



        24     testified as follows:



        25               DEPUTY CLERK:  Have a seat, please.
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         1     State your name and spell it for the record.



         2               THE WITNESS:  Kyle Shaw, S-h-a-w.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER: Good afternoon, Mr.



         4     Shaw.  Mr. Kuhlmann.



         5                    DIRECT EXAMINATION



         6         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Thank you, Your



         7     Honor.  Good afternoon, Mr. Shaw.  Can you tell



         8     us your address?



         9         A     2142 Tongue River Road, Miles City.



        10         Q     What's your current occupation?



        11         A     Rancher, farmer, trucker.



        12         Q     So you have an operation or ranch along



        13     the Tongue River?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Okay. If we can pull out that large



        16     board right back behind you.  This is a



        17     demonstrative exhibit, a map of the Tongue River



        18     in Montana.  Can you locate approximately where



        19     your place is located?



        20         A     We are right here above the Garland



        21     School.



        22         Q     Okay.  Who are your neighbors on the



        23     river?



        24         A     Bice Ranch and Hamilton Ranch are above



        25     me and Les Hirsch is below me.
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         1         Q     How long have you had your ranch?



         2         A     Moved down there in '96.



         3         Q     Where did you move from?



         4         A     About 15 miles west of there up on the



         5     Tongue River divide.



         6         Q     How many acres do you have that you



         7     irrigate?



         8         A     Approximately 256.



         9         Q     Has that been the number of acres



        10     you've always irrigated?



        11         A     Since '99, I believe it is, yeah.



        12         Q     What changed in '99?



        13         A     Well, we changed some land and added



        14     another 16 acres of irrigation that I personally



        15     bought.



        16         Q     Do you have water rights from the



        17     Tongue River?



        18         A     Yes and no.  I lease the place from my



        19     father-in-law and the water rights are in his



        20     name --



        21         Q     What's his name?



        22         A     -- most of them.  Ted Hirsch.



        23         Q     So you're a relation of Les Hirsch?



        24         A     I am.



        25         Q     What's the relation?
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         1         A     He's my brother-in-law.



         2         Q     And neighbor?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     I'm trying to get a map here that we



         5     might be able to use to describe your property.



         6     Turn to Exhibit M-6, which is an expert report



         7     that the Montana expert has filed in this case.



         8     And turn to a page here that says Ted Hirsch on



         9     it, page --



        10               MR. SWANSON:  I want to inquire if the



        11     witness has received a copy of that.



        12               MR. KUHLMANN: I was going to try to go



        13     off this --



        14               SPECIAL MASTER: You just said turn to,



        15     and so I think it was just clarify that you have



        16     nothing to turn to.  But you're going to be



        17     putting it up on the screen so he can see it



        18     there?



        19               MR. KUHLMANN:  Correct.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: Thanks.



        21               MR. KUHLMANN:  If you'd like him to, I



        22     can...



        23         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Do you have a copy



        24     of Exhibit M-6 now, Mr. Shaw?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     Do you see on that page D-388 it says



         2     Ted Hirsch and water right No. 42C179649?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     Are you familiar with that water right?



         5         A     Yeah.



         6         Q     Going to the next page, this document



         7     indicates an aerial photograph for that water



         8     right.   Do you recognize this document?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And what is it?



        11         A     It's an aerial map of the fields that I



        12     farm and part of it actually is Les Hirsch's that



        13     are outlined.



        14         Q     Part of them are Les Hirsch's?



        15         A     Part of them are Les Hirsch's, yes.



        16         Q     From this map can we see all of the



        17     fields you irrigate, outlined or not?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Let me zoom in a little bit here.



        20               MR. SWANSON:  Can you tell me the page?



        21     I'm not sure what page we're on.



        22               MR. KUHLMANN:  We are on page D-387.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: 387 or 389?



        24               MR. KUHLMANN:  389.



        25               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.
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         1         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Can you give us



         2     sort of the overview about your irrigation and



         3     where your ranch is on this map?



         4         A     As far as my irrigation practices?



         5         Q     Well, maybe you can describe what your



         6     operation consists of.



         7         A     Well, we run a couple hundred cows and



         8     raise primarily alfalfa hay.



         9         Q     On here where are your fields on this



        10     map?



        11         A     You want to see how steady I am.  These



        12     fields here are mine and about this much across



        13     the river.



        14         Q     So you have fields on both the east and



        15     west side of the river?



        16         A     Correct.



        17         Q     For the east side of the river, where



        18     is your point of diversion located?



        19         A     It's already marked there with that red



        20     X.



        21         Q     Okay.  How do you divert water for



        22     those fields?



        23         A     We have a 10-inch Cornell pump.



        24         Q     Do you know what the capacity is on



        25     that pump?
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         1         A     When they ultrasound them they measured



         2     it about 4,000 gallons a minute.



         3         Q     And what do you do with the water?  How



         4     do you get it to the field?



         5         A     Well, on this east side, my water



         6     travels in the blue line that goes -- at that



         7     point in time it was underground to here and then



         8     it was an open ditch the rest of the way down



         9     through here.  It's since been changed to an all



        10     underground system.



        11         Q     Do you have that -- how do you irrigate



        12     those acres?



        13         A     Flood irrigated.



        14         Q     Do you have them divided up into



        15     separate fields?



        16         A     Yes.  There's, oh, I don't know.



        17     There's like seven or nine fields on the east



        18     side and six on the west side.



        19         Q     Can you find on this map where the



        20     point of diversion would be for the lands you



        21     irrigate on the west side of the river?



        22         A     Well, at the time period you're talking



        23     about, it was right here.



        24         Q     What time period are you referring to?



        25         A     Well, I mean, in reference to '02, '04
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         1     water commissioner years.



         2         Q     Okay.  So it was where that blue line



         3     is to the west?



         4         A     Correct.



         5         Q     How did you get water from that point



         6     of diversion to your fields on the west side?



         7         A     That side was all open ditch up



         8     until -- I'm not exactly sure on dates, but about



         9     '07 or '08 we moved the pump and put it all



        10     underground.



        11         Q     Is that the same time you made changes



        12     to put underground pipe on the east side?



        13         A     No.  It was actually one or two years



        14     previous to burying the underground line on the



        15     east side.



        16         Q     You mentioned the point of diversion in



        17     commissioner years, you said '02, '04, would be



        18     where you'd indicated you're next to that blue



        19     line for the west side.  Where is the point of



        20     diversion now?



        21         A     Oh, the water was moving away from up



        22     here, so we moved it down to this part of the



        23     river right here.



        24         Q     So a little closer to your fields?



        25         A     Closer to the fields and then we are
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         1     able to, with the underground system, pump it



         2     uphill and downhill both, rather than all gravity.



         3         Q     And you flood irrigate those acres on



         4     the west side, as well?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Looking at this map describing the east



         7     side acres, and it also -- this map is in



         8     reference to a water right, as we talked about



         9     earlier, correct?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Do you know what the priority date is



        12     for that water right?



        13         A     No.  Without looking at it, no.



        14         Q     Have you seen water right abstracts?



        15         A     I have.



        16         Q     Have you seen water right abstracts for



        17     this water right?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Do you recognize this document?



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: You might want him to



        21     look at it, page 516.



        22               MR. KUHLMANN:  That's fine.



        23               THE WITNESS: Yes.



        24         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Okay.  Does this



        25     refresh your recollection about what the priority
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         1     date would be for this right?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     What is that date?



         4         A     It's 1912.



         5         Q     Okay.  For the water right on the west



         6     side of the river, are you familiar with the



         7     priority date, or do you know the priority date



         8     for that water right?



         9         A     Oh, I've seen it before.



        10         Q     Okay.  This will be page D-620.



        11               SPECIAL MASTER: No, it's 748, if you



        12     look at the page numbers in the middle.



        13         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Moving further to



        14     page -- do you recognize this document?



        15               SPECIAL MASTER: This is, again, page



        16     748.



        17         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:) Page 748.



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And does this refresh your recollection



        20     about what the priority date is for this right?



        21         A     It says 1940.



        22         Q     Okay.  Is that the proper priority date



        23     for it?



        24         A     I believe so.



        25         Q     Okay.  Are there any other water rights
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         1     you use to irrigate your lands?



         2         A     Yeah, there's some water rights out of



         3     side creeks that occasionally we can exercise.



         4         Q     How do you exercise those rights?



         5         A     Well, they are just creeks that only



         6     run either when a big rain event or a runoff



         7     event, and they run to the river and we can pull



         8     water.  We have no way to measure it exactly, but



         9     we pull it back out of the river.



        10         Q     So when it's there you can try to use



        11     it.  How do you get the water from where it's at



        12     to where you want to use it?



        13         A     From the river, you mean?



        14         Q     No, when it's coming down these creeks?



        15         A     It would be via the pumps that we



        16     normally use.



        17         Q     Do you have any reservoirs on those



        18     creeks?



        19         A     No.



        20         Q     Do you have any kind of dams on those



        21     creeks?



        22         A     No.



        23         Q     Do you have any additional water rights



        24     for any of the properties that we've talked about



        25     here on the east side and west side that might
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         1     overlap with those properties?



         2         A     Not really.   Not for irrigation



         3     purposes, I don't believe.



         4         Q     Okay.  What do you grow on your property?



         5         A     Primarily alfalfa, storage grains for



         6     rotation.



         7         Q     How often do you rotate?



         8         A     Oh, that depends on the ground.  Heavy



         9     ground won't last as long as sandy ground.



        10         Q     Last as long for the alfalfa?



        11         A     The stand of alfalfa, yes.



        12         Q     And then how long do you go into grains?



        13         A     Typically one year and then back to



        14     alfalfa.



        15         Q     And how many cuttings do you generally



        16     get?



        17         A     Normally three.



        18         Q     Do you irrigate all of your fields at



        19     one time?



        20         A     Well, that's not physically possible.



        21         Q     Okay.  Explain why.



        22         A     Well, there's only so much water you



        23     can pump at one time.   If you don't deliver



        24     enough water to get it to go through what we call



        25     lands -- fields are divided into narrow strips --
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         1     so that you can get your water over that piece of



         2     ground in, ideally, eight to 12 hours at the



         3     most.  And then you go to the next one and so on.



         4         Q     Is there an order you go as far as



         5     across your property from field to field?



         6         A     Not necessarily, no.



         7         Q     You don't start at the top and go to



         8     the next field down or anything that would be a



         9     pattern like that?



        10         A     You know, after we put the underground



        11     delivery system in, we are not hobbled in that



        12     respect.  When it was a gravity system, we were



        13     more so made to go downhill.



        14         Q     When do you generally start irrigating?



        15         A     Early May, typically.



        16         Q     When do you stop?



        17         A     September probably, normally.



        18         Q     I forgot to mention or talk about the



        19     pump on the west side of the river.  What kind of



        20     pump is that?



        21         A     They are both the same.



        22         Q     Same capacity, same type?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Are those both fixed pumps?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     So they are always in that spot?  You



         2     can't move them around?



         3         A     True.  Yes.



         4         Q     So if we are looking at the west side



         5     properties, how long does it take you to irrigate



         6     all of those fields?



         7         A     Oh, there's some factors that enter



         8     into that, but typically ten days to two weeks.



         9         Q     And then for the east side fields, how



        10     long does it take?



        11         A     Oh, a week to ten days.



        12         Q     Does the amount of water you're taking



        13     from the river change from day to day?



        14         A     Not unless the suctions plug up.



        15         Q     When does that happen?



        16         A     Varying things, if we get a wind storm



        17     and the river is full of leaves, it plugs them



        18     up.   If the river is too clear and it's flowing



        19     moss down the river, it plugs them up.  You know,



        20     varying events.



        21         Q     That will reduce the amount of water



        22     you can pump?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Do you have to go clean those out?



        25         A     Yes, sir.
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         1         Q     Do you have to shut them off before you



         2     can try to stick your arm up and clean them?



         3         A     Mine depends on what the problem is.



         4     Sometimes I can clean them with my arm, but



         5     typically not.



         6         Q     Are there other times when you might



         7     not be pumping water?



         8         A     Well, yeah, there's times when I'm not



         9     pumping any water.



        10         Q     Can you describe some of those?



        11         A     Well, probably on an average we cut the



        12     hay once a month.  And it takes, depending on how



        13     long it takes us to get -- what would I say?



        14     Typically we hay one side of the river and then



        15     the other.  And it might not be the same start



        16     point, but when we get done on one side, so that



        17     we can start a pump, we have to start as soon as



        18     we can to get the next crop to grow.   So we'll



        19     be irrigating while we are haying the other side.



        20     And then hopefully there's a week to two-week lag



        21     time between haying, cuttings, that we don't have



        22     any pumps running.



        23         Q     Do you start irrigating one side of the



        24     river before you start the other side?



        25         A     Sometimes.  I mean, there's different
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         1     things that enter into that.  In the spring



         2     before we start haying, like the early irrigation



         3     in May, we'll probably get them both done and get



         4     through it all at once.



         5         Q     Do your pumps have measuring devices on



         6     them?



         7         A     They do now.



         8         Q     When did those get put on?



         9         A     I don't know exactly.  We had a DNRC



        10     deal that they got a deal on a bunch of flow



        11     meters, and I think that was in, I'm going to



        12     say, '09 or '10.



        13         Q     2009 or 2010?



        14         A     Yeah.



        15         Q     Do you keep any records of when you



        16     irrigate?



        17         A     Not typically, no.



        18         Q     Do you keep any records of how much



        19     water you use to irrigate?



        20         A     Since we put the flow meters in I have



        21     beginning and ending meter readings.



        22         Q     What do you use those for?



        23         A     Just to make sure I'm on track.



        24         Q     What do you mean by on track?



        25         A     Well, just it tells me how many -- how
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         1     much water I'm using per acre.



         2         Q     How often do you check those meters?



         3         A     It all depends on whether I'm worried



         4     about running out of water or not on a contract.



         5         Q     You keep track -- you try to keep track



         6     of that as well?



         7         A     Oh, yeah.



         8         Q     But you said you didn't have the meters



         9     before 2009 or 2010?



        10         A     No, we did not.



        11         Q     Did you try to keep track before that?



        12         A     Not until the water commissioners came



        13     by with their ultrasound machine and measured the



        14     flow of the pumps.



        15         Q     Do you know when that happened?



        16         A     It was -- I'm guessing it was '02 when



        17     we had the first water commissioners on the river.



        18         Q     How many years were there water



        19     commissioners?



        20         A     Oh, there's at least four.



        21         Q     Do you know which years those were



        22     exactly?



        23         A     Well, I'd be lying if I said exactly.



        24     I know they were there in '02 and '04, and we had



        25     one last summer again.
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         1         Q     In '02 and '04, did the commissioners



         2     measure the use of the amount of water you used?



         3         A     They were tracking it, yes.



         4         Q     Do you know how they did that?



         5         A     As I said, they had their ultrasound



         6     deal that measured the flow of each pump and then



         7     they were just using the meter reading off the



         8     electrical pole and charging you for a full flow



         9     for every hour of usage.



        10         Q     You mentioned that sometimes you're not



        11     able to get all of the full amount of water



        12     through your pumps they could possibly take



        13     because sometimes they get stuffed up.  Is that



        14     correct?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     Do you know if the water commissioners



        17     made any allowance in the reduction of the amount



        18     of water you got through them?



        19         A     Not that I'm aware of.



        20         Q     Do you have contracts for stored water?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Where are those from?  Where is the



        23     stored water from?



        24         A     From the Tongue River Dam.



        25         Q     Do you have contracts with the Tongue
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         1     River Water Users?



         2         A     Correct.



         3         Q     How many shares do you have?



         4         A     Well, they are not -- maybe I should



         5     clarify.  They are not in my name, but they are



         6     in my father-in-law, Ted Hirsch's, name.



         7         Q     And you lease those?



         8         A     Yes.  300 acre-feet.



         9         Q     Do you know how long your father-in-law



        10     has had that amount of contracted water?



        11         A     No, I do not.  It was a hundred



        12     acre-feet that came with the place when we bought



        13     it, and then he purchased the other 200 from his



        14     son-in-law, my brother-in-law.



        15         Q     And those were transferred permanently?



        16     They weren't just leased short term?



        17         A     Permanent.



        18         Q     When do you change from being able to



        19     use your water rights to stored water?



        20         A     That varies on the year and what's



        21     happening at the dam.



        22         Q     Can you use both at the same time?



        23         A     You know, we never have even thought



        24     about that option, I guess.



        25         Q     So maybe you can describe when you
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         1     use -- strike that.  Can you describe your



         2     understanding of how stored water is administered



         3     in the basin, in the Tongue River?



         4         A     Well, it's whenever the inflows to the



         5     dam are less than the water they are delivering



         6     to us, outflows, whatever you want to call them.



         7     Then you're starting to use stored water.



         8         Q     How do you know?



         9         A     Normally it comes through Les Hirsch,



        10     which he's on the border.  He's in contact with



        11     Art Hayes on a regular basis.



        12         Q     At times when you want to use storage



        13     water, do you have to call or contact anybody to



        14     ask for it to be delivered?



        15         A     In a couple of different years, I think



        16     it was in '02 and '04, yes, we did.



        17         Q     Who did you contact?



        18         A     Well, those years the water



        19     commissioners was through the yard two or three



        20     times a week and we were in constant contact with



        21     them so that you didn't have to order water



        22     specifically from the dam.  They knew if somebody



        23     else was about done and the time you were going



        24     to start.  So you could -- they didn't have to



        25     turn the dam up and down hourly to maintain,
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         1     which wouldn't do any good in our case anyhow.



         2     We are too far from the dam.



         3         Q     How far are you from the dam?



         4         A     Approximately two weeks' delivery time.



         5         Q     Was there ever a time you asked for



         6     stored water and weren't able to gets it?



         7         A     Not when I thought I deserved it, no.



         8         Q     For years when there weren't water



         9     commissioners, did you have to call and ask for



        10     your stored water to be delivered to your point



        11     of diversion?



        12         A     Typically, no.



        13         Q     How do you go about using your stored



        14     water?



        15         A     It's just a matter of -- one way or the



        16     other we are notified that, yeah, we are on



        17     stored water now.  But Roger at the T&Y is in



        18     constant contact with them and if he's not



        19     getting his water, dictates more of what the dam



        20     is doing than if I call for enough to service one



        21     pump.



        22         Q     So you're still able to get the stored



        23     water you need out of the river when you need it



        24     in those years?



        25         A     Usually, yeah.
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         1         Q     Has anyone ever curtailed the use of



         2     you using water under your water rights?



         3         A     Not other than the years we were



         4     limited to a percentage of our contract water.



         5         Q     How about your stored water?  Has



         6     anyone curtailed you from being able to use that?



         7         A     That is a contract water right.



         8         Q     Okay.  My first question was about your



         9     direct flow rights.



        10         A     Oh, no.



        11         Q     So have you ever been asked to stop



        12     using your direct flow rights for someone with a



        13     senior right so they could get their water?



        14         A     No.



        15         Q     Have you ever temporarily leased any



        16     stored water?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     When did you do that?



        19         A     I'm not certain of the year.  I think



        20     it was '04 we leased water from the tribe.



        21         Q     Do you know how much you leased?



        22         A     I believe it was a hundred acre-feet,



        23     but I'm not totally sure of that.



        24         Q     Do you know much it cost?



        25         A     I think it was ten bucks an acre.
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         1         Q     In years there were commissioners on



         2     the river, did the commissioners ever talk to you



         3     about how much water they measured you as using



         4     during that year?



         5         A     Oh, yeah, we talked to them on a fairly



         6     regular basis.  As I said, they went through the



         7     yard two or three times a week.  If I see them,



         8     they were more than willing to tell you what the



         9     scenario was.



        10         Q     At the end of the year did they ever



        11     tell you how much water you had used that year?



        12         A     You know, I don't know that we ever had



        13     what you would call a recap of the year.  We knew



        14     we were -- because we had used all the water that



        15     we believed we could have by the time -- before



        16     we typically would have quit irrigating.



        17         Q     So you believe you use all of your



        18     stored water every year?



        19         A     Well, really close, yeah.



        20               MR. KUHLMANN:  I think I'm done with my



        21     questions.



        22               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.



        23     Mr. Swanson?



        24                     CROSS-EXAMINATION



        25         Q     (By Mr. Swanson:)  Good afternoon, Mr.
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         1     Shaw.



         2         A     How are you?



         3         Q     Very well.  I just have a couple of



         4     questions for you.  You mentioned -- you talked



         5     mostly about your haying operation, but I believe



         6     you said you run cattle, as well?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Do you run them all year round?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     So where do you winter those cattle?



        11         A     Closer to the river than where we



        12     summer them.



        13         Q     You summer them up high in some other



        14     pasture?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     So do your cattle get water out of the



        17     river during the winter?



        18         A     Part of the time in a couple different



        19     pastures, yes.



        20         Q     So do you know about how many cattle



        21     each winter get water out of the river?



        22         A     Well, every other year there's --



        23     winter pastures, one of them is along the river



        24     and one is not.  But they can, virtually all of



        25     them, water in the river every other year.
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         1         Q     So do you have a number of how many



         2     cattle you think that is?



         3         A     A couple hundred.



         4         Q     200?



         5         A     Yeah.



         6         Q     When you were talking to Mr. Kuhlmann,



         7     you talked about how the water users association



         8     notifies you when you're on stored water.



         9         A     Right.



        10         Q     And you mentioned -- you said Roger at



        11     the T&Y is the main factor, if he's not getting



        12     his water.  Can you explain what you mean by



        13     that?



        14         A     As I understand, you know, the T&Y is



        15     the No. 2 right on the river, whatever the case



        16     is.  But they have some sort of a measuring



        17     device on the head of their canal.  And so he



        18     pretty readily can tell whether there's not



        19     enough flow getting where he is on the bottom end



        20     of the river.



        21         Q     So if he's not getting his full direct



        22     flow amount, is that when everybody else goes on



        23     stored water, I guess, including the T&Y going on



        24     partial stored water?



        25         A     Probably yes and no.  If they are
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         1     not -- they take into account, my understanding,



         2     you know, the inflow to the dam.  And then those



         3     senior water rights, if they are not getting



         4     satisfied, that pretty well tells the story



         5     whether the rest of us are on contract water or



         6     not.



         7         Q     So if those senior water rights are



         8     getting satisfied but there is no more water,



         9     then you're on contract water at that point; is



        10     that right?



        11         A     Right.



        12         Q     And I thought you explained that.  So



        13     when Mr. Kuhlmann asked you a question, he said



        14     has anyone ever asked you to curtail your direct



        15     flow so someone senior could get their water, I



        16     just wondered if you understood that question.



        17     Because you said no to him, but you just



        18     explained to us the fact that, in fact, that does



        19     happen on a regular basis.



        20         A     Right, it's terminology, but everybody



        21     on the river kind of understands the way it works



        22     as far as the T&Y and that's concerned.  So we



        23     take that into account and when they say we are



        24     on stored water, it doesn't mean that the T&Y is



        25     on contract water or whatever, but the rest of us

�



                                                            4483







         1     are.



         2         Q     Okay.  So they may or may not be



         3     getting their full direct flow and they may or



         4     may not be on storage, but you have shut off your



         5     direct flow and you're on storage at that point;



         6     is that right?



         7         A     Right.



         8         Q     Does that happen every year?



         9         A     Every year that I've been there, yes.



        10         Q     And you talked a lot about your



        11     communications with the water commissioners.  It



        12     sounds like it was on a regular basis.  Did you



        13     ever feel they were overcharging you for the



        14     amount of water that you used, other than we



        15     talked about the moss situation?



        16         A     No, I think they were fair, other than



        17     there was no way to guess at what the percentage



        18     of moss was over -- if it was overnight and



        19     suction started to plug up, there was no way to



        20     monitor that.



        21         Q     Did you feel the commissioners did a



        22     good job in the years that you worked with them?



        23         A     Yeah.



        24               MR. SWANSON:  No further questions,



        25     Your Honor.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  I do not have any



         2     questions. Mr. Kuhlmann?



         3               MR. KUHLMANN:  I have one follow-up



         4     question.



         5                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION



         6         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  During the



         7     irrigation season when you're told you're on



         8     stored water, do you change your diversions in



         9     any way?



        10         A     Not the diversions, no.



        11         Q     So you don't change what you're doing



        12     with your pumps?



        13         A     Well, we change our irrigation



        14     practices, but I guess, to clarify, on the years



        15     that we knew we were limited to 50 percent or



        16     whatever the case was, there are less productive



        17     grounds that we choose not to irrigate so we can



        18     get over the good ground.



        19         Q     In years when there aren't water



        20     commissioners, do you change anything?



        21         A     Well, not typically, no.



        22               MR. KUHLMANN:  I don't have any other



        23     questions.



        24               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you very much,



        25     Mr. Shaw.  I think you've actually set the record
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         1     so far for having the shortest period of time.



         2               THE WITNESS:  Well, when you don't know



         3     anything, it don't take long.



         4               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you very much.



         5               MR. KUHLMANN:  We have one last



         6     irrigator from Montana, Your Honor.  That would



         7     be Maurice Felton.



         8               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you.  At this



         9     time, then, Mr. Felton, you can come forward.



        10     Whereupon,



        11                      MAURICE FELTON,



        12     having been first duly sworn, was examined and



        13     testified as follows:



        14               DEPUTY CLERK:  State your name and



        15     spell it for the record.



        16               THE WITNESS: My name is Maurice Felton,



        17     F-E-L-T-O-N.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER: Good afternoon,



        19     Mr. Felton.



        20               THE WITNESS:  F-E-L-T-O-N.



        21               SPECIAL MASTER: I said good afternoon.



        22               THE WITNESS:  Oh, good afternoon, sir.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: I like your turtleneck.



        24     It looks like you're keeping warm.



        25               THE WITNESS:  Keeps the snow from
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         1     blowing down your neck.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Draper.



         3               MR. DRAPER:  Just to let you and



         4     Mr. Kuhlmann know, it will again be Mr. Swanson



         5     handling our participation in the testimony.



         6               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you very much.



         7     Mr. Kuhlmann, you can proceed.



         8               THE WITNESS:  Before we get started,



         9     I'm a little hard of hearing.  So you'll have to



        10     speak up pretty good.



        11               MR. KUHLMANN:  I'll try to do that,



        12     sir.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  Let me just tell you,



        14     if at any point you don't think you're hearing



        15     the question, you should feel free to ask for



        16     that question to be repeated.



        17               THE WITNESS:  You'll probably see me



        18     point to my ear.



        19               SPECIAL MASTER: I want to make sure



        20     when you hear a question you understand it before



        21     you answer.



        22               THE WITNESS:  Okay.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.



        24                    DIRECT EXAMINATION



        25         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Good afternoon, Mr.
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         1     Felton.



         2         A     Good day, sir.



         3         Q     Can you tell us your address?



         4         A     591 Brandenberg Road, Miles City,



         5     Montana, 59301.



         6         Q     What is your current occupation?



         7         A     Farmer-rancher.



         8         Q     Do you farm along the Tongue River?



         9         A     Yes, sir.



        10         Q     If we can take a look at this large map



        11     here, that's a demonstrative exhibit.  Can you



        12     find where on the river there your property is



        13     located?



        14         A     Brandenberg, we have land here, here,



        15     and then along the river here.



        16         Q     How far along the river does your



        17     property run?



        18         A     Seven miles.



        19         Q     Thank you.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: So just because a lot



        21     of here, here, heres don't come out well on the



        22     transcript when you're reading it later, you're



        23     indicating lands up and down from the Brandenberg



        24     Bridge; is that correct?



        25               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you.



         2         Q     (By Mr. Kuhlmann:)  Do those lands go



         3     from Brandenberg towards Ashland to the south?



         4         A     Both directions.



         5         Q     How long have you been irrigating along



         6     the Tongue River?



         7         A     1996.



         8         Q     When did you move to the area?



         9         A     That year.



        10         Q     Where did you move from?



        11         A     Big Timber, west of here a hundred



        12     miles.



        13         Q     Were you a rancher-farmer over there?



        14         A     Yes, sir, all my life.



        15         Q     Do you have a lot of experience with



        16     irrigation?



        17         A     Since I was about 12 years old.  50



        18     years' worth.



        19         Q     I think that counts as a lot.  How many



        20     acres do you irrigate?



        21         A     Well, that depends on the year, how



        22     much rain we get, but generally in the 5 to 600



        23     acre amount.



        24         Q     Have you always irrigated that many



        25     acres?
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         1         A     Yes, sir.



         2         Q     Since you bought the place?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     What do you grow?



         5         A     Alfalfa hay and a small patch of corn



         6     each year.



         7         Q     Do you cycle those crops?



         8         A     Yes.  Corn two years, back into alfalfa



         9     hay, and then six, eight, ten years back into



        10     corn again, the rotation, crop rotation.



        11         Q     Do you have direct flow rights from the



        12     Tongue River?



        13         A     Do we have old water rights, is that



        14     what your question is?



        15         Q     Do you have water rights that allow you



        16     to take water from the Tongue River?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     Those are for irrigation?



        19         A     Yes.  Well, I think they are listed as



        20     irrigation and stock water.



        21         Q     Okay.  Can you describe for us how many



        22     fields you have?



        23         A     How many fields do we have?



        24         Q     That you irrigate.



        25         A     Well, I have seven center pivots and
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         1     5500 acres of gated pipe, and approximately a



         2     hundred acres of open ditch flood.



         3         Q     How many different points of diversion



         4     do you use to irrigate those?



         5         A     Five.



         6         Q     Do you have pumps that you use?



         7         A     I have four pumps that pump directly



         8     out of the river and there is also a free flowing



         9     ditch built way back before anybody's time in



        10     this room, and I pump out of that ditch and also



        11     flood irrigate out of that ditch the hundred



        12     acres that I just mentioned.



        13         Q     You said you pump out of the ditch.  Do



        14     you know how many acres you irrigate with the



        15     pumps out of the ditch?



        16         A     120.



        17         Q     Do you know what priority dates you



        18     have for your water rights?



        19         A     Oh, golly, I think the oldest one is



        20     1892.  I'm not positive.  It's probably in one of



        21     these books someplace.  I would recognize it if I



        22     saw it.



        23         Q     Do you know how many irrigation water



        24     rights you have?



        25         A     I think there are about five or six.
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         1         Q     Do you have any irrigation water rights



         2     with a priority date after 1950?



         3         A     I think there's one at 1958.  I am not



         4     positive what that calls for, but I can't keep



         5     all of that stuff in my head.



         6         Q     I understand.  Where do you use that



         7     water right?



         8         A     I think it's on the lower end of the



         9     ranch and there are several water rights and they



        10     all have overlapping places of use.  The reason



        11     being, so hearsay tells me, the main ditch that



        12     comes out of the river, the free flowing ditch,



        13     years ago, and I don't know when, the people that



        14     were on the various places had a big water fight.



        15     Somebody put a dam in the ditch.  So, well, the



        16     heck with you, I'll just go put a pump in the



        17     river down here at my irrigated acres and pump



        18     from there.  And about four of those -- yes,



        19     about four of those sites, those people just



        20     said, the heck with you, and put a pump in the



        21     river rather than fight with the upstream owner.



        22         Q     And that was after 1950?



        23         A     No, that water fight occurred way, way



        24     before then.  Or hearsay tells me that.



        25         Q     So you said, I believe, you think you
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         1     have or you remember having a water right with a



         2     priority date of 1958; is that right?



         3         A     Well, most all of the rest of them



         4     would be previous to 1950, except for that one,



         5     which is on the very bottom of the ranch.  It



         6     would be the very north end.



         7         Q     Is that on property that overlaps with



         8     other rights or is that on its own property?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     It overlaps?



        11         A     Yes, to your first question.



        12         Q     Can you tell when you're using water



        13     from under your earlier rights on that property



        14     versus water you're using under your post-'50



        15     right on that property?



        16         A     No.



        17         Q     Have you ever needed to?



        18         A     No.



        19         Q     Do you know how you would?



        20         A     No.



        21         Q     Do you water with direct water -- do



        22     you water with direct flow rights all of your



        23     lands?



        24         A     When there's enough water in the river.



        25         Q     Are there any lands that you irrigate
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         1     with stored water?



         2         A     When the river gets low, then we have



         3     to irrigate everything with stored water.



         4         Q     Are there any lands you irrigate only



         5     with stored water?



         6         A     No.



         7         Q     You were just talking about your water



         8     rights.  Have there been any changes made to your



         9     water rights as a result of the adjudication



        10     process on the Tongue River?



        11         A     Yes.  The first water right that you



        12     talked about, 1892, I think that's correct, that



        13     was for 58 point something or other cfs, and the



        14     state cut that about in half here in the last



        15     couple -- last two years, three years, something



        16     like that.



        17         Q     Pretty recently?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Do you know why?



        20         A     No.



        21         Q     Sounds like you didn't agree with that



        22     change.



        23         A     Pardon?



        24         Q     Sounds like you didn't agree with that



        25     change.
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         1         A     No, I didn't, but it would be pointless



         2     to take it to court because you wouldn't win.



         3         Q     We talked about you have multiple pumps



         4     that you use to irrigate, correct?   Can you



         5     describe those pumps for us?



         6         A     Well, they are all centrifugal pumps.



         7     They are all Cornell pumps.  One pump is 1300 and



         8     some-odd gallons a minute.  Let's see, I'm



         9     starting at the upper end of the ranch going



        10     downstream.  The next one would pump 400 gallons



        11     a minute.  The next one would be 500 gallons a



        12     minute.  One at 1100 gallons a minute.  One at



        13     900 gallons a minute.  And a flood pump pumps



        14     into the gated pipe that I mentioned earlier



        15     would be 1750 gallons a minute.



        16         Q     Do you irrigate all of your property at



        17     the same time?



        18         A     Well, that's pretty hard to get



        19     everything going all at one time, but when I



        20     start, I get everything going as fast as I can.



        21     Sometimes it takes me two or three days,



        22     sometimes it will take me up to a week, but



        23     generally try to get everything going as near to



        24     the same date as possible.



        25         Q     Is there any pattern you follow on when
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         1     you try to irrigate fields?



         2         A     No.



         3         Q     Just whichever field --



         4         A     Whatever I feel needs to be irrigated



         5     first, that's where I start.



         6         Q     Does the amount of water you take from



         7     the river change from day to day?



         8         A     Not very much.



         9         Q     Are there times when you aren't pumping



        10     water during the year?



        11         A     When we're putting up hay.  We try to



        12     take the field and put that up, get the hay off,



        13     get the water right back on it as quick as we



        14     possibly can.



        15         Q     How long do you keep -- do you stop



        16     irrigating to allow yourself to hay?



        17         A     Week to ten days.



        18         Q     Are there any other times when you stop



        19     pumping in the middle of the irrigation season?



        20         A     Yeah, when you get about eight inches



        21     of rain in the spring.



        22         Q     So if you get rain you turn your pumps



        23     off?



        24         A     If we get enough, yes.  Like last



        25     spring, we got by pretty well, we didn't -- I
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         1     don't think we started until middle of July or



         2     something like that.  Took our first crop of hay



         3     off and then we started irrigating.



         4         Q     Do you have measuring devices on your



         5     pumps?



         6         A     I have micrometers on all my pumps.



         7         Q     How long have you had those?



         8         A     Ten years.  Kind of a guess at ten



         9     years.



        10         Q     Can you describe just briefly how those



        11     work?



        12         A     Well, there's a little impeller inside



        13     of the pipe water has to rush past, similar to a



        14     propeller on a box fan in your house.  And that's



        15     fastened to a shaft, and then there's a gauge up



        16     on the top that tells you how many gallons per



        17     minute you're pumping.  And they are approved in



        18     most states.  Most water courts will approve



        19     those micrometers as being accurate.



        20         Q     Do you have any measuring devices on



        21     your ditch?



        22         A     No.



        23         Q     Do you frequently measure how much



        24     water you're using?



        25         A     In the ditch or -- I don't get your
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         1     question.



         2         Q     Well, we'll talk about the pumps.  Do



         3     you frequently measure how much water you're



         4     using in your pumps?



         5         A     Well, that's a constant figure at each



         6     pump.  That doesn't change.



         7         Q     Do you measure how much water you use



         8     over the course of a season?



         9         A     No, I don't.  When I start, I just go



        10     when I need to and stop when I can.



        11         Q     Do you measure -- do you keep records



        12     of when you are irrigating?



        13         A     No.   Electrical co-op could give you



        14     that answer a whole lot better than I could,



        15     because they turn the pumps on in the spring and



        16     they turn them off late in the fall, usually



        17     first of October.  Usually we are done irrigating



        18     or we quit irrigating by the first of September



        19     most years.



        20         Q     Do you know if there have been water



        21     commissioners appointed on the Tongue River in



        22     the past?



        23         A     Yes, sir.



        24         Q     Do you know when?



        25         A     No, sir.
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         1         Q     Do you know about how many years there



         2     have been commissioners?



         3         A     Oh, from 2001 until probably 2006.  And



         4     then we were told we were going to have a water



         5     commissioner this past summer, and they did show



         6     up there once early in the season.



         7         Q     Did the commissioners measure your use



         8     of water during the year?



         9         A     They did the first two years that they



        10     were there.  They did not this past year.



        11         Q     When they did measure your use, do you



        12     know how they measured it?



        13         A     Well, just the same way the previous



        14     gentleman testified.  They put a band around the



        15     pipe electronically, I think it was, and they had



        16     a wand that they stuck in the ditch with a little



        17     impeller on it and they read that and measured



        18     the flow, feet of travel per minute.



        19         Q     Do you know when you're using direct



        20     flow water versus when you're using storage water?



        21         A     No.  Other than hearsay up and down the



        22     ditch, we are on stored water now.  But, well, a



        23     few times they have called, one of the board of



        24     directors or Art Hayes himself has called that we



        25     are on stored water now.  So that means to me be

�



                                                            4499







         1     a little more careful and cautious in your use.



         2     Don't waste any.



         3         Q     When you want to use your stored water,



         4     do you have to call and -- do you have to contact



         5     somebody to have that water delivered to your



         6     points of diversion?



         7         A     If we have a water commissioner, yes.



         8     If there's no water commissioner on duty, no.



         9         Q     So in years when there isn't the water



        10     commissioner and you're on stored water, are you



        11     able to take the stored water you need out of the



        12     river when you need it?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Have you ever -- well, I guess we



        15     haven't talked about the amount of contract you



        16     have with the Tongue River Water Users



        17     Association.



        18         A     We have 925 acre-feet.



        19         Q     Is that every year?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     And you've had that since you got the



        22     place?



        23         A     That came with the place, yes.



        24         Q     Have you ever leased additional water?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     When did you do that?



         2         A     I'm not sure but it was sometime



         3     between 2001 and 2006, two different occasions we



         4     bought 200 feet -- 200 acre-feet of water each



         5     time at $10 per acre foot.



         6         Q     Who did you buy it from?



         7         A     Northern Cheyenne.



         8         Q     Have the water commissioners or anyone



         9     else ever talked to you about how much water you



        10     used over the course of a year?



        11         A     Yes, the water commissioners kept a



        12     pretty good record of that and would inform me



        13     whenever they came by that you have got so many



        14     acre-feet left or you have used so many acre-feet.



        15         Q     Would they tell you how many acre-feet



        16     you had used total over a year?



        17         A     I don't believe so, no.



        18         Q     Have they ever told you if you've used



        19     more storage water than you had a right to?



        20         A     I remember one time we got a call and



        21     said you are out of stored water, and so we shut



        22     our pumps off at that point in the ditch and went



        23     to the Northern Cheyenne and bought 200 more



        24     acre-feet.  And we were told then, well, the



        25     water commissioner will be getting ahold of you,
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         1     and he did, and we started irrigating again.



         2     What year that was, I don't know.



         3         Q     And that water was available when you



         4     needed it?



         5         A     From the Northern Cheyenne, yes.



         6               MR. KUHLMANN: I don't have any other



         7     questions. Thank you.



         8               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Swanson?



         9                     CROSS-EXAMINATION



        10         Q     (By Mr. Swanson:)  Good afternoon, Mr.



        11     Felton.



        12         A     Good day, sir.



        13         Q     Mr. Kuhlmann asked you about a water



        14     right with a date of 1958.



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     And do you know if you may have a water



        17     right with a date of 1952 as well?



        18         A     It's very possible.



        19         Q     And to your knowledge in times in the



        20     summer when you're on stored water, have you ever



        21     used direct flow water out of the river under the



        22     1958 right or the 1952 right?



        23         A     Kind of hard to keep all those water



        24     rights separate when it's flowing down the river.



        25     You pump water, and so, probably, yes.  But there
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         1     would be enough -- there's enough water in the



         2     direct flow ditch to irrigate everything that I



         3     have.



         4         Q     Oh, were you using that water on your



         5     storage account coming out of the dam?



         6         A     Maybe yes, maybe no, depending on early



         7     spring or late summer.   Early spring it's



         8     probably free flow water or runoff water.  If



         9     it's late summer, I'm sure it's going to be



        10     reserve water out of the dam.



        11         Q     And then you mentioned the



        12     commissioners came and measured your pumps and



        13     then you said they put a wand in your ditch.  Was



        14     that measuring your free flow ditch you talked



        15     about?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And do you have any livestock?



        18         A     Do we have livestock?



        19         Q     Yes.



        20         A     500 cows.



        21         Q     And so you raise hay to feed the



        22     livestock?



        23         A     Pardon?



        24         Q     You raise the hay to feed your



        25     livestock?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     And where do you winter your livestock?



         3         A     Right there on the ranch.  That's the



         4     purpose of the hay.



         5         Q     Do they winter along the river?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     Do you know if they water out of the



         8     river in the wintertime?



         9         A     Not too much because we have six



        10     artesian wells that flow out of 400 feet deep



        11     that are a constant 55 or 60 degrees.  Cattle



        12     much prefer that water to the river water.  Not



        13     nearly as cold.



        14               MR. SWANSON:  No further questions,



        15     Your Honor.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you, Mr.



        17     Swanson.  So I don't have many questions, Mr.



        18     Felton, but there was this one part of your



        19     irrigation operation that I would like to know



        20     just a little bit more about.



        21               So I understand, you have what you



        22     called a free flowing ditch?



        23               THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.



        24               SPECIAL MASTER:  So could you describe



        25     what you mean by a free flowing ditch?
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         1               THE WITNESS:  Well, there's a



         2     breastworks in the river bank with a head gate in



         3     it.  Open that up and the water just flows down



         4     an open ditch.  Does that answer your question,



         5     sir?



         6               SPECIAL MASTER: Yes, it does.  And are



         7     there times when you will shut the head gate?



         8               THE WITNESS:  Not generally in the



         9     summertime.  It's shut now.  But once I open that



        10     up, middle of May usually, it's pretty much on



        11     all the time.  And where I have my one pump site



        12     on the furthest south end of the ranch, there is



        13     also some gates drop into the ditch.  I can drop



        14     those gates clear down and that will back the



        15     water clear to the river and then nothing will



        16     flow down the river.  So it's virtually a dead



        17     lake.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER:  So let's talk a moment



        19     about the pumps that you're using to get the



        20     water directly out of the Tongue River.  When



        21     you're told that you're on stored water, is it



        22     your understanding that any water you pump at



        23     that point comes out of your contract right?



        24               THE WITNESS:  That's correct, sir.



        25               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay. And to your
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         1     knowledge no one has permitted you additional



         2     water for your direct flow right in the river at



         3     that point?



         4               THE WITNESS:  No.



         5               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.



         6               THE WITNESS:  Other than the water we



         7     bought from the Northern Cheyenne, which we just



         8     talked about.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  And when you're



        10     told that you are on stored water, do you



        11     continue then to also use water from the free



        12     flowing ditch?



        13               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER:  And some of that water



        15     is pumped out of the ditch?



        16               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER:  And is the water that



        18     you pump out of the ditch at that point, is that



        19     measured?



        20               THE WITNESS:  It's measured at the pump



        21     with the micrometer water meters that I have on



        22     the pump.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Does that



        24     amount of water that you're pumping out of the



        25     ditch also count towards your stored right?
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         1               THE WITNESS:  I believe it would.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER: Just to be clear, then,



         3     the pump that you get water out of the ditch from



         4     is measured by the water commissioners; is that



         5     correct?



         6               THE WITNESS:  Since I put that



         7     micrometer meter up there nobody has been by to



         8     look at it.  It was after we had the water



         9     commissioners that I put the micrometers on all



        10     of the pumps.  Made it easier for them and it



        11     made it easier for me because I could look at



        12     that micrometer, oh, I've used 50 acre-feet or



        13     I've used 20 acre-feet, whatever.  I could keep



        14     kind of a running tally in my head so I didn't



        15     exceed my 925 acre-feet, or allotted amount,



        16     whatever it was, 55 or 50 percent of whatever it



        17     was for that year.



        18               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  But if I



        19     understood your testimony, in the years between



        20     2001 and 2006, when there were water



        21     commissioners, the water commissioners were



        22     calculating how much water you were using through



        23     your pumps?



        24               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.



        25               SPECIAL MASTER:  And did that include
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         1     the pump out of your free flowing ditch?



         2               THE WITNESS:  Yes.  I had to stop and



         3     think a little bit.



         4               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  And so it is



         5     water from the pump that you then use to irrigate



         6     your fields?



         7               THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.



         8               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  I think that's



         9     all the questions I had.  Mr. Swanson?



        10               MR. SWANSON:  No further questions.



        11               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Mr. Kuhlmann?



        12               MR. KUHLMANN:  No questions.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Thank you.  It's



        14     quite possible -- actually, I do have one other



        15     question I don't think anyone is going to object



        16     to, and I forgot to make earlier. I've just been



        17     trying -- I have a list of the various water



        18     rights and I'm just trying to keep track of whose



        19     water rights are whose.  So I notice on the list



        20     of various water right claims that were made,



        21     there are several for the Felton Angus Ranch.



        22               THE WITNESS:  That's correct.  That



        23     would be me.



        24               SPECIAL MASTER:  That would be you.



        25     Great.  So anyway, with that, I was just
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         1     evaluating, you know, Mr. Shaw a moment ago set



         2     the record for the shortest period of time in the



         3     chair.  But I actually think you just stole it by



         4     about three minutes.



         5               THE WITNESS:  Suits me fine.



         6               SPECIAL MASTER:  So congratulations.



         7     You can step down now.  Thank you very much for



         8     coming here today.  I would suggest that we take



         9     our first afternoon break now for ten minutes and



        10     then we'll come back.



        11               (Recess.)



        12               (Open court.)



        13               SPECIAL MASTER: So, Mr. Brown, you're



        14     going to be examining the next witness?



        15               MR. BROWN:  Yes, Your Honor, I am.  A



        16     couple things before we call our next witness.



        17     First of all, I'm going to do a little bit of a



        18     preemptive apology.  I didn't anticipate the



        19     rapid pace of the last couple of witnesses.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: It is unusual.



        21               MR. BROWN:  It is. So I have an excuse



        22     to agree, I suppose.  We have two Wyoming



        23     witnesses available for this afternoon and I



        24     certainly can't promise that they are going to



        25     take up the remainder of our time.   So we may
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         1     have some open space this afternoon.



         2               The second thing is, just to introduce



         3     kind of the next topic of folks that we will be



         4     wading into, generally Wyoming irrigators, there



         5     will be a set of those folks.  First, we're going



         6     to have a gentleman who is associated with the



         7     CBM industry, and is a production manager for a



         8     CBM company that produces CBM water on Prairie



         9     Dog Creek.  So we have some information specific



        10     with regard to that CBM production.  His name is



        11     John Steir, and we would like to call Mr. John



        12     Steir to the stand.



        13               SPECIAL MASTER:  Mr. Steir, you can



        14     come up and be sworn in.



        15     Whereupon,



        16                        JOHN STEIR,



        17     having been first duly sworn, was examined and



        18     testified as follows:



        19               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Draper.



        20               MR. DRAPER: Your Honor, just to let you



        21     know, I'll be handling the testimony for us on



        22     this witness.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr.



        24     Draper.



        25               DEPUTY CLERK:  Please state your name
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         1     and spell it for the record.



         2               THE WITNESS:  John Steir, S-T-E-I-R.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER: Good afternoon, Mr.



         4     Steir.



         5                    DIRECT EXAMINATION



         6         Q     (By Mr. Brown:) Mr. Steir, how are you?



         7         A     I'm doing good.



         8         Q     Thank you for coming up.   I hope



         9     you're able to make it back home tonight.  Can



        10     you tell us what your current occupation is?



        11         A     I'm a production manager for Storm Cat



        12     Energy.



        13         Q     I'll warn you right off the bat, you



        14     and I both have of a tendency to talk fast, so



        15     the court reporter is going to yell at both of



        16     us if we do that too much.  We need to slow down



        17     just a little bit.



        18               How long have you been a production



        19     manager for Storm Cat Energy?



        20         A     Since December of '06.



        21         Q     What is your business address?



        22         A     51 Coffeen Avenue.



        23         Q     And where is that?



        24         A     Sheridan, Wyoming.



        25         Q     I want to back up a little bit.  I'm
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         1     going to ask you some questions about your



         2     background so the special master can understand a



         3     little bit about where you come from.  Where did



         4     you grow up?



         5         A     Sheridan, Wyoming.



         6         Q     And did you go to college or attend any



         7     kind of training after high school?



         8         A     I went to a technical in Laramie,



         9     Wyoming.



        10         Q     And what was that for?



        11         A     Mechanics.



        12         Q     When did you complete that?



        13         A     In '87.



        14         Q     And what did you do after -- is that



        15     WyoTech?



        16         A     It is WyoTech.



        17         Q     What did you do after you graduated



        18     from WyoTech?



        19         A     Went to work for Plains Tire in



        20     Sheridan, Wyoming.



        21         Q     How long did you do that?



        22         A     Oh, about seven months.



        23         Q     Just wasn't for you?



        24         A     No, I got offered a different job.



        25         Q     What was that?
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         1         A     I went to work for Lange Drilling in



         2     Salt Lake City, Utah.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER: One of the advantages



         4     of slowing down, too, is it makes sure you have



         5     an opportunity to hear the question and think



         6     about it before answering.



         7         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Probably a good idea.



         8     What was Lange Drilling?



         9         A     An exploration drilling company out of



        10     Salt Lake that drilled -- well, I drilled in



        11     Nevada most of the time.



        12         Q     Drilling for what?



        13         A     Mainly it was coal -- or gold



        14     exploration.



        15         Q     Drilling for gold?



        16         A     Gold, yes.  Exploration, you know,



        17     looking for gold.



        18         Q     Okay.  And where did you do that?



        19         A     Elko, Nevada, Reno, Nevada.



        20         Q     Did you find any?



        21         A     Well, not where I could physically look



        22     at it and steal it.  We did find some, yes.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: So you were not out



        24     with your pan?



        25               THE WITNESS:  No, I wanted to be.
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         1         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  How long did you do



         2     that?



         3         A     I did that for two years.



         4         Q     So that brings us to 1989 or about?



         5         A     Close.  Yep.



         6         Q     What did you do after that?



         7         A     I bought a drilling rig and started



         8     drilling water wells.



         9         Q     For gold?



        10         A     No.  I drilled for water.  I drilled



        11     water wells in and around Sheridan, Wyoming.



        12         Q     Was that your own business?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     How long did you do that?



        15         A     Nine years.



        16         Q     And generally describe what, I guess,



        17     the operation that you ran up there drilling for



        18     water, what was it like drilling for water in



        19     that area?



        20         A     I drilled water wells for, of course, a



        21     lot of ranchers and landowners, and drilled the



        22     well and then had a backhoe and also did the



        23     hookups, tied them into houses and stock wells.



        24         Q     What aquifers were you drilling into?



        25         A     All kinds.  A lot of them were sand,
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         1     gray sand.  Coal, the same kind of coal we deal



         2     with at coal-bed methane.  Mainly them were the



         3     two aquifers.



         4         Q     How long did you do that?



         5         A     Nine years.



         6         Q     So that brings us to 1991?   No.



         7         A     No.



         8         Q     That's horrible math.  Another lawyer



         9     that can't do math.  At any rate, what did you do



        10     after that?



        11         A     Went to the railroad for two years.



        12         Q     What did you do for the railroad?



        13         A     I was an engineer and conductor.



        14         Q     How did you like that?



        15         A     I hated it.



        16         Q     Why is that?



        17         A     On call all the time and not knowing



        18     when you had to work and kept laying you off.  It



        19     was all seniority based.



        20         Q     Okay. What did you do after that?



        21         A     Went to work for J.M. Huber as a



        22     contract pumper.



        23         Q     A contract pumper for what?



        24         A     The coal-bed methane wells, CBM wells.



        25         Q     Okay. Where was that at?
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         1         A     Started out in Recluse, Wyoming.



         2         Q     Where is Recluse?



         3         A     About 83 miles east of Sheridan



         4     somewhat, 43 miles north of Gillette.



         5         Q     Out in the middle of nowhere?



         6         A     Kind of.



         7         Q     It's in the Powder River Basin?



         8         A     Correct.



         9         Q     You said you were a pumper?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     What does that mean?



        12         A     We actually went out and pumped the



        13     wells, basically watched over the pumps, tried to



        14     produce -- well, we pumped out water to make gas.



        15     So we watched wells.  I don't know how else --



        16         Q     So the pump that you were taking care



        17     of was the pump that removed the water from the



        18     coal seam.



        19         A     Correct.  It was a submersible pump in



        20     a well, yes.



        21         Q     How long did you do that?



        22         A     Oh, I did that for probably eight



        23     months and then I went to a production supervisor



        24     for J.M. Huber.



        25         Q     What did you do as a production
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         1     supervisor for J.M. Huber?



         2         A     Supervised all the pumpers.  So I just,



         3     your know, talk to them daily and met with J.M.



         4     Huber and supervised them.



         5         Q     Okay.  How long did you do that?



         6         A     I did that until I went to work for



         7     Baker Energy, which is in 2003.



         8         Q     So you went to work for Baker in 2003?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And doing what?



        11         A     Same thing.



        12         Q     Where at?



        13         A     Sheridan, Wyoming, Recluse -- well, I



        14     lived in Sheridan but most of my operations was



        15     in Recluse.



        16         Q     Did Baker have any operations in the



        17     Tongue River Basin?



        18         A     They were a service company.  So all I



        19     did was supply people.



        20         Q     Describe how that works, a service



        21     company supplying people?



        22         A     Well, J.M. Huber had too many contract



        23     employees, so all the people working for them



        24     were contract.  So they had to get a company



        25     because they didn't want to own -- or they didn't
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         1     want to hire anybody.  They wanted somebody else



         2     to hire them.  So they hired Baker Energy, and



         3     basically everybody from Baker Energy worked



         4     for -- like four guys worked for Huber in that



         5     area.



         6         Q     So were you doing the same job for Huber?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     You were just working for a different



         9     employer?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Okay.  So you were still a production



        12     manager for J.M. Huber in the Recluse area?



        13         A     Correct.



        14         Q     Okay. And how long did you do that?



        15         A     Until December of 2006.  Then I went to



        16     work for Storm Cat Energy?



        17         Q     And Storm Cat Energy, is that another



        18     CBM production company?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Where are they based out of?



        21         A     Denver.



        22         Q     And in what area were you working for



        23     them?



        24         A     Recluse.



        25         Q     Still in Recluse?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Okay.  And what was your position with



         3     them?



         4         A     Production manager.



         5         Q     Same kind of position?



         6         A     Same kind of position, yes.



         7         Q     Okay. Did the job duties change at all



         8     when you moved over to Storm Cat?



         9         A     Yes.  I started dealing more with the



        10     gas marketers and then I took care of the budget.



        11     I still take care of the budget.  And a lot of



        12     the other jobs are the same.  We still deal with



        13     producing gas on a daily basis.



        14         Q     Okay.  Describe to me -- for me the



        15     interaction you had with the gas marketer.  What



        16     did that involve?



        17         A     I have to give him flows, you know,



        18     when we have down time and we are off gas because



        19     we got to do imbalances at the end of the month.



        20     So we can't be too long or short because one way



        21     will cost you money, the other way you have to



        22     make up gas.  So I deal with the marketer on a



        23     daily basis on selling gas.



        24         Q     What other things, if you haven't



        25     already mentioned everything, does a production
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         1     manager do?



         2         A     I deal with water management.  I deal



         3     with gas calibrations.  The day-to-day basis --



         4     daily basis -- day-to-day operations with the



         5     pumpers.  You know, we deal with guys every day,



         6     human resources, you know, vacations.



         7         Q     In that position as a production



         8     manager did you have any occasion to deal with



         9     regulatory agencies?



        10         A     Yes, I deal with them daily.



        11         Q     What regulatory agencies do you



        12     typically deal with?



        13         A     DEQ, BLM, OSLI, SEO.



        14         Q     What is OSLI?



        15         A     Office of State Lands.



        16         Q     For what purpose would you deal with



        17     them?



        18         A     Usually wells and reservoirs on state



        19     leases.



        20         Q     So that's the real property owner for



        21     some of your leases?



        22         A     Correct.



        23         Q     And the Office of State Lands, that's



        24     in Wyoming, right?



        25         A     Correct.

�



                                                            4520







         1         Q     So that would be the agency that you



         2     would have to work through as the property owner?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     Is that right?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Okay.  You said DEQ.  Is that Wyoming



         7     DEQ?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     And for what purpose would you have to



        10     work with the Wyoming DEQ?



        11         A     They mainly deal with air quality and



        12     water, water quality and volume.  I mean, they



        13     regulate quality -- they regulate the water



        14     quality and volume of water.



        15         Q     When you say the DEQ regulates the



        16     volume of water, what do you mean?   Do you know



        17     what they do?



        18         A     Well, each permit, I mean -- just



        19     depends.  We'll have a permit on an outfall that



        20     will have a volume associated with it and will



        21     have a quality of water associated with it.  And,



        22     like yesterday, I spent all day with them and we



        23     go around and went to 16 outfalls, which an



        24     outfall is a place where water comes out from the



        25     wells.  And they will sample it and make sure the
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         1     sample is within the permit requirements.



         2         Q     So you have to get a permit from DEQ to



         3     produce CBM?



         4         A     Yes, a WYPEES permit.



         5         Q     You said air quality, as well, with



         6     DEQ?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     What air quality concerns are there?



         9         A     We have compressors.



        10         Q     What is a compressor?



        11         A     Compressor is how we move our gas.



        12         Q     Those compressors create gas in the



        13     air, right?



        14         A     Emissions, yes.



        15         Q     Emissions.  So that's what DEQ regulates?



        16         A     Yes, it's the same thing as a permit.



        17     And they regulate that, also.



        18         Q     State engineer's office, I think you



        19     mentioned as a regulatory agency you deal with?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     You said SEO?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     And what regulatory activities do you



        24     deal with the SEO for?



        25         A     Getting permits for reservoirs.
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         1         Q     Okay.  Can you describe that process?



         2     Do you yourself deal with the permitting?



         3         A     No.  I might sign it, but I don't



         4     create it.  Most of the time -- I can't describe



         5     how it works.



         6         Q     What's your understanding?  Do you have



         7     an understanding what has to be permitted through



         8     the state engineer's office?



         9         A     Reservoirs do, yes.



        10         Q     And what about the reservoirs, do you



        11     know? If you don't, that's fine.



        12         A     I know you got to apply for it, you



        13     have a size, how many acre-feet and storage and



        14     how big and whatnot.



        15         Q     And do you still work in the Recluse



        16     area?



        17         A     I still do work there, too, yes.



        18         Q     You say, too.  Do you work somewhere



        19     else --



        20         A      Sheridan.



        21         Q     -- now?



        22               SPECIAL MASTER: If you can both try not



        23     to talk at exactly the same time, that would be



        24     helpful to the court reporter.  I will try and



        25     watch out for that, too.
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         1         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  I will do my absolute



         2     best to wait until you're done with your answer



         3     if you can wait for me to get done with my



         4     question.



         5         A     I will.



         6         Q     So I think as we were talking over one



         7     another, you said that you work in the Sheridan



         8     area now as well?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And when did that start happening?



        11         A     From 2007.



        12         Q     Is that with Storm Cat?



        13         A     Yes.  We drilled 19 wells out in the



        14     Prairie Dog area.



        15         Q     At some point in time did Storm Cat



        16     purchase J.M. Huber in the Prairie Dog area?



        17         A     Yes, they did that in December of 2011.



        18         Q     Okay.  And so in December of 2011 Storm



        19     Cat purchased J.M. Huber; is that right?



        20         A     Correct.



        21         Q     And so any of the CBM interests that



        22     J.M. Huber had in the Tongue River Basin then



        23     went over to Storm Cat; is that accurate?



        24         A     Yes, all of it.



        25         Q     But you had done some work as early as
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         1     2007, as far as drilling wells?



         2         A     Yes, we drilled 19 wells in that area.



         3         Q     Did you have any experience with CBM



         4     water production in the Tongue River Basin at



         5     that time, 2007?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     Describe that.



         8         A     Well, we had the 19 wells, which went



         9     into a reservoir.



        10         Q     All 19 wells went into one reservoir?



        11         A     Correct.



        12         Q     How big was that reservoir?



        13         A     Hundred acre-feet.



        14         Q     Since 2011, when Storm Cat purchased



        15     out J.M. Huber, have you been Storm Cat's



        16     production manager in the Tongue River Basin?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     Can you just generally in a geographic



        19     sense describe where Storm Cat's holdings are in



        20     the Tongue River Basin, their CBM production



        21     operations?



        22         A     Where all our leases are?



        23         Q     Where is your operation at?  Are you at



        24     Prairie Dog Creek or are you on Big Goose Creek?



        25         A     We are on Prairie Dog Creek, Badger
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         1     Creek, all that area out there.  We got stuff in



         2     Recluse.  I mean, there are several creeks.



         3         Q     And what I mean is just in the Tongue



         4     River Basin?



         5         A     Oh, just the Tongue River.  Okay.



         6     We've got stuff up and down Prairie Dog Creek,



         7     Badger Creek.



         8         Q     And that's predominantly in the Prairie



         9     Dog Creek vicinity, right?



        10         A     Correct.  Yes.



        11         Q     Do you know, is Storm Cat Energy the



        12     only CBM production company doing CBM production



        13     in the Tongue River Basin?



        14         A     We are not.



        15         Q     Do you know of the others?



        16         A     Fidelity and Marathon.



        17         Q     Have there been others in the past that



        18     you know of?



        19         A     That's the main ones, unless there are



        20     some small ones that I don't...



        21         Q     Okay.  Do you know which company had



        22     the most CBM production or the largest CBM



        23     production operation in the Tongue River Basin?



        24     Do you know?



        25         A     No.  At one time it had been close to
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         1     Huber or Fidelity.



         2         Q     Okay.  I am going to show you an



         3     exhibit.  It's a map, and it is marked as Exhibit



         4     W-223.  And it's incredibly difficult to read at



         5     this scale, but we are going to put it up on the



         6     screen and see if we can't aid that.  Do you



         7     recognize Exhibit W-223?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     What is it?



        10         A     It's our -- we call it our PDC water



        11     management area.



        12         Q     When you say we, you mean Storm Cat?



        13         A     Storm Cat, yes.



        14         Q     So do you use that map as part of your



        15     regular work with Storm Cat Energy?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And is that map accurate with regard to



        18     Storm Cat's CBM water production operation as of



        19     the date of the map?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Do you know what the date of the map is?



        22         A     Well, it's around April of 2012.



        23         Q     I'd like to offer Exhibit W-223.



        24               MR. DRAPER:  Your Honor, we object to



        25     admission of this exhibit.  It's a 2012 map.
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         1     Doesn't relate to this case.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER: So I'm going to permit



         3     the map, recognizing, of course, that it is 2012,



         4     and that, therefore, it doesn't necessarily say



         5     what things looked like at a previous point in



         6     time.



         7               MR. DRAPER:  Okay.  As of 2012, a



         8     current map --



         9               SPECIAL MASTER: I understand it has



        10     limited relevance, but I'm interested in where



        11     Mr Brown will go with it.



        12               MR. DRAPER:  With that understanding, I



        13     have no objection.



        14               (Received.)



        15               SPECIAL MASTER: So Exhibit -- just to



        16     finish up here, Exhibit W-223, is admitted.



        17               (Received.)



        18         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Mr. Steir, do you



        19     know, when Storm Cat Energy purchased J.M. Huber



        20     did it purchase all of its files and records and



        21     things of that nature?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Do you know whether that included the



        24     data that went into making this map that we are



        25     looking at?
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         1         A     I would say yes.



         2         Q     As far as -- are you experienced with



         3     the information that's depicted in the map, and



         4     when I say that, I mean Storm Cat's water



         5     production operation?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     And was the information contained in



         8     that map accurate as far as what you observed



         9     when Storm Cat purchased J.M. Huber?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     I want to be very clear.  That was as



        12     of December of 2011, right?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     You didn't have any experience with



        15     their water production or handling prior to that



        16     point in time?



        17         A     No.



        18         Q     Okay.  Let's zoom in on the legend at



        19     the bottom of this map.  If you would, and I



        20     don't know if you can read the paper copy that I



        21     have given you or if we can get that big enough



        22     to read, could you just describe generally the



        23     information contained on this map using the



        24     legend or -- just describe what's on the map?



        25     What's contained on it?
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         1         A     Okay.  The blue lines are definitely



         2     the water gathering system.  So that's our



         3     underground lines going from wells/reservoir to



         4     reservoir.  There's reservoirs on there.  It will



         5     say existing water bodies and it will have



         6     inactive water bodies, which -- and then we --



         7     we've got irrigated areas that we irrigate



         8     with -- or irrigate out there in the PDC area.



         9     Some of the stuff on the legend is not on this



        10     map because it's mainly I use this as a water



        11     management map, because that's -- I took all the



        12     wells and roads and all that stuff on the



        13     left-hand side off.



        14         Q     Okay.  So there's another map that



        15     would be more descriptive of the actual gas



        16     production sides of your work?



        17         A     Correct.



        18         Q     Okay.  Do you see on the far right-hand



        19     corner of the legend box something labeled SDI?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     What is that?



        22         A     Sub-drip irrigation.



        23         Q     What does that mean?



        24         A     We irrigate -- well, we use Ben Tero,



        25     you know, it's -- we irrigate from underground.
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         1     We take our water and put -- basically what we



         2     are doing right now is we take 10,000 barrels a



         3     day and put it underground and have alfalfa



         4     fields.



         5         Q     Where do you go that?



         6         A     In the Prairie Dog Creek area on



         7     Carlton Perry's land.



         8         Q     Is that up Dutch Creek?  I'm not sure.



         9     That's where it looks like it's at on the map,



        10     too.



        11         A     Well, it's in the area.  But I don't



        12     recall Dutch Creek.  I don't know that.



        13         Q     Okay.   That's fine.  And so looking at



        14     Exhibit W-223, all of the blue polygons, are



        15     those CBM reservoirs?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And then I think the legend indicates



        18     that the blue polygons that are wrapped in a red



        19     line, those are inactive CBM reservoirs?



        20         A     Correct.  They are still there.  We



        21     just don't use them.



        22         Q     So this map just generally describes



        23     the plumbing of your water production operation?



        24         A     All the underground lines we have, yes.



        25         Q     Why do you have underground lines?
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         1         A     To get the water from the wells to the



         2     reservoirs and then maybe from reservoir to



         3     reservoir.  It just depends.



         4         Q     So you can move water between reservoirs?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Do you have more than one CBM well



         7     hooked up to a single reservoir?



         8         A     We got more wells -- we have more than



         9     one well going to a reservoir, yes.



        10         Q     Do you have multiple wells going to one



        11     reservoir?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     So that's just kind of described by the



        14     plumbing --



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     -- that's on this map.  In your



        17     experience with CBM production, what is the goal



        18     of the CBM companies with regard to the produced



        19     water?



        20         A     Well, our goal is -- to produce water



        21     we get it out of the well bore and try to get rid



        22     of it because it's a byproduct.  We don't want



        23     it.  And we want the gas that the well produces.



        24         Q     So generally describe the process that



        25     Storm Cat uses, at least, of trying to get rid of
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         1     that water?



         2         A     We put it in reservoirs is our main



         3     thing.  And then we want them to infiltrate,



         4     evaporate, and then if they don't do that fast



         5     enough, we irrigate.



         6         Q     So one of the goals of putting the



         7     water in the reservoirs is to have it infiltrate?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     You want a leaky reservoir?



        10         A     We'd love a leaky reservoir, yes.



        11         Q     Is there ever a time that you had a



        12     reservoir that wasn't leaky?



        13         A     No, most of them do.



        14         Q     Have you ever had one that didn't



        15     infiltrate?



        16         A     Had some that infiltrated very slowly.



        17         Q     What did you do with those reservoirs?



        18         A     Well, we eventually tried not to use



        19     them because we want to go to the ones that



        20     infiltrate.  We need the ones that leak, that



        21     don't hold water.



        22         Q     Sure.  And so if you had one that



        23     didn't leak, you'd find another one?



        24         A     Yes, or we would pump it out of that



        25     one into one that would infiltrate.
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         1         Q     Okay.   Can you use -- and looking



         2     back -- let me ask:  On Exhibit W-223, does that



         3     depict all of the water production facilities for



         4     Storm Cat in the Prairie Dog Creek area?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     And do you know about how many CBM



         7     reservoirs you have in the -- Storm Cat has in



         8     the Prairie Dog Creek area?



         9         A     59.



        10         Q     59?



        11         A     59.



        12         Q     Total reservoirs?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Out of those reservoirs, do you know



        15     how many are lined?



        16         A     Five.



        17         Q     Do you use any of those lined reservoirs?



        18         A     We do not.



        19         Q     Why not?



        20         A     Because once you fill them up, the



        21     water goes nowhere unless you pump it out.



        22         Q     Again, you want a leaky reservoir, right?



        23         A     We would love to take the liners out,



        24     but we have not.  They are too hard.



        25         Q     How big are most of these CBM reservoirs?
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         1         A     I'm going to say 10 to 20 acre-feet.



         2         Q     They obviously get bigger.  You



         3     discussed a hundred acre-foot earlier?



         4         A     Correct.



         5         Q     What is the biggest one Storm Cat has?



         6         A     In the Prairie Dog area, probably a



         7     hundred acre-feet.  What did I say?  Prairie Dog



         8     Creek?  Yeah, I did.



         9         Q     What other -- other than just putting



        10     the CBM water in the reservoir, what other



        11     methods or techniques does Storm Cat use to try



        12     to get rid of the CBM water?



        13         A     We irrigate with it, so we got big



        14     pivots, side rolls, and then we call them big



        15     guns.  They're portable.



        16         Q     Do you know about how many acres is



        17     irrigated with Storm Cat CBM water in the Prairie



        18     Dog Creek area?  Do you have any idea?



        19         A     I don't remember exactly how many acres.



        20         Q     How is it that you find ground to put



        21     the CBM water on?



        22         A     Well, a lot of it is we give it to



        23     ranchers, and then -- because they will have



        24     areas.  We try to find flat areas where you can



        25     run pivots or side rolls, you know, so we can
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         1     grow grass, hay, whatever they want to grow.



         2         Q     So you try to reach some kind of



         3     agreement with the landowners?



         4         A     Correct.



         5         Q     What's entailed in those agreements?



         6         A     They are very simple.  Some of them are



         7     just verbal.  Hey, can we irrigate out here?



         8     Some landowners want hard copy or signed copies



         9     and they are very simple.  I mean, there is not



        10     much to them.



        11         Q     So you can have either a verbal



        12     agreement or a written agreement with landowners



        13     to irrigate their ground with CBM water?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Does Storm Cat only irrigate land that



        16     was previously irrigated with either direct flow



        17     water or some other type of storage water or do



        18     you guys irrigate other land?



        19         A     We irrigate other land.



        20         Q     How do you go about finding that land



        21     to irrigate?



        22         A     Same thing.  Usually the flat places



        23     where they can hay it, usually, is what we



        24     irrigate.



        25         Q     Once you have an agreement with a
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         1     landowner to irrigate their land, who does the



         2     irrigation, typically?



         3         A     We do.  Well, Wood Group.  We hire Wood



         4     Group that runs our operations.  They do the



         5     irrigating.



         6         Q     You hire a third party contractor to



         7     come do the irrigating for you?



         8         A     Correct.  Yes.



         9         Q     And do you have any occasions where the



        10     landowners do the irrigation with the CBM water?



        11         A     Actually, yes, we just started that in



        12     2013.  Would have been the first year that the



        13     landowners are taking our equipment and they are



        14     operating it because they are out there.  It was



        15     a cost savings idea for us.



        16         Q     So in 2011 and 2012 it was exclusively



        17     Storm Cat that operated the equipment?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Once you find a piece of land to do the



        20     irrigation, does Storm Cat do any kind of soil



        21     testing?



        22         A     We do get a baseline.  And then we



        23     sample it every year to see what type of



        24     amendments we need to put on the surface.



        25         Q     And when you say amendments, what do
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         1     you mean?



         2         A     We call them amendments.  We put sulfur



         3     or gypsum on there which just -- water has a lot



         4     of salts in it and we are just trying to keep the



         5     salts from creating a hard pan because we want



         6     the water to go down in the ground.



         7         Q     With regard to the land that Storm Cat



         8     irrigates with the CBM water, is the landowner



         9     able to use other water on that same land, as



        10     well?



        11         A     No.



        12         Q     At least through the irrigation



        13     facilities that Storm Cat uses?



        14         A     They are not.



        15         Q     And why not?



        16         A     Because they have no way to put the



        17     water in the reservoir.



        18         Q     So how does that preclude the landowner



        19     from using the irrigation equipment?



        20         A     Okay.  From using our irrigation



        21     equipment?



        22         Q     Right.



        23         A     Because our irrigation equipment is



        24     tied to our infrastructure, our stuff.   There's



        25     no way they could tie into it.
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         1         Q     Okay.  Is Storm Cat able to dispose of



         2     all of its CBM produced water through irrigation?



         3         A     We don't irrigate all of it.  Some



         4     reservoirs we leave set.  Once they are full and



         5     they don't infiltrate quickly, we'll just leave



         6     them set, and they will infiltrate or evaporate



         7     over time.



         8         Q     At some point you gave a copy of this



         9     map that's Exhibit W-223 to the state engineer's



        10     office; is that right?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     Who was it you gave it to?



        13         A     Dave Schroeder.



        14         Q     Why did you give it to him?



        15         A     Because it was right after we took over



        16     J.M. Huber.  He called and said, hey, I've been



        17     out in your area and I see some reservoirs that



        18     have more water in them than they normally have.



        19     Could you explain why and how?  How are you



        20     putting more water in?  I said, we are operating



        21     different than Huber is.  We are trying to use



        22     more -- we are trying to use more of the



        23     reservoirs for irrigation instead of going into



        24     the SDI system because they were putting, like,



        25     16,000 barrels in the SDI system.   So we
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         1     switched that so he was seeing more water in



         2     reservoirs because of that.  So he wanted to know



         3     how the system worked and asked if I would come



         4     out and show him.  I said, how about if I give



         5     you a map and show you?  And that's what I did.



         6         Q     Okay.  And so it sounds like he had a



         7     pretty good understanding of where the reservoirs



         8     were?



         9         A     Correct.



        10         Q     He just didn't know how your system



        11     operated?



        12         A     Yep.



        13         Q     He wasn't familiar with the plumbing?



        14         A     Exactly.  And we probably also --



        15     because you can transfer from reservoir to



        16     reservoir, we might have transferred water, moved



        17     it around, and that's what he was seeing also.



        18     So we explained to him and gave him a map and



        19     showed him how we were doing that.



        20         Q     Okay.  Did you also provide a copy of



        21     this map at some point in time to a gentleman by



        22     the name of Doyle Fritz?



        23         A     Yes, I did.



        24         Q     Did that include the electronic state



        25     files that go with the map?

�



                                                            4540







         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Let me back up a second.  When Storm



         3     Cat Energy at least is thinking about developing



         4     some new CBM wells, does it do any planning with



         5     regard to its water production disposal techniques



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     Describe that.  How does that work?



         8         A     Well, we figure out how many wells.



         9     You will pick an area and, you know, take an



        10     average what you think, how many barrels each



        11     well is going to produce.  So if you are doing 20



        12     wells and they're at 250 barrels apiece, you have



        13     to calculate how much water you can manage



        14     through the year with that.  So that is how many



        15     reservoirs we need, how much irrigation, how much



        16     infiltration, how many evaporation, all of that



        17     is calculated.  There's formulas to figure all



        18     that out.



        19         Q     So it sounds like you try to find a way



        20     to make sure you have enough opportunity to



        21     dispose of that water?



        22         A     Correct.



        23         Q     Are you familiar with gentleman by the



        24     name of Joe Pilch?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     How do you know him?



         2         A     Well, I've known him for a long time.



         3     I grew up with his kid.  And he's a landowner out



         4     there in lower Prairie Dog.  So we deal with the



         5     landowners.



         6         Q     Okay.  Does Storm Cat Energy irrigate



         7     any of Mr. Pilch's land?



         8         A     Yes, we do.



         9         Q     And is that the land you just described



        10     in Lower Prairie Dog?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     So that would be the end of Prairie Dog



        13     closest to Montana?



        14         A     Yeah.



        15         Q     The north end of Prairie Dog in Montana?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Do you know -- are you aware if J.M.



        18     Huber was irrigating Mr. Pilch's land prior to



        19     Storm Cat purchasing J.M. Huber in 2011?



        20         A     They were.



        21         Q     And when Storm Cat purchased J.M. Huber



        22     was there already irrigation equipment at Mr.



        23     Pilch's place?



        24         A     Yes, it was already set up.



        25         Q     Can you describe Storm Cat's irrigation
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         1     of Mr. Pilch's property?



         2         A     How we irrigate on Joe's?



         3         Q     Just a general description of how Storm



         4     Cat goes about irrigating Mr. Pilch's place.



         5         A     We put it in certain reservoirs that



         6     are on this map and then he's got side rolls, big



         7     guns, and pivots that we use.



         8         Q     I'm going to show you another document.



         9     Just standing here realized I only had one.  This



        10     is a page from Exhibit W-2.   It is from Exhibit



        11     W-2 Bates number WY 043250.  Unfortunately, Mr.



        12     Fritz's appendices were not page numbered.  It's



        13     around page 177.  It's broke down as far as I



        14     think he did the Tongue River --



        15               SPECIAL MASTER:  Let's go off the record.



        16               (Discussion off the record.)



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.



        18         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Mr. Steir, do you



        19     recognize the image that's depicted in that



        20     aerial photograph that I just gave to you?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     And what do you recognize it to be?



        23         A     Part -- this is Joe Pilch's irrigated



        24     land.



        25         Q     And it was just what we were discussing
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         1     as far as his ground on up the Prairie Dog Creek?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Lower Prairie Dog Creek, I apologize.



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     I'm going to stick this on the ELMO, so



         6     that other folks can see it.  I will see if I can



         7     figure out how to run this thing.  Can you see



         8     that all right, Mr. Steir?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     What I want to do -- it looks like to



        11     me the way that this aerial photograph is



        12     oriented, is it accurate to say Prairie Dog Creek



        13     enters the lower left-hand corner of the



        14     photograph?



        15         A     Yes, it is.



        16         Q     And then it generally trends to the



        17     northeast up into the right-hand corner of the



        18     photograph?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     And then there's some polygons



        21     identified on the photograph that look to be



        22     irrigated fields.   Do you agree with that?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     And I want to go through this, and at



        25     least with your experience as far as Storm Cat
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         1     irrigating on Mr. Pilch's place, I just want to



         2     ask you a few questions with regard to it.  First



         3     of all, if you'll take a look, and if you'll look



         4     up here, I'm going to point up on the big screen,



         5     can you tell me what that is?



         6         A     A reservoir.



         7         Q     What kind of reservoir?



         8         A     A CBM reservoir that we put water in.



         9         Q     So that's one of Storm Cat's reservoirs?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     What about this one over here?



        12         A     One of our reservoirs.



        13         Q     How about here?



        14         A     One of our reservoirs.



        15         Q     How about this one?



        16         A     One of our reservoirs.



        17         Q     How about that?



        18         A     One of ours.



        19         Q     Okay.  What is this right here?



        20         A     That is a compressor station.



        21         Q     Is that, as you were describing



        22     earlier, so you could move the coal-bed gas?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Can you tell me with regard to this



        25     field that I'm indicating, does Storm Cat
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         1     irrigate that with CBM water?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     How is that irrigated?



         4         A     That one is a side roll.



         5         Q     How about this field here?



         6         A     That would be side rolls.



         7         Q     So does Storm Cat irrigate that with



         8     CBM water?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And how about this center pivot?



        11         A     Pivots, yes.  Irrigated.



        12         Q     That's irrigated with CBM water?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     How about this center pivot?



        15         A     Irrigated with CBM water.



        16         Q     Do you see this mark over here that is



        17     off this center pivot?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Do you know, does Storm Cat irrigate



        20     that?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     How is that irrigated?



        23         A     With big guns.



        24         Q     How about this triangle that's over



        25     here?
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         1         A     Same thing.



         2         Q     Okay.  And how about this area over



         3     here?



         4         A     That could be a side roll or a big gun.



         5         Q     You're not sure which?



         6         A     No, I don't remember exactly.



         7         Q     How about this field up here?



         8         A     That would be a side roll.



         9         Q     Do you know if this area right in here



        10     gets CBM water?  If you don't know, that's fine.



        11         A     I don't know for a fact.  But probably



        12     not.  I don't know that.



        13         Q     You don't do any irrigation over on



        14     this side of Prairie Dog Creek for Mr. Pilch?



        15         A     We do not.



        16         Q     And you don't do any CBM irrigation



        17     through here for Mr. Pilch?



        18         A     No.



        19         Q     Okay.  Is there any other land owned by



        20     Mr. Pilch that Storm Cat does irrigation for?



        21         A     I think this is it, but I'm --



        22         Q     Is there land outside of Prairie Dog



        23     Creek bottom that Storm Cat does some irrigation



        24     for Mr. Pilch, up away from Prairie Dog Creek?



        25     Do you know?
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         1         A     No, I don't think so.



         2         Q     Okay.  Do you know how many CBM



         3     reservoirs are used to irrigate Mr. Pilch's land?



         4         A     Which reservoir?  No, I don't keep



         5     track of it.



         6         Q     Is it more than one?



         7         A     Oh, yeah.  Definitely.



         8         Q     Can you bring CBM produced water from a



         9     reservoir from a distance to irrigate Mr. Pilch's



        10     land?



        11         A     Yeah, it's all -- all our system is



        12     tied together.  So if I wanted to get water to



        13     that reservoir, I could get it clear from Badger



        14     Creek, which is miles away.



        15         Q     Okay.  And I think you mentioned with



        16     regard to other irrigators, but in particular



        17     with regard to Mr. Pilch, is he able to plug into



        18     the irrigation equipment on his property and



        19     irrigate with anything but CBM water?



        20         A     No, he's not.



        21         Q     Can you just describe for us what the



        22     current state of CBM production is in Prairie Dog



        23     Creek area in Wyoming?   Is it going up?  Is it



        24     going down?



        25         A     It's all going down.  No new wells.
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         1         Q     How about the water production?



         2         A     It's going down also.



         3         Q     Is Storm Cat plugging any wells?



         4         A     We are currently plugging, yes.  Ten of



         5     them this year.



         6         Q     And are you familiar with any of the



         7     other CBM companies?  Are they doing the same



         8     thing?



         9         A     Yeah, they are all plugging wells.



        10               MR. BROWN:  That's all I have.



        11               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you, Mr. Brown.



        12     Mr. Draper?



        13                     CROSS-EXAMINATION



        14         Q     (By Mr. Draper:)  Good afternoon, Mr.



        15     Steir.  I'd like to turn our attention to the map



        16     that you discussed with Mr. Brown initially.  And



        17     that is this Exhibit W-223.  Did you prepare this



        18     map?



        19         A     I did not.



        20         Q     Do you know who did?



        21         A     I don't know who put all the data



        22     together to create the map.  But I had Wood



        23     Group, you know, take layers off and put on there



        24     what I wanted to put on there before I gave it to



        25     Mr. -- to Dave Schroeder.
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         1         Q     And you referred to a Wood Group.  Is



         2     that a separate entity from Storm Cat?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     What did you ask them?  Apparently you



         5     asked them to prepare this map?



         6         A     I asked them to give -- create a water



         7     management map of Prairie Dog Creek so I could



         8     give it to Dave Schroeder.



         9         Q     To show him what currently is happening



        10     with respect to water management by the company?



        11         A     Correct.



        12         Q     With respect to the current use, did



        13     you check this map in terms of determining



        14     whether it was accurate with all of the



        15     designation of irrigated area?



        16         A     Have I -- no, I have not done that.   I



        17     mean, I could tell you by going out to the field,



        18     and knowing what goes on, that I'm pretty sure



        19     it's pretty accurate because we have to do as



        20     bills after we put all the pipelines and the



        21     locations of reservoirs and everything.  So it's



        22     GPS'd for them to create an as bill.



        23         Q     And that's the type of information that



        24     the Wood Group used, as you understand it, to



        25     construct the map?
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         1         A     Yes, but it would have been pre-Wood



         2     Group.  All the data that was collected would



         3     have been pre-Wood Group.  It would probably have



         4     been some Baker employees and some contract



         5     employees that supplied all the data to Huber to



         6     build these maps.



         7         Q     So it's been handled by different



         8     companies and different people over the years?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And it's your understanding that the



        11     intention was to give the current 2012, I think



        12     you said April of 2012 --



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     -- status of the things that are shown



        15     on it; is that right?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Did you differentiate -- did you ask



        18     them to differentiate between what's currently



        19     being used and what's been irrigated or not



        20     irrigated in the past?



        21         A     No, I think everything on here is



        22     something that has been irrigated at one time.  I



        23     didn't state, say, hey, just give me what's being



        24     irrigated today.  I did not say that.



        25         Q     So there might be lands on there that
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         1     are not irrigated today but were at some point in



         2     the past?



         3         A     Correct.



         4         Q     And did you determine which lands were



         5     currently irrigated and which ones aren't?



         6         A     I haven't sat down and went over it,



         7     no.  I mean, we track all that, but I don't have



         8     it.  I don't know all of it.



         9         Q     And you're not sure who actually



        10     prepared this at this Wood Group?



        11         A     Well, I know who did that.  I know who



        12     put the map together. He just took data that was



        13     already in a database and took off layers and



        14     added layers to give me what I wanted, what we do



        15     there on a daily basis, every map I need him to



        16     do.



        17         Q     And for the record, who was that person?



        18         A     Manny Rodriguez.



        19         Q     And did he have personal knowledge of



        20     where each of these irrigated areas were out in



        21     the field?



        22         A     No, he would just have information that



        23     was supplied to us when we purchased Huber in a



        24     database.



        25         Q     What was the source of that information
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         1     in the database?



         2         A     What do you mean?  You want to know



         3     where it come from?



         4         Q     Yes.



         5         A     It come from these guys doing -- they



         6     take out high-quality GPSes, basically, and would



         7     go out and when a line was installed they would



         8     drive them.  They would map the areas.  They



         9     would go around each reservoir.  So it's very



        10     accurate on where everything is at.



        11         Q     These were various people over the



        12     years doing that?



        13         A     The one guy that worked there probably



        14     worked there the longest, Larry Bridger, was a



        15     guy that worked there.   He probably did most of



        16     that, and he worked there for several years.  So



        17     I can't say he did all that, but he could have



        18     done most of it.  It might have been one, two,



        19     three people.  I don't know that.



        20         Q     So you don't -- might have been Mr.



        21     Bridger, might have been other people?



        22         A     It could have.



        23         Q     Did they -- in building that database,



        24     did they rely on agreements with the landowners



        25     as to where this water was supposed to go?
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         1         A     He didn't need to.  There would have



         2     been no reason he would have to worry about an



         3     agreement.  We would have abided by the



         4     agreement, you know, whatever we made with the



         5     landowner.  And he would have went out and GPSed



         6     wherever we were irrigating or wherever the rest



         7     of it was or the water lines.  It would have been



         8     done pre his going to the field.



         9         Q     Now, you testified that your purpose in



        10     putting water into reservoirs was to -- or



        11     irrigation systems was to further the overall



        12     purpose of disposing of the produced water from



        13     the CBM operations, correct?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     And you mentioned that that was partly



        16     achieved through infiltration and partly through



        17     evaporation?



        18         A     Both of them, yeah.



        19         Q     Did you ever engage in any practice to



        20     enhance evaporation, like aeration systems, for



        21     instance?



        22         A     No.  I mean, we just -- no.



        23         Q     Just had as much surface area as



        24     possible to evaporate as much as possible?



        25         A     Exactly.
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         1         Q     One of your ways that you've described



         2     of disposing of this water is to provide it to



         3     irrigators to use in their operations, correct?



         4         A     Mainly it was our irrigation system,



         5     not their irrigation.  The only time we let the



         6     landowners use ours was in 2013.  They used our



         7     equipment and they monitored the pivots and the



         8     side rolls themselves.



         9         Q     I see.  You have the plumbing system



        10     currently that's shown on the map and the -- at



        11     the end of the plumbing, as you take it from



        12     producing wells to disposal, are either reservoirs



        13     or irrigation systems?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Do you know how much acreage you're



        16     irrigating right now?



        17         A     I don't know the exact number, no.



        18         Q     Isn't it true a lot of irrigators are



        19     wary of putting CBM water on their existing



        20     irrigated lands because of water quality concerns?



        21         A     They were in the beginning.  But you



        22     talk to anybody that we've done that to now, any



        23     landowner, they love it.  I mean, there's



        24     landowners that -- there was a specific landowner



        25     that said, I don't want any, and he's in Prairie
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         1     Dog Creek, which is Tom Pilch -- or Tom Kovetka,



         2     and he just took over another one that we



         3     irrigate, which is the Huttons, and he called me



         4     when he first started irrigating, and he said,



         5     this is one of the best lands we've seen.  He



         6     said, I am not afraid of CBM water now.  With



         7     your amendments and everything, this stuff is



         8     good ground.  He really likes it.  So most of



         9     them -- not most of them, all of them, if they



        10     are irrigating, they love it.



        11         Q     The ones who are taking your water,



        12     they are fine with it.  But not everybody, not



        13     even a majority of the landowners are using your



        14     water; isn't that right?



        15         A     Oh, well, landowners that we don't deal



        16     with could be.  The ones that we irrigate on that



        17     I know of, yeah.  Not every landowner we have is



        18     using our water.  No, because we don't need to.



        19         Q     I think I've seen that you'll put water



        20     out on areas that have never been irrigated



        21     before if you can find a flat enough area to put



        22     it on?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     And the water that you're disposing has



        25     a fairly high sodium content, doesn't it?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     And that tends to seal up ground when



         3     it gets on it.  Don't you have that problem with



         4     your reservoir system to some extent?  You find



         5     they seal up and you have to go to other means of



         6     disposal?



         7         A     No, some of them slow down.  I don't



         8     think it's because of the sodium.  Some of them



         9     still infiltrate.  Some of them never seal, don't



        10     even slow down.  Some of them you can put water



        11     on them and they never fill up.  But, yes, you're



        12     right.  Sodium does do that.  And that's why we



        13     amend on the surface.  But a lot of our



        14     reservoirs that we've had out there for years



        15     still infiltrate.



        16         Q     Your amendments that you're referring



        17     to go to the water that you're putting out for



        18     irrigation pumps?



        19         A     Yeah, we amend on -- yes, where we



        20     irrigate.



        21               MR. DRAPER:  Your Honor, I'd like to



        22     take a moment, with your permission.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: That will be fine.



        24               (Pause.)



        25               MR. DRAPER:  Your Honor, if I may.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER: Yes.



         2         Q     (By Mr. Draper:)  Mr. Steir, you talked



         3     a little bit about the fact that this is a



         4     current map, this W-223 map as we've designated



         5     it in this case.  Can you tell from this map what



         6     was irrigated with CBM water in 2001?



         7         A     I can't specifically tell you, but, I



         8     mean, it is on here probably.



         9         Q     Can you tell which ones were and which



        10     ones weren't in 2001?



        11         A     In 2001?  No, I can't tell you which



        12     ones were.



        13         Q     Can you do that in 2002?



        14         A     No.



        15         Q     Or 2004?



        16         A     No.



        17         Q     Or, finally, 2006?



        18         A     No, I can't tell you exactly which ones.



        19               MR. DRAPER:  I think that will do it



        20     for the moment, Your Honor.



        21               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you, Mr. Draper.



        22     I just have a couple of questions, first of all,



        23     with respect to the map.  So this is a map that



        24     you had Wood Group prepare for you?



        25               THE WITNESS:  Correct.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER:  When did they prepare



         2     it for you?



         3               THE WITNESS:  What did they prepare?



         4               SPECIAL MASTER: No. When?



         5               THE WITNESS:  I had them do this April



         6     of 2012.



         7               SPECIAL MASTER: And what did you give



         8     them in order to prepare it?



         9               THE WITNESS:  I called him up and say,



        10     hey, I want a map of our water management system.



        11     Because they have all the database already built



        12     from pre-2012.  So it might have been built in



        13     2006, 2005, whenever something was new was added



        14     into this database to build this.  So I just



        15     said, hey, I need a map of our water management.



        16     I don't need any of the wells or the roads.  I



        17     just want water management, and that's basically



        18     what he did.



        19               SPECIAL MASTER: So it is the Wood Group



        20     that has the database?



        21               THE WITNESS:  It would be stored at



        22     their office, yes.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: Stored.  So the data



        24     from which the map was prepared is at Wood Group,



        25     then?
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         1               THE WITNESS:  They would have it, yes.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER: And is there data there



         3     as to when various fields were irrigated?



         4               THE WITNESS:  We would have -- yes.



         5               SPECIAL MASTER: You would have that



         6     data?



         7               THE WITNESS:  Yes, we would have that



         8     data.  I don't know how far back, but we would



         9     have data, some data.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Then I'm also



        11     interested the lining of reservoirs.  So as I



        12     understand your testimony, you would prefer



        13     unlined reservoirs because you get some



        14     infiltration with unlined you wouldn't with



        15     lined; is that correct?



        16               THE WITNESS:  Correct.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: So I'm curious:  Why do



        18     you have any lined reservoirs?



        19               THE WITNESS:  Some of them were done



        20     because the permitting -- you didn't have to



        21     permit -- there are certain ways to permit them



        22     and you could do them quicker or faster.  So



        23     people did lined reservoirs, lined pits they



        24     called them, I guess.  We have never -- I have



        25     never -- since I've been working with Storm Cat,
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         1     we have never lined anything.  This was done



         2     years ago.  And since I've been there, we've



         3     never used any of the liners.



         4               SPECIAL MASTER: You've been there



         5     since --



         6               THE WITNESS:  I've been with -- I've



         7     been with Storm Cat since 2006, but we purchased



         8     Huber in 2011.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  When you say you



        10     haven't used any, you haven't used in your period



        11     of time -- I'm sorry.  So at what point in time



        12     did you stop using the lined reservoirs?



        13               THE WITNESS:  We never used them.  We



        14     purchased December 1st of 2011.  We have never



        15     used the lined reservoirs that were purchased



        16     from Huber.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: And you haven't used



        18     them since 2011?



        19               THE WITNESS:  Correct.  I don't know, I



        20     can't tell you a day they quit using them.  I



        21     don't know that.



        22               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  Those are the



        23     only questions I have.  Mr. Draper, do you have



        24     any more?



        25               MR. DRAPER:  Nothing further, Your
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         1     Honor.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Thank you.



         3                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION



         4         Q     (By Mr. Brown:) Just a couple quick



         5     questions, if I might.



         6               Mr. Steir, Mr. Draper asked you quite a



         7     few questions about that map and then the special



         8     master asked you a couple questions with regard



         9     to Wood Group.  Let's explore Storm Cat's



        10     relationship with Wood Group a little bit.  What



        11     relationship does Storm Cat have with Wood Group?



        12         A     They take care of our day-to-day



        13     operations for us.



        14         Q     Tell me what that means.



        15         A     It means we hire all their -- we have



        16     office people to take care of invoicing, we got



        17     pumpers that go out in the field, we've got



        18     supervisors that supervise over them, we've got



        19     roustabouts that work for them.  All this is



        20     directed by two guys, James Hanson and I from



        21     Storm Cat.



        22         Q     And so you had mentioned as a



        23     production manager you supervise folks, right?



        24         A     Correct.



        25         Q     And the folks you supervise, is there
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         1     any other employees at Storm Cat that you



         2     supervise?



         3         A     No, they're all Wood Group.



         4         Q     And so Wood Group, is it your



         5     understanding they are a contractor with Storm



         6     Cat?



         7         A     Basically, yes.



         8         Q     And as far as Storm Cat's operation in



         9     Prairie Dog Creek, does Wood Group employees



        10     basically do all the work for Storm Cat?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     And the folks that made this map for



        13     you, that's one of those folks?



        14         A     That is one of those folks, yes.



        15         Q     And do you understand, is it your



        16     understanding that Wood Group had the same



        17     relationship with J.M. Huber?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And so is that why Wood Group has the



        20     database with regard to the J.M. Huber information



        21     that Storm Cat purchased?



        22         A     That's exactly what happened, yes.



        23         Q     I think you testified that you've used



        24     that map in your work, right?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     And you've used it out there as part of



         2     your water production work?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     And did you find it to be accurate in



         5     doing that work?



         6         A     It's very accurate.  This is what we use.



         7         Q     And I think I was pretty clear that



         8     that's, as far as you know, since 2011, right?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     Mr. Draper talked to you with regard to



        11     whether you had received complaints from any



        12     irrigators.  Do you remember that?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Have you ever received any complaints



        15     from landowners that you were using or irrigating



        16     CBM water with that you were using too much water?



        17         A     No, they ask for more.



        18         Q     Have you ever talked to Tanna Ankney?



        19         A     I have talked to Tanna Ankney.



        20         Q     Has she ever expressed to you concerns



        21     about using too much water?



        22         A     No.  Because they had everything



        23     plugged out on Tanna when we took over.



        24         Q     Okay.  So Storm Cat never actually did



        25     any irrigation on Tanna's place?
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         1         A     We did not.



         2               MR. BROWN:  That's all I have.   Thank



         3     you.



         4               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you very much.



         5     You can step down.  So this would be a good point



         6     for another ten-minute break and we can come back



         7     for the last witness of the day.



         8              (Recess.)



         9               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  Mr. Brown, is



        10     Mr. Pilch your next witness?



        11               MR. BROWN:  Yes, Your Honor, we would



        12     call Joe Mr. Pilch.  State of Wyoming would like



        13     to call Joe Pilch.



        14               MR. DRAPER:   Mr. Wechsler will be



        15     handling our participation in the testimony.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you.



        17     Whereupon,



        18                        JOE PILCH,



        19     having been first duly sworn, was examined and



        20     testified as follows:



        21               DEPUTY CLERK:  State your name and



        22     spell it for the record.



        23               THE WITNESS:  Joe Pilch, P-i-l-c-h.



        24               SPECIAL MASTER: Good afternoon, Mr.



        25     Pilch.
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         1               THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon, Your



         2     Honor.



         3                    DIRECT EXAMINATION



         4         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Hello, Mr. Pilch.  You



         5     might want to scoot up a little bit closer to the



         6     microphone so the court reporter can hear you.



         7               SPECIAL MASTER: You're welcome to have



         8     some water any time you'd like.



         9         Q     (By Mr. Wechsler:)  Thanks for coming



        10     up in this whether.  I appreciate it.



        11         A     I hope I get back tomorrow.



        12         Q     Mr. Pilch, I'm just going to ask you



        13     some general questions about your background



        14     first.  Can you tell us what your current



        15     occupation is?



        16         A     Retired rancher, self-employed



        17     part-time now.



        18         Q     Where at?  Where do you live?



        19         A     Sheridan, Wyoming.



        20         Q     And where is your ranch?



        21         A     On Lower Prairie Dog Road, 789 Prairie



        22     Dog Road is the physical address.



        23         Q     How long have you lived in Sheridan?



        24         A     Oh, let's see, probably about 60 years



        25     out of 74.
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         1         Q     So you grew up in Sheridan?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Did you grow up upon Prairie Dog Creek?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Did you grow up in the same place that



         6     you're ranching today?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     You graduated high school in Sheridan?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     What did you do after high school?



        11         A     Went to college.



        12         Q     Where at?



        13         A     University of Wyoming.



        14         Q     What did you study?



        15         A     Animal science, animal science degree.



        16     Agriculture.



        17         Q     So you graduated from the University of



        18     Wyoming with a bachelor's degree?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     What did you do after that?



        21         A     Well, came back -- no, I got drafted in



        22     the army my senior year in college and had to go



        23     to Germany for two years.  I hate to say, it was



        24     a very sad day for me 50 years ago, two years I



        25     was in Germany where our commander in chief was
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         1     assassinated Texas and I had two more months left



         2     in the army.  Then I came back and ranched for a



         3     while and then I went and went away from the



         4     ranch five years, Farmers Home Administration in



         5     Riverton Wyoming.



         6         Q     Farmers Home Administration?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     In Riverton?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     What did you do there?



        11         A     I was in charge of agriculture loans,



        12     farm ownership loans, emergency loans for the



        13     Native Americans in Riverton and Lander, the



        14     Shoshones and Arapahoes.



        15         Q     That's close to the Wind River Indian



        16     Reservation in Wyoming?



        17         A     Yes, sir.



        18         Q     And I think you said you did that for



        19     five years?



        20         A     Almost five years.



        21         Q     About what time period was that, do you



        22     remember?



        23         A     '69 to '74.



        24         Q     So what did you do in 1974?



        25         A     My dad came over in Riverton in March
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         1     and told me he would need me at the ranch and I



         2     moved back to Sheridan. Been there ever since



         3     then.



         4         Q     So you've been ranching on the Prairie



         5     Dog Creek ranch since 1974?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     I'm going to show you just a



         8     photograph, and I probably should have done this



         9     with Mr. Steir, just to get a better idea where



        10     your place is at.  I'm going to put up on the



        11     monitor here a page out of M-6, which was Mr.



        12     Book's rebuttal report.  Page 39 of M-6.  Do you



        13     kind of recognize what's depicted in the diagram



        14     on that screen up there, Mr. Pilch?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     And do you recognize this to be Prairie



        17     Dog Creek through here?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And you see here there's some grounds



        20     that's darkened and the name Pilch next to it?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Is that the location of your ranch on



        23     lower Prairie Dog?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     Can you tell us approximately how many
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         1     acres your ranch is?



         2         A     3240 acres, total acres.



         3         Q     And it's all in that general area on --



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Mr. Pitch, could you please wait for me



         6     to finish my question before you answer?



         7         A     I'm sorry.



         8         Q     Your fine.   The court reporter has a



         9     real hard time writing down what we are saying if



        10     we're talking at the same time.



        11               SPECIAL MASTER: It is difficult because



        12     we are used to talking over each other a lot of



        13     the time.  It's not necessarily natural but it's



        14     really important for the record.



        15         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  So I think you said



        16     3240 acres.



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     And do you know approximately how many



        19     acres you have that are irrigated?



        20         A     Approximately 180 to 200, somewhere



        21     around that vicinity.



        22         Q     Somewhere around 200?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Do you raise cattle?



        25         A     No, not now.
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         1         Q     Did you used to?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     When did you stop that?



         4         A     In 2001.



         5         Q     You were here for Mr. Steir's



         6     testimony; is that right?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     And we've discussed irrigation of some



         9     of your property with CBM water.  Is some of your



        10     property irrigated with CBM water?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     Is there -- was there a company that



        13     you dealt with as far as irrigation with CBM



        14     water prior to Storm Cat?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     Who was that?



        17         A     J.M. Huber.



        18         Q     And when did it change from J.M. Huber



        19     over to Storm Cat?



        20         A     Oh, I think it was the end of December



        21     of 2011, if I recall.



        22         Q     Do you recall when CBM water was first



        23     used to irrigate your property?



        24         A     Let's see, they started probably 2002,



        25     2003.
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         1         Q     Okay.  When J.M. Huber came to irrigate



         2     your property with CBM water, was it all done at



         3     the same time or did it kind of phase in with



         4     CBM?



         5         A     They did pretty fast.  Took probably



         6     about, I'd say, three, four years.  Pretty fast.



         7         Q     And so from the time they started using



         8     CBM water on your property it took three to four



         9     years for all of the CBM water to be installed?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     How is that CBM water applied on your



        12     property?



        13         A     Through side rolls, pivots, and latest



        14     is big guns now, but mostly it was side rolls and



        15     pivots.



        16         Q     And prior to CBM being used to irrigate



        17     your property, did you use center pivots?



        18         A     I don't understand.



        19         Q     Did you irrigate there same property



        20     prior to the CBM water?



        21         A     No, not with -- pivots you talking



        22     about?   No.   We flood irrigate prior to CBM



        23     water.



        24         Q     So prior to the land being irrigated



        25     with CBM water, you flood irrigated?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Did you flood irrigate out of ditches?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     So you didn't use center pivots?



         5         A     No.



         6         Q     Did you have any side roll sprinklers?



         7         A     Yes, one.



         8         Q     And tell us from the north to south on



         9     your place where was that?



        10         A     Located on the south side of the ranch.



        11         Q     And you only had one?



        12         A     One.



        13         Q     When the CBM water came to be applied



        14     in irrigation on your property, did the CBM



        15     company by that irrigation equipment?



        16         A     They bought some.  But to speed the



        17     process, we will to buy some 2002 or '3, we



        18     bought them side rolls for the irrigation to



        19     irrigate the land with water rights.  Started



        20     tearing up all the ditches with the land plan,



        21     and from the pivots we did buy there.  All the



        22     other side roads and the hills and land, winter



        23     wheat, winter fields of alfalfa, they bought that.



        24         Q     Okay.  There's a lot of information on



        25     what you just said there.  And you described side
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         1     rolls and pivots for winter wheat up in the



         2     hills.  Did I say that accurately?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     Describe that for us.  What do you mean



         5     by that?



         6         A     We raised about 500 acres of winter



         7     wheat, 250 acres in each year.  We quit raising



         8     winter wheat in 2000.  Then we put it all into



         9     dry land alfalfa.  Like 40-acre fields, 50-acres



        10     fields, and we put in alfalfa and grass mixture.



        11     And later after that, we relied on mother nature



        12     for water.  They came in 2003, '4, '5, '6 with



        13     pivots and side rolls.



        14         Q     With regard to the winter wheat, is



        15     that on property that you don't have other water



        16     rights for?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     So is the only time that that property



        19     ever received water was it CBM water?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     Then later in the statements you just



        22     made, you said the side rolls and pivots, is that



        23     on your land along Prairie Dog Creek?



        24         A     Yes, they started that first.



        25         Q     Okay.
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         1         A     Then they expanded.



         2         Q     Okay.  With regard to the side rolls



         3     and the center pivots and the big guns that the



         4     CBM companies used to irrigate your property with



         5     CBA water, are you able to put Prairie Dog Creek



         6     water into that equipment?



         7         A     No.



         8         Q     Why not?



         9         A     We didn't tie it in.  How are we going



        10     to do it?   We were told we couldn't do it.   So



        11     that's from J.M. Huber.



        12         Q     So since the time that that equipment



        13     was installed, you've not been able to put any of



        14     our other water rights water into that equipment?



        15         A     Yes, that's correct.  We tried to and



        16     they wouldn't let us.



        17         Q     What is your experience with how much



        18     water J.M. Huber used to irrigate your property?



        19     Was it too much, too little?



        20         A     I think it was some years wasn't too



        21     bad.  Some years they over irrigated.  Then they



        22     finally got regulation after my brother -- there



        23     are three of us are on the ranch.  It's Pilch



        24     Ranch, LLC.  Through my brother and I we kind of



        25     told them, pivots go around and they get stuck in
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         1     a hole.   It's hard on hay fields, hard on dry



         2     land fields.  And then side rolls, they had



         3     irrigators, contract irrigators out, and we told



         4     them to move and cycle it every 12 hours.  When



         5     we had side rolls we would do it more.  When you



         6     flood irrigate, set some to go fours, some set



         7     for six, some set fast.  We kind of guided them,



         8     too.



         9         Q     Generally, what was your experience



        10     with irrigation with CBM water?   Did you like



        11     it?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Let me back up a little bit.  You



        14     mentioned something with regard to Pilch Ranch



        15     LLC, is that right?



        16         A     That's correct.



        17         Q     Is that actually who owns the property



        18     that you irrigate?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Who is involved with that company?



        21         A     I am the agent.   My brother Ed and my



        22     sister Marilyn, we were brothers and sisters.



        23     Brother and sister.



        24         Q     And so the three of you siblings own



        25     the ranch now?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Have your parents passed?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     What kind of crops do you grow with the



         5     CBM water?



         6         A     Alfalfa, grass mixture only.



         7         Q     No other crops?



         8         A     No.



         9         Q     Do you harvest the crop that's grown



        10     with the CBM water or does the CBM company?



        11         A     CBM companies do not harvest.   In 2005



        12     or '6 we did the harvesting and then we sold our



        13     equipment, haying equipment.   We lease it out.



        14         Q     But the CBM company doesn't harvest?



        15         A     Never did.



        16         Q     How do you coordinate with the CBM



        17     company as far as when it's time to harvest?



        18         A     We tell them better shut the sprinklers



        19     off about a week before we going to get in the



        20     fields, probably middle of June.



        21         Q     Do you recall if you had any written



        22     agreements with any CBM company with regard to



        23     the use of CBM water on your property?



        24         A     We have a lots of agreements with



        25     sprinkler systems, soil testing, potash -- not
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         1     potash, gypsum and sulfur.  There's equipment



         2     repairs and so forth.  We got a list, probably a



         3     stack full of it from all different types of



         4     agreements.



         5         Q     Okay.



         6         A     The right-of-ways, what they can do,



         7     what they are can't do.   Stay out of the hay



         8     fields, damaging the crops.  They cannot drive,



         9     they can walk, or use a four wheeler.



        10         Q     What's your understanding of those



        11     agreements and the CBM companies use of water on



        12     your property?



        13         A     I don't understand.



        14         Q     Does it describe who is in control of



        15     the irrigation and how much they can use and



        16     things of nature, do you know?



        17         A     No.



        18         Q     Or is it more simple?



        19         A     We let them handle it.  I mean, the



        20     methane companies.



        21         Q     I'm going to show you ever the same



        22     photograph that I showed Mr. Steir.



        23               Do you recognize the land that's



        24     depicted in that photograph?



        25         A     Yes, Pilch Ranch, LLC.
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         1         Q     And is that your property on Prairie



         2     Dog Creek?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     Do you recognize the fields there as



         5     your fields on Prairie Dog Creek?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     What I'd like so do, Mr. Pilch, look at



         8     each of these individual fields, and then I'm



         9     going to ask you whether or not they were



        10     irrigated with CBM water at a particular point in



        11     time.  Okay.



        12         A     Okay.



        13         Q     So if you need to reference back to the



        14     photo in your hand, please do.  Otherwise I'm



        15     going to be indicating and you'll be able to see



        16     on the screen up here.  Okay?



        17         A     Okay.



        18         Q     And I'm going to start down in the



        19     lower left-hand corner of the photograph.  And is



        20     that Prairie Dog creek that runs through the



        21     photograph up to the upper right-hand corner of



        22     the picture?   So like this, is that Prairie Dog



        23     Creek that generally runs through there?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     Do you have land on both sides of the

�



                                                            4579







         1     creek?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     I want to take a look at this field



         4     right here.  Do you see where I'm indicating?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Was that field irrigated with CBM water?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     How about --



         9               SPECIAL MASTER: I'm sorry, just so the



        10     record is clear later on, to the degree you can



        11     will reference anything in the way of landmarks



        12     in that particular case, the field that's marked



        13     15.4 acres that, would be helpful.



        14         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Yes, sir.  And, Mr.



        15     Pilch, that field that I was just pointing to has



        16     got a label on there, 15.4 acres.  Do you see



        17     that?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And has that field been irrigated with



        20     CBM water?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Do you know whether or not that field



        23     was irrigated with CBM water in the 2004?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     It was?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Do you know if it was irrigated with



         3     CBM water in 2006?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Okay.  Let's move up so we are moving



         6     down Prairie Dog Creek, and I'm going to indicate



         7     the next field up here that's generally marked



         8     with 31 acres and it's a rectangular shaped



         9     field.   Do you see that field I'm indicating?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     And has that field been irrigated with



        12     CBM water?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Do you know if that field was irrigated



        15     with CBM water in 2004?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Do you know if that field was irrigated



        18     with CBM water in 2006?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     I'm going to move down Prairie Dog



        21     Creek some more and I'm indicating the southern



        22     pivot or southern circle that's on here.  Do you



        23     see it?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     Has that field been irrigated with CBM
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         1     water?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Was that field irrigated with CBM water



         4     in 2004?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Was that field irrigated with CBM in



         7     2006?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     Okay.  And I'm going to move up just



        10     above or down the creek.  Just to the right hand



        11     of that pivot that we were just talking about



        12     there's a triangle shape.  Do you see that?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     Is that irrigated with CBM water?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     How is that irrigated, do you know?



        17         A     Side roll.



        18         Q     Okay.  And do you know if that triangle



        19     shape was irrigated with CBM water in 2004?



        20         A     Which one?



        21         Q     Look up on the screen, I'm showing



        22     which one I'm pointing at?



        23         A     Yes.  Okay.  Yes.



        24         Q     Okay.  You think that was irrigated



        25     with side roll?
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         1         A     That's a side roll.



         2         Q     Okay.  Do you know if that was



         3     irrigated with CBM water in 2004?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     And let's move across between the two



         6     pivots or the other side next to Prairie Dog



         7     Creek.  And there's a funny-shaped parcel.  Do



         8     see that?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And it's directly adjacent to the



        11     northern pivot, right?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Has that been irrigated with CBM water?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Do you know if that was irrigated with



        16     CBM water in 2004?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     It was?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2006?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Let's move to the northern pivot.  Do



        23     you see that one?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     Has that been irrigated with CBM water?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2004?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2006?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Okay.  And the field that is directly



         7     to the northeast of that northern pivot, do you



         8     see that shape?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     That has that been irrigated with CBM



        11     water?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2004?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2006?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Now, let's jump across and up here to



        18     the very northern portion of your fields depicted



        19     on this photo.  There's a rectangular-shaped



        20     field that's identified with the No. 23.9 acres.



        21     Do you see that?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Can you tell me if that field has been



        24     irrigated with CBM water?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2004?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     Was it irrigated with CBM water in 2006?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Now, let's back up a little bit.  Let's



         6     move back down to the southwestern field where



         7     Prairie Dog Creek enters into this photograph,



         8     close to the field that's identified with 15.47



         9     acres.  Do you see that?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Now, there's some area that is outside



        12     the blue printer area.   Do you see that?   It's



        13     within the black line.



        14         A     Black line?



        15         Q     Do you see kind of in between these



        16     areas?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     That's in between the blue perimeter



        19     area and the black perimeter area.   Did you do



        20     any other additional irrigation in there besides



        21     CBM water in two thousand  --



        22         A     No.



        23         Q     So any in 2004, 2006?



        24         A     No.



        25         Q     Let's take a look at the next field
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         1     moving to the northwest -- northeast, excuse me.



         2     It's next to the rectangular field identified



         3     with 31 acres.  Do you see that?   I'm talking



         4     about the land through here.  So it's just to the



         5     left.   I guess that would be the northwest of



         6     the rectangular field.   Do you see that?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Do you irrigate that --



         9         A     We did --



        10         Q     -- parcel?



        11         A     Excuse me.



        12         Q     Do you irrigate that parcel?



        13         A     A long time ago I did.



        14         Q     What do mean by a long time ago?



        15         A     We put it in 2001, '3, and '4.



        16         Q     So you think that this area along here



        17     that I'm indicating just to the northwest of that



        18     rectangle field identified with 31 acres, you



        19     think you irrigated that with Prairie Dog water?



        20         A     Yes, we had a ditch going through



        21     there, and that was part -- the reason we did it



        22     because the side rolls wouldn't get close enough



        23     to the creek.  So we had to ditch to flood



        24     irrigate.  And the reason we did it for a couple



        25     years and then we just gave up.  It was kind of a
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         1     waste of time and money.



         2         Q     But that general area you think you



         3     irrigated in 2004?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     And you used Prairie Dog water to do



         6     that with?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Okay.  And let's jump across the creek.



         9     Is this the creek that runs through here next to



        10     what appears to be this house?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     And it's a parcel that's labeled with



        13     actually the permit number P216228B, do you see



        14     that, it's labeled at 29 acres?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     Have you ever irrigated that parcel?



        17         A     Where you get 29 acres?  2 acres.  The



        18     rest is hills.  Big steep banks.



        19         Q     So anywhere within that 29 acres have



        20     you irrigated?



        21         A     No.  Can't.



        22         Q     Okay.  And you see this house right here?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Whose house is that?



        25         A     The main ranch house.
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         1         Q     So within that 29 acre parcel the



         2     structure is the main ranch house?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     And have you ever irrigated in that



         5     area just to the southwest of the main ranch



         6     house?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Do you know if you irrigated that in



         9     2004?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Are did you irrigate it in 2006?



        12         A     I think we quit because when my folks



        13     were alive, we added on to the house and she



        14     didn't want no water going down by the house.



        15     And '50 years when I was growing up, we would



        16     pump water out of the basement because we let the



        17     water too long in the field.  The foundation, we



        18     didn't have vapor barriers.   We decided just



        19     kind of safe for my sister, we agreed we would



        20     quit irrigating that and we bypassed it.



        21         Q     Okay.  So you think you did irrigate a



        22     portion of this --



        23         A     About five, six acres.



        24         Q     Five or six acres in the 29-acre piece?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     In 2004 but not 2006?



         2         A     No.  But we did -- there's another



         3     field down there by the creek over there, we



         4     irrigate that, too.  That's part of the



         5     irrigation, too, of the ditch.



         6         Q     We'll move up and down the creek.  Did



         7     you have a question?



         8               SPECIAL MASTER: Yes.  Only because I



         9     was looking at the map and trying to follow on



        10     the map as you were speaking rather than watching



        11     what you were actually locating up there.  Where



        12     is the area that was not irrigated according to



        13     this?



        14               MR. BROWN:  In what time period?



        15               SPECIAL MASTER: There was a period the



        16     witness testified you can't irrigate this.



        17               THE WITNESS:  Go ahead.



        18         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Mr. Pilch, in this



        19     area, in polygon, this rather funny-shaped



        20     polygon, identified as 29 acres, are you able to



        21     irrigate all of that 29 acres?



        22         A     No.



        23         Q     And what portion of that 29 acres are



        24     you able to irrigate?  Is it just this area below



        25     the house?
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         1         A     That we cannot irrigate that.  We can



         2     irrigate but we decided not to irrigate at the



         3     present time.



         4         Q     But in 2004 you irrigated somewhere in



         5     this area?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     And how many acres in 2004 do you think



         8     you irrigated?



         9         A     I think around five acres, five, six



        10     acres, somewhere around there.   I don't have my



        11     U.S.D.A. map.



        12         Q     Does your U.S.D.A. map indicate how



        13     many acres you irrigated in 2006 or '4?



        14         A     Same ranch.



        15         Q     Let's move over to, and it's still



        16     within that 29 acre parcel.   But do you see what



        17     looks like this ox bow and Prairie Dog Creek?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     You see this field that points out here



        20     just directly east of the main ranch house?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Do you irrigate that?



        23         A     Yes.  It's tall grass.  We call it bull



        24     pasture grass for horses and so forth.  I would



        25     irrigate it during the summer.
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         1         Q     And did you irrigate that in 2004?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     And did you irrigate that in 2006?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     And let's just move directly north of



         6     that ox bow and Prairie Dog Creek takes another



         7     turn back to the east.  Do you see that?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     And then there's another kind of



        10     peninsula on that ox bow on the other side of the



        11     creek.  Do you see that?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Do you irrigate at that field?



        14         A     Yes, because that line, that creek,



        15     that's an old creek channel.  That's been



        16     eliminated a long time ago.



        17         Q     This is an old creek channel?



        18         A     Old creek channel there.  That's all



        19     crack grass and swamp.



        20         Q     So the ox bow is no longer the creek



        21     channel?



        22         A     No, creek goes straight across now.  We



        23     irrigate it from the west side of the house, the



        24     other side of the creek.



        25         Q     But you did you irrigate --
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         1         A     Yep.



         2         Q     You have to wait for me to get done.



         3         A     All right.



         4         Q     Did you irrigate that particular parcel



         5     in 2004?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     And did you irrigate in 2006?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     If you'll take a look, and you see the



        10     two center pivots that are depicted on this



        11     photo?   Right?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     That you said are irrigated with CBM



        14     water?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     You see this open area that's just to



        17     the west of the southern pivot.  Do you see that?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     It's between Prairie Dog Creek and the



        20     southern pivot?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Do you irrigate that?



        23         A     Not with creek water.



        24         Q     Okay.  So --



        25         A     The big guns and pivots, they pretty
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         1     close down there.  But you don't want to get too



         2     close to the creek bank.



         3         Q     Okay.  I wanted to make sure, you don't



         4     irrigate any of that Prairie Dog water?



         5         A     No.  We used to.



         6         Q     Okay.  Prior to CBM?



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     Let's move up to the north.



         9               MR. WECHSLER:  Can you point out where



        10     that was again?



        11               MR. BROWN:  I was just looking, you see



        12     the red circle doesn't extend all the way over



        13     here.  I was just interested to see if there was



        14     some additional irrigation going on in the area



        15     directly to the west of that southern pivot.  I



        16     don't know how to better describe that.



        17               MR. WECHSLER:  But excluding the ox



        18     bow?



        19               MR. BROWN:  He already said he



        20     irrigated this.



        21               MR. WECHSLER:  Got you.  Thank you.



        22               MR. BROWN:  And that is the ox bow



        23     peninsula directly to the west of the southern



        24     pivot.  I don't know how to better to describe



        25     that.
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         1               MR. WECHSLER:  I understand now.  Thank



         2     you.



         3         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Let's move northeast.



         4     You see where I'm indicating is directly above



         5     and a little to the west of the northern pivot



         6     looks to be one big continuous field that is not



         7     contained within the perimeter of the black line.



         8     Do you see that?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     Do you irrigate that field?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     And do you irrigate that with Prairie



        13     Dog Creek water?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     And does that field extend all the way



        16     down just directly top east of the field that's



        17     marked 23.9 acres?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And so you irrigate all of that with



        20     Prairie Dog Creek water?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Do you know about how many acres you



        23     believe that is?



        24         A     Around 60 acres.  63, something like



        25     that.  65.  60, 65 acres.
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         1         Q     Okay.  Let's move directly north of



         2     that.  You see the rectangular field that's



         3     marked with a 23.9 acres?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     And then just on the lower left-hand



         6     corner of that rectangle, you will see a little



         7     finger that looks likes a field?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     Do you irrigate that?



        10         A     No.



        11         Q     Do you know if the CBM water reaches



        12     that?



        13         A     No.



        14         Q     Can you -- do you have any idea why it



        15     appears to be irrigated on this photo?



        16         A     Well, alfalfa and we put that in and



        17     probably moisture it shows green.  But it's only



        18     about a couple acres, I'd say, because what



        19     happens side rolls goes straight across.  You go



        20     from the side roll it will cave down the ditch



        21     bank over there.  And, again, you could probably



        22     unhook the risers and put a gun there.  Two or



        23     three acres.



        24         Q     But you don't irrigate that?



        25         A     No.
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         1         Q     Now, with regard to that north 23.9



         2     acres that you said was irrigated with CBM



         3     water --



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     -- is that still irrigated with CBM



         6     water?



         7         A     Not this year.  It might being next



         8     year.  Depends on what water.  I have no idea



         9     what they are planning on.



        10         Q     Do you irrigate with Prairie Dog Creek



        11     water then?



        12         A     No.  Did a long time ago in the '40s.



        13         Q     Let's take a look again at that field



        14     that's directly to the south of the 23.9 acre



        15     rectangle you were looking at.  So this field



        16     that you said that you irrigated with Prairie Dog



        17     Creek water.



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     And you irrigated all the way over to



        20     the east hand side of that rectangular field.  Do



        21     you know what water right is associated with that



        22     field?



        23         A     Well, part of it -- early water rights.



        24         Q     What do you mean?



        25         A     1800 something, 1884, '5, somewhere
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         1     around in there.



         2         Q     Where is that water right from.  What's



         3     the source, do you know?



         4         A     Prairie Dog.



         5         Q     Do you own any shares in Prairie Dog



         6     Ditch Company?



         7         A     I one own share.



         8         Q     And how many acres can you irrigate



         9     with that one share, do you know?



        10         A     No.



        11         Q     And --



        12         A     Two and a half acre-feet per second, or



        13     2 cubic feet per second.  And we have one share.



        14     There's only 60 shares total in Prairie Dog.



        15         Q     Is it your understanding that you can



        16     irrigate that field with that Prairie Dog Ditch



        17     Company water?



        18         A     Yes.



        19         Q     Okay.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: So, Mr. Brown, just for



        21     completeness sake at this stage, when you were



        22     talking about the little triangle to the south --



        23               MR. BROWN:  This one here?



        24               SPECIAL MASTER: Yes.  You asked Mr.



        25     Pilch whether that was irrigated with CBM water
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         1     in 2004.  You didn't say anything about 2006. I



         2     don't know whether you intentionally --



         3               MR. BROWN:  I did not intentionally



         4     omit that.  So let me ask.



         5         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  The parcel of land



         6     that the special master was just talking about is



         7     this triangle that is just to the southeast of



         8     the northern pivot.  Do you see that, Mr. Pilch?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     And you told us that that was irrigated



        11     with CBM water?



        12         A     Yes.



        13         Q     Do you know if that was irrigated with



        14     CBM water in 2006?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     Okay.



        17               SPECIAL MASTER: And one other question.



        18     I notice there are things that look like fields



        19     down in the bottom left-hand corner.  You're



        20     going to come to that?



        21               MR. BROWN:  I wasn't, but I can



        22     definitely have him try to explain that.



        23               SPECIAL MASTER: If it's not relevant,



        24     don't worry about it.



        25               MR. BROWN:  I don't think it is.

�



                                                            4598







         1               SPECIAL MASTER: Okay.  It's up to you.



         2     I just wanted to make sure that you covered all



         3     the areas.



         4               MR. BROWN:  I believe I've covered...



         5         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  When we were



         6     discussing all these parcels of land on your



         7     property, Mr. Pilch, did we talk about everything



         8     that serves irrigation water?



         9         A     No.



        10         Q     We didn't talk about everything?



        11         A     I assume there's water -- we got water



        12     other places, CBM water.



        13         Q     Sure.



        14         A     Is that what you mean?   I don't



        15     understand what you're trying --



        16         Q     I think you said before you mentioned



        17     that you had CBM water up in the hills away from



        18     Prairie Dog Creek?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     Is that what you were just talking about?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     What I'm asking is, at least with your



        23     ground down in the bottom of Prairie Dog Creek,



        24     that's depicted in this photo, have we talked



        25     about all the land that you irrigate?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Okay.



         3               DEPUTY CLERK:  What Exhibit number is



         4     that?



         5               MR. BROWN:  This is from Exhibit W6 --



         6     excuse me, W-2, and it is Bate stamp No. WY



         7     043250.  So I guess the record is clear all that



         8     long discussion we had with regard to the aerial



         9     photo deals with that Bate stamp number out of



        10     Mr. Fritz's report.



        11               SPECIAL MASTER: I don't see that Bate



        12     stamp on here.  But I assume it's in the report.



        13               MR. BROWN:  Yes, sir.  These are better



        14     copies.



        15         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Mr. Pilch, prior to



        16     CBM water coming to your property, how did you



        17     irrigate?



        18         A     Flood irrigation by ditch.



        19         Q     Out of ditches?



        20         A     Yes.



        21         Q     When the CBM company came in with its



        22     irrigation equipment, what happened to those



        23     ditches?



        24         A     Got plowed in, leveled off.



        25         Q     Are there any that remain on your
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         1     property?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     How many?



         4         A     One major one on the west side of the



         5     creek.



         6         Q     And is that the ditch you used to



         7     irrigate the field that you indicated you



         8     irrigate with your Prairie Dog Ditch Company



         9     water?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     Prior to using CBM water, were you able



        12     to irrigate all of the acres you wanted to



        13     irrigate?



        14         A     No.



        15         Q     Why not?



        16         A     Didn't have enough time.   Didn't have



        17     enough water.  When you flood irrigate, we didn't



        18     have enough ditches.   I mean, you can only move



        19     lateral.  I heard people say the same thing, you



        20     can only grow so fast.  With side rolls or big



        21     guns or pivots, you push a button, move them



        22     around.  You've got to change water ever four or



        23     five six hours.  Sometime you put the dam in the



        24     bottom of the ditch.  Go back the next morning,



        25     the ditch is dry, or you plug up the ditch.
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         1     There's not much to it.



         2         Q     I think you mentioned as part of that



         3     there wasn't always enough water.



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     Is that true?



         6         A     Yes.



         7         Q     Have you personally ever called a



         8     fellow irrigator and asked him to turn off so you



         9     could get water?



        10         A     No.



        11         Q     Have you ever called the Wyoming State



        12     Engineer's Office or anybody with them and ask



        13     them to shut somebody off so up could get water?



        14         A     No.



        15         Q     Why not?



        16         A     Well, how are we going to -- my folks,



        17     we take what we get and we are happy to still be



        18     alive.  Why go up, where are you going to start?



        19     I don't know.   I don't want to blame somebody



        20     else.  Our problem is our problem.  We did back



        21     in the '40s.  They laughed at us.



        22         Q     Back in the '40s was that you making



        23     that call or your dad?



        24         A     My folks.



        25         Q     And it wasn't successful?
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         1         A     No.



         2         Q     Now, we talked about the CBM irrigation



         3     on your property.  And we talked about the parcel



         4     that you use the Prairie Dog Ditch Company water



         5     on.   Do you know if you have any other water



         6     rights?



         7         A     Yes, we do.



         8         Q     Can you describe those for us?



         9         A     We have -- you mean source of water,



        10     like Layton Smith?



        11         Q     No, let's start out with -- do you have



        12     any other water rights out of Prairie Dog Creek



        13     itself?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     And describe those for us.



        16         A     I have -- small here and there.  We had



        17     301 acres.   I can't find 301 acres.



        18         Q     You don't think you irrigated that many



        19     acres?



        20         A     No.



        21         Q     Do you know if you have a 1903 right?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     And do you know what ground you



        24     irrigate with that right?



        25         A     No, not offhand.
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         1         Q     And do you know if you have some post



         2     1950 rights as well?



         3         A     Yes.



         4         Q     And do you know what ground those are



         5     associated with?



         6         A     Yes, across the creek.  East side of



         7     the creek.



         8         Q     Okay.



         9         A     I assume that was a pump ditch or



        10     pumping.   I don't know if we have any on the



        11     west side.  It's hard to read the legal



        12     description what your water rights are, Section



        13     3, or cross-section.  I just don't pay much



        14     attention to that.



        15               SPECIAL MASTER: Mr. Brown, again, I'm



        16     thinking about the record.   Across the creek



        17     doesn't help very much when I'm reading the



        18     record, Supreme Court is reading the record,



        19     unless you know where you are starting from.



        20               MR. BROWN:  Well, Your Honor, I don't



        21     know if it's necessary to get into Mr. Pilch with



        22     regard to the exact locations in some of those



        23     water rights.  I think Mr. Book and Mr. Fritz



        24     have looked at the records and they can figure



        25     out the polygon.  So I don't know if it's really
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         1     valuable for Mr. Pilch to say where the boundary



         2     is of those exact permits.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER: You said across the



         4     creek.  I had no idea what side that meant.



         5         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Well, let's clarify



         6     for the special master.  When you say across the



         7     creek, which side of the creek did you mean?



         8         A     The west side.



         9         Q     So on the west side.  So that would be



        10     generally in this area where the center pivots



        11     are?



        12         A     That's the east side.



        13         Q     That is the east side.  You're right.



        14     Is this the only property on the west side?



        15         A     Yes.  All the way down.



        16         Q     Down through here.  Do you know what



        17     water rights you have associated with this



        18     property that's on the west side of the creek?



        19         A     I have no idea.  I assume 1950s.  I



        20     don't know.  I don't pay attention.  I know we



        21     have a lot of water rights, but I don't know



        22     whether -- should have some 1890s would have been



        23     better off.



        24         Q     I think you mentioned that you have



        25     some Lake Desmet water. Do you know how much
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         1     water you own in Lake Desmet?



         2         A     50 acre-feet.



         3         Q     Do you use that water every year?



         4         A     We call for it every year.  Some years



         5     we don't.  Depends on what the situation is.



         6         Q     Maybe I didn't understand.  You said



         7     you call for it every year?



         8         A     Yes.



         9         Q     But you may not use it every year?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     How is it that you go about calling for



        12     that water?



        13         A     Call some -- my sister calls some lady



        14     in Gillette that we want our Lake Desmet water.



        15     And she says, when do you want it.  We want it in



        16     July sometime.



        17         Q     And you said that your sister calls



        18     somebody in Gillette?



        19         A     No, Buffalo, I meant.



        20         Q     So you think your sister calls somebody



        21     in buffalo for that water?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Do you know when it usually gets called



        24     for every year?



        25         A     It varies.  In July.  I mean, some
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         1     years we don't call.  Some years we don't need



         2     that water.



         3         Q     Do you have any idea if you called for



         4     that water in 2004?



         5         A     No, I sure don't.



         6         Q     Do you know if you called for that



         7     water in 2006?



         8         A     I don't know.



         9         Q     If you would have needed that water to



        10     irrigate, would you have called for it?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     Do you know how the Lake Desmet water



        13     gets into Prairie Dog Creek?



        14         A     Well, exchange of water from Lake



        15     Desmet to Piney Creek, and that's part of the



        16     Powder River Basin water.  It changes water use.



        17     Am I correct?



        18         Q     Well, is it your understanding it's an



        19     exchange agreement?



        20         A     From Lake Desmet to Piney Creek.



        21         Q     Through Piney Creek?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     Do you do anything to try to make sure



        24     your Lake Desmet water gets to you?



        25         A     Not really.
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         1               MR. BROWN:  That's all I have.



         2               SPECIAL MASTER:  Thank you.   Sorry for



         3     my extra questions.  I just wanted to make sure



         4     the record is as clear later as it is now.



         5               MR. WECHSLER:  Your Honor, before I



         6     start, I may clear up one point just by using one



         7     of the joint exhibits that I doubt that you have



         8     before you.  J-61.



         9               SPECIAL MASTER: Let's go off the record



        10     for one second.



        11               (Discussion off the record.)



        12                    CROSS-EXAMINATION



        13         Q     (By Mr. Wechsler:)  Thank you.  Good



        14     afternoon, Mr. Pilch.   My name is Jeff Wechsler.



        15     It's a pleasure to meet you.



        16         A     Thank you.  Good to meet you.



        17         Q     You just spoke with Mr. Brown about



        18     whether or not you used your stored water in Lake



        19     Desmet.  I think there is a to clear that up.  I



        20     just put before you what's been marked as J-61.



        21     If you could turn, please, to page 12 of that



        22     document.  And at the very top of page 12, it



        23     says -- there's a table, says, shareholder



        24     exchange water, and then it indicates Pilch



        25     Prairie Dog.  Do you see that?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Do you understand that to be referring



         3     to you?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     And then it indicates that you own 50



         6     acre-feet, which is what you testified to.



         7         A     Yes.



         8         Q     And then it says in 2004 you used the



         9     50 acre-feet, correct?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     So in 2004 you did call for that water;



        12     is that right?



        13         A     I don't recall.  I mean, I was busy.  I



        14     don't know what happened.  We have irrigation was



        15     going in, the ground was being put back in by



        16     J.M. Huber and side rolls and pivots.  I don't



        17     know if we did or not.  I can't answer that.



        18         Q     Fair enough.   I will just represent



        19     that I think J-62 is the 2006 hydrographer's



        20     report and we can look there and see what the



        21     record shows as far as your use of Lake Desmet



        22     water.



        23               So, Mr. Pilch, I understand that we are



        24     talking about a number of years from long ago.



        25     Unfortunately, we are very concerned about those
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         1     years and so we have to jog your memory about



         2     them.  My understanding from having heard you



         3     today and also having read your deposition, you



         4     don't have a great memory for exactly when you



         5     started using CBM water on your property; is that



         6     correct?



         7         A     Yeah, but you had it written down on a



         8     book someplace.  I mean, you hear verbal, you



         9     know, 2001, '2, '3, '4, it changes fast and



        10     furious.  I'm sorry about that.  I just don't



        11     recall.



        12         Q     No problem.   And you don't have any



        13     documents slowing exactly when the CBM started on



        14     your property, right?



        15         A     I don't have documents, but I know what



        16     year they started in 1999 and 2000.  The water



        17     was being put in prior to 2004.  I do know that.



        18     But I don't know when exactly it all got completed.



        19         Q     In your deposition you actually said,



        20     well, the water started maybe in 2003, maybe



        21     2004, and maybe 2005; is that right?



        22         A     Yes.  But I researched that out with



        23     2003 when I got close to full production in 2004.



        24         Q     So what did you research?



        25         A     I went to a irrigator contractor that
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         1     put -- sold equipment to the pivots and side



         2     rolls.  We bought the side rolls in 2002 and '3,



         3     and J.M. Huber put in the side rolls and pivots



         4     in 2003 and it was all production in 2003 and



         5     2004 on the Prairie Dog Creek and they will kept



         6     going all at once.



         7         Q     Now you -- in 1999 was when CBM started



         8     on your property?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     That's when you signed the leases,



        11     correct?



        12         A     My mom did.



        13         Q     Your mom signed the leases.  We don't



        14     have a copy of those leases; is that right?



        15         A     I'm not aware of them.   I have no



        16     idea.   It was really J.M. Huber right off the



        17     bat.  It might have been original contract, I



        18     mean, and J.M. Huber, they are gone.   Maybe



        19     Storm Cat storm has them.  I have no idea where



        20     to get a hold of that.



        21         Q     In 1999 they started the process of



        22     putting in the CBM wells; is that right?



        23         A     Yes, as I think about it, about --



        24     that's when they had the leases, we had a lot of



        25     things to get agreement first.  And it goes down
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         1     in 2002, '3, '4, and so forth.  I mean, how they



         2     were going to do with their water.  We just let



         3     them do, and we had agreements, we had oral



         4     agreements, and then we had written agreements,



         5     and then we had amendments and so forth.   I



         6     found out in 2003 and '4 it was full blast.  Then



         7     they start spreading out on the dry lands.



         8         Q     Right.  So in '99, 2000 they start



         9     putting in the CBM wells, correct?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     And then after that the CBM wells



        12     started to increase on your property?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     So they didn't all come all at once,



        15     right?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     And they also needed to do something



        18     with the water.  So they gradually started to put



        19     in reservoirs, right?



        20         A     Correct.



        21         Q     And electric lines, correct?



        22         A     Correct.



        23         Q     And they had to be putting in irrigation



        24     equipment, right?



        25         A     Correct.
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         1         Q     So starting in 2003 they gradually



         2     started to ramp up their irrigation on your



         3     property, right?



         4         A     Yes.



         5         Q     And so in 2003 they weren't doing a



         6     hundred percent of the property that they are



         7     doing, say -- well, what do you consider the



         8     maximum time that they did CBM?   In other words,



         9     the most acres?



        10         A     I think they did it all within a matter



        11     of 2000 to 2004.   2005 maybe on the dry land



        12     from -- as the wells, they started on Section 3,



        13     4, and then they went east, they went and added



        14     wheat fields later on.  That's after 2004.



        15         Q     So getting back to my question, my



        16     question, I mean to be really talking about the



        17     irrigated land along Prairie Dog Creek.  So I'm



        18     ask you to just set aside the upland part of your



        19     property, which isn't really relevant for our



        20     purposes.



        21         A     I agree with that.



        22         Q     So in '03 they start doing irrigation.



        23     And then they are gradually ramping up their



        24     irrigation, right?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     And that happened over a couple of years?



         2         A     From 2002 to 2004.



         3         Q     So you keep saying 2002.   Now your in



         4     deposition --



         5         A     I mean, they go, about 2004 came in was



         6     already having irrigation on the irrigated land.



         7         Q     But not the entire portion, right?



         8         A     Of what?



         9         Q     Of your irrigated land.



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     You think that in 2004 they had all of



        12     the irrigation done?



        13         A     With water rights.  You mean all the



        14     home ranch?



        15         Q     I'm asking you, let's say in 2008 you



        16     testified with Mr. Brown, you testified to --



        17     basically, you walked through and all of the



        18     areas with the red cross hatches, right?



        19         A     Yes.



        20         Q     And you said those were irrigated in



        21     2004.   Now in your deposition what you said



        22     maybe 90 percent of those were irrigated in 2004.



        23         A     I researched it.  I was off 10 percent.



        24     I researched it out and found out I was 2003.



        25         Q     2003 was 90 percent of this?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     So in 2001 and 2002 no irrigation from



         3     CBM water; is that right?



         4         A     No, because it took them that long to



         5     get into production in water.  They can't do it



         6     overnight.  This took about two or three years.



         7     They started off on this because they wanted it



         8     for irrigated land for what we have crops on and



         9     then they spread out.



        10         Q     So your testimony today is in 2001 and



        11     2002 there was no CBM water used for irrigation



        12     on your property, right?



        13         A     No.  Correct.



        14         Q     2003 there was maybe 90 percent.  So



        15     today you're telling us, well, hundred percent of



        16     what's shown here was irrigated with CBM water?



        17         A     That's what -- I say it's hundred



        18     percent in -- by 2004 came in we had hundred



        19     percent irrigated on 2004.



        20         Q     You're the last irrigator on Prairie



        21     Dog Creek, right?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     And --



        24         A     Well, there is one ranch below us.  The



        25     old Trembass place.   They've just had flood
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         1     water rights.  There was one ranch below us.



         2     We're only about three miles from them.  They



         3     said they had flood water rights.  They don't buy



         4     water rights or anything from Prairie Dog



         5     shareholders.  What I understood back in the '40



         6     and '50s they had flood water rights.  What flood



         7     water rights, at that time the water commissioner



         8     said that wasn't left over to go here.  That's



         9     flood water yet.



        10         Q     So I think my only question really was,



        11     and I appreciate all the history, but my only



        12     question was really it sounds like you're the



        13     second-to-last irrigator on Prairie Dog Creek; is



        14     that right?



        15         A     Yes.



        16         Q     So there's one below you and their name



        17     is Trembass.  So you've been there quite a long



        18     time, right?



        19         A     Correct.



        20         Q     In recent years there's no return flows



        21     in Prairie Dog Creek, right?



        22         A     Yes.



        23         Q     There were in the past?



        24         A     Yes.



        25         Q     But there aren't any more, right?
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         1         A     Yes.



         2         Q     Now, as I understand it, there's direct



         3     flow available to you down at the bottom of



         4     Prairie Dog Creek up until sometime in July, and



         5     it sounds like that's when you called for your



         6     stored water; is that right?



         7         A     Right.



         8         Q     You testified with Mr. Brown you've



         9     never seen a water commissioner in Prairie Dog



        10     Creek, right?



        11         A     Correct.



        12         Q     And you've never --



        13         A     I haven't maybe.  I haven't talked to



        14     anybody.



        15         Q     You're not aware of any regulation



        16     being done by the State of Wyoming?



        17         A     No.



        18         Q     And you haven't asked anybody to shut



        19     down since the 1940s, is my understanding?



        20         A     No.



        21         Q     Is that right?



        22         A     Correct.



        23         Q     You testified with Mr. Brown that your



        24     total irrigation was 200 acres.  I understood



        25     having looked at your water rights the total
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         1     irrigation that you do, if you're irrigating all



         2     of your acres, is more like 300 acres.  Is that



         3     right?



         4         A     Yes, that's because of the dry land



         5     pivots and side rolls are methane water.



         6         Q     I understand.   I'm not making a



         7     distinction between the source of water.  I'm



         8     just trying to get a handle, my arms around what



         9     the total irrigated acres of your ranch is.  And



        10     my understanding it's 300 acres; is that right?



        11         A     Right.  Well, with the water rights,



        12     are you talking about water rights?



        13         Q     Shown here in the fields that you went



        14     over with Mr. Brown, which is a figure from Mr.



        15     Fritz's report, that is marked as WY 043250, all



        16     of those fields that you ever went over with Mr.



        17     Brown actually total up to 300 acres; is that



        18     right?



        19         A     Not down in here they don't.



        20         Q     They don't.  So you think this is just



        21     200 acres?



        22         A     I say 180, 200 acres.  Some maps, my



        23     U.S.D.A.  shows more acres than this.   Aerial



        24     photos, I have no idea how they come up with



        25     this.   My best knowledge of all the years back

�



                                                            4618







         1     in the '50s and '60s, I had all these fields



         2     marked with a grain drill.   We were pretty



         3     close.  What they tell me right here, it says, 23



         4     acres.   I always called it 34 acres.



         5         Q     Is it fair to say you don't know



         6     exactly how many acres you're irrigating?



         7         A     Plus or minus.  I don't know.  My



         8     concern about this is this shows less water on



         9     here than acres for these fields.  They draw maps



        10     that way, I guess.  I have no idea how they come



        11     up with different figures.



        12         Q     I also understand you do not understand



        13     fully what permits you use on your lands; is that



        14     right?



        15         A     What do you mean?



        16         Q     Do you understand your water right



        17     permit and where you use that water?



        18         A     I don't know exactly where.  I do know



        19     we do have permits for water on appropriated land.



        20         Q     You understand you have permits, right?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     You don't know exactly which ones of



        23     these lands are identified with which permits?



        24         A     I used to.   I don't have my map with



        25     me that says 1884 water right, 1907, 1903.  I
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         1     just -- it's down around the creek, I do know



         2     that.



         3         Q     Fair enough.  When you're irrigating



         4     you're able to refer to that document, right?



         5         A     Yes.



         6         Q     Sitting here today you can't help us



         7     figure out exactly where which water rights are



         8     associated with which acreage, right?



         9         A     That's correct.



        10         Q     You don't have any measuring device on



        11     any of your diversions, correct?



        12         A     No.



        13         Q     And you use water from the tributaries



        14     when it's available, right?



        15         A     Correct.



        16         Q     I want to talk a little bit about the



        17     stored water before I move back to the CBM.  I



        18     understand you have 50 shares of water from Lake



        19     Desmet, right?



        20         A     50 acre-feet.



        21         Q     50 acre-feet.  Is that equivalent to 50



        22     shares?



        23         A     I have no idea.  I call it 50 acre-feet.



        24         Q     You don't know the details of the



        25     permit for the exchange water, right?
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         1         A     I probably heard it once before but I



         2     can't remember right now.



         3         Q     We don't have any documents you can



         4     look at about that?



         5         A     I don't know.  I don't have any.



         6         Q     Someone --



         7         A     Somebody could find out if they wanted



         8     to.



         9         Q     Someone from your operation calls for



        10     that water every year?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     Who do they call?



        13         A     Somebody in Buffalo.  My mom used to do



        14     that.   We leave it to my sister.  I say, make



        15     sure you call for water for Lake Desmet.  Whether



        16     she did or not, I have no idea.  They told her we



        17     didn't have to call.   Is it better to say if we



        18     use it or don't use it.



        19         Q     You don't have any records related that



        20     exchange water, right?



        21         A     No.



        22         Q     Do you know how long it takes for the



        23     water to get from Piney Creek down to your



        24     property?



        25         A     No.
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         1         Q     Do you know if there's any transit



         2     loss?



         3         A     No, but it don't raise it, the water up



         4     any.



         5         Q     I'm sorry?



         6         A     We call for 50 acre-feet of water,



         7     generally the creek doesn't rise.  So we assume



         8     that we have 50 acre-feet coming and we can use



         9     it.



        10         Q     And then you just go ahead and use your



        11     water?



        12         A     We use it.  A lot of times there's not



        13     enough  water to use it.  We just -- 50 years ago



        14     everybody had flood irrigation.  We had overflow



        15     from one ditch and hay fields goes back in



        16     Prairie Dog.  It kept regenerating.  Now there's



        17     so many sprinklers and so many pivots, it don't



        18     generate enough underground storage water.



        19         Q     Makes it hard on the down stream user



        20     like you?



        21         A     Yeah.  If you're up, you got all the



        22     water you want.



        23         Q     Sounds like there's not much control



        24     above you; is that right?



        25         A     No, must not be, because -- I shouldn't
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         1     say we had a lot of water, Prairie Dog or



         2     storage, they had too much water going over.  So



         3     they had to cut down to 60 acre-feet of water.



         4     60 shareholders.  That was it.  Used to be around



         5     80 or 90.  That kind of reduces the flow of the



         6     stream.  But generally Prairie Dog is early



         7     spring and late summer and August, September,



         8     it's a lot of water.  And then you put cattle on



         9     the creek and start freezing over, what happens



        10     to your ground?



        11         Q     But there's become less and less water



        12     available to you as that downstream the user are



        13     right?



        14         A     Right.



        15         Q     Your awful close to the state line?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     Going back to that Lake Desmet water,



        18     in any given year do you know how much water that



        19     Lake Desmet water you've used?



        20         A     No.



        21         Q     You don't know throughout the



        22     irrigation season how much you've used, right?



        23         A     No, have know way to control.  Use



        24     just use 50 acre-feet of it.



        25         Q     Nobody ever comes and tells you how
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         1     much you've used?



         2         A     No.



         3         Q     Do you get a receipt at the end of the



         4     year?



         5         A     No.  Receipt, we paid for it.  50



         6     acres, we call for it.  That's our receipt.  I



         7     have know idea how they monitor it.  I don't



         8     know.  I can't answer that question.



         9         Q     So you don't get a report at the end of



        10     the year?



        11         A     No.  Unless somebody else does.  I



        12     haven't no knowledge about it.



        13         Q     Turning from the storage water, let's



        14     go over to that CBM.  Now, you don't keep records



        15     of your water use, correct?



        16         A     Yes.



        17         Q     You also don't keep records of the CBM



        18     water that was used on your property?



        19         A     No, but we don't have records.  They



        20     have the records.  I mean, what do you mean



        21     records?



        22         Q     Documents that indicate how much water,



        23     CBM water, was actually used on your property.



        24         A     No.



        25         Q     So there is no document to help your

�



                                                            4624







         1     memory to show exactly which year?



         2         A     Maybe they do.  I don't know.  I have



         3     no idea what their regulations are.



         4         Q     You're not aware of any documents?



         5         A     No.



         6         Q     You actually -- as I understand it, you



         7     actually looked for those documents before your



         8     deposition, right?



         9         A     Yes.



        10         Q     You didn't find any?



        11         A     No.



        12         Q     I understand the agreement that you had



        13     with Huber, that was a verbal agreement, right?



        14         A     It was until 2004.



        15         Q     In 2004 it became a written agreement?



        16         A     Yes.  We had an amendment to it.



        17         Q     What changed?



        18         A     The writing that we all agreed, it's a



        19     writing, my brother and I, we signed a document



        20     that all the verbal agreements will stand in



        21     order when methane started in 1999 to present and



        22     then continue on agreements we had, like,



        23     irrigation equipment, reservoirs, pits, blinds,



        24     electric lines, right-of-ways, easements,



        25     roadways, what we agreed to, what we got paid
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         1     for, so many dollars per rod for roadways and so



         2     forth.  We finally got that in writing.



         3         Q     In 2004 when they came to you and gave



         4     you a written agreement, were they adding some



         5     acreage to the property?



         6         A     No.



         7         Q     The document that you're talking about,



         8     are those ones that you have since found since



         9     your deposition?



        10         A     Yes.   I went and got them.



        11         Q     You got them from?



        12         A     From Western Water Resources.  I was



        13     looking for the years what the water was and so



        14     forth.  We had to have someplace, could be



        15     accountant's office or lawyer's office.  It's the



        16     same document that my brother and I signed in



        17     2004.   I had it, but I thought I better find



        18     mine.  It might be this place or gone.   Might be



        19     still in my possession.  I got one now.



        20         Q     So in your deposition you described how



        21     as the CBM water was coming in over a number of



        22     years, you were irrigating acreage, and then as



        23     they would come in and fill in that acreage, they



        24     would take that over and then you would stop



        25     irrigating; is that right?
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         1         A     I don't follow what you're saying.



         2         Q     I mean to say, when CBM first came in,



         3     they weren't irrigating all your acreage, correct?



         4         A     Correct.



         5         Q     And the acreage that the CBM was not



         6     irrigating, you were irrigating, correct?



         7         A     Correct.



         8         Q     And you were flood irrigating that



         9     land?



        10         A     Yes.



        11         Q     And then over a period of years CBM



        12     came in and irrigated more land, correct?



        13         A     Correct.



        14         Q     And when they started irrigating a



        15     parcel of land, then you would stop irrigating



        16     that parcel?



        17         A     No, we didn't -- we didn't -- when they



        18     irrigated across the creek, east side of the



        19     creek, they did the whole thing.   We didn't do



        20     anything except go by the west side, and we flood



        21     irrigate, that's the only ditch we had.   That



        22     was it.  We didn't touch -- Huber, when they put



        23     that in, that's their problem.  We bought the



        24     side rolls, they put the service in, the side



        25     rolls.  We didn't mix up with them period.
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         1         Q     I understand.  So once they started



         2     irrigating a field, that was their field to



         3     irrigate and you moved on and irrigated different



         4     acreage, right?



         5         A     Same on the appropriated water rights.



         6     But they would irrigate.   Because that was -- we



         7     knew we could do that because it was a long



         8     narrow field and it was down of the west side of



         9     the house, we told them we don't want no lines,



        10     no wells, my mom put a stop to all that.  No



        11     wells within 500 yards of the house and do not go



        12     in hay fields, and so forth.  And we did.  That's



        13     our agreement.   Written agreement.  They can do



        14     whatever they want, except roadways, but not in



        15     our irrigated croplands which we have water



        16     rights for period.



        17         Q     The acreage that's not irrigated by



        18     CBM, in your deposition you said you will think



        19     it's approximately somewhere between 70 and 100



        20     acres, right?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     And you irrigated that 70 to 100 acres --



        23         A     Well, really, not 70 to 100.   I think



        24     it was around 65.   Probably around -- well, we



        25     had 45, this here they say is only 45 acres.   I
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         1     always said 66 acres.  So there you go.



         2         Q     So you're not exactly sure how many



         3     acres, right?



         4         A     Well, 60, 70 range.  That's our water



         5     rights.  So methane don't have anything to do



         6     with that.



         7         Q     Have you ever had that acreage surveyed?



         8         A     Oh, yeah, we done it so many different



         9     times.   Like this map here, everything surveyed,



        10     aerial photos, I had U.S.D.A., one field says 45



        11     acres, one says 62 acres, one says 64.   Depends



        12     how it is on the creek.  A lot of these fields on



        13     the creek is wasteland.



        14         Q     Unfortunately, we don't have the



        15     benefit of those surveys here today.   And so



        16     you're telling us it is make 60, 70, maybe more



        17     acres; is that right?



        18         A     Of what?



        19         Q     Of the land that is not irrigated by



        20     CBM?



        21         A     Yes.  If I would say, it would be



        22     between 50 to 70 acres.



        23         Q     And that acreage was irrigated every



        24     single year, right?



        25         A     Yes.
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         1         Q     Including 2004 and 2006?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     So you walked through these years on



         4     all of this acreage with Mr. Brown, 2004 and



         5     2006.



         6         A     H-m h-m-m.



         7         Q     I don't need to walk through every



         8     single field.  But I want to ask you, all of



         9     those acres that are not irrigated by CBM, those



        10     were irrigated by you in 2001 and 2002, right?



        11         A     Yes.



        12         Q     And they were irrigated by you in every



        13     year besides 2004, right?



        14         A     Right.



        15         Q     And if you had water available, you



        16     used it, right?



        17         A     Yes, not with the CBM, Prairie Dog.



        18         Q     Right.  You used your other water



        19     rights, your other sources.  And it wasn't CBM



        20     water?



        21         A     We had no trouble there.   We had only



        22     50, 60 acres.  Trying to irrigate 200 acres



        23     without CBM we'd be in big trouble. We'd still be



        24     irrigating until Christmas.



        25         Q     The CBM water has a high FAR, right?

�



                                                            4630







         1         A     Correct.



         2         Q     What do you understand FAR to be?



         3         A     High in salt and sodium.



         4         Q     Does that have an impact on the soil?



         5         A     Yes, it will.  That's why we have an



         6     agreement with sulfur and gypsum.  That one tract



         7     of land, I can tell you where the gypsum pile is



         8     on the map.



         9         Q     Sure.  Let me give you a pointer.



        10     There's a button there you can use.  You can show



        11     us where the pile is.



        12         A     Right there, that's not our property.



        13     Right there, that's gypsum right there.   That's



        14     a bridge.   There's a corner section right there



        15     is somebody else's property.   Goes right down



        16     through here.



        17         Q     Does that help?



        18         A     Right at the corner in here.   It's on



        19     the edge of it.  Part of the Pilch Ranch.  Hard



        20     to read the map.  Right in here.  Right in there.



        21     That's where the gypsum is located.  We irrigate



        22     that not any more.



        23         Q     That's because it has --



        24         A     Sulfur and gypsum.



        25         Q     That's for the treatment from the CBM
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         1     water?



         2         A     Yes.



         3         Q     And do you understand that there are



         4     other irrigators who don't like to use CBM water?



         5         A     I don't know.   I haven't heard anybody.



         6         Q     You don't know any of them?



         7         A     No.



         8         Q     If you don't treat the water does it



         9     have an impact on your production?



        10         A     I couldn't answer that.  Probably would



        11     be if it turns all hardpan, salt.  It would be



        12     white.  Nothing would grow, I assume.  I'm not a



        13     geologist, I'm not a -- I know what salt can do



        14     to soil.



        15         Q     One moment.



        16               SPECIAL MASTER: Sure.



        17               MR. WECHSLER:  Thank you very much.  I



        18     appreciate your testimony.



        19               THE WITNESS:  Thank you, sir.



        20               SPECIAL MASTER: I just have one



        21     question since I'm actually still trying to



        22     understand this myself.  But my only question is



        23     the various fields when you went over with Mr.



        24     Brown, you indicated you now irrigate with CBM



        25     water.  Did you irrigate those fields before you
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         1     brought CBM water on to them?



         2               THE WITNESS:  Yes.



         3               SPECIAL MASTER:  Okay.  That's the only



         4     question.  Thank you, Mr. Brown.



         5                   REDIRECT EXAMINATION



         6         Q     (By Mr. Brown:)  Let me follow up



         7     immediately with regard to that question the



         8     special mater just asked you.  You also had



         9     indicated to Mr. Wechsler that you had irrigated



        10     in 2001 and 2002 the same fields that later were



        11     irrigated with CBM water; is that right?



        12         A     Yeah, before -- we had to get off them



        13     fields.  That's when the equipment comes in.  We



        14     still -- we didn't irrigate, I guess.  We paid



        15     what we can and tear everything out and got



        16     everything done.



        17         Q     Let me ask you this:  Prior to the CBM



        18     water coming to your property, did you irrigate



        19     all the same acres that was irrigated with CBM or



        20     fewer acres?



        21         A     Fewer acres.



        22         Q     Fewer acres?



        23         A     Yes.



        24         Q     Do you think you used as much water as



        25     they did with CBM or less?  Do you have any idea?
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         1         A     I sure don't.



         2         Q     You just know there were fewer acres?



         3         A     Yeah.  We probably used less water.



         4     Had to be.  I mean, we were flood irrigating, we



         5     had to use a lot more water.  We were so happy



         6     that we don't have to jump on a four wheeler and



         7     pack irrigation dams around.



         8         Q     You don't have to chase the water down



         9     the ditch, and that's fine?



        10         A     Yes.  Chase beavers out of the canals.



        11         Q     Mr. Wechsler asked you a few questions



        12     about your Lake Desmet water.  Do you remember



        13     that?



        14         A     Yes.



        15         Q     Do you pay for your Lake Desmet water



        16     every year?



        17         A     No.



        18         Q     Why not?



        19         A     I have no idea.  I don't know, maybe I



        20     should have researched that.   I don't know when



        21     my dad back in the '50s they bought it from some



        22     individual, Johnny Bice and sons, and I don't



        23     know what agreement they had or what happened,



        24     how much he paid for it.   We were kids.  I



        25     didn't pay much attention.
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         1         Q     But as far as you know, you don't pay



         2     for that water every single year?



         3         A     Unless somebody's paid for it, I have



         4     no idea.   I could find out.   I could ask around



         5     what happened.  I could call and find out what



         6     the deal is.  I assumed we own the water and was



         7     paid probably back when we bought it.  That's it.



         8         Q     All right.



         9         A     I don't know.



        10         Q     Okay.



        11         A     I'm just guessing.



        12         Q     You also had a discussion with Mr.



        13     Wechsler with regard to the fact that there is



        14     less water now available to you at the bottom of



        15     Prairie Dog Creek than there had been in years



        16     past.  Do you remember that?



        17         A     Yes.



        18         Q     You briefly mentioned the fact there is



        19     less water coming through tunnel hill.   Do you



        20     remember that?



        21         A     Yes.



        22         Q     Can you describe that to more for us?



        23         A     Well, it started with a lawsuit,  I



        24     think, way back, I don't know, '90s.  Washed



        25     somebody's property away down and that's where
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         1     the problem started.   You probably heard about



         2     it.  I don't know exactly.



         3               And then we were assessed thousands of



         4     dollars, we shareholders, to fix the diversion



         5     going over the tunnel hill and we had to rip-rap



         6     the creek.   I moved boulders up there by hand.



         7     I could get water from Piney Creek to Prairie Dog



         8     in the '50s and '60s.



         9         Q     So is it your recollection they had to



        10     do some rehabilitation for the water that was



        11     coming over from Piney Creek?   They had to put



        12     it in the tube, right?



        13         A     Yes.



        14         Q     And after they did that, they weren't



        15     able to bring over as much water from the Powder



        16     River Basin as they had before?



        17         A     I can't -- I don't know.  I assume,



        18     or -- I don't know.  I mean, I wish -- we had a



        19     lot of water but it was way too much.  I don't



        20     know how they regulated 50 shares.  I don't know



        21     what 50 shares, how much feet per second it is



        22     measured in.  I don't know.  I have no idea how



        23     they measure is that.



        24               MR. BROWN:  That's all I have, Mr.



        25     Pilch.  Thanks for coming.
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         1               SPECIAL MASTER: Thank you.  So, Mr.



         2     Pilch, those are all the questions.  Thank you



         3     very much for coming all the way up here.



         4               THE WITNESS:  I've enjoyed myself.



         5               SPECIAL MASTER:  I hope you are able to



         6     get back down tomorrow.  Are you headed down



         7     tomorrow or are you going to try today?



         8               THE WITNESS:  No, my wife said I can't



         9     go tonight.



        10               SPECIAL MASTER: My wife wouldn't let me



        11     go either.



        12               THE WITNESS:  My wife tells me what to



        13     do after 50 years.



        14               SPECIAL MASTER: I've only been married



        15     for 30 and my wife does the same.  Thank you very



        16     much.



        17               Okay.  So, Mr. Kaste, I assume that's



        18     the last witness then for today, and we'll come



        19     back tomorrow.   I'm actually impressed, we made



        20     it through all the witnesses today.  Six.  Which



        21     is a record.



        22               MR. KASTE:  We are working on Wyoming's



        23     time schedule now and it's a lot faster.



        24               MR. WECHSLER:  Less information.



        25               MR. KASTE:  Focus is the right term.
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         1                (Hearing adjourned.)



         2
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